## THE EXPRESSION AND ROLE OF CIRCULATING GALECTINS IN COLORECTAL CANCER

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy by

Hannah Elizabeth Barrow

June, 2011



### DECLARATION

All the techniques and experiments performed and described in this thesis were undertaken by myself as a PhD student between February 2008 and February 2011, with the exception of Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorter (FACS) analysis which was carried out by Dr. Qicheng Zhao, and the detection of Anti-Xa activity of chemically modified heparins which was carried out by Professor Jerry Turnbull.

Neither this thesis nor any part of it has been submitted in support of an application of another degree or qualification of this or any other University or other institute of learning.

Hannah Elizabeth Barrow, 2011

Dedicated to my family, friends, and the people of the North West Cancer Research Fund

I would like to express my upmost and sincere thanks to Dr Lu-Gang Yu and Professor Jonathan Rhodes for their guidance and support to myself as a student and their dedication and enthusiasm for the work within this project. I would also like to thank the entire Gastroenterology research unit, with particular and heartfelt thanks to Mrs Susan Courtney and Ms Lynn Green for their daily support, as well as their friendship that helped me during the most difficult parts of my time at the lab. I would also like to thank Mrs Monica Barclay for her time and energy. I would like to give special mention to Dr Paul Knight, whose scientific interest and friendship was a valuble resource. My thanks also go to Ms Nena Mitchell, Mr Neil Hignett and Dr Timothy Furniss, who supported me wholeheartedly and took an active interest in my scientific development, as well as Mr Neil Smith, who was an endless source of enthusiasm. I would also like to thank my parents, Harry and Anne Barrow, for their endless support, tough love and dedication to my development. I would also like to extend special thanks to my grandmother, Ilse Rich, for sitting through the many practice presentations I subjected her to, and for the constant supply of lemon cake for my research meetings. My thanks also go to my cousin Hayley Barrow, for her support and love at all times. Finally, I would like to thank the warm and enthusiastic people of the North West Cancer Research Fund, who provided my project with funding, remembered me every year at every meeting, and always supported me from afar.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acknowledgements		i
Abbreviations		viii
Abstract		xi
Chapter 1. Introduct The Development of	tion – Colorectal Cancer	1
1.1 Colorecta	l Cancer	1
1.1.1	The Molecular Causes of Colon Cancer	2
1.1.2	The Development of Metastasis	5
1.1.3	The Pathogenesis of Metastasis	6
1.1.4	Colorectal Cancer and Liver Metastasis	9
1.1.5	Colorectal Cancer and Lung Metastasis	10
Chapter 2. Introduc Glycosylation, Glyca	ction – ans and Carbohydrate-Binding Proteins	12
2.1 The Glycome		12
2.1.1	Glycoproteins	13
2.2 N-Glycosylation		13
2.3 O-Glycosylation		17
2.3.1	Biosynthesis of O-Glycans	21
2.3.2	O-Glycan Core Structures	23
2.4 Mucins		28
2.4.1	Gel-Forming Mucins	31
2.4.2	MUC1 and Transmembrane Mucins	32
2.4.3	The Roles of MUC1	33
2.4.4	Cancer-associated MUC1	35
2.4.5	MUC1 and Immunotherapy	37
2.5 Altered C	Ilycosylation in Disease	40

2.5.1	Mechanisms of Altered Glycosylation	43
2.5.2	Thomsen-Friedenreich Antigen	44
2.6 Lectins		47
2.6.1	Lectin-based Interactions	48
2.7 Galectins		50
2.7.1	Expression of Galectins in Colorectal Cancer	51
2.7.2	Galectin in Tumour Angiogenesis	53
2.7.3	Galectins in Cancer Cell Adhesion and Metastasis	54
2.7.4	Galectins as Therapeutic Targets in Colorectal Cancer	57
2.8 Circulatin	g Galectins and Metastasis	59
Chapter 3. Hypothe	ses and Aims	60
3.1 Hypothese	es	60
3.2 Aims		61
Chapter 4. General	Methods	63
4.1 Materials		63
4.2 Cell Lines	3	63
4.2.1 0	Cell Culture	65
4.2.2	Cell Freezing	65
4.2.3 (	Cell Thawing	66
4.3 Enzyme-I	Linked Immunosorbant Assay (ELISA)	66
4.3.1 0	Generation of a Checkerboard Assay	67
4.3.2 \$	Sandwich ELISA for Assessment of Serum Galectins	68
4.3.3 (	Optimisation of Galectin Standard Curves	68
4.3.4 I T	indirect ELISA for Assessing Galectin Binding to F-glycans	69
4.4 Cellular A	dhesion Assay	72
4.5 Cellular T	'ransvasion Assay	73
4.6 SDS Poly	acrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)	75

4.7 Western Blotting and Lectin Blotting	78
4.8 Slot Blotting	79
4.9 Statistical Analysis	81

Chapter 5. Assessment of the Expression of Circulating Galectins in the Serum of Healthy People and Cancer Patients	82
5.1 Hypotheses	82
5.2 Aims	82
5.3 Introduction	83
5.3.1 Circulating Galectin-3	83
5.3.2 CEA and Colorectal Cancer	84
5.3.3 Other Serum Markers in Colorectal Cancer	86
5.4 Methods	88
5.4.1 Materials	88
5.4.2 ELISA	89
5.5 Results	91
5.5.1 Preliminary design of ELISA protocol for future assessments of galectin concentrations in human serum samples.	91
5.5.2 Detection of galectin levels in human serum samples.	93
5.5.3 Comparison of galectin and CEA detection as serum markers for cancer.	100
5.6 Discussion	110
Chapter 6. Effect and Mechanisms of Circulating Galectins on Cancer Cell Adhesion and Trans-Endothelial Migration.	113
6.1 Hypotheses	113
6.2 Aims	113
6.3 Introduction	114
6.3.1 Mechanism of galectin-3 induced homotypic adhesion of cancer cells and adhesion of cancer cells to endothelium.	114

	6.3.2 Carbohydrate Targets of Galectins	115
	6.3.3 TF-expressing Glycoproteins	116
	6.4 Methods	119
	6.4.1 Materials	119
	6.4.2 ELISA	120
	6.4.3 O-Glycanase Treatments	120
	6.4.4 siRNA MUC1	122
	6.4.5 Immunocytochemistry	123
	6.5 Results	124
	6.5.1 Galectins bind to O-glycan expressing glycoproteins.	124
	6.5.2 Galectins induce an increase in MUC1-expressing cancer cel adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers and extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).	11 130
	6.5.3 Inhibition of galectin-mediated adhesion by lactose and ASM.	132
	6.5.4 Pre-fixation of the cells negates galectin-mediated cellular adhesion.	140
	6.5.5 Interference with MUC1 and MUC1-associated TF negate galectin-mediated cellular adhesion.	145
	6.5.6 Galectins induce an increase in MUC1-expressing colon cancer cell migration through endothelial cells and extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).	151
	6.5.7 Galectins induce polarisation of MUC1 on the surface of HCA1.7+ cells.	157
	6.6 Discussion	162
Chapt	er 7. Chemically Modified Heparins as Galectin-3 Inhibitors	165
	7.1 Hypotheses	165
	7.2 Aims	165
	7.3 Introduction	166
	7.3.1 Heparin	166
	7.3.2 Low Molecular Weight Heparins	168
	7.3.3 Heparin and Inflammation	168

7.3.4 Heparin as possible Cancer Treatment	170
7.4 Methods	175
7.4.1 Materials	175
7.4.2 Galectin-ligand binding ELISA	177
7.4.3 Cellular Adhesion	177
7.4.4 Cellular Trans-endothelial Migration	178
7.5 Results	179
7.5.1 De-O-sulfated fractions of chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3 binding to asialo bovine mucin.	179
7.5.2 All fractions of chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3 binding to asialo bovine mucin, but at different ranges of concentrations.	182
7.5.3 Chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers.	191
7.5.4 Chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell adhesion to extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).	s 194
7.5.5 Chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3-mediated col cancer cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-L monolayers and extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).	lon 197
7.6 Discussion	202

### Chapter 8. The Effect of Core 1 Tranferase Knockdown on Expression of

Cellular O-Glycosylation.	205
8.1 Hypotheses	205
8.2 Aims	205
8.3 Introduction	206
8.3.1 Core 1 Galtransferase	206
8.3.2 RNA Interference and RNA Silencing	208
8.4 Methods	213
8.4.1 siRNA Galtransferase	213
8.4.2 Slot Blotting	213
8.5 Results	214

8.5.1 Suppression of Core 1 GalTransferase in human colon cancer cells by siRNA treatment.	214
8.5.2 Suppression of C1GalT is associated with an increase in Tn, sialyl-Tn, and Core 3 structures.	215
8.6 Discussion	219
Chapter 9. Summary of the main findings in this thesis	222
Chapter 10. General discussion and implications for future studies	226
References	233
Appendix	
1. Components of cell culture medium	268
2. List of figures and tables	270

AFGP	antifreeze glycoprotein
Ala	alanine
ANOVA	analysis of variance
APC	adenomatous polyposis coli
ASM	asialo-submaxillary mucin
Asn	asparagine
ATIII	antithrombin III
BSA	bovine serum albumin
CEA	carcinoembryonic antigen
ClGalT	Core 1 \beta1-3 glycosyltransferase
CRC	colorectal cancer
Cosmc	Core 1 $\beta$ 1,3-gal-T-specific molecular chaperone
CRD	carbohydrate recognition domain
CSC	cancer stem cell
DiO	3,3'-dilinoleyloxacarbocyanine
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagles medium
DMSO	Dimethylsulphoxide
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGM	endothelial growth medium
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FAP	familial adenomatous polyposis
FCS	foetal calf serum
Fuc	fucose
Gal	galactose

GalNAc	N-acetylgalactosamine
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
Glc	glucose
GlcNAc	N-acetylglucosamine
GSL-II	Griffonia Simplicifolia lectin II
HMVEC-L	human microvascular endothelial cells-(lung).
HNPCC	hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM1	intracellular adhesion molecule 1
Lac	lactose
LacNAc	N-acetyllactosamine
LMWH	low molecular weight heparins
Man	mannose
МСР	modified citrus pectin
OPD	o-phenylenediamine
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PNA	peanut agglutinin
Pro	proline
dsRNA	double stranded RNA
mRNA	messenger RNA
siRNA	small interfering RNA
RNAi	RNA interference
RISC	siRNA-induced silencing complex
RLC	RISC loading complex
SD	standard deviation
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
Ser	serine
S-Tn	sialyl-Tn antigen

TF antigen	$Gal\beta 1-3GalNAc\alpha$ -Ser/Thr
	Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen
Tn antigen	GalNAca-Ser/Thr
Thr	Threonine
TEMED	tetra-methyl-1,2-diamino-ethane
UC	ulcerative colitis
UDP	uridine diphosphate
VNTR	variable number tandem repeat

### ABSTRACT

Adhesion of circulating tumour cells to the blood vascular endothelium is a pivotal step in metastasis. This study shows that the levels of free circulating galectin-2, -3, -4, and -8, but not galectin-9 and -1, were markedly increased up to 31-fold in the bloodstream of colon and breast cancer patients and in particular those with metastasis. The presence in vitro of each of these galectins at pathological concentrations induced dose-dependent increases of cancer cell adhesion to monolayers of human macro- and micro-vascular endothelial cells, an effect that was abolished by the presence of galectin inhibitor, by pre-fixation of the cells, or by pretreatment of the cells with O-glycanase to remove cell surface TF (Gal $\beta$ 1,3GalNAca-) antigen. Suppression of the TF-expressing mucin protein MUC1 by siRNA reduced. while overexpression of MUC1 increased, the galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion. Higher levels of circulating galectin-2 were associated with a significantly increased mortality risk in colorectal cancer patients and this association was diminished by serum co-existence of auto-anti-MUC1 antibody specifically against the TF epitope of MUC1. Thus, the increased circulations of galectin members are common features in cancer and promote metastatic spread. Circulating galectins therefore represent a novel class of therapeutic targets for the development of effective agents to reduce metastasis and increase patient's survival. The possible role of modified heparins as inhibitors of the galectin3-ligand interaction that leads to increased vascular adhesion was therefore investigated. ELISA assays showed that chemically modified heparin derivatives successfully blocked galectin-3 adhesion to asialo-bovine mucin, and also galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers and extracellular matrix components, which suggests a possible role for heparin derivatives in cancer therapeutics. Finally in this study, the functional importance of Core 1 Gal-transferase (C1GalT) was investigated. It has long been presumed that there is a competition between Core 1 Gal-transferase (C1GalT), Core 3 GlcNAc-transferase (C3GnT) and sialyl-transferase (ST6GalNAc-T) for elongation of O-linked mucin-type glycans that initiate with GalNAca-Ser/Thr. However, evidence that supports such a competition among these glyco-transferases is surprisingly lacking. This study shows that selective suppression of the C1GalT caused over 80% reduction of GalB1,3GalNAca-(Core 1, Thomsen-Friedenreich, TF antigen) expression in human colon cancer HT29 and SW620 cells. Suppression of C1GalT was also associated with 198±8%.  $136 \pm 24\%$ and 231±6% increase of sialyl-GalNAca-(sialyl-Tn). GlcNAc
<sub>3</sub>GalNAca- (Core 3) and GalNAca- (Tn) expression in HT29 and 174±11%, 155±37% and 200±5% increase in SW620 cells. These results provide direct evidence of a competition between C1GalT, C3GnT and ST6GalNAcT transferases for modification of the GalNAca-Ser/Thr in O-glycan biosynthesis. As Tn, TF and sialyl-Tn are all oncofetal carbohydrate antigens and over-expressed in up to 90% of all human cancers, this information may also be useful for future development of glyco-transferase-targeted therapeutic strategies for cancer treatment.

# INTRODUCTION – The Development of Colorectal Cancer

### **1.1 Colorectal Cancer**

Colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer and the fourth most common cause of cancer-related deaths worldwide. In the Western World, Colorectal cancer is the second most common cancer, with a cumulative lifetime risk of approximately 5% (1). Colorectal cancer may develop sporadically, or may manifest due to familial or hereditary cancer syndromes. Underlying inflammatory bowel diseases confer an increased risk for the development of colorectal cancer (1, 2).

Ninety to ninety-five per cent of colorectal cancer cases are the result of sporadic development, which reflects the importance of environmental factors (3, 4). However, 20% of these cases may be contributed to by some form of familial risk. 5-10% of colorectal cancers are manifested due to hereditary cancer syndromes (5). Approximately 30% of deaths related to ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease are due directly to the subsequent development of colorectal cancer. The level of risk is dependent upon the extent of inflammation (2).

### 1.1.1 The Molecular Causes of Colon Cancer

Cancer can arise due to genetic changes through random replication errors, exposure to carcinogens, or faulty DNA repair or an inherited germ line mutation. There are two classes of mutated genes that are critical in the development of cancer. Firstly, proto-oncogenes are genes that promote normal cell growth, and these can be transformed to oncogenes by gain-of-function mutations. Secondly, tumour suppressor genes, which normally restrain the process of cell growth, can be nullified by loss-of-function mutations (6). The adenoma-carcinoma development in colorectal cancer can be defined by two pathways, gatekeeper and caretaker pathway. The two main forms of hereditary colorectal cancers are hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC), which represents an abnormality in the caretaker pathway, and familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP), which represents an abnormality in the gatekeeper pathway (5).

FAP is an autosomal-dominant disease, and in the majority of cases, is a germ line mutation that can be located in the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene. APC is defined as a tumour-suppressor gene, and is thus classified as a gatekeeper gene, which acts through the Wnt signalling pathway. The cell-signalling glycoprotein family of Wnt factors interact with Frizzled cell-surface receptors, which, in turn, activate the intracellular protein dishevelled. Dishevelled subsequently associates with axin, and is able to prevent glycogen synthase kinase 3B (GSK3B) from phosphorylating its substrates, which are present in a complex with the GSK3B protein, axin, APC and beta-catenin. Due to the inactivation of GSK3B, the betacatenin is no longer degraded and it begins to accumulate in the cytoplasm and nucleus, thus binding to members of the T cell factor/lymphocyte enhancer factor family. This beta-catenin/TCF complex may bind DNA to activate the transcription of

2

target genes (6). In 80% cases of FAP, the mutation is found as a germ line mutation within the gene for APC. APC mutations are very frequent in sporadic colorectal cancers, and inactivating mutations in APC have been reported in 34–70% of sporadic colorectal cancer patients (7, 8). The APC gene is located on the FAP locus on chromosome 5 and consists of 16 exons. This gene encodes a 312-kDa protein of 2843 amino acids, which is expressed ubiquitously. Most somatic APC mutations in colorectal cancer are grouped together in a central domain, called the mutation cluster region (MCR). The mutated protein product is truncated at the C-terminus (9) and lacks the axin-binding SAMP motifs, and most of the beta-catenin binding motifs. This mutation inevitably results in the hyper proliferation of colon crypt cells and the subsequent formation of polyps. It is these polyps that transform into malignancy, following further independent genetic events, such as mutations in K-RAS and p53 (10). FAP patients can develop more than 100 colorectal adenomas if left untreated, and cancer arises in almost all patients by 40 years of age (11) (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. The biological layout of a healthy colonic crypt compared to an APC-/- mutant and the effect upon future polyp formation. From Weinberg, *et al.* The biology of cancer (12).

HNPCC is an autosomal-dominant disease stemming from germ-line mutations of mismatch repair genes, resulting in the molecular characteristic of microsatellite instability in which there are frequent mutations within the short repeated DNA sequences, and is thus an example of a pathway to cancer through abnormalities in caretaker genes (13).

These two pathways represent the principal mechanisms of pathogenesis for a primary colorectal tumour; however it is the possibility of metastasis that forms the

most fearsome aspect of cancer. Despite significant improvements in diagnosis, surgical techniques and local and systemic adjuvant therapies, most deaths from cancer are due to metastases that are resistant to conventional therapies (14) and the overall mortality from colorectal cancer approaches 50%.

### **1.1.2** The Development of Metastasis

The pathogenesis of metastasis is via a multi-step pathway. This typically encompasses the steps of angiogenesis within the primary tumour, detachment of the cancer cells, and the subsequent intravasion through the extracellular matrix and into the blood. The cells then rely upon adhesion properties to allow adhesion to the blood vessel endothelium, and aggregation for the formation of tumour cell emboli. It is widely accepted that metastasis arises when tumour cells interact with a specific microenvironment. In 1889, Stephen Paget, an English surgeon, produced a report 'Distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast', in which he attempted to answer 'What is it that decides what organs shall suffer in a case of disseminated cancer?' In this report, Paget made a distinct reference to the high incidence of metastasis in the liver, ovary, and specific bones, and the low incidence in the spleen of 735 women with terminal breast cancer (15). This analysis of the non-random pattern represented the distinct possibility that the target of a specific type of cancer did not arise solely due to chance. This process was introduced as the 'seed and soil' hypothesis, with the primary tumour cells and the target organ microenvironment equating to the seed and soil, respectively.

Although this theory prevails today, the 'seed and soil' hypothesis did not go unchallenged. In 1929, James Ewing eschewed this concept and proposed that the metastatic distribution occurred due to mechanical factors alone, that arose due to the anatomical structure of the vascular system (16). Nevertheless, the 1970s brought about the definitive proof of the 'seed and soil' hypothesis. During this time, studies were undertaken which grafted samples of kidney, ovary and lung tissue into the subcutis or muscle of syngenic mice, followed by the intravenous injection of melanoma cells. The outcome of these experiments showed that the tumour cells did indeed reach the vascular system of all organs, but the metastases developed in the orthotropic and grafted lungs and ovaries, but not in the kidneys (17).

The 'seed and soil' hypothesis is widely cited and has withstood 120 years of scrutiny and critical analysis. The 'seed' has now been defined as a progenitor, and the 'soil' is defined as the host factors and microenvironment, and ultimately the cross talk between tissues has been placed in the forefront of research into metastasis.

### 1.1.3 The Pathogenesis of Metastasis

Thus metastasis is a step-wise procedure, with each step rate-limiting (17) (Figure 1.2). Coman *et al.* found that, upon intravascular injection of tumour cells into animals, metastases were produced in some, but not all organs. It was found that in the organs affected, the tumour cells were lodged in the capillaries, implying the importance of embolus formation and arrest in secondary organs (18). This was supported by Zeidman *et al.* who demonstrated embolic arrest in the capillaries of rabbits (19). It was seen that some of the tumour cells distorted and passed through the capillary wall. Others seemed to remain non-pliable and remained trapped. This initiated the concept of morphological factors as a basis for metastatic dissemination. These experiments showed that some cells passed through the vessel walls

immediately, and of those that succeeded, only some produced metastasis and the unsuccessful cells merely died (19). Labelling of the cells with <sup>125</sup>iodine-iodo-deoxyuridine showed that less than 0.1% (one thousandth) of the tumour cells remain viable upon entry into the circulation, but only 0.01% (one ten thousandth) of the cells introduced into the circulation survived for longer than 24hrs and give rise to metastases (20).



Nature Reviews | Cancer



The process of metastasis selectively chooses cells that express, or overexpress certain genes and proteins required for proliferation, angiogenesis, cohesion, motility and invasion. This requires the cells within the embolus to possess the inherent abilities to succeed at invasion, survival in the circulation and arrest in a target capillary bed with the ability to undergo extravasion into the receptive parenchyma. Upon implanting a variety of cells from a single tumour within the subcutaneous tissue, muscle or organs of mice, not all the cells have the ability to disseminate. Successful cells were extracted and expanded, and then compared to the cells of the parent tumour in order to compare the behavioural changes and define which alterations are responsible for the ability to metastasise. This technique was originally used for B16-F10, from the B16 melanoma cell line (21). Selectivity within cells was reflected in the concept of cancer stem cells (CSC), which explains that only a minority of cells within a tumour have the ability to generate metastasis. Until recently the cell surface protein CD133 was designated as a marker of CSC, as CD133 was thought to have a very restricted distribution within tissues (both mouse and human) (22). It was suggested that only a small subset of colon cancer cells express CD133, and that those were the only cells that could initiate tumour growth and metastasis (23, 24). However, recent work has demonstrated that, in primary human colon tumors, all of the epithelial cells expressed CD133, whereas metastatic colon cancers isolated from liver had both CD133<sup>+</sup> and CD133<sup>-</sup> epithelial populations. It was further demonstrated that the CD133<sup>+</sup> and CD133<sup>-</sup> populations were equally capable of tumor initiation in xenografts (22). Questions still remain regarding the concept of CD133 as a CSC. It is currently not known at which stage of colon cancer progression the CD133<sup>-</sup> cells emerge, and whether the CD133<sup>-</sup> cells are descended from the CD133<sup>+</sup> cells. If they are descendents, it could remain a possibility that CD133 could still be considered a marker of metastatic stem cells.

The heterogeneity of cancer cell populations strongly implies the selective nature that the metastatic process infers, and the diversity of phenotype. There is a genetic and, therefore, phenotypic instability present in all subpopulations of tumour cells, which drives the metastatic development forwards. In order to identify whether all metastases arise from a singular clone or if different metastases originate from different progenitor cells, a series of experiments were carried out utilising gammairradiation as a source of random chromosome breaks and rearrangements that function as markers. Talamage et al. investigated the incidence of lung metastases arising from K-1735 mouse melanoma cells that had been gamma-irradiated to induce chromosomal damage. In 10 of the metastases, the chromosomes were all unchanged, which could not reveal whether they were of uni- or multicellular origin. In other metastases, unique markers were found within the chromosomes and they indicated that each lesion arose from a single progenitor cell (25). Further experiments revealed that metastases were all of unicellular origin, when heterogeneous clumps of two different melanoma cell lines were injected intravenously (26). When combined, these results indicated that whether a metastasis is hetero- or homogeneous, they still arise from a single deranged cell.

### 1.1.4 Colorectal Cancer and Liver Metastasis

In a population-based study, it has been shown that the proportion of patients with synchronous liver metastases was 14.5%. Age-standardized incidence rates were 7.6 per 100,000 in males, 3.7 per 100,000 in females. The 5-year cumulative metachronous liver metastasis rate was 14.5% (27). Liver metastases are the major cause of death in colorectal cancer patients. By the time of detection of a primary

tumour, 15-25% of the patients present with liver metastases, and a further 20% go on to develop these metastases post-treatment of the primary (28). Without treatment, the median survival is approximately 9 months, varying based on the extent of the disease upon diagnosis (29). Unexpectedly, resections of liver metastasis from colorectal origin have been shown to result in long-term survival and the possibility of cure. In selected patients with metastatic lesions confined to the liver, 5-year survival rates are reported at 35-40% dependent upon the extent of liver involvement. However, only a minority of patients (10-15%) with liver metastasis are considered to be candidates for resection (30).

These concepts present a new facet in the study of colorectal cancer, and the requirement for novel data to reveal and assess the key elements within colorectal cancer and the subsequent metastasis to the liver.

### 1.1.5 Colorectal Cancer and Lung Metastasis

About 10-25% of patients with colorectal cancer have lung metastasis, making pulmonary spread the second most common after liver metastasis. However, only 2-4% have metastasis confined just to the lungs (31, 32). Treatment options include chemotherapy and surgery. Although several novel chemotherapeutic and targeted agents have been developed for treatment of unresectable metastatic colorectal cancer, very long-term survival is uncommon (33, 34). Surgical lung resection has been considered to be the only effective treatment for isolated pulmonary metastatic tumour from colorectal cancer (35). Published data on 5-year survival rates in resectable pulmonary metastasis from colorectal cancer ranges from 27% to 56% (36-41).



Figure 1.3. Patterns of failure in 100 patients with large bowel cancer. Adapted from August *et al* (42).

### **CHAPTER 2**

# INTRODUCTION – Glycosylation, Glycans and Carbohydrate-Binding Proteins

### 2.1 The Glycome

'Glycome' is a term that describes the complete collection of glycans and glycoconjugates in the cell. The term 'glycan' is often used to describe oligosaccharides, polysaccharides and carbohydrates, and the field of 'Glycomics' was subsequently developed, which refers to the profiling and study of the glycome itself. The field of glycobiology seeks to understand the structure, biosynthesis and biological function of glycans and their derivatives (43). The history of this field began with research into the basic carbohydrates produced within cells, and then grew into initial clinical applications with the discovery of human blood antigens when blood samples from individuals exhibited agglutination (44). Whereas the genome is, for the larger part, established and fixed in most cells, the proteome and glycome are dynamic, and glycomics endeavours to understand how a collection of glycans correlates with a biological event or process (45).

### 2.1.1 Glycoproteins

A glycoprotein is a glycoconjugate in which a protein bears one or more glycan structures that are covalently attached to the polypeptide backbone via N- or O-linkages (43). Unlike proteins, carbohydrate structures are not encoded directly by the genome. Due to the presence of enzymes and transporters responsible for the biosynthesis of the carbohydrate sequence of the glycan chains, there is a multitude of sequence combinations that can be achieved by sequential and competing transferases and glycosidases in the compartmentalized structure of the endoplasmic recticulum and the Golgi apparatus. The enzymes that are involved in the production and modification of glycans are estimated to comprise 1% of genes in the mammalian genome (46). Moreover, environmental changes can trigger significant variances in the glycan structures produced by cells. It is this dynamic nature that can result in such complexity and diversity, and even with complete understanding of the cell and genes involved, it is complex and difficult to successfully predict accurate structures at any given time. Over half of the proteins expressed in eukaryotic systems are found to be glycosylated (47), and the main post-translational modifications involving carbohydrates are N-linked glycosylation, and O-linked glycosylation.

### 2.2 N-Glycosylation

N-glycosylation occurs when a glycan modification is attached to an asparagine (Asn) residue through an N-glycosidic bond by a step-wise series of enzyme-catalysed reactions. The synthesis of eukaryotic N-glycans is initiated on the surface of the endoplasmic reticulum, where a lipid-linked oligosaccharide precursor  $Glc_3Man_9GlcNAc_2$  –P-P-Dol is transferred to an Asn residue (48). All steps of this

pathway leading up to the generation of Man<sub>9</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-P-P-Dol occur at the cytosolic side of the ER membrane, using activated nucleotide sugars as donor substrates. The formation of the carbohydrate structures that will be eventually attached to the Asn residues is initiated by the addition of two GlcNAc monosaccharides followed by five mannose monosaccharides for which the donors are UDP-GlcNAc and GDP-Man, respectively (49). Synthesis of the oligosaccharide is completed at the luminal side of the endoplasmic reticulum, when the Man<sub>5</sub>GlcNAc<sub>2</sub>-P-P-Dol then flips across the lipid bilayer and a further four mannoses and 3 glucose monosaccharides are added. This results in the completed oligosaccharide precursor that can be transferred from the lipid to the nascent polypeptide chain by the multisubunit enzyme complex, oligosaccharyltransferase (OST), which forms a complex with other proteins to form a functional unit (50).



Figure 2.1. The N-glycosylation pathway. (Adapted from Jaeken et al.) (51)

Attachment of the N-glycan occurs at the site Asn-X-Thr/Ser, where X is any amino acid except proline. Extensive modification through trimming and elongation can occur to remodel the N-glycan. Oligosaccharide trimming starts immediately after transfer from glycolipid to the nascent polypeptide chain through the action of glucosidases I and II, which are present in the lumen of the ER. Glucosidase I acts specifically on the single  $\alpha$ 1-2-linked terminal glucose. In a manner preserved in eukaryotes, the three glucose residues are cleaved sequentially, which is shown to be crucial in protein folding (52). These modifications give rise to the production of three main oligosaccharide types (**Figure 2.2**).



Figure 2.2. The Diversification of N-glycans. (Adapted from The Sugar Code, Wiley-Blackwell Publishing.) (53)

All N-glycan types have a pentasaccharide core, but present different sequences of sugar residues in the branches, which are altered by the activity of mannosidases or glycosyltransferases. The high-mannose type has only mannose residues, whereas hybrid types have GlcNAc substituted on one branch while the other branch contains mannose. Finally, the complex types have both of the branches substituted with GlcNAc. These differing structures provide specificity, which ensures only certain enzymes to act upon them, allowing a great range of diversity amongst the N-glycans.

### 2.3 O-Glycosylation

*O*-glycosylation describes a covalent modification of serine and threonine residues of mammalian glycoproteins.

### Mucin-type O-GalNAc Glycosylation:

In mucins, O-glycosylation occurs when the O-glycans are linked via an Nacetylgalactosamine (GalNAc) to the hydroxyl group of a serine or threonine by an Oglycosidic bond. This type of O-glycosylation is found on more than 10% of human proteins, and more than 50% of the proteins passing through the secretory pathway, and is generally referred to as mucin-type O-glycosylation (54, 55).

Other types of O-glycosylation have been identified.

### **O-GlcNAc Glycosylation:**

In this form of O-glycosylation, the monosaccharide *N*-acetylglucosamine is attached in a  $\beta$ -linkage to serine and threonine hydroxyl groups of proteins (56, 57). There are rarely any further carbohydrate modifications following the addition of O-GlcNAc. O-GlcNAc glycosylation occurs in the nucleoplasm, cytoplasm and to some extent in the mitochondria, which breaks the dogma that protein glycosylation is restricted to the endoplasmic reticulum and golgi apparatus (58). O-GlcNAc is a reversible modification and is modulated by two enzymes, O-GlcNAc transferase (OGT) and O-GlcNAc hydrolase (OGA), which attach and remove O-GlcNAc from proteins, respectively (59). O-GlcNAc has been found in all eukaryotes examined, and appears as wide-spread as phosphorylation (60, 61). No consensus motif for O-GlcNAc attachment has been identified, but many sites are identical to those used by serine/threonine kinases, and there is a 'yin-yang' relationship between *O*-GlcNAc modification and phosphorylation. Phosphatase inhibitors and kinase activators decrease overall levels of O-GlcNAc and conversely kinase inhibitors increase levels of O-GlcNAc (62). Furthermore, on a select few proteins the mapped site for glycosylation and phosphorylation are identical, such as c-Myc (63), the estrogen receptor (64), and SV-40 large T antigen (65). This apparent reciprocity again emphasizes that proteins exist in a variety of forms through combinatorial post-translational modification.

### O-fucose and O-glucose Glycosylation:

O-fucose and O-glucose modifications have stimulated interest due to the effects they mediate upon the Notch family of receptors and ligands, and the Cripto/FRL/Criptic (CFC) family of proteins. These modifications are important as they regulate the signal transductions involved in early development and the growth of some cancers (45). O-fucosylation occurs at Ser or Thr in the consensus sequence  $C_2X_{4-5}$ -S/TC<sub>3</sub> between the second and third Cys of Notch EGF repeats. The fucose residue is transferred by the enzyme protein O-fucosyltransferase-1 (POFUT1), and the O-fucose may be extended with N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) transferred by a Fringe  $\beta$ 1,3GlcNAcT from a UDP-GlcNAc, and subsequently by  $\beta$ 1-4 galactose and  $\alpha$ 2-3 or  $\alpha$ 2-6 sialic acid in mammals (66).

Only a few proteins are known to have the O-glucose modification. O-glucose modifiations are observed on human factor VII, factor IX, and protein Z, fetal antigen

1 and Notch (45, 67). The concensus sequence for the addition of *O*-glucose is  $C^1XSXPC^2$  where  $C^1$  and  $C^2$  are the first and second concerve cysteines of the EGF repeat, respectively, and X can be any amino acid (68). The glucose residue is added in a  $\beta$ -linkage to a serine by protein *O*-glucosyltransferase (POGLUT) (66). Similarly to POFUT, POGLUT is localized in the ER, where it acts upon the properly folded EGF repeats (69, 70). The modification in its monosaccharide form can be seen, but the *O*-glucose glycan can be further elongated by consecutive addition of two xylose sugars to form a mature disaccharide, Xyl- $\alpha$ 1,3-Xyl- $\alpha$ 1,3-Glc (71). Although activities of the enzymes responsible for addition of these xyloses have been detected, the xylosyltransferases have not yet been identified (72, 73). Like *O*-fucosylation, *O*-glucosylation plays a role in the modulation of Notch signaling. Elimination of specific *O*-glucose sites on mouse Notch1 alters Notch activation (45).

#### **O-mannose Glycosylation:**

*O*-Mannosyl glycans linked to Ser and Thr residues were first identified in the late 1960s in bakers' yeast (74), and was believed to be restricted to yeast and fungi. In all yeasts and fungi studied so far, the reducing terminal mannose residue of *O*-mannosyl glycans is  $\alpha$ -linked to Ser or Thr and may be extended to form an  $\alpha$ 1,2-linked mannose trisaccharide (Man $\alpha$ 1-2Man $\alpha$ 1-2Man $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr) (75). This core structure is further processed according to the yeast/fungi species. Although highly abundant in fungi, protein *O*-mannosyl residues, the majority of mammalian *O*-mannosyl glycans are variations of the tetrasaccharide NeuAc $\alpha$ 2-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-2Man $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr with different lengths and fucose ( $\alpha$ 1,3-linked to GlcNAc) contents (76-78).

Branched structures with 2,6-di-substituted mannose (GlcNAc-linked  $\beta$ 1,2 and  $\beta$ 1,6) have also been reported (79).

The biosynthesis of O-mannosyl glycans in S. cerevisiae is initiated at the ER (80). Dolichyl phosphate-bound mannose (Dol-P-Man) is a phosphate activated monosaccharide (81), and serves as the mannosyl donor for the initial transfer reaction in the O-mannosylation pathway (82). Dol-P-Man is synthesized from GDP-Man and Dol-P on the cytosolic face of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane. Dolichyl phosphate-D-mannose:protein O-mannosyltransferases catalyze the transfer of a mannosyl residue from Dol-P- $\beta$ -D-Man to Ser and Thr residues of secretory proteins (83-86). As the transfer reaction catalyzed by Dol-P-Man:protein O-mannosyltransferases has been demonstrated in mammals and insects (87, 88), as well as yeast and fungi, it is apparent that the initial steps of O-mannosylation are conserved between the fungal and the animal kingdom.

The elongation of *O*-mannosyl glycans in mammals is only partially understood. The transfer of GlcNAc to mannose in the 2-OH position is catalyzed by *O*-mannose *N*-acetylglucosaminyltransferase 1 (POMGnT1 (89, 90)), while  $\beta$ 1,6-Nacetylglucosaminyl transferase (GnT-IX) links GlcNAc to mannose in the 6-OH position (91). The addition of GlcNAc in  $\beta$ 1,2-Man linkage by PomGnT1 is required before GnT-IX can add GlcNAc, strongly suggesting that GnT-IX is responsible for the formation of 2,6-branched structures in brain O-mannosyl glycans (91). Further enzymes directly involved in the elongation of O-mannose saccharides remain to be identified.

### 2.3.1 Biosynthesis of O-Glycans

*O*-linked glycosylation biosynthesis is arguably a simpler process than that of *N*-linked glycosylation as there is no need for a lipid-linked oligosaccharide precursor. No specific consensus sequence for the attachment of *O*-glycan chains has been identified, but the sites of attachment do have characteristic features. For example, proline-rich regions of the polypeptide chain are preferentially chosen, as the serine/threonine residues found in these areas are more physically accessible (92).

*O*-linked glycosylation is initiated when the monosaccarides are added in a step-wise fashion by the sequential action of glycosyltransferase enzymes. In cancer cells, many of these enzymes are up- or down-regulated (93, 94). In *O*-glycan pathways, each individual monosaccharide is transferred from a specific nucleotide sugar donor through the action of a membrane-bound glycosyltransferases (95). These polypeptide glycosyltransferases have a type II membrane protein structure, which has a short cytoplasmic tail (amino terminus), a membrane anchor, and a catalytic domain (carboxy terminus), which enters the lumen of the Golgi (96). It is the addition of the first monosaccharide from a nucleotide donor, UDP-GalNAc, to the serine/threonine in the fully folded proteins chain through the action of the polypeptide GalNAc transferase (GalNAcT) that initiates the synthesis of all mucin-type glycans, and further distinguishes it from other types of glycosylation, including alternative *O*-glycosylations, such as *O*-GlcNAc (57), *O*-mannose and *O*-fucose (68).



Figure 2.3. The family of ppGalNAcTs facilitating the addition of the GalNAc unit to the serine/threonine residues within the folded protein.

It has been shown that rather than a single GalNAcT, as cloned from the cDNA of bovine GalNAcT (97), there is a family of GalNAcTs that mediate the addition of GalNAc to the threonine and serine residues (98, 99), and 20 members have been identified to date (100) (Figure 2.3). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that various GalNAcTs are expressed in a tissue-specific manner, which changes dynamically during development (101, 102).

This transfer of GalNAc to the protein is thought to occur in the Golgi apparatus (103, 104), certain regions of the endoplasmic reticulum or an inter ER-Golgi compartment (105, 106). The GalNAc monosaccharide is then acted upon in a step-wise manner by other transferases to produce various core structures, which can then be further modified to yield an extensive variety of carbohydrate moieties.
#### 2.3.2 O-Glycan Core Structures

Arbitrarily, three regions of the oligosaccharide structure have been assigned: the core region, which is composed of the two or three innermost monosaccharides of the chain proximal to the peptide, the backbone region, which contributes heavily to the length of the chains when formed by uniform elongation, and the peripheral region, which demonstrates a high degree of structural complexity (54). The structure of O-linked mucin-type oligosaccharides is highly heterogeneous, but despite this, they can be classified in accordance to their core structures. All mucin-type O-glycan synthesis is initiated by the attachment of GalNAc to a serine/threonine residue, catalyzed by the enzyme N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase, which is constitutively cells. This produces the Tn epitope, in all mammalian expressed GalNAc $\alpha$ 1 $\rightarrow$ Ser/Thr. Following the addition of further saccharide units, the Tn epitope can be extended into a number of core units, of which eight have been identified (107) (Table 2.1).

Table 2.1. The Core structures found in *O*-glycans. (The Sugar Code, Wiley-Blackwell Publishing.) (108)



The most abundant of these structures are core 1 and core 2, which are the disaccharide Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc and the trisaccharide Gal $\beta$ 1-3(GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-6) GalNAc respectively (54), whereas core 3 and core 4 have a lower abundance, and a restricted tissue-based expression in the bronchus (109), colonic epithelium (110, 111) and in foetal mucins (112). In the backbone region, this section can often be formed by repetitive addition of the disaccharide Gal $\beta$ 1-3/4GlcNAc to the core structure, which can form branches through substitution at the C6 of galactoses (54). These lactosamine-type formations can reach sizes up to 20 monosaccharides long, and can be elongated in a mono or biantennary form (**Table 2.2**).

# Table 2.2. O-glycan chain extension as backbone structures. (The Sugar Code,





Further to this, an enormous carbohydrate variety is produced by modification of the core and backbone units. These modifications include fucosylation, sialylation, sulfation, acetylation and methylation.

Table 2.3. Blood group	and related antigens on	O-linked cores.
------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------

TF (Thomsen Friedenreich antigen)	GalβI-3GalNAcα-Ser/Thr	
Disialyl TF	Neu5Acα2-3 Galβl-3GalNAcα-Ser/Thr α2-6 NeuAc	
Siaiyi Tn	Neu5Acct2-6GaiNAcct1-Ser/Thr	
Tn	GaiNAca I-Ser/Thr	
Type I backbone	(Gal/β1-3GkNAcβ1-3/6)n(Galβ1-3)GalNAcα1-Ser/Thr	
Type 2 backbone	$(Gal/\beta I-4GlcNAc\beta I-3/6)n(Gal\beta I-3)GalNAc\alpha I-Ser/Thr$	
Blood group H	Fucα I-2GalβI-	
Blood group A	GalNAcα1-3 Galβ1 Fucα1-2	
Blood group B	Galα I-3 Galβ I Fucα I-2	
CAD (SD <sup>2</sup> )	GalNAcβ1-4 Galβ1 Neu5Ac02-6	
Sialyl Lewis <sup>a</sup>	NeuAcα2-3Galβ1-3GicNAcβ1- α1-4 Fuc	
Lewis <sup>2</sup>	Gaiβ1-3GlcNAcβ1- α1-4 Fuc	
Lewis <sup>b</sup>	Galβi-3GicNAcβi- αi-2 αi-4 Fuc Fuc	
X Antigen (SSEA-I, Le <sup>X</sup> )	Galβ1-4GicNAcβ1- α1-3 Fuc	
Y Antigen (Le <sup>7</sup> )	Galβ1-4GicNAcβ1- α1-2 α1-3 Fuc Fuc	

# 2.4 Mucins

The luminal surface of the gastrointestinal tract is coated with a viscous gel layer that acts as a protective barrier against the harsh environments seen throughout the luminal environment. Mucins form part of the interactive mucosal defensive system, are responsible for the viscoelastic properties of the mucous barrier, and are active at the surface of the gastrointestinal tract, conveying protection, lubrication and transport functions (113). The extensive glycosylation of mucins creates a hydrophilic environment, which is ideal for hydration and lubrication of epithelia. Furthermore, the large protein backbone and the dense sugar chains block access of infective agents to the epithelium below. The first barrier the pathogen encounters is the highly hydrated mucus gel that covers the mucosal surface and protects the epithelial cells against chemical, enzymatic, microbial, and mechanical insult. Mucosal surfaces are coated with a layer of viscous mucus. The mucus layer is not static but moves to clear trapped material. In the gastrointestinal tract, the outer mucus layer is continually removed by movement of the luminal contents. Underneath the mucus layer, the cells present a dense forest of highly diverse glycoproteins and glycolipids, which form the glycocalyx. Membrane-anchored cell-surface mucin glycoproteins are a major constituent of the glycocalyx in all mucosal tissues, and both the secreted and adherent mucosal barriers are constantly renewed and could potentially be rapidly adjusted to changes in the environment, for example, in response to microbial infection (114, 115).

Steric constraints cause the mucins to have rod-like structures in which the protein core is extended, and the carbohydrate chains branch out from the axis of the molecule, giving an appearance much like a bottle brush (116, 117). This allows trans-membrane mucins to extend significantly further from the cell surface, more so

than most extracellular receptors, which provides a mechanism by which mucins modulate the adhesion of cells and pathogens (118, 119).

Mucins make up a family of heavily *O*-glycosylated proteins with molecular weights usually more than 200kDa. 50-80% of the molecular weights of mucins can be due to their *O*-linked carbohydrate content (120, 121). They are widely expressed in epithelial tissues, and are characterized by functionally important peptide domains that are Ser/Thr/Pro-rich, called variable number of tandem repeat (VNTR) domains, which are an attractive site for heavy *O*-glycosylation (122-124). These areas are often protease-resistant, and this is suggested to be due to the fact that attached carbohydrate residues block access to the peptide core, as the same sequences are susceptible to protease action in the absence of the carbohydrate (125).

To date, there are approximately 20 genes that encode mucin-type proteins, and these are expressed by epithelial cells in the gastrointestinal, tracheobronchial and reproductive tracts (126) (**Table 2.4**).

Gene	Mucus Type	Mucin	Main Tissue Expression	Chromosomal Locus
MUCI	Transmembrane	Pan-epithelial	Breast, pancreas	iq2i
MUCZ	Secreted	incestinal	jejunum, ileum, colon	lip15.5
MUC3A	Transmembrane	intestinal	Colon, small intestine, gall bladder	7q22
MUC38	Transmembrane	Intestinal	Colon, small intestine, gall bladder	7q22
MUC4	Transmembrane	Airway	Airways, colon	3q29
MUCSAC	Secreted	Airway	Airways, stomach	lip15.5
MUCSB	Secreted	Airway	Airways, submandibular glands	11p15.5
MUC6	Secreted	Gastric	Scomach, ileum, gall bladder	11p15.5
MUC7	Secreted	Salivary	Sublingual and submandibular glands	4q13-21
MUCB	Secreted	Airway	Airways	12q24.3
MUCI	Both	Reproductive	Fallopian tubes	lp13
MUCH	Transmembrane	Colonic	Colon, sirway, reproductive tract	7q22
MUC12	Transmembrane	Colonic	Colon, pencreas, prostrate, uterus	7q22
MUCI3	Transmembrane	Colonic	Colon, trachea, kidney, small intestine	3q13.3
MUCIS	Transmembrane	Colonic	Colon, airway, small incestine, prostate	l i pi 4.3
MUCI6	Transmembrane	Reproductive	Ovarian epicheliai celis	19q21
MUCI7	Transmembrane	Intestinal	Duodenum, colon, stornach	7q22
MUCIS	Transmembrane	Airway	Lung, breast	l iq23
MUCIT	Secreted	Salivary	Salivary glands, traches	12
MUC20	Transmembrane	Renal	Placenta, colon, lung, prostate, liver	3q29

Table 2.4. Currently cloned human mucin genes. From Ali, et al. (126)

The mucin family can be sub-divided based upon their formations. MUC2, 5AC, 5B, 6 and possibly 19 are secreted, gel-forming mucins, while MUC1, 3A, 3B, 4, 11 to 13, 15 to 18, and 20 are membrane bound. However, MUC7 is a secreted but not gel-forming mucin as it exists as a monomer. Both secreted and membrane-bound forms of MUC9 have been identified (126).

# 2.4.1 Gel-Forming Mucins

This type of mucin covers the epithelial cells in organs in all vertebrates, gills in fishes and the amphibian epidermis. Upon analysis, gel-forming mucin polypeptides were shown to have non-glycosylated, 'bare' domains adjacent to the Ser/Thr-rich glycosylated ones. It was suggested that the bare regions were areas of smaller mucin molecules that were linked to others by disulfide bonds to form larger molecules (127-129). Gel-forming MUC2, MUC5AC, MUC5B and MUC6 are found to be clustered to human chromosome 11, and each have a cysteine knot domain and thus form a mucin subfamily (130). Furthermore, purified mucins observed with an electron microscope appear as long linear structures that can be reduced to smaller subunits upon reduction of disulfide bonds (131, 132). Due to the large, carbohydraterich structure and polymeric nature, gel-forming mucins endow mucus secretions with a high viscosity and the chemical diversity necessary to interact, entrap and transport microorganisms, particles and chemicals (133). Furthermore, the hydrodynamic properties of gel-forming mucins in the gastric mucosa prevent damage to the mucosa by the hydrochloric acid (134). Some gastric mucins have demonstrated an antibiotic activity against Helicobacter pylori, one of the prominent agents responsible for the formation of gastric ulcers (135). Furthermore, it has been suggested that the gelforming mucins act to retain antimicrobial peptides in airway mucus (136). Gelforming mucins in the colon have been involved in protection against cancer development in an environment where the mucosa is exposed to potentially carcinogenic products (137). Deregulation of the mucins or mucus production can present strong risks towards serious health consequences. Reduction in the synthesis of intestinal mucins has been associated with a predisposition towards colitis (138). Overproduction and subsequent accumulation of gel-forming mucins has been shown

to feature in the lungs of individuals with a obstructive lung diseases, such as COPD, cystic fibrosis and asthma (139).

# 2.4.2 MUC1 and Transmembrane Mucins

Transmembrane mucins are generally composed of two dissimilar subunits forming a dimer, linked together by non-covalent SDS-labile bonds. The larger N-terminal subunit is extracellular, highly glycosylated and, particularly in the case of MUC1 and MUC4, mostly composed of VNTR domains. In a similar way as the gelforming mucins, transmembrane mucins are also shown to have gene clustering, and can undergo a variety of splicing events (140). The smaller subunit is composed of a short extracellular region of 58 amino acid residues, a single-pass transmembrane domain, and the C-terminus which result in a C-terminal core peptide of around 14kDa, which increases to 25-30 kDa following glycosylation and any subsequent phosphorylation (141). In the case of MUC1, following translation, a single polypeptide is cleaved in the ER into the two subunits of the heterodimer (116, 142, 143). The peptide core of the extracellular domain ranges from 120-300kDa, while the mature protein, after glycosylation in the VTNR domains, can almost double in size dependent upon the tissue of origin and it's physiological state (141).

Cleavage of the MUC1 precursor polypeptide happens through autoproteolysis, which occurs during protein folding (144, 145). The site of cleavage is N-terminal to the serine residue in a G $\downarrow$ SVVV motif in the SEA (sea urchin sperm protein, enterokinase and agrin) module of the extracellular domain (146). Structurally, the N-terminus of MUC1 bears a signal peptide that directs the localization of the mature protein to the apical surface of the cell in epithelial cells, and the first three residues (CQC) of the cytoplasmic domain are involved in retention of the mucin at the plasma membrane (147). Once at the plasma membrane, the MUC1 extracellular membrane can be shed into the lumen by tumour necrosis  $\alpha$ converting enzyme and possibly ADAM9, a disintegrin (148). The shedding mechanism allows the release of soluble MUC1, as does alternative splicing of the MUC1 mRNA.

In a way similar to MUC1, the heterodimeric MUC4 is derived from a single gene that is posttranslationally processed into an *O*-glycosylated extracellular subunit of about 600-800 kDa, and a mostly *N*-glycosylated fragment of approximately 120 kDa. The cleavage of MUC4 is suggested to be carried out by an unknown serine protease (149). MUC4 represents the only transmembrane mucin without an SEA module, but it contains three domains unique amongst the transmembrane-mucins. These are a nidogen homology region (NIDO), an adhesion-associated domain in MUC4 and other proteins (AMOP), and a von Willebrand factor type D sequence (VWD) (150, 151).

#### 2.4.3 The roles of MUC1

Mucins have been shown to have both anti- and proadhesive properties. The heavy glycosylation on the mucins can create steric hindrance which is able to distrupt close contact between cells (152). However, in the case of MUC1, the peptide backbone and the carbohydrate modifications provide epitopes for a wide range of adhesion molecules (116, 153, 154). While the protein component of MUC1 interacts with intracellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) (155), the sialyl-Lewis<sup>8</sup> and sialyl lewis<sup>x</sup> carbohydrate structures are bound by the selectin family of adhesion molecules (156).

Both extracellular and intracellular domains of mucins are involved in signalling. Mucin domain interactions have been shown to interact and encourage heterocellular adhesion such as MUC1-ICAM-1 interactions and MUC16-mesothelin interactions (153, 154, 157). ICAM-1 is shown to bind to the peptide backbone of the MUC1 extracellular domain on adjacent cells, which results in a rapid increase in intracellular calcium in MUC1-expressing cells (158). Further studies have shown that this calcium response involves the Src, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), and phospholipase C enzymes, and that the interaction of MUC1 with ICAM-1 increases migration of MUC1-expressing cells across a gelatin matrix in vitro, suggesting a role of MUC1 in the regulation of cellular adhesion and motility (159).

Furthermore, the MUC1 C-terminus has been shown to affect a variety of signalling pathways through interactions regulated by phosphorylation. An indication of this would be that six of the seven tyrosine residues found in the human MUC1 C-terminus are found to be 100% conserved (160). These tyrosines, as well as several serines and threonines in the C-terminus, make up recognition sites for kinases and can be phosphorylated (161-163). These kinases includes c-Src (164), all members of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR or ErbB) family (161, 165), glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ) (166), and protein kinase C  $\delta$  (PKC $\delta$ ) (167). Various non-kinase proteins have been shown to interact with MUC1. These proteins include  $\beta$ -catenin (168, 169), adenomatous polyposis coli (170), Grb-2 (171), p53 (172), p120 catenin (173), estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ) (174), and the heat shock protein HSP70 and HSP90 (175).

MUC1 has been shown to enhance the effect of tumorigenic proteins, including those of the ErbB kinase family. MUC1 overexpression increases activation of downstream extracellular signal-regulated kinases (Erks) 1 and 2 (161). Furthermore, MUC1 has been shown to enhance ErbB1 signalling in breast cancer cells and immortalized breast epithelial cells by inhibiting ErbB1 ubiquitination, and promoting ErbB1 recycling back to the cell surface following internalization (176). However, these MUC1-ErbB interactions are readily detected in non-polarised cells, but it is disputed as to whether these findings are directly applicable to normal, polarized epilthelial cells, as MUC1 is located on the apical surface, while the ErbB proteins are primarily basolateral in location (177). It has been suggested that MUC1 has the ability to activate MAPK signaling through association with Grb2, and other signalling mediators (171). Reduction of MUC1 proteins has been shown to affect the transcription of two members of the ERK pathway, MEK1 and Raf, coinciding with changes in the activation of MEK1/2 and ERK1/2 (178). Furthermore, following a decrease in MUC1 expression in Jurkat lymphoma cells, there is a reduction in signalling associated with T-cell activation, which includes ERK1/2 phosphorylation and cell proliferation (179). Finally, it has been shown that the MUC1 C-terminus can be found in the nucleus, where it is free to modulate transcription directly (169, 172, 174).

# 2.4.4 Cancer-Associated MUC1

MUC1 is ubiquitously expressed on the ducts and glands of secretory epithelial tissues (180, 181). MUC1 overexpression has been identified in most carcinomas, particularly in breast cancers (180, 182-185), and correlates with a high metastastic potential and poor survival (186-189). Originally characterized as an epithelial-specific protein, MUC1 has been identified in lymphoid cells, B-lymphoblasts, plasma cells, myelomas, selected normal B cells, T and B cell lymphomas, normal pro-erythrocytes and erythroblasts in bone marrow (180, 190-194).

The changes in expression and post-translation modifications of MUC1 have instigated research into links between these changes and the behaviour of cancer cells, particularly in regards to interactions with other cells, and the extracellular matrix. MUC1 expression is localized to the apical surface bordering the lumen in epithelial cells. However, in cancer cells, the MUC1 has lost polarity and is found expressed on all surfaces of the cell (195). Furthermore, cancer-associated MUC1 has shorter and less complex O-glycan chains, exposing core structures (196-198). A feature of colon carcinogenesis is shown to be accompanied by an increase in carbohydrate structures of less complexity, such as the core antigens Tn, TF and their siaylated counterparts sialyl-Tn and sialyl-TF, as well as the blood group antigens Lewis<sup>a</sup>, Lewis<sup>b</sup>, Lewis<sup>x</sup> and Lewis<sup>y</sup> (199). There has been some dispute in whether cancer-associated MUC1 is over- or under-glycosylated when compared to MUC1 expressed by healthy cells. T47D, a breast cancer cell line, exhibits a high level of O-glycosylation upon MUC1 with carbohydrate moieties attached to 95% of available sites, while MUC1 from milk demonstrated only 55% of available sites were O-glycosylated (200). However, earlier studies have suggested that cancer-associated MUC1 is underglycosylated, and that this is due to reduced density of substituted sites (198).

#### 2.4.5 MUC1 and Immunotherapy

The role of the immune system is to reject invading pathogens including bacteria, fungi, and viruses. The innate immune system recognizes molecules with a specific structural patterns, characteristic of classes of pathogen (pathogen associated molecular patterns, or PAMPS) (201), which are usually structures like mannans of yeasts, lipopolysaccharides of Gram-negative bacteria, or bacterial DNA which contains unmethylated CpG dinucleotides (202). PAMPs are quite often rich in carbohydrates and can therefore interact with lectins on antigen presenting cells (APCs), which, in turn, can activate the cells to increase their expression of molecules such as MHC, co-stimulatory molecules and cytokines. These molecules stimulate the adaptive immune response, which is mediated by T- and B-cells.

The glycosylation of MUC1 is of importance in regards to any subsequent antibody response, and lectin-mediated interactions with the effector cells of the immune system. The multiple *O*-glycans presented on MUC1, which have the capability of acting as a PAMP, as well as enhancing any cell-cell interactions. For example, MUC1 was first recognized as a tumour-associated antigen due to its dominance of inducing antibodies in mice (203). In humans, the first example of MUC1's immunogenicity was when cytotoxic T-cells (CTLs) isolated from breast and ovarian cancer patients killed MUC1-expressing cells in a non-human leukocyte antigen (HLA) restricted fashion (204). Furthermore, these studies suggested that only the cancer-associated glycoform of MUC1 was recognized by the CLTs (205) and that the intact MUC1 molecule formed multiple interactions with the T-cell receptors (TCR), particularly through the epitopes found on the VNTR domain (206). It was then reported that the antibodies that recognized the sequences in the VNTR are found in cancer patients (207, 208).

Since the 1980s, anti-MUC1 antibodies have been available, and were used to carry radioactive elements to the peritoneum (209). Anti-MUC1 antibodies have been used in breast cancer management to detect MUC1 in serum, which attempted to detect cancer relapse before clinical symptoms appear (203). There has been interest in using MUC1-based immunotherapy for carcinomas expressing the molecules. The majority of MUC1-based immunotherapy developments so far have been based upon synthetic or recombinant peptides, which are restricted to the VNTR domain (210-213). As there are as many as 120 tandem repeats in a MUC1 molecule, it was theorized that the VNTR domains represent the most abundant complement of epitopes. However, it has been demonstrated in non-transgenic mice that immunotherapy with MUC1 that does not have the VNTR region is as effective as immunotherapy using the entire molecule (214). Furthermore, immunization of nontransgenic mice with MUC1 peptide alone has produced very little immune response, while coupling the peptide to a large protein carrier, such as KLH (keyhole limpet hemocyanin, a metalloprotein), or diptheria toxoid (DT) (215), and injecting it along side adjuvants produces anti-MUC1 antibody and further provides protection against challenge with MUC1-baring cancer cells (212). Conversely, MUC1 transgenic mice have been shown to produce very little MUC1-specific antibody in response to MUC1 vaccination (216), but the growth of MUC1-expressing tumours can be deterred by the same MUC1 vaccination (217, 218).

The MUC1-VNTR has been developed in bacteria as a fusion protein with glutathione S-transferase (GST), a construct which contains five MUC1-VNTR per GST molecule, and allows easy purification (219). It has been shown that coating the fusion protein with the sugar mannan encourages uptake by antigen-presenting cells, due to the mannan receptors on the surface of the cell. However, when injected into mice, it was shown that type-1 T-cell response (CLT) and subsequent anti-tumour activity was only generated when mannan was attached under oxidizing conditions. Conversely, a Th2 response, where MUC1-specific antibodies, but no CTL activity was generated, was seen when mannan was attached under reducing conditions (218, 220).

Since the 1990s, it has been well known that mice injected intramuscularly with plasmid DNA generate a strong immune response to the antigen coded within the plasmid (221, 222). This has now been applied to MUC1 immunization, and incorporation of the MUC1 gene into plasmid DNA has been assessed preclinically (223). MUC1 vaccination utilizing a viral vector has been implemented by inserting the MUC1 gene into the thymidine kinase gene of vaccinia virus (VV) (224), as disruption of the thymidine kinase gene also attenuates the viral virulence (225). VV-MUC1 constructs have been assessed in mouse experimental systems, including MUC1 transgenic mice (216, 226-228).

In more recent experiments, MUC1 has been expressed in the highly attenuated modified vaccinia Ankara (MVA) with the gene sequence of interleukin (IL)-2. This construct has shown to be effective at inducing MUC1-specific CTL in mice, which can lead to the rejection of established MUC1-expressing tumours, and is now in clinical studies (229). Futhermore, MUC1 has been expressed in adenoviral vectors, which were used to infect dendritic cells, resulting in increased expression of MUC1 on them (230, 231).

# Table 2.5. Immunotherapy developments involving MUC1. From Acres et al. (232)

Immunogen	Name	Clinical phase	Cancer indication	Reported results
MUC 5xVNTR		I	Pancreas	Antibody response
MUCI IXVNTR-KLH		I	Breast	Antibody response
MUCI (2xVNTR) DT		I		Cellular and antibody response
MUCI CTL epicope peptides/dendritic cells		I	Breast and ovarian	CTL, stable disease
Sialyi-Tn KLH	Theratope®	h	Breast	MUC1 antibody and increased survival
Sx VNTR-GST-mannan	MFP	I I	Breast, colon, stomach or rectum	Antibody response to MUCI
Vaccinia MUC1-IL2	TG1031	I	Breast/prostate	Partial clinical responses; decreased or stabilised PSA levels
Vaccinia CEA/MUC1/ Tricom	PanVacc®	W (in progress)	Pancreas	
MVA-MUCI-IL2	TG4010	II	Lung, prostate, kidney, breast	CTL responses, stable disease, increased surviva
Liposome IxVNTR	L-8LP-25		Lung	Increased survival

CEA: Carcinoembryonic antigen; CTL: Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes; DT: diptheria toxold; GST: Glutathione Stransferase; KLH: Keyhole limpet hemocyanin; MVA: Modified vaccinia Ankara; VNTR: Variable number tandem repeat; PSA: Prostate-specific antigen.

# 2.5 Altered Glycosylation in Disease

Considering that it is one of the most common posttranslational modifications of proteins, it is unsurprising that alterations in glycosylation are seen in all human cancers (93, 233, 234). Furthermore, altered epithelial glycosylation in the colonic epithelium is present in pre-malignant disease, such as adenomatous and metaplastic polyps and inflammatory conditions such a ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (235). These changes affect the majority of glycoconjugates, including intracellular, cell-surface and secreted products.

The most abundant changes are found within the O-linked mucin-type glycans . These changes include truncation of the O-glycans, increased sialylation, reduced sulfation, and the increased expression of the core 1 structure within the O-linked glycans, the Thomsen-Friedenreich (TF) antigen (galactoseβ1,3Nacetylgalactosamine), which is  $\alpha$ -linked to serine or threenine within the protein core (Table 2.6). Typically, colon cancer O-glycans present this TF-antigen core, while Oglycans from a healthy colon present predominantly express core 3 glycans (GlcNAc  $\beta$ 1-3 GalNAc  $\alpha$ -ser/thr) (236). These were identified within mucosal samples of colon cancer and ulcerative colitis patients (237). Colonic mucin sulphation in ulcerative colitis is reduced (238). Other changes include increased expression of short O-linked oncofetal antigens including sialyl-Tn (sialyl 2-6 GalNAc α-ser/thr). Sialyl-Tn and its expression represent a marker of high-risk cancer development in inflammatory bowel disease mucosa, and is also being investigated as a diagnostic marker in breast and gastric cancers (239-241). These changes are not exclusive to the colon, and have been identified in other epithelial cancers, such as the breast and pancreas.

O-glycan	Structure In	creased/decreased in cancer
Tn antigen	GaiNAca-Ser/Thr	Ť
STn antigen	Siahha2-6GaiNAca-Ser/Thr	Ť
Core I,T antigen	Galß1-3GalNAco-Ser/Thr	Ť
SialM-T	Sialylα2-3Galβ1-3GalNAcα-Ser/Thr	Ţ.
antigens	Sialyl $\alpha$ 2-6(Gal $\beta$ I-3)GalNAc $\alpha$ -Ser/Thr	Ť
Core 2	GlcNAcβ I -6(Galβ I -3)GalNAcα-Ser/Ti	<sub>₩</sub> 1↓
Core 3	GlcNAcβ1-3GalNAcα-Ser/Thr	Ļ
Core 4	GICNAcß1-6(GICNAcß1-3)GaINAca-S	er/Thr
Type I chain	[GicNAcβ1-3 Galß1-3]n	Ļ
Type 2 chain	[GicNAcβ1-3 Galβ1-4]n	1
	Poly-N-acetylactosamines	
Sialyl-Lewis a	Sialyla2-3Gaiß1-3(Fuca1-4)GicNAcß	1-3Gal- 1
Sialyl-Lewis x	Sialyla2-3Gaiß1-4(Fuca1-4)GicNAcß	1-3Gal-
Sialyl-dimeric Lewis x	Sialy1α2-3Galβ1-4(Fucα1-4)GicNAcβ Galβ1-4 (Fucα1-3)GicNAcβ1-3Gal	1-3 <b>†</b>

Table 2.6. Mucin type O-glycans and their alterations in cancer (236).

These glycosylation changes may precede dysplasia, the common precursor of malignancy (242). The same relationship between colitis and the cancerous state exists within a species of New World monkey, the cotton-top tamarin. This species, when in captivity, commonly develops a colitis that is virtually indistinguishable from the human ulcerative colitis, and this often progresses to colon cancer. Furthermore, colon cancer has not been identified in the monkeys prior to the development of colitis (243). As recognised in human colitis, there was an increased expression of TF antigen which coincided with an increased level of binding of peanut lectin in cotton-

top tamarins with colitis (244). The over-expression of TF antigen significantly coincided with the development of colorectal carcinoma (245).

The changes in cellular glycosylation are similar in both inflammatory disease and colon cancer. This led to speculation that the glycosylation changes might be primary in both conditions however it was shown there is no increase to the risk of colorectal cancer for first-degree relatives of those with inflammatory bowel diseases, unless those individuals also suffer from a form of inflammatory bowel disease (246).

This implies that the glycosylation changes seen in inflammation and cancer are likely to be secondary phenomena.

#### 2.5.1 Mechanisms of Altered Glycosylation

There are a variety of possibilities that could account for the glycosylation abnormalities in colon disease. These could include alterations in the activities of the glycosyltransferases within the Golgi, altered substrate availability or changes in the sequence and structure of the core protein. Glycosylation can be altered by splicing of the gene producing the target protein. It was shown that, specifically upon the high molecular weight splice variants of the adhesion molecule CD44, there is an expression of TF antigen, when the normal CD44 in healthy colorectal tissue demonstrates no expression (247). Furthermore, studies have implied a link between the CD44 splicing, altered cell surface glycosylation and tumour cell behaviour. Particularly, there has been a correlation between the glycosylation trait and metastatic ability (242). When a poorly tumourigenic rat colon cancer cell line was transfected with human H blood group antigen-forming  $\alpha(1-2)$  fucosyltransferase cDNA, which enforced the expression of H antigens which are selectively carried upon CD44v6, the transformed cells exhibited increased mobility and tumorigenicity (248).

The altered glycosylation seen in cancer has been shown to correlate only poorly with altered activity of the relevant glycosyltransferases (249). It has been suggested that the biggest influence may be dependent upon the altered arrangement of the transferases within the Golgi, which is accepted as a critical factor for the determination of the *O*-glycan structure (250). The organisation of the transferases has been shown to be pH-dependent, and it is speculated that this may be affected by cross-talk initiated by pro-inflammatory cytokines. There is evidence of defective Golgi acidification within cancerous cells (251, 252). It has been shown that disruption of the pH gradient of the Golgi stack not only resulted in the displacement of the glycosyltransferases to endosomal compartments or the cell surface, but also results in a decreased O-glycosylation of mucin (253).

#### 2.5.2 Thomsen-Friedenreich Antigen

The Thomsen-Friedenreich (TF) antigen is a disaccharide, Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr, and is also known as core 1 of the *O*-linked glycans (254). This structure is rarely seen under normal circumstances, and acts as an oncofetal antigen, being expressed only in embryonic tissues and cancerous cells. Typically, the TF antigen is concealed by other structures and moieties forming branches within the glycan, such as other carbohydrate units, sulphates and sialic acids, which add to the complexity of the glycans (233). This is not the case in cancer, or pre-cancerous conditions when the core 1 structure is often unsubstituted, and the expression therefore increased (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4. PNA histochemistry. A. Section from irritable bowel syndrome that demonstrates no TF expression. B. Section from colon cancer that demonstrates an increased level of TF expression (brown staining) (235, 255).

It is particularly noted that within colon cancer tumours, TF-positive tumours present a 4-fold increase in risk of metastasis when compared to TF-negative tumours (244). Furthermore, the naturally occurring anti-TF antibodies that occur in the patient sera are significantly reduced in the sera obtained from colorectal cancer patients (256). Although it is widely acknowledged that the level of TF expression is significantly increased in cancer patients, the mechanism of this increase is not completely understood. The first facet of this development could be linked to the activity of the glycosyltransferases. However, the significance of the glycosyltransferase activities in the expression of the TF antigen is disputed, and it would be incorrect to assume that increased expression of glycosyltransferases would automatically correlate with the increased expression of the TF antigen. Recent studies have demonstrated that there is similar glycosyltransferase expression and activity in both normal and cancerous tissues (257). Therefore, it would seem, for at least gastric cancer tissues, the glycosyltransferase gene expression is not the most influential factor.

In eukaryotic O-glycosylation, sugar moieties are added individually, and the sequence is influenced by the position of glycosyltransferases within the Golgi apparatus compartments, and alterations of the relative activities will, in turn, alter the structure of the O-glycan products that are ultimately destined for the surface of the cell. In healthy epithelial cells, the core 1 structure is rapidly converted to the core 2 structure by the addition of N-acetyl glucosamine to the GalNAc portion of core 1. This process is catalysed by core 2 ß1,6-GlcNAc-transferase. However, in breast cancer tissues the expression of the core 2 enzyme is significantly reduced (258), and this would correlate with a reduced core 1 to core 2 conversion, and an increase in TF antigen on the cell surface. This concept can be translated specifically to colorectal cancer. In normal colorectal epithelium, TF structures may be concealed by Osulphate esters. But in the cancerous colon tissue, the sulphotransferase is reduced, thereby contributing to the increased occurrence of the TF antigen (259). It is further hypothesised that an elevated availability of the UDP-galactose substrate may increase the biosynthesis and expression of the TF antigen. This nucleotide sugar substrate is typically located in the cytosol and is transported into the Golgi apparatus for the carbohydrate biosynthesis by the UDP-Gal transporter in the Golgi membrane (233). This elevated level of UDP-Gal is identified in cancer, where it is on average 3.6-fold greater in cancerous mucosa when compared to healthy mucosa.

The activity of these glycosyltransferases are also affected by specific chaperones. The core 1  $\beta$ 1,3 Gal-transferase reaction is modulated by the ER-based

molecular chaperone Cosmc (Core 1  $\beta$ 1,3-Gal-T-specific molecular chaperone). This chaperone promotes the folding and stability of the core 1  $\beta$ 1,3 Gal-transferase (260). In the absence of Cosmc, Core 1  $\beta$ 1,3 Gal-transferase is targeted for degradation by proteasomes, and mutations in the Cosmc gene coincide with increased TF expression (261). Initial investigations have demonstrated that cervical tumour cells that possess heavy Tn and Sialyl Tn expression typically possess Cosmc mutations (262). Furthermore, disruption of C1GalT in mice results in embryonic lethality, typically caused by defective angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis (263, 264).

# 2.6 Lectins

The term 'lectin' is derived from the Latin *lectus*: to gather or select (265), and is defined as a carbohydrate binding protein of non-immune origin. Lectins are found in widely in nature, in plant and animal systems, and are involved in a diverse range of biological functions.

Plant lectins are tightly globular in structure, and have resistance to digestion by mammalian enzymes. This allows them to pass through the gut lumen where they retain their biological activity. Lectins have been classically described as agglutinating proteins, with two carbohydrate-binding sites that allow the lectins to precipitate the sugar-containing structures they bind to. However, it has been demonstrated that agglutination is not a defining characteristic of a lectin. The specificity of binding in a lectin is defined by the monosaccharides and oligosaccharides that have the ability to inhibit their activity. Through this, lectins have been classified into five groups based on which monosaccharide ligand demonstrates the most affinity (266). These groups are mannose, galactose/N-acetylgalactosamine, N-acetylglucosamine, fucose and N-acetylneuraminic acid.

Insights into the functional dimension of lectin binding to cellular glycans have strongly contributed to the emerging importance of glycosylation structures as binding targets for lectins. In regards to lectin architecture, binding sites, ranging from shallow grooves to deep pockets, have developed sugar-binding capacity (267).

#### 2.6.1 Lectin-Based Interactions

It has been indicated through a number of studies that the increased level of TF antigen on the cell surface may increase tumour cell growth, through the recruitment and interaction with exogenous or endogenous carbohydrate-binding lectins to the mucosa, including ones that may not ordinarily bind. The lectins may be of microbial, dietary or human origin. Dietary lectins are often found in legumes and are tightly globular and highly resistant to heat and digestion (268), and can be detected in the active form in faeces, retaining haemagglutinating and proproliferative activity (269).

A range of non-toxic, dietary-based lectins have been assessed for their functional effects upon the human colon epithelial cells, particularly with focus upon binding the TF antigen. The largest family of lectins is the legume family, which has around 100 members. Generally, they consist of two or four identical subunits of 25-30 kDa each with Ca<sup>2+</sup> or Mn<sup>2+</sup> binding sites. They are characterized by a high content of  $\beta$ -sheets and lack any  $\alpha$ -helices (270). A legume lectin of significant importance is peanut agglutinin (PNA), isolated from *Arachis hypogaea*, which is a tetramer - a dimer of a dimer, similar to the lectin *Griffonia simplifolia* (271). Peanut lectin is one

of the most commonly ingested dietary lectins, and is able to remain active in the digestive tract, as PNA extracted from the faeces is still able to agglutinate desiaylated red blood cells (272).

Peanut lectin has shown pro-proliferative properties in colon cancer cell lines such as HT29 human colonic epithelial cells (272), SW837 rectal adenocarcinoma and HCT-15 human colonic carcinoma cells (273), and produces a 40% increase in rectal mucosal proliferation in individuals who consumed peanut butter or a packet of peanuts per day for five days (272). Moreover, the opposite effect can be seen with the edible mushroom lectin, ABL (*Agaricus bisporus*). This lectin also binds TF, and sialylated TF, but, unlike peanut lectin, causes the inhibition of cell proliferation through the internalisation of the lectin, and in turn, causes the inhibition of nuclear localisation sequence-dependent protein import mechanism (274, 275).

Studies were carried out to investigate the effect of PNA on abnormal colonic epithelium, which express TF. Ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease and colonic polyp biopsy samples demonstrated an average 25% greater crypt cell proliferation rate (CCPR) upon treatment with 25  $\mu$ g/ml PNA when compared with normal colonic biopsies. Ulcerative colitis samples almost doubled in CCPR when treated with PNA (269). Inflamed and neoplastic colonic tissue, due to altered mRNA splicing, express a high molecular weight variant of CD44 called CD44v6 which expresses TF, as previously described. PNA can bind this, and stimulate phosphorylation of the hepatocyte growth factor c-MET which is known to associate with CD44v6. This is followed by downstream activation of p44/p42 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK). This PNA-induced signalling can be inhibited by MAPK inhibitor PD98059. These effects where notable in HT29 and T84 colonic cancer cell lines, but not CaCo2 colonic cancer cells which do not express CD44v6 (276).

49

It would seem that these dietary lectins might act in the same way as endogenous human lectins, inducing different responses due to the subtleties of the lectin-carbohydrate interactions. An example of these includes the family of galactose-binding galectins.

## 2.7 Galectins

Galectins are a family of 15 mammalian galactoside-binding proteins that share a consensus amino acid sequence in their carbohydrate recognition domains (CRDs) (277). Based on their structural differences, members of the galectin family are classified into three subgroups, the prototype, chimera-type and tandem-repeat type. The prototype galectins include galectin-1, -2, -5, -7, -10, -11, -13, -14 and -15. Members of the prototype galectins contain a single CRD in their polypeptide sequences and are often identified as non-covalently linked homodimers. The chimera-type galectin, which has only one member (galectin-3) at the moment, is composed of a non-lectin domain linked to a CRD and can precipitate as a pentamer with its carbohydrate ligands. The tandem-repeat-type galectins include galectin-4, -6, -8, -9 and -12 and members of this subgroup of galectins contain two CRDs in a single polypeptide chain and these two CRDs are often different from each other (278). All galectins are bivalent or multivalent molecules in physiological or pathological conditions, as a result of the presence of either two CRDs within a single polypeptide chain or molecule polymerization, and are able to form arrays and lattice structures on the cell surface with their carbohydrate ligands (279). Through this recognition and binding ability, galectins have been shown to control immune cell processes through binding to specific glycan structures on pathogens and tumors or by acting intracellularly via modulation of selective signaling pathways. Recent findings demonstrate that various galectin family members influence the fate and physiology of different innate immune cells including polymorphonuclear neutrophils, mast cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Moreover, several pathogens may actually utilize galectins as a mechanism of host invasion (280).

#### 2.7.1 Expressions of Galectins in Colorectal Cancer

The human digestive tract is rich in galectins. In the colon and rectum, four galectins, galectin-1, -3, -4 and -8, are known to be present (281-283) (**Table 2.7**).

Table 2.7. The expression of galectins in the human intestine and rectum.

Galectins	Locations	Expression in cancer
Galectin-1	Large intestine	Increased in colorectal cancer(281)
Galectin-3	Small and large intestines	Increased in colorectal cancer(284-286) Increased in sera of colon cancer(287, 288)
Galectin-4	Small and large intestines	Decreased in colorectal cancer(282, 289)
Galectin-8	Small and large intestines	Decreased in colorectal cancer(283)

Galectin-1 is expressed weakly in the normal human colonic epithelia and its expression is increased in inflammatory and cancerous conditions. The increased expression of galectin-1 is often seen to be correlated with a metastatic phenotype of colorectal cancer (290). Immunohistochemistry studies have shown expression of galectin-1 in 12% of normal colonic mucosa but in 40% of adenomas and 84% of carcinomas (281). Furthermore, 91% of adenocarcinomas and 33% of mucinous adenocarcinomas have demonstrated strong stromal galectin-1 expression (281).

Galectin-3, one of the most extensively studied galectins so far, is widely expressed in the human gastrointestinal tract including the colon and rectum. Normal colonic mucosa shows strong nuclear expression of galectin-3. The cells at the base of the crypt show a weak or negative galectin-3 expression, and the intensity of nuclear galectin-3 expression increases progressively from the base towards the surface of the gland (281). In the nucleus, galectin-3 is localised in the dense fibrillar component of the nucleolus, as well as the periphery of the fibrillar centres (291). Galectin-3 has also been demonstrated in the interchromatic spaces and along the borders of condensed chromatin of the nucleoplasm (291). These areas are suggested to be the location both for mRNA synthesis (292) and for the early events in pre-mRNA splicing (293). Altered expression of galectin-3 is common in inflammatory and cancerous conditions. Cancer metastases are also seen to express higher levels of galectin-3 than the primary tumours from which they arose (294). In addition, galectin-3 shows a change of subcellular localization from nucleus to the cytoplasm in the progression from colorectal adenoma to carcinoma (295).

Galectin-4 is a hydrophobic molecule due to its high content of apolar amino acids in its linker sequence (residues 151-175). Galectin-4 is expressed in the human intestinal and colonic mucosa (278, 282) and its expression is generally lower in cancer and malignant tissues than in healthy ones (282, 289, 296). Galectin-4 has a tendency to be associated with generally insoluble tissue components (297, 298). Interestingly, cancers that express high levels of galectin-4 tend to have a poor prognosis (289). There is a progressive reduction of the dense supra-nuclear galectin-

52

4 aggregates and a subsequent increase in diffuse cytosolic galectin-4 throughout the progression of colorectal malignancy (282). Analysis of galectin-4 protein expression in cultured cell lines shows that galectin-4 is specifically expressed in highly differentiated cell types, such as the human colon adenocarcinoma T84 where it represents 38-60% of the total galectin content (298).

In T84 human colon adenocarcinoma cells, the localization of galectin-4 is distinctly different from the patterns of galectin-3. Whereas galectin-3 is seen in subapical regions, galectin-4 is often seen in a thick layer formation near the basal membrane. The accumulation of galectin-4 in the leading edge of lamellipodia, in conjunction with the two galectin-4 substrate-binding sites, suggests that galectin-4 is involved in cell-substrate interactions (282, 298, 299). Following Ca<sup>2+</sup> depletion, the accumulation of galectin-4 is observed at break sites in the T84 cell monolayer, indicating that galectin-4 may be involved in initial cellular reattachments and the spreading of cells within a disrupted monolayer (298).

Galectin-8 is expressed widely in the gastrointestinal tract. Low basal levels of galectin-8 are found in the intestine and colon, with a non-uniform micro-clustering pattern (300, 301). In healthy or benign colon tissue, galectin-8 can be detected both in the nuclei and cytoplasm, while in colon cancer galectin-8 is found exclusively in the cytoplasm (283). Overall expression of galectin-8 is reduced in cancer and is inversely related to the rates of tumour growth and migration (283).

#### 2.7.2 Galectins in Tumour Angiogenesis

There is evidence that galectin-1 and -3 is involved in the regulation of tumour angiogenesis as a result of their influence on endothelial cell proliferation and capillary formation. Over-expression of galectin-1 is observed in the connective tissue surrounding the cancer cells in high-grade colon carcinomas (302) as well as in tumour-associated vascular endothelial cells (TAVEC) (302-304). Galectin-1 over expression has been shown to increase the proliferation of the angiogenically active endothelial cells as a result of the galectin-1 interaction with neuropilin-1, a key mediator of angiogenesis (302). Introduction of recombinant galectin-3, albeit at much higher than patho-physiological relevant concentrations, to human umbilical endothelial cells (HUVEC) in cell culture has been shown to stimulate capillary tube formation of these cells (305).

## 2.7.3 Galectins in Cancer Cell Adhesion and Metastasis

There is strong evidence that galectins are active players in cancer cell adhesion and metastasis. Cell-surface associated-galectin-1 has been shown to promote cancer cell interactions with Extracellular Matrix (ECM) *in vitro* as a result of its interactions with ECM components (e.g. laminin and fibronectin) (**Table 2.8**) (303, 304).

Table 2.8. Galectin binding ligands and the influences of galectin-ligand interactions in colorectal cancer.

Galectins	Ligand	Location/Cell	Influences
		type	
Galectin-1	CEA, Lamp-1,	Colon cancers	Promotes cell adhesion(306)
	Lamp-2		
	CD2, CD3, CD7,	T cell surface	Increases apoptosis and signalling
	CD43, CD45,		(307-310)
	Fas/CD95		
	Laminin,	Extracellular	Promotes cell adhesion(304)
	Fibronectin	matrix	Promotes endothelial proliferation,
	Neruropilin-1	Endothelial cell	adhesion and migration(302)
		surface	
Galectin-3	Bcl-2, Synexin	Variety of	Prevents apoptosis and promotes
		carcinomas	cell growth(311-314)
	MUC1/TF	Colorectal	Promotes cell adhesion, aggregation
		cancers	and metastasis(315, 316)
	Fas/CD95		Prevents apoptosis(311)
	CD7/CD29,CD45,	T cell surface	Induces apoptosis(313, 317)
	CD71	T cell surface	Enhances cell adhesion(318)
	CEA, laminin,	Colon cancers	Promotes cell adhesion(319)
	Integrins	Endothelial cells	Promotes angiogenesis(320)
	aminopeptidase	Endothelial cells	Enhances cell adhesion(321)
	N/CD13	Cell cytoplasm	Unknown(322)
	Mac2-BP/90K	Serum of colon	Unknown(323)
		cancer patients	
	Haptoglobin	Serum of colon	
	βsubunit	cancer patients	
Galectin-4	CEA	Colon cancers	Unknown(324)
	Glycosphingolipids	Colon cancer	Unknown(325)
	Wnt	Colon cancer	Inhibits cell proliferation, adhesion
			and migration(326)
Galectin-8	Integrins	Variety of	Inhibits cell adhesion(327)
	! 	cancers	

Expression of galectin-3 on the cell surface, as a result of galectin-3 secretion through the non-classical secretory pathway, acts as an adhesion molecule and regulates cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions and plays a very important role in cancer cell metastatic spread from primary to secondary tumour sites (305, 328). Reduction of galectin-3 expression using anti-sense technology before tumour cell inoculation in mice is associated with a marked reduction in liver colonisation and spontaneous metastasis by the high-metastasing colonic adenocarcinoma cells LSLiM6 and HM7 whilst increase of galectin-3 expression is associated with an increase in liver metastasis by the low-metastasising colonic LS174T cells (329).

Galectin-3 is also found in the blood circulation. The concentrations of circulating galectin-3 are increased up to 5-fold in the serum of colorectal cancer patients (287). Moreover, the concentrations of circulating galectin-3 are seen to be much higher in patients with metastasis than those with localized tumours (287). Recent studies in our laboratory have revealed that the increased circulation of galectin-3 in the bloodstream of cancer patients is an important promoter in cancer cell haematogenous dissemination to secondary tumour sites in metastasis (315, 330). It is found that galectin-3 interacts with the oncofetal Thomsen-Friedenreich (Galactose $\beta$ 1,3N-acetylgalactosamine $\alpha$ -, TF) antigens on the transmembrane mucin protein MUC1 expressed by the cancer cells (316). The galectin-3-TF/MUC1 interaction induces polarisation of MUC1 cell surface localization and exposure of the smaller cell adhesion molecules, which otherwise are concealed by the much large and heavily glycosylated MUC1. This results in increased heterotypic adhesion of the cancer cells to blood vascular endothelium (315) and homotypic aggregation of the cancer cells to form micro-tumour emboli, which prolongs the survival of tumour cells in the circulation (316) (Figure 2.5).

Figure 2.5. A model of the galectin-3-MUC1 interaction in promoting cancer cell haematogenous spreading.



The expression of galectin-4 by cancer cells has been shown to also influence cancer cell adhesion by binding to  $SO_3^- \rightarrow 3$ -Gal $\beta 1 \rightarrow 3$ GalNAc pyranoside (325), a carbohydrate structure present both in O-linked glycosides and glycosphingolipids (331). When immobilised on bacterial plates, galectin-8 has been shown to promote the adhesion of HeLa cells (332) through its selective interaction with the sugar moieties on  $\alpha 3$ ,  $\alpha 6$ ,  $\beta 1$ , to a lesser extent  $\alpha 4$  and  $\beta 3$ , of the subunit of cell surface integrins (327).

#### 2.7.4 Galectins as Therapeutic Targets in Colorectal Cancer

There is good *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence that tumourigenesis and metastasis can be effectively reduced by galectin inhibitors. Natural small saccharides such as  $\beta$ - D-galactose, D-lactose and N-acetyllactosamine (LacNAc) are galectin ligands. Some other small saccharides such as  $\beta$ 1,3GlcNAc, gal $\beta$ 1,3Ara and gal $\beta$ 1,4Man have shown to inhibit galectin binding two to four times more effectively than lactose (333, 334). When administered intraperitoneally every 8hr at 2mg/g body weight, D-galactose completely inhibited liver metastasis of L-1 sarcoma cells in mice (335). However, these natural ligands are very sensitive to hydrolysis, which limits their effective use as therapeutic drugs. Modification of the sugar anomeric structure to increase their biological action in inhibiting metastasis has been investigated by several groups (336). Modifications of the carbohydrate structures by thio residues have been shown to stabilize the carbohydrate structures in response to acidic and enzymatic hydrolysis. Inoculation of 1-Methyl- $\beta$ -D-lactoside in mice has been shown to reduce lung metastases of the B16 murine melanoma by 35 to 45% (337). Daily intraperitoneal injections of glycoamines, a group of low molecular weight carbohydrate structures linked with a stretch of amino acids, reduced metastasis of MDA-MB-435 human breast carcinoma *in vivo* in nude mice (338).

Carbohydrate polymers have also been investigated for their potential to block galectin-mediated actions in cancer. Tree-shaped monodisperse glycodendrimers, obtained by repetitive assembly cycles with the carbohydrate ligands composing the outer sphere, have shown to effectively inhibit galectin-1 and -3 binding to other carbohydrate ligands when compared to lactose in a solid phase assay (336, 339). Small synthetic peptides, which bind specifically to the C-terminal CRD of galectin-3, have shown to inhibit galectin-3-mediated cancer cell adhesion *in vitro* and metastasis *in vivo* in mice (340).

The potential for modified citrus pectin (MCP) to inhibit galectin-3-mediated cancer promotion has also been examined. Pectin is a carbohydrate polymer found in
the peel and pulp of fruits and is composed of a complex multi-branched structure, rich in galactose. The dominant structure of pectin is the linear chain of poly-a- (1-4)-D-galacturonic acid with varying levels of carboxylic acid methylation, which makes up a 'smooth region' (336). This region of pectin is occasionally broken up by side sugar chains rich in neutral sugars, such as arabinose, galactose and rhamnose. Modified citrus pectin has been produced by degradation of the galacturonic acid chain by  $\alpha$ -elimination followed by partial acid degradation of the natural saccharides (MCP) that is resulted in a reduced molecular weight of pectin from an average of 70-100 kDa, to an average of 10 kDa. Modified citrus pectin is more readily dissolved and absorbed by the gut (341). MCP shows inhibition of galectin-3-mediated antiapoptotic action, and of galectin-3-mediated cell invasion, angiogenesis and cell resistance to chemotherapy (342). Injections of MCP decreased metastasis of B16-F1 melanoma cells to the lungs by more than 90%. When given orally to mice, MCP significantly reduced MDA-MB-435 breast carcinoma growth and metastasis to the lungs. It should be mentioned that galectin-3-null mice are relatively healthy (343), indicating that inhibition of galectin-3-mediated actions may present a viable and relatively safe therapeutic approach for cancer treatment.

#### 2.8 Circulating Galectins and Metastasis

Galectin-3 is only one member of the galectin family. Members of the galectin family are often expressed in same tissue types or cells. The discovery that circulating galectin-3 level is increased in cancer patients and promotes metastasis led us to speculate that other galectin members may also altered in the circulation of cancer patients and, like circulating galectin-3, they may also affect disseminating tumour cell haematogenous dissemination in metastasis.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# HYPOTHESES AND AIMS

#### **3.1 HYPOTHESES**

- The concentration of members of the galectin family in the bloodstream of cancer patients may be different from that in healthy individuals and such changes may be useful markers for cancer diagnosis.
- Other galectin members that show increased circulation in the bloodstream of cancer patients may, like galectin-3, also influence adhesion of disseminating cancer cells to vascular endothelial cells and thus also promote metastasis by interaction with cancer associated MUC1.
- 3. Chemically modified heparins may inhibit galectin binding thus may be used as potential metastasis inhibitors.
- 4. Suppression of the Core 1 Galtransferase that controls the biosynthesis of TF antigen regulates galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion.

- To use ELISA to measure the concentration of members of the galectin family in the sera of breast cancer patients, colorectal cancer patients, and colorectal cancer patients with liver metastasis and that of healthy individuals.
- To compare the assessments of circulating galectins detection and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) detection as cancer markers.
- To assess the binding of members of the galectin family to TF-expressing glycoproteins.
- To investigate the effect of recombinant galectins at concentrations similar to those found in the sera of cancer patients on cancer cell heterotypic adhesion to endothelial cells and ECM (matrigel).
- To assess the effect of chemically modified heparins on galectin binding to TF-expressing glycans.

- To assess the effects of these chemically modified heparins on galectinmediated cellular adhesion to extracellular matrix components and their adhesion to and transvasion through HMVEC-L endothelial monolayers.
- To assess the effect of core 1 galtransferase suppression on expression of other *O*-linked glycans in human colon cancer HT29 and SW620 cells.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# **GENERAL METHODS**

This chapter contains the details of the major techniques and methods used within this thesis. Specific methods are described within each chapter.

#### 4.1 Materials

All plastics including flasks (T25 cm<sup>2</sup>, T75 cm<sup>2</sup> and T150 cm<sup>2</sup>), 6 well, 12 well, and 24 well plates were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd. (Poole, UK). 96 well plates and 96 well half-volume plates were purchased from Appleton Woods Ltd. (Birmingham, UK), White-walled 96 well plates were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd. (Poole, UK).

All chemicals were of analytical grade and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd. (Poole, UK) unless otherwise stated.

Recombinant galectins and anti-galectin antibodies were purchased from R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK.

#### 4.2 Cell Lines

Human colon cancer cell line HT29 was obtained from the European Collection of Animal Cell Culture at the Public Health Laboratory Service (Wiltshire, UK). The HT29 cell line was originally established from a colonic adenocarcinoma from a 44 year old female Caucasian (344). Upon culture under standard conditions, HT29 cells form a multilayer of nonpolarised cells that display an undifferentiated phenotype (345). If grown in a hexose-free medium, they develop into a foetal small intestine-like state with the expression of brush border enzymes and development of micro villi; they are widely used for the study of epithelial malignancy in the colon.

HT29-5F7 cells are subpopulations of HT29 cells that express mainly MUC1 and MUC5B and were isolated as a consequence of their resistance to 5-fluorouracil, the main chemotherapeutic agent for the treatment of colorectal cancer. They are differentiated into enterocyte-like cells, as substantiated by the cell polarity, the presence of an apical brush border, and tight junctions (346). HT29-5F7 cells were kindly provided by Dr. Thecla Lesuffleur (INSERM U560, Lille, France).

SW620 cells were obtained from the European Cell Culture Collections via the Public Health Laboratory Service (Porton Down, Wiltshire, UK). The SW620 cell line was established from a biopsy of a metastastic spread of SW480 from the colon to the abdominal wall of the same patient, a 51-year-old Caucasian male (blood group A, Rh+).

MUC1 positive-transfectants (HCA1.7+) and negative-revertants (HCA1.7-) of HBL-100 human breast epithelial cells were kindly provided by Dr. John Hilkins (Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam). HCA1.7+ and HCA1.7- cells were created by MUC1 transfection of HBL-100 human breast epithelial cells with full length cDNA encoding MUC1. MUC1 positive HCA1.7+ and revertant HCA1.7- cells were selected through neomycin resistance, and revertant cells lacking MUC1 were bulk selected from the positive transfectants by two to five cycles of cell sorting using FACStar (119).

64

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) and human microvascular lung endothelial cells (HMVEC-Ls) were obtained from Lonza (Wokingham, UK).

#### 4.2.1 Cell Culture

All cells were grown as monolayers. All cells except endothelial cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified eagles medium (DMEM) (Sigma-Aldrich LTD., Dorset, UK) supplemented with 10% FCS,  $100\mu g/ml$  penicillin,  $100\mu g/ml$  streptomycin and 4mM glutamine (all purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK). HUVECS and HMVEC-Ls were cultured in EGM and EGM-2 endothelial growth media and supplements (EGM Bulletkits and EGM-2 Bulletkits), respectively (Lonza, Wokingham, UK). Cells were maintained at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air. The cells were released from T25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with 2ml trypsin (0.5mg/ml in sterile PBS) and routinely passaged at a 1:6 subculture ratio when they had become 60%-80% confluent. Cells at a ~80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells were used for a maximum of 12 passages. Endothelial cells were released from T25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with 1ml trypsin (0.5mg/ml in sterile PBS) and routinely passaged at a 1:3 subculture ratio when they had become 60%-80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence the form the passaged at a 1:3 subculture ratio when they had become 60%-80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence the passaged at a 1:3 subculture ratio when they had become 60%-80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence they had become 60%-80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells at a ~80% confluence were used for all experiments. The cells were

#### 4.2.2 Cell Freezing

80-90% confluent cells were washed twice with PBS and released from the flasks with trypsin. The cell clumps were dispersed by gentle pipetting after the addition of DMEM routinely used for cell culture. The cell number was counted and the cell suspension was centrifuged at 1000g for 5 mins. Freezing medium (20% (v/v) FCS, 7% (v/v) dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO, Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) and 73% (v/v) DMEM) was pre-warmed to 37°C and was added to the pellet to make a cell density of  $10^6$  cells/ml. The cell suspension was immediately transferred to 1ml freezing vials (1ml/vial) and put into a box containing dry ice and kept at -80°C. 24hrs later freezing vials were transferred into liquid nitrogen.

## 4.2.3 Cell Thawing

Cancer cell and endothelial cells reaching 12 and 10 passages respectively were discarded and new cells were taken from stocks frozen in liquid nitrogen. The freezing vials were withdrawn from the liquid nitrogen bank and placed in a  $37^{\circ}$ C water bath. Once the frozen cells had defrosted, 20ml of fresh  $37^{\circ}$ C culture medium was added and the mixture was centrifuged at 1000 g for 5 min. The cell pellet was dispersed in 10ml culture medium and seeded in T25 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks with 1-2 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells per flask. After 24hrs the culture medium was replaced. The cells were used between 2-12, or 2-10 passages respectively.

#### 4.3 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbant Assay (ELISA)

ELISA was performed to either assess the comparative binding of a galectin to a target protein, or used with a standard curve, to determine the concentration of a target galectin in human sera.

#### 4.3.1 Generation of a Checkerboard Assay

Recombinant galectin-3 (R&D Systems, UK) underwent doubling dilution from 2.5µg/ml to 0.02µg/ml in coating buffer (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> 1.6g, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 1.46g in 1L H<sub>2</sub>O). Wells running vertically on a high-binding 96-well plate (Appleton Woods Ltd., UK) were coated with 50µl of the diluted recombinant galectin-3 and left to incubate overnight at 4°C. The plate was washed twice with 100µl per wash per well with washing buffer (0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS). 50µl of blocking buffer (1% (w/v) BSA (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) in PBS) was applied to each well for 1hr at room temperature. The wells were washed once with 100µl per well with washing buffer. Doubling dilution of biotinylated anti-galectin-3 antibody (R&D Systems, UK) was carried out from 5.0µg/ml to 0.001µg/ml in blocking buffer. 50µl of the diluted anti-galectin-3 antibody were applied to wells running horizontally on the plate, and incubated for 1hr at room temperature. Wells were washed with 100µl washing buffer per well. ExtrAvidin (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) was diluted 1:10,000 in blocking buffer and 50µl was applied to each well for 1hr. The wells were washed twice with 100µl washing buffer per well. SigmaFAST OPD tablets (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) were dissolved in 20ml distilled H<sub>2</sub>O and 50µl applied to each well for approximately 10mins until a yellow colour developed in the standard curve of recombinant galectins. The reaction was stopped with 25µl 4M sulphuric acid and read at 492nm by a plate microreader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

1

#### 4.3.2 Sandwich ELISA for Assessment of Serum Galectins

High-binding 96-well plates (Appleton Woods Ltd., UK) were coated with 50µl of anti-galectin primary antibody diluted (Table 4.1) in coating buffer (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> 1.6g, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 1.46g in 1L H<sub>2</sub>O) overnight at  $4^{\circ}$ C. The plate was washed twice with  $100\mu$  per wash per well with washing buffer (0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS). 50µl of blocking buffer (1% (w/v) BSA (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) in PBS) was applied to each well for 1hr at room temperature. The wells were washed once with 100µl per well with washing buffer. Serum samples were diluted 1:2 with PBS and were applied to the wells for 2hrs at room temperature. The wells were washed twice with 100µl per well of washing buffer. 50µl of biotinylated antibody (R&D Systems, UK) diluted in blocking buffer (Table 4.1.) were applied to each well for lhr at room temperature and washed with 100µl washing buffer per well. ExtrAvidin (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) was diluted 1:10,000 in blocking buffer and 50µl was applied to each well for 1hr. The wells were washed twice with 100µl washing buffer per well. SigmaFAST OPD tablets (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) were dissolved in 20ml distilled  $H_2O$  and 50µl applied to each well for approximately 10mins until a yellow colour developed in the standard curve of recombinant galectins. The reaction was stopped with 25µl 4M sulphuric acid and read at 492nm by a plate microreader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

#### 4.3.3 Optimisation of Galectin Standard Curves

High-binding 96-well plates (Appleton Woods Ltd., UK) were coated with 50µl of anti-galectin primary antibody diluted (**Table 4.1**) in coating buffer (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>

1.6g, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 1.46g in 1L H<sub>2</sub>O) overnight at 4°C. The plate was washed twice with 100µl per wash per well with washing buffer (0.05% (v/v) Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS). 50µl of blocking buffer (1% (w/v) BSA (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) in PBS) was applied to each well for 1hr at room temperature. The wells were washed once with 100µl per well with washing buffer. Recombinant galectins (R&D Systems, UK) were serially diluted from 500ng/ml to 1ng/ml and 50µl of the solutions were applied to the wells for 2hrs at room temperature. The wells were washed twice with 100µl per well of washing buffer. 50µl of biotinylated antibody (R&D Systems, UK) diluted in blocking buffer (Table 4.1.) were applied to each well for 1hr at room temperature and washed with 100µl washing buffer per well. ExtrAvidin (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) was diluted 1:10,000 in blocking buffer and 50µl was applied to each well for 1hr. The wells were washed twice with 100µl washing buffer per well. SigmaFAST OPD tablets (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) were dissolved in 20ml distilled H<sub>2</sub>O and 50µl applied to each well for approximately 10mins until a yellow colour developed in the standard curve of recombinant galectins. The reaction was stopped with 25µl 4M sulphuric acid and read at 492nm by a plate microreader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

#### 4.3.4 Indirect ELISA for Assessing Galectin Binding to TF-glycans

Wells of a high-binding 96-well plate of half volume (Appleton Woods Ltd., UK) were coated with Antarctic fish (*Trematomus borchgrevinki*) Anti-freeze glycoprotein AFGP-I (glycopeptides 1-5) (obtained from Professor Arthur L. DeVries, University of Illinois, Urbana, IL), a highly glycosylated glycoprotein that bears multiple repeats of TF disaccharide), asialofetuin (obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) or asialo bovine mucin (obtained from Dr. Shashikala Inamdar, Karnatak University, India) diluted in coating buffer (10µg/ml) (1.6g Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 1.46 NaHCO<sub>3</sub> in 1L H<sub>2</sub>0, pH 9.6) overnight at 4°C. The plate was washed twice with 100µl per wash per well with washing buffer (0.05% Tween 20 (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) in PBS). 50µl of blocking buffer (1% Bovine Serum Albumin (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) in PBS) was applied to each well for 1 hour at room temperature. The wells were washed once with 100µl per well with washing buffer. Recombinant galectins (R&D Systems, UK) were diluted (1µg/ml) and 50µl of the solutions were applied to the wells for 2hrs at room temperature. The wells were washed twice with 100µl per well of washing buffer. 50µl of biotinylated antibody (R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK) diluted in blocking buffer (Table 4.1.) were applied to each well for 1hr at room temperature and washed with 100µl washing buffer per well. ExtrAvidin (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) was diluted 1:10,000 in blocking buffer and 50µl was applied to each well for 1hr. The wells were washed twice with 100µl washing buffer per well. SigmaFAST OPD tablets (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) were dissolved in 20ml distilled H<sub>2</sub>O and 50µl applied to each well for approximately 10min until a yellow colour developed in the standard curve of recombinant galectins. The reaction was stopped with 25µl 4M sulphuric acid and read at 492nm by a plate microreader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

## Table 4.1. Description of the antibodies used.

Name/ Cat. No.	Usage	Specificity	Ig type	Stock Conc.	Working Conc. For ELISA
Anti-human galectin-1 ab (AF1152)	Primary	Human galectin-1	Goat IgG	0.1mg/m1	2.5µg/ml
Biotinylated anti- human galectin-1 ab (BAF1152)	Secondary	Human galectin-1	Goat IgG	50µg/ml	1.25µg/ml
Anti-human galectin-2 ab (AF1153)	Primary	Human galectin-2	Goat IgG	0.2mg/ml	2.5µg/ml
Biotinylated anti- human galectin-2 ab (BAF1153)	Secondary	Human galectin-2	Goat IgG	50µg/ml	1.25µg/ml
Anti-human galectin-3 ab (AF1154)	Primary	Human galectin-3	Goat IgG	0.2mg/ml	2.5µg/ml
Biotinylated anti- human galectin-3 ab (BAF1154)	Secondary	Human galectin-3	Goat IgG	50µg/ml	1.25µg/ml
Anti-human galectin-4 ab (AF1227)	Primary	Human galectin-4	Goat IgG	0.2mg/ml	2.5µg/ml
Biotinylated anti- human galectin-4 ab (BAF1227)	Secondary	Human galectin-4	Goat IgG	50µg/ml	1.25µg/ml
Anti-human galectin-8 ab (AF1305)	Primary	Human galectin-8	Mouse IgG	500µg/ml	2.5µg/ml
Biotinylated anti- human galectin-8 ab (BAF1305)	Secondary	Human galectin-8	Goat IgG	50µg/ml	1.25µg/ml
Anti-human galectin-9 ab (AF2045)	Primary	Human galectin-9	Goat IgG	0.2mg/ml	2.5µg/ml
Biotinylated anti- human galectin-9 ab (BAF2045)	Secondary	Human galectin-9	Goat IgG	50µg/ml	1.25µg/ml

Table 4.2. D	escription of	f target g	lycoproteins.
--------------	---------------	------------	---------------

Name	Isolated from	Glycan compliment
Anti-freeze protein	Antartic Fish	TF antigen, galactose monosaccharide
Asialofetuin	Asialo derivative of fetuin, usually from fetal bovine serum	TF antigen, <i>N</i> -linked glycans.
Asialo bovine mucin	Bovine submaxillary gland	Variety of O-glycans

## 3.4 Cellular Adhesion Assay

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) or human microvascular lung endothelial cells (HMVEC-Ls) were released from the culture flasks by trypsinization and re-suspended at  $1 \times 10^{5}$ /ml in EGM or EGM-2 endothelial culture medium, respectively.

Initial cellular adhesion assays with HUVEC cells were carried out by using sterile glass coverslips placed at the bottom of a 24-well cell culture plates. Following trypsinisation, HUVECs were resuspended into  $1 \times 10^5$  cell/ml and 0.5ml of this solution was pipetted into wells containing the sterile coverslips and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 2-3 days until monolayers were formed. Cancer cells were detached from T25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with 2ml non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution. Cells were then centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5 minutes and resuspended at  $5 \times 10^5$  cell/ml before incubation with 5µl/ml DiO cell dye for 30min at 37°C. 0.5ml of cell suspension was incubated with 1µg/ml recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before applying to the HUVEC monolayers for a further hour at 37°C. Slides were then washed with PBS and mounted on microscope slides before blinding and counting the number of cells in 10 view fields under the fluorescence microscope.

Further experiments were carried out by using the fluorescent cell dye calcein AM. 1x10<sup>4</sup> endothelial cells were applied to white walled, clear bottomed 96-well plates (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) at 37°C for 2-3 days until the formation of endothelial cell monolayers. HT29, HT29-5F7 or SW620 cells were detached from culture flasks with non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) and were washed three times with PBS and re-suspended in 1ml serum-free DMEM to give  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml. Each ml of cell suspension was incubated with  $10 \mu l$  Calcein AM (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) at 37°C for 30min on a shaking waterbed at 80rpm. The cells were washed twice with serum free DMEM and re-suspended in fresh serum-free DMEM at  $5x10^4$ /ml. 500µl of the cell suspension was incubated for 1hr at 37°C with control BSA or recombinant galectin pre-treated without or with 10µg/ml lactose or 20µM asialofetuin (as described in 6.4.1) for 30min at 37°C. 100µl/well cell suspension was then introduced to the endothelial monolayers for 1hr at 37°C. The endothelial monolayers were washed with 200µl/well PBS before the cellassociated fluorescence was taken with Tecan reader at 490nm excitation filter and 520 nm emission filter.

#### 4.5 Cellular Transvasion Assay

Human microvascular lung endothelial cells (HMVEC-Ls) were released from the culture flasks by trypsinization and re-suspended at  $1x10^{5}$ /ml in EGM-2 endothelial culture medium.  $1x10^{4}$  cells were applied to cell culture inserts (BD Biosciences, UK), which were placed in wells of a clear 24-well plate (BD Biosciences, UK), at 37°C for 2-3 days until the formation of endothelial monolayers. To test the integrity of the endothelial cell monolayers, transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) readings were taken using Millicell ERS system (Millipore, Watford, UK). The monolayers were used only once stable readings (approximately 300 mV, lowest exceptable proof of integrity being 290mV) were acquired within three days (**Table 4.3**).

 Table 4.3. The accumulation of a stable TEER reading from an endothelial

 monolayer within a transwell insert.

	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Day 4
TEER reading	263 mV	280 mV	300 mV	300 mV

HT29-5F7 or SW620 cells were detached from culture flasks with nonenzymatic cell dissociation solution (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) were washed three times with PBS and re-suspended in 1ml serum-free DMEM to give  $1x10^5$  cells/ml. Cell suspensions were incubated with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin at  $37^{\circ}C$  for 30 mins on a shaking waterbed at 80rpm. 500 $\mu$ l of the cell suspension was added to the transwell and incubated for 16hrs at  $37^{\circ}C$ . Following incubation, the cell suspension within the cell insert was removed carefully with a pipette and  $10\mu$ l/ml of Calcein AM (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) added to the media outside of the insert for 30mins. The insert was then removed from the plate and the bottom side washed twice with 0.5ml PBS per wash. Using a cell scraper (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK), the cells that translocated to the outside of the cell insert were scraped into a well of a 6-well plate (BD Biosciences, UK) containing 1ml of serum-free DMEM. The cell suspension was transferred to eppindorff tube and centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5mins. The pellet was resuspended in  $300\mu$ l, and  $100\mu$ l of the suspension transferred to wells of a whitewalled 96 well plate (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) before the cell-associated fluorescence was taken with Tecan reader at 490nm excitation filter and 520 nm emission filter.

#### 4.6 SDS Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)

SDS-Page was performed to separate cellular proteins according to size following the Laemmli method (347). 1.5ml thick polyacrylamide gels were cast using a self assembly system (Biorad, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Solubilised proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE on either 12% running gel with a 4% stacking gel, or 4% running gel with a 3.75% stacking gel.

The preparation and composition of the reagents was as follows:

**Resolving buffer 4X:** Tris-base 36.3g, pH 8.8 (with 2M HCl) then make up to 200ml with H<sub>2</sub>O.

Stacking buffer 4X: Tris-base 12.0g, pH 6.8 (with 2M HCl) then make up to 200ml with H<sub>2</sub>O.

**Running buffer:** Tris-base 30.67g, Glycine 64.04g, 2.2g SDS (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) and H<sub>2</sub>O up to 4000ml

Ammonium persulphate: 10% Ammonium persulphate (w/v) (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK)

SDS: 10% (w/v) (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK)

Acrylamide: 30% (w/v) (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK)

Sample buffer: 4X stacking buffer 2.5ml, glycerol 1.0ml (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK), mercaptoethanol 0.5ml (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK), 20% SDS in H<sub>2</sub>O 1.0ml, 1% bromothymol blue  $25\mu$ l (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK).

Reagent	4% Resolving gel	12% Resolving gel
Acrylamide (30%)	1.33ml	4.0ml
Resolving buffer	2.5ml	2.5ml
Deionised H <sub>2</sub> O	6.0ml	2.75ml
10% SDS	100µ1	100ul
TEMED	5µl	5μl
10% Ammonium persulphate	60µl	50µ1

## Table 4.4. Composition of resolving gels.

Table 4.5.	Composition	of stacking	gel.
------------	-------------	-------------	------

Reagent	3.75% Stacking gel	4% Stacking gel
Acrylamide (30%)	1.25ml	1.33ml
Stacking buffer	2.5ml	2.5ml
Deionised H <sub>2</sub> O	6.1ml	5.5ml
10% SDS	100µl	100µl
TEMED	10µl	10µ1
10% Ammonium persulphate	50µl	50µl

The sample (70-80% confluent cells lysed with 0.8ml sample buffer per T25  $cm^2$  flask) was heated at 100°C for 5min in an Eppendorf heater. Between 10µl and 40µl were loaded on to each lane on a 4% or 12% resolving polyacrylamide gel which were run at 200V in running buffer (25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 10% SDS) until the bromophenol blue dye front reached the bottom of the stacking gel, and then ran at 100V until the dye front reached 0.5 cm from the bottom of the resolving gel. After electrophoresis, the gels were electrotransferred to a nitrocellulose membrane.

A prestained molecular weight standard marker (Biorad Ltd., Hemel Hempstead, UK.) was used throughout the experiments.

Prestained marker	kDa
Myosin	216
β-galactosidase	132
Bovine serum albumin	78
Carbonic anhydrase	45.7
Soybean trypsin inhibitor	32.5
Lysozyme	18.4
Aprotinin	7.6

#### 4.7 Western Blotting and Lectin Blotting

To transfer the proteins resolved by electrophoresis to a nitrocellulose membrane, the gel was first soaked in transfer buffer (Tris 6.06g, glycine 28.83g, methanol 400ml and H<sub>2</sub>O to 2000ml). The gel was then sandwiched in a transfer cassette between a nitrocellulose membrane and 3mm filter paper either side. On each outer most side a transfer sponge was placed and the cassette placed into the transfer apparatus (Biorad, Hemel Hempstead, UK) with an ice pack for 1 hr at 100V in transfer buffer.

After transfer, the membranes were blocked with PBS-buffered saline (PBS) containing 1% (w/v) BSA (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) for 1hr in a sealed container on a rolling platform. Membranes were then probed with appropriate primary antibodies

(**Table 4.7**) or biotin-lectin for 1hr followed by 5 washes of 10mins each in a sealed container placed on a rolling platform in PBS with 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20 (PBS-T). The membranes were then incubated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies or HRP-avidin (**Table 4.7**), followed by 12 washes in PBS-T of 5mins each in a sealed container placed on a rolling platform. Signal detection was achieved using a chemiluminescence Super-signal immunoblotting detection kit (Pierce; Rockford IL, USA), which was detected with a Fluor-S multi-imager (Biorad; Hemel Hempstead, UK). Equal loading was confirmed using an anti-actin antibody. Densitometric analysis of immunoreactive protein bands was performed using Quantity One software (Biorad; Hemel Hempstead, UK).

#### 4.8 Slot Blotting

Nitrocellulose membrane was soaked in PBS for 10mins before being sandwiched within the slot blot rig (PR600 SlotBlot; Hoeffer Scientific Instruments, California, USA). Cells were directly lysed in slot blot buffer (4X stacking buffer 2.5ml, glycerol 1.0ml (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd.), mercaptoethanol 0.5ml (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd.), 20% SDS on H<sub>2</sub>O 1.0ml). Cell lysate was then diluted 1:1 with Tris buffer. 50 $\mu$ l of the diluted sample was loaded on to the respective well after further dilution with 100 $\mu$ l of Tris buffer to ensure even distribution of proteins. The vacuum pump was then allowed to run for 10mins before removal of the membrane and washing three times in PBS, followed by blocking with 5% (w/v) BSA in PBS in a sealed container placed on a rolling platform. The nitrocellulose membrane could then be used for western/lectin blotting.

Antibody (Source)	Raised in/purified from	Monoclonal/ polyclonal	Stock conc.	Dilution	Buffer
anti-MUC1 B27.29 (Dr. Mark Reddish; Biomira Inc, Canada)	Mouse	Monoclonal	5mg/ml	1:10,000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA
Anti-TF TF5 (Dr. Bo Jansson; BioInvent Therapeutic, Sweden	Human	Monoclonal	0.8mg/ml	1:3000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA
Anti-Tn clone HB-Tn1 (Dako, Ely, UK)	Mouse	Monoclonal	0.2mg/ml	1:3000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA
Anti-Sialyl Tn clone HB- STn1 (Dako,Ely, UK)	Mouse	Monoclonal	0.2mg/ml	1:3000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA
Anti-Actin (Dako,Ely, UK)	Rabbit	Monoclonal	0.2mg/ml	1:2000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA

Table 4.7. Description of antibodies.

Table 4.8. Description of lectins.

Lectin (Cat number)	Purified from	Ligand	Stock Conc	Dilution	Buffer
PNA- Biotinylated (Vector, B- 1075)	Arachis hypogaea (Peanut)	TF	1mg/ml	1:3000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA
GSL-II- Biotinylated (Vector, B1205)	Griffonia simplicifolia	Core 3	2mg/ml	1:3000	PBS with 1% (w/v) BSA

#### 4.9 Statistical Analysis

Serum sample data was analysed using Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric ANOVA test. Other sample groups were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), specifically using the Dunnett's comparison with a control (StatsDirect v2.3.1; StatsDirect Ltd; Sale, UK). Differences were considered significant when P<0.05.

# ASSESSMENT OF THE EXPRESSION OF CIRCULATING GALECTINS IN THE SERUM OF HEALTHY PEOPLE AND CANCER PATIENTS

#### **5.1 HYPOTHESES**

The concentrations of members of the galectin family in the bloodstream of cancer patients may be different from that in healthy individuals and such changes may be useful as cancer diagnostic markers.

#### **5.2 AIMS**

- To use ELISA to measure the concentration of members of the galectin family in the sera of breast cancer patients, colorectal cancer patients, and colorectal cancer patients with liver metastasis and that of healthy individuals.
- To compare the assessments of circulating galectin detection and carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) detection as cancer markers.

#### **5.3 INTRODUCTION**

Assay of proteins and glycoproteins in human serum has been utilised clinically for a wide range of reasons, including disease identification and monitoring. The search for an ideal tumour marker has produced many tests to be used for the diagnosis and management of cancer. The uses of tumour markers have a variety of potential uses, which include screening, diagnosis, establishing prognosis, monitoring treatment, and detecting relapse. The value of a marker is defined by both sensitivity and specificity, where sensitivity measures the proportion of actual positives which are correctly identified as such, while specificity measures the proportion of negatives which are correctly identified.

#### 5.3.1 Circulating Galectin-3

Galectin-3 has been widely studied, and has been implicated in the development and subsequent spread of colorectal cancer. The majority of research has focused on galectin-3 that is expressed either intracellularly, or extracellularly but is still associated with the cell membrane. Iurisci *et al.* (287) have investigated the level of galectin-3 expression in the sera of cancer patients when compared to healthy individuals. There was no correlation between circulating galectin-3 levels and age or blood group. Overall, in all types of cancer patients (breast, gastrointestinal, lung, or ovarian cancer, melanoma, and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma), there was a significant increase in serum galectin-3 levels, and specifically, there was up to a 5-fold increase of circulating galectin-3 concentration in the sera of colorectal cancer patients. Furthermore, serum galectin-3 levels were significantly higher in patients with metastatic disease when compared to patients with localized primary tumours, and in

four out of five colorectal carcinoma patients, there was a significant decrease in serum galectin-3 concentrations two days after tumor resection when compared to before surgery (287). This source of increased serum galectin-3 in cancer patients still remains unclear. It was suggested that the tumour tissues themselves were likely to produce and secrete galectin-3 in the sera. Galectin-3 immunohistochemistry showed that galectin-3 was expressed not only on malignant cells but on macrophages and stromal cells (mostly fibroblasts) which were located near the lesion site (287). It could be suggested that the increased amount of galectin-3-secreting cells through cancer-associated proliferation causes the significantly elevated levels of the circulating galectin, and could explain why the level is reduced upon tumour resection.

To compare the efficacy of members of the galectin family as potential serum cancer markers, their specificity and sensitivity must be compared to already established markers.

#### 5.3.2 CEA and Colorectal Cancer

Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) was first described in 1965 (348, 349). CEA is a glycoprotein that has a molecular mass of 180-200 kDa, 60% of which is carbohydrate. CEA demonstrates considerable heterogeneity, which is due to variation in its carbohydrate side chains. The majority of the carbohydrate is composed of mannose, galactose, *N*-acetylglucosamine, fucose and sialic acid (350). CEA is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, and has structural similarity to that of ICAM-1 and ICAM-2, which initially led to suggestions that CEA might act as an adhesion molecule. *In vitro* experiments confirmed that CEA was capable of both homophilic (CEA binding to CEA) and heterophilic (CEA binding to non-CEA molecules) interactions (351-353).

CEA is an antigen that was identified as being present in both foetal colon tissue and colon adenocarcinoma in adults, but was initially thought to be absent from healthy adult colon tissue. CEA is also known as CEACAM5 and is present in the glycoclayx of some healthy epithelial cells. In cancer its expression rises, the distribution changes with increased cytoplasmic expression and CEA is then secreted into the circulation. Further work showed that CEA concentrations in tumours were on average 60-fold higher than in the non-malignant gastrointestinal epithelial tissues In one of the earliest reports on serum CEA, it was shown that CEA (354). concentration was increased in 35 of 36 patients with colorectal cancer (355). In contrast, high CEA values were not detected in healthy individuals, pregnant women, patients with non-gastrointestinal cancer, or in patients with miscellaneous benign gastrointestinal diseases (355). Thirty years after its initial detection in serum, CEA is one of the most widely used markers worldwide, and is the most frequently used marker in colorectal cancer. Despite its widespread use it is clear that it does not have sufficient specificity for use in screening of asymptomatic people and is appropriately restricted to monitoring after surgical resection.

The concentration of CEA in colon cancer patients is shown to increase with increasing disease stage. It has been shown that the proportion of patients with increased CEA concentrations  $(2.5\mu g/L)$  were as follows: Dukes' A, 28%; Dukes' B, 45%; Dukes' C, 75%; and Dukes' D. 84% (356). Furthermore, several studies have shown that well-differentiated colorectal cancers produce more CEA per gram of total protein than poorly differentiated samples (357, 358). Similarly, serum concentrations of CEA tend to be higher in patients with well-differentiated tumours compared with

those with poorly differentiated tumours (359). Therefore, a lack of differentiation or poor differentiation may explain why some patients with advanced colorectal cancer do not have increased serum CEA values.

A number of studies have shown that patients with high preoperative levels of CEA have a worse prognosis than those with low concentrations of the marker (360, 361). At least seven different reports have investigated the prognostic impact of CEA in either node-negative (cancer not present in the lymph nodes), or Dukes' B patients (356, 362-367). In five of these studies, high CEA concentrations predicted adverse prognosis. In the remaining two (363, 365) however, no significant relationship was found between marker concentrations and patient outcome. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that the majority of studies suggest that preoperative CEA can provide prognostic data in patients with Dukes' B colorectal cancer. CEA may therefore be able to aid the identification of the subset of patients with aggressive disease that might benefit from adjuvant chemotherapy.

#### 5.3.3 Other Serum Markers in Colorectal Cancer

A major limitation of CEA as a marker is that 20-30% of patients with colorectal cancer fail to produce elevated serum levels, despite the presence of advanced disease (368). Other markers are therefore an important follow-up of patients. Following CEA, CA 19-9 is the most widely investigated gastrointestinal tumour marker. The CA 19-9 assay detects a mucin containing the sialylated Lewis<sup>a</sup> epitope. Although CA 19-9 is considered the best marker for pancreatic adenocarcinona, CA 19-9 is less sensitive than CEA for the detection of colorectal cancer (CRC) (369). Nevertheless, elevated preoperative levels of CA 19-9 have been

found to correlate with adverse patient outcome (369-372). CA 242 has also been investigated, but it's sensitivity as a marker is most effective when combined with CEA. When comparing CEA and CA 242 in the surveillance of 149 patients for recurrent disease, CEA alone had a sensitivity of 76%, and a specificity of 86%. The corresponding sensitivity and specificity for CA 242 were 60% and 87%, respectively. The combination of the two markers increased the sensitivity to 88%, but reduced specificity to 78%. This study concluded that although CA 242 alone is inferior to CEA, it may complement CEA in the follow-up after curative resection for colorectal cancer (373). It was also shown that CA 242 was superior to CEA in detecting lung metastases, but that CEA was more sensitive than CA 242 in diagnosing liver metastases (374).

TPA (tissue polypeptide antigen) measures fragments of cytokeratin 8, 18 and 19, and TPS (tissue polypeptide specific antigen), Tests which detect fragments of cytokeratin 18, have been subjected to some evaluation in colorectal cancer. However, these methods demonstrate a lack of sensitivity and specifity. Further studies have suggested that TPA may act to complement CEA in the detection of CRC (375).

TIMP-1 is a multifunctional glycoprotein that has been shown to inhibit metalloproteinase activity, stimulate cell growth and inhibit apoptosis (376). By using ELISA, it was shown that total levels of TIMP-1 were significantly higher in patients with colonic or rectal cancer than healthy individuals or patients with inflammatory bowel disease (377). With 95% specificity, TIMP-1 detected in colonic cancer has a sensitivity of 65% and rectal cancer with a sensitivity of 42%. Combining CEA with TIMP-1 increased sensitivity for colonic cancer from 65% to 75% and rectal cancer from 42% to 54%, at 95% specificity. Other studies have shown that high

preoperative plasma levels of TIMP-1 independently predict an adverse outcome in patients with colorectal cancer (378).

#### **5.4 METHODS**

#### 5.4.1 Materials

HRP- conjugated anti-mouse antibodies were obtained from Dako UK Ltd., Cambridgeshire, UK. Both SigmaFAST tablets and ExtrAvidin were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK. Carcinoembryonic Antigen (CEA) Enzyme Immunoassay Test Kit was purchased from MP Biomedicals, Oakbank, UK.

#### Serum Samples:

Forty serum samples from colorectal cancer patients without metastasis (26 males and 14 females) and 11 with liver metastasis (7 males and 4 females) and 40 samples from breast cancer patients were obtained from the CTBRC cancer tissue bank (Liverpool, UK). Thirty-one serum samples from healthy people were obtained from Sera Laboratories International (Haywards Heath, UK). The patients' ages were from 25 to 91 (mean age 63) and healthy people from 20 to 51 (mean age 37, 12 males and 19 females) (**Table 5.1**).

		Age				
Sample Type	n	Range	Median	Gender	Clinical Diagnosis	Stage
Healthy	31	20 - 53	39	M: 12 F: 19		
Breast Cancer	40	25 - 91	57	F: 40	IDC: 40	I: 4 II: 18 III: 178
Colorectal Cancer	40	41 - 90	66	M: 26 F: 14	Adenocarcinoma: 40	A: 2 B: 23 C1: 8 C2:7
Colorectal Cancer with Liver Mets	11	46 - 70	51	M: 7 F: 4	Liver mets	C2: 1 B:2

Table 5.1. Patient data for serum obtained for ELISA.

## **5.4.2 ELISA**

Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assays (ELISAs) were carried out as described in 4.3. OD readings were read at 492nm by a plate microreader (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

#### Combined Galectin-3 and -4 ELISA:

Anti-galectin-3 primary antibody and anti-galectin-4 primary antibody were diluted to  $2.5\mu$ g/ml in coating buffer (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> 1.6g, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 1.46g in 1L H<sub>2</sub>O). 25 $\mu$ l of each diluted antibody solution were mixed together to form 50 $\mu$ l combined antigalectin-3 and -4 solution, which coated the bottom of the well. High-binding 96-well plates were coated with the combined antibody solution overnight at 4°C. Recombinant galectin-3 and -4 were serially diluted from 500ng/ml to 1ng/ml and combined in equal volume. 50 $\mu$ l of the solutions were applied to the wells for 2hr at room temperature. The rest of the protocol was carried out as described in 4.3.

#### **CEA Test Kit:**

Prior to the assay, the reagents were allowed to reach room temperature, and all reagents were gently mixed before use. The desired number of coated-well strips were placed into the holder, and 50µl of CEA standards or 50µl human serum were placed into the wells, followed by 100µl enzyme conjugate, and left to incubate for 1hr at room temperature. Wells were then washed three times with 300µl of X1 wash buffer, and the plate blotted on absorbent paper towels. 100µl of TMB substrate was applied to all wells and left to incubate for 10 minutes at room temperature. 50µl of stop solution was added to all wells, and the plate was gently shaken to mix the solution. The absorbance was read on a plate reader as described in **4.3**, after 15min incubation.

#### **5.5 RESULTS**

**5.5.1** Preliminary design of ELISA protocol for future assessments of galectin concentrations in human serum samples.

The following experiments aimed to optimise the concentration of the secondary biotinylated anti-galectin antibody, with set concentrations of primary antibody and ExtrAvidin.

Table 5.2. ELISA used to perform a checkerboard analysis to determine a functional concentration of secondary antibody.

	5.00	2.50	1.25	Recombinant galectin (ug/ml)						
				0.63	0.31	0.16	0.08	0.04	0.02	0.01
2.50	3.88	OVER	3.93	3.73	3.73	3.46	3.15	2.75	2.04	0.19
1.25	3.43	3.59	3.55	3.19	3.14	2.65	2.12	1.50	1.06	0.21
0.63	2.57	2.55	2.53	2.42	2.10	1.93	1.48	1.07	0.78	0.25
0.31	1.75	1.70	1.63	1.73	1.41	1.11	1.05	0.75	0.55	0.21
0.16	1.17	1.00	1.04	0.99	0.78	0.72	0.55	0.42	0.29	0.16
0.08	1.06	0.68	0.69	0.59	0.46	0.45	0.34	0.34	0.35	0.18
0.04	0.59	0.61	0.49	0.45	0.41	0.36	0.26	0.24	0.22	0.21
0.02	0.58	0.61	0.61	0.42	0.32	0.38	0.24	0.23	0.26	0.23

A checkerboard analysis was carried out to provide an appropriate concentration of biotinylated anti-galectin-3. ELISA was carried out as described in **3.3.1**. A concentration of biotinylated anti-galectin-3 antibody that was deemed the most appropriate was  $1.25\mu$ g/ml. This concentration ensured an OD value well within the detection range of the plate reader throughout a wide range of galectin-3 concentrations, without becoming saturated (**Table 5.2**).

In order to confirm the suitability of the components of the ELISA protocol, a standard curve was set up to analyse the detection of recombinant galectin-3. Biotinylated anti-galectin-3 was used at a concentration of 1.25µg/ml. ExtrAvidin was

used at 1:10,000 dilution. Recombinant galectin-3 under went doubling dilution with a starting concentration of  $2\mu g/ml$ .



Figure 5.1. Standard curve of recombinant galectin-3 at a range of concentrations (OD492).

Anti-galectin-3 was diluted to  $2.5\mu$ g/ml in coating buffer, and incubated in wells overnight at 4°C. 100 $\mu$ l 1.25 $\mu$ g/ml of biotinylated anti-galectin-3 antibody was applied to the plates for 1hr at room temperature. 100 $\mu$ l ExtrAvidin per well was diluted 1:10,000 and applied for 1 hr at room temperature in separate wells. Plates were washed twice with 100 $\mu$ l washing buffer per well before applying 100 $\mu$ l Sigma*FAST* OPD solution until a yellow colour appeared (7mins). The reaction was then stopped with 50 $\mu$ l 4M sulphuric acid. The experiment was performed in duplicate.

A saturated standard curve was achieved, which would be appropriate for determining the concentration of galectins within serum samples by using standard regression. In order to calculate the galectin concentrations in the serum, the non-saturated area of the curve was logged (**Figure 5.1**).

#### 5.5.2 Detection of galectin levels in human serum samples.

Initial experiments were run to determine a standard curve for each recombinant galectin. The concentration of the primary antibody and secondary antibodies were as stated in **Chapter 4**, **Table 4.1**.



Figure 5.2. ELISA defining the standard curve of recombinant galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, and -8 at a range of concentrations (OD492).


Figure 5.3. ELISA detecting the level of expression of galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, and -8 in the sera of cancer patients and healthy individuals. At the time of these experiments, recombinant galectin-9 was not available and a standard curve could not be generated to calculate concentrations. Therefore galectin-9 is shown as an OD value. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Lines within the sample data represent the median values of the sample group. The experiment was performed in duplicate, and statistically analysed using Kruskall Wallis non-parametric ANOVA.

By using standard regression analysis utilising the standard curves (Figure 5.2), the concentration (ng/ml) of the galectin within the serum samples was calculated from ELISA. At the time of these experiments, recombinant galectin-9 was not available and a standard curve could therefore not be generated to calculate serum galectin-9 concentration. Therefore, the expression of serum galectin-9 is shown as an OD value within this thesis (Figure 5.3).

 Table 5.3. Circulating galectins in the sera of colorectal and breast cancer

 patients and healthy people.

		Median	Range	5 <sup>th</sup>	95 <sup>th</sup>	
		(ng/ml)	(ng/mi)	Percentile	Percentile	p* value
Gal-1	Healthy	328.8	56.6 - 11670.2	88.8	8315.0	
	Colorectal Cancer	442.7	40.3 - 13263.2	103.8	4353.5	
	Colorectal cancer					
	with Liver Metastasis	1064.2	169.2 - 13834.1	331.1	11 <b>499</b> .1	<0.05
	Breast Cancer	106.2	9.3 - 7757.0	16.6	1229.3	<0.0001
Gal-2	Healthy	14.1	2.2 - 914.8	3.2	547.2	
	Colorectal Cancer	26.5	4.7 - 764.8	11.2	261.9	<0.001
	Colorectal cancer					
	with Liver Metastasis	32.1	13.3 - 1155.8	13.8	786.1	<0.01
	Breast Cancer	34.1	5.4 - 898.6	7.0	211.5	<0.01
Gal-3	Healthy	6.8	0.0 - 736.5	0.2	167.2	
	Colorectal Cancer	101.0	7.5- 1603.9	13.0	1258.4	<0.0001
	Colorectal cancer					
	with Liver Metastasis	215.0	31.0 - 51 <b>06.4</b>	41.7	3064.7	<0.0001
	Breast Cancer	30.6	0.1 - 749.2	1.5	125.2	<0.01
		••				
G91-4		3.9	0.8 - 59.6	0.9	45.1	
	Colorectal Cancer Colorectal cancer	43.2	1.0 - 474.9	1./	202.9	<0.0001
	with Liver Metastasis	98.7	12.3 - 584.2	13.3	488.7	<0.0001
	Breast Cancer	13.7	0.0 - 409.7	0.1	224.6	<0.05
Gal-8	Healthy	6.3	0.0 - 166.3	0.2	141.7	
	Colorectal Cancer	14.9	4.1 - 468.8	5.7	57.1	<0.01
	Colorectal cancer					
	with Liver Metastasis	35.1	2.4 - 223.0	4.8	136.9	<0.01
	Breast Cancer	16.2	1.4 - 272.4	4.8	210.1	<0.01

\*Compared with that in healthy people

Galectin-1: Serum samples obtained from patients with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0132, 3.2-fold increase) in the expression of circulating galectin-1, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. However, serum samples obtained from patients with breast cancer demonstrated a significant decrease (P<0.0001, 3.1-fold decrease) in the expression of circulating galectin-1, when compared to serum samples from healthy.

Galectin-2: Levels of galectin-2 within the serum of patients with colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0007, P=0.002, respectively, with a 1.9-fold and 2.3-fold increase, respectively) when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. Galectin-2 levels in the serum samples from patients with breast cancer also demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0021, 2.4-fold increase) when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals.

**Galectin-3:** Levels of galectin-3 within serum samples of patients with colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P<0.0001, P<0.0001, respectively, with a 14.9-fold and 31.6-fold increase respectively) in the expression of circulating galectin-3, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. Galectin-3 levels in the serum samples from patients with breast cancer also demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0018, 4.5-fold increase) in the expression of circulating galectin-3, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals.

Galectin-4: Levels of galectin-4 within serum samples of patients with colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P<0.0001, P<0.0001, respectively, with a 11.0-fold and 25.3-fold increase respectively) in the expression of circulating galectin-4, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. Galectin-4 levels in the serum samples from patients with breast cancer also demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0462, 3.5-

fold increase) in the expression of circulating galectin-4, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals.

**Galectin-8:** Levels of galectin-8 within serum samples of patients with colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0085, P=0.0023, respectively with a 2.4-fold and 5.6-fold increase, respectively) in the expression of circulating galectin-8, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. Galectin-8 levels in the serum samples obtained from patients with breast cancer also demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0033, 2.6-fold increase) in the expression of circulating galectin-8, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals.

**Galectin-9:** At the time of these experiments, recombinant galectin-9 was not available to be used as standard for the calculation of galectin-9 concentrations. Therefore, the ELISA OD readings were presented here. Serum samples obtained from patients with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P=0.0148, 2.0-fold increase) in the expression of circulating galectin-9, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. The experiment was performed in duplicate, and statistically analysed using Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric ANOVA test.

5.5.3 Comparison of Galectin and CEA detection as serum markers for cancer.

As galectin-3 and -4 showed the most significant increase in serum concentration when comparing both colorectal cancer groups and healthy individuals, further assessments were performed to compare the specificity and sensitivity of a combined galectin-3/-4 ELISA, combining the detection of galectin-3 and -4 in a single ELISA, and CEA ELISA when testing serum samples. The combined galectin-3 and -4 ELISA was carried out as stated in **5.4.2**. CEA ELISA was conducted with a CEA Enzyme Immunoassay test kit from MP Biomedicals and carried out as stated in **5.4.2**.



Figure 5.4. ELISA defining the standard curve of CEA at a range of concentrations (OD492).

A saturated standard curve was achieved for CEA, which would be appropriate for determining the concentration of CEA within serum samples by using standard regression. In order to perform this, the non-saturated area of the curve was logged. The experiment was performed in duplicate (**Figure 5.4**).



Figure 5.5. ELISA detecting the level of expression of CEA in the sera of cancer patients and healthy individuals (OD492). (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Serum samples obtained from patients with colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer with liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P<0.0001 and

P<0.0001, respectively, with a 4.6-fold and 8.0-fold increase respectively) in the expression of circulating CEA, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. There was a significant increase between the level of circulating CEA in samples from patients with colorectal cancer and those with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis (P=0.0037) The experiment was performed in duplicate, and statistically analysed using Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric ANOVA test (Figure 5.5).



Figure 5.6. ELISA defining the standard curve of combined galectin-3 and -4 at a range of concentrations (OD492).

Galectin-3 and -4 were combined in a single ELISA, with the wells coated with a combinantion of anti-galectin-3 and anti-galectin-4 antibodies. A saturated

standard curve was achieved for galectin-3 and -4. The experiment was performed in duplicate (Figure 5.6).



Figure 5.7. ELISA detecting the level of expression of galectin-3 and -4 in the sera of cancer patients and healthy individuals (OD492). (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Serum samples obtained from patients with colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer and liver metastasis demonstrated a significant increase (P<0.0001 and

P<0.0001, respectively, with a 2.8-fold and 11.0-fold increase respectively) in the expression of circulating galectin-3 and -4, when compared to serum samples from healthy individuals. There was a significant increase in the combined level of circulating galectin-3 and -4 in samples from patients with colorectal cancer and those with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis (P=0.0002) The experiment was performed in duplicate, and statistically analysed using Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric ANOVA test (Figure 5.7).

Sensitivity and specificity of the ELISA-based serum assays were analysed using the following equations:



True positives referred to a CEA or galectin-3 and -4 concentration within serum from a patient from a cancer group that was above the designated threshold, whereas false positives referred to a CEA or galectin-3 and -4 concentration within serum from an individual within the healthy group that was above the designated threshold. True negatives referred to a CEA or galectin-3 and -4 concentration within serum from a healthy individual that was below the designated threshold, whereas false negatives referred to a CEA or galectin-3 and -4 concentration within serum from a healthy individual that was below the designated threshold, whereas false negatives referred to a CEA or galectin-3 and -4 concentration within serum from a patient within a cancer group that was below the designated threshold. The CEA threshold for cancer detection has already been established for different groups of individuals. For non-smokers at 50 years of age it has been defined as 3.4-3.6  $\mu$ g/L, for non-smokers at 70 years of age it has been defined as 4.1  $\mu$ g/L, and for smokers at any age, the upper threshold has been defined as 5 $\mu$ g/L (379, 380). For the purpose of comparison within this thesis, all galectin-3 and -4 ELISA thresholds will be compared to the standard CEA threshold of 5 $\mu$ g/L (5ng/ml) (**Table 5.4**, **Table 5.5**).

Table 5.4. The positive and negative values of CEA from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at of the standard reference concentration threshold.

CEA				
		Positive	Negative	Total samples
5ng/ml	Healthy	24	7	31
	Colorectal cancer	40	0	40
	Liver metastasis	11	0	11

Table 5.5. The positive and negative values of the combined galectin-3/-4 assessment from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at a range of concentration thresholds (ng/ml).

Galectin-3/ -4				
		Positive	Negative	Total samples
0.5ng/ml	Healthy	28	3	31
	Colorectal cancer	38	2	40
	Liver metastasis	11	0	11
1ng/ml	Healthy	19	12	31
	Colorectal cancer	35	5	40
	Liver metastasis	11	0	11
5ng/ml	Healthy	0	31	31
	Colorectal cancer	11	29	40
	Liver metastasis	10	1	11
10ng/ml	Healthy	0	31	31
	Colorectal cancer	8	32	40
	Liver metastasis	6	5	11
20ng/ml	Healthy	0	31	31
	Colorectal cancer	1	39	40
	Liver metastasis	2	9	11

Using the specified calculations, a CEA ELISA was compared to an ELISA combining galectin-3 and -4.

Table 5.6. The positive and negative values of CEA from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at a threshold of 5ng/ml.

	Healthy vs Colorectal		Healthy vs Liver mets		Colorectal vs Liver mets	
CEA	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)
5ng/ml	100	22	100	22	100	0

Table 5.7. The positive and negative values of combined galectin-3 and -4 assessment from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at a range of concentration thresholds (ng/ml).

	Healthy vs Colorectal		Healthy vs Liver mets		Colorectal vs Liver mets	
Galectin-3/-4	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)
0.5ng/ml	95	10	100	10	100	5
lng/ml	88	39	100	39	100	13
5ng/ml	28	100	91	100	91	73
10ng/ml	20	100	55	100	55	80
20ng/ml	3	100	18	100	18	98

When comparing the concentration of the target proteins within the CEA-based ELISA and the galectin-3/-4 based ELISA, a variety of concentration thresholds were analysed (Table 5.7).

# **Colorectal Cancer vs Healthy Controls:**

CEA-based ELISA demonstrated a high level of sensitivity when analysed at a threshold of 5ng/ml (100%), but with a low level of specificity (22%). Within the galectin-based ELISA, at concentrations of 0.5ng/ml and 1ng/ml, there were high levels of sensitivity (95%, 88%, respectively) but low levels of specificity (10%, 39%, respectively). At thresholds of a higher concentration, 5ng/ml to 20ng/ml, the galectin-based ELISA achieved higher levels of specificity (100%, 100% and 100%, respectively) at the expense of sensitivity (28%, 20%, and 3%, respectively). The galectin-based ELISA did not reach the same level of sensitivity obtained by the CEA-based ELISA when comparing serum samples from colorectal cancer patients and samples from healthy individuals, which indicated that CEA-based ELISA represents a more accurate method of serum marker detection in this case.

#### **Colorectal Cancer with Liver Metastasis vs Healthy Controls:**

As previously seen when analysing colorectal cancer serum samples against healthy samples, CEA-based ELISA produced a high level of sensitivity at the 5ng/ml threshold (100%) but a lower level of specificity (22%) when comparing healthy samples to samples from patients with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis. Galectin-based ELISA demonstrated a maximum level of sensitivity at thresholds set at 0.5ng/ml and 1ng/ml (100% and 100%, respectively), and a maximum level of specificity at thresholds set at 5ng/ml to 20ng/ml (100%, 100%, and 100%, respectively), again at the expense of sensitivity (91%, 55%, and 18%, respectively). The best balance between sensitivity and specificity when using galectin-based ELISA was obtained at a threshold of 5ng/ml (91% and 100%, respectively). When comparing samples from patients with colorectal cancer with liver metastasis and those from healthy individuals, galectin-based ELISA was more comparative to CEAbased ELISA than when comparing colorectal cancer-only serum samples and healthy samples. Thresholds of 0.5ng/ml and 1ng/ml with the galectin-based ELISA demonstrated the same level of sensitivity as seen within the CEA-based ELISA. However, galectin-based ELISA only exceeded CEA-based ELISA in specificity at 1ng/ml. 5ng/ml up to 20ng/ml galectin provided less sensitivity than CEA-based ELISA, but a much greater level of specificity. When comparing the ELISA methods, 1ng/ml threshold of galectin-based ELISA exceeded CEA ELISA in both aspects.

# **Colorectal Cancer vs Colorectal Cancer with Liver Metastasis:**

CEA-based ELISA provided a maximum sensitivity at the threshold of 5ng/ml (100%), but with very limited specificity (0%). Galectin-based ELISA demonstrated the highest level of sensitivity at 0.5ng/ml and 1ng/ml thresholds (100% and 100%, respectively). 5ng/ml galectin threshold represented the best balance between sensitivity and specificity (91% and 73%, respectively). Furthermore, at a range of threshold levels, 0.5ng/ml to 10ng/ml, galectin-based ELISA provided a better level of specificity and sensitivity that that provided by CEA-based ELISA.

#### **5.6 DISCUSSION**

An ELISA protocol was developed to optimise the assessment of the levels of galectins in the serum of cancer patients and healthy people. The levels of galectin-2, -3, -4, and -8, demonstrated a significant increase in the sera of individuals with colorectal cancer, colorectal cancer with liver metastasis, when compared to healthy individuals. Galectin-2, -3 and -8 increased in the sera of breast cancer patients. However, the expression of circulating galectin-1 only increased significantly within samples from patients with colorectal cancer with liver metastasis, and decreased significantly in samples from individuals with breast cancer. None of the serum galectin assays show sufficient predictive value to be useable clinically in diagnosis. However, there is a limited amount of serum samples to allow adequate investigation into the clinical usefulness of galectins for cancer staging, although it seems unlikely at this time.

lurisci *et al.* (287) had previously investigated the level of galectin-3 expression in the sera of cancer patients when compared to healthy individuals. It was demonstrated that low serum levels of galectin-3 were detected in healthy individuals (median, 62 ng/ml; range, 20–313 ng/ml) when compared to cancer patients (287). Within the serum samples analysed in this thesis, a lower level was also seen in sera from healthy individuals (median, 6.8ng/ml; range, 0.1ng/ml-736.5ng/ml). Iurisci *et al.* also stated that when compared with healthy individuals, galectin-3 serum levels in patients with breast cancer were increased significantly (287). The levels of circulating galectin-3 within the sera analysed within this thesis demonstrated the same pattern. Serum obtained from patients with breast and colorectal cancer demonstrating a significant increase of galectin-3 expression when compared to healthy individuals. Further analysis by Iurisci *et al.* demonstrated that galectin-3

concentrations in sera from patients with metastatic disease were higher than in sera from patients with localized tumors. A similar pattern was demonstrated within the serum samples from patients with colorectal cancer that were analysed within this thesis.

Watanabe *et al.*(381) have demonstrated very recently that circulating levels of galectin-3 and -4 in colorectal cancer patients were significantly higher compared to those in controls, which complemented the data demonstrated within this thesis, and that galectin-4 levels significantly decreased after surgery.(381)

Due to the higher level of significance demonstrated within the increase of galectin-3 and -4 expression within sera from cancer patients, work within this thesis investigated their potential as serum biomarkers for colorectal cancer. Although in the case of colorectal cancer, and colorectal cancer with liver metastasis, galectin-3 and - 4 are equally as significant, CEA data points provide less of a spread, suggesting a more significant and appropriate candidate for a serum cancer marker. This was further investigated by analysising the specificity and sensitivity of each ELISA. CEA-based ELISA provided the most useful marker for comparing serum samples obtained from patients with colorectal cancer and those from healthy individuals. However, galectin-based ELISA generally provided a more sensitive and specific method when comparing serum samples from patients with colorectal cancer with liver metastasis and healthy individuals, as well as when comparing samples from patients with colorectal cancer, and those from patients with colorectal cancer with liver metastasis. Further work is required to expand this data set and determine any correlations between circulating galectin expression and disease states.

The increased levels of circulating galecin-3 in cancer patients have been shown earlier in our group to act as an important promoter in cancer cell haematogenous dissemination to secondary tumour sites in metastasis (315, 330). Galectin-3 was shown to interact with the oncofetal Thomsen-Friedenreich antigens on the transmembrane mucin protein MUC1 expressed by the cancer cells (316). The galectin-3-TF/MUC1 interaction induces polarisation of MUC1 cell surface localization, which results in exposure of the smaller cell-surface adhesion molecules, that are otherwise concealed by the large, heavily-glycosylated MUC1. Incubation of MUC1-expressing cancer cells with galectin-3 demonstrated an increased heterotypic adhesion of the cancer cells to blood vascular endothelium (315) and homotypic aggregation of the cancer cells to form micro-tumour emboli which prolongs the survival of tumour cells in the circulation (316).

As galectin-1, -2, -3, -4 and -8 increase in the sera of colorectal cancer patients with liver metastasis, it could suggest the possibility that these galectins, in a way similar to galectin-3, play a role in the regulation of cancer cell haematogenous spread in metastasis. Further experiments within this thesis aim to explore this hypothesis.

# EFFECT OF CIRCULATING GALECTINS ON CANCER CELL ADHESION AND TRANS-ENDOTHELIAL MIGRATION

# **6.1 HYPOTHESES**

Other galectin members that show increased circulation in the bloodstream of cancer patients may, like galectin-3, influence adhesion of disseminating cancer cells to vascular endothelial cells and thus also promote metastasis by interaction with cancer associated MUC1.

# **6.2 AIMS**

- To assess the binding of members of the galectin family to TF-expressing glycoproteins.
- To investigate the effect of recombinant galectins at concentrations similar to those found in the sera of cancer patients on cancer cell heterotypic adhesion to endothelial cells and ECM (Matrigel).

# **6.3 INTRODUCTION**

# 6.3.1 Mechanism of galectin-3 induced homotypic adhesion of cancer cells and adhesion of cancer cells to endothelium.

Earlier work carried out by our group (315, 316, 382) revealed that circulating galectin-3 promotes metastasis by increasing cancer cell-cell homotypic aggregation and cancer cell heterotypic adhesion to vascular endothelium. These effects of galectin-3 were seen to occur partly as a consequence of galectin-3 interaction with cancer-associated MUC1, which breaks the 'protective shield' of the cell-surface MUC1 through polarisation, leading to the exposure of smaller cell-surface adhesion molecules/ligands, which includes CD44 and ligands for E-selectin (315). Galectin-3, at pathological concentrations, was shown to increase cancer cell adhesion to macrovascular (HUVEC) and microvascular (HMVEC-L) endothelial cells under static and flow conditions, to increase trans-endothelial migration, and to decrease the latency of experimental metastasis in athymic mice (315). The galectin-3-MUCl interaction also enhances cancer cell-cell homotypic aggregation (382). The formation of cancer-cell emboli has important implications for the survival of tumour cells in the blood/lymphatic circulation, which leads to metastatic spread (14, 383). Cells in aggregated form have been shown to have a much higher survival rate in the circulation than single cells, resisting anoikis (384) and with a resulting prolongation of survival of disseminating tumour cells in the circulation leading to increased metastasis (385).

As members of the galectin family all recognize galactose-terminated carbohydrate structures, and are often co-expressed in same tissue types and cells, we hypothesised that the increase circulation of the other galectin members seen in cancer patients may also have a similar influence as shown for galectin-3 on cancer

114

cell-cell interactions by binding to TF on cancer associated MUC1 and subsequent clustering of MUC1.

# 6.3.2 Carbohydrate Targets of Galectins

The galectin family of  $\beta$ -galactoside-binding proteins has over a dozen human members, and each galectin recognises different galactose-terminated glycans, and has different biological consequences (386-388). Galectin-1 has been shown to inhibit mast cell degranulation (389), whereas galectin-3 induces degranulation in mast cells (390). Furthermore, galectin-1 blocks leukocyte chemotaxis (391), while galectin-3 has the opposite effect, inducing leukocyte chemotaxis (392). Galectin-1, -2 and -3 have all been reported to signal T cells through different receptors (317, 393, 394).

There is, however, evidence that different galectins may recognise related receptors. Galectin-3 attenuates galectin-1 inhibition of growth in neuroblastoma cells at the receptor level, and both galectin-1 and galectin-3 induce superoxide production in human neutrophils (395-397). Although some differences have been reported in glycan recognition by these galectins, there are still questions remaining about glycan recognition and subsequent effects on galectin binding, and further investigations may provide a new functional map of the CRD for each galectin.

By using glycan microarray systems, it has been shown that galectin-2 and galectin-3 exhibited higher binding than galectin-1 to fucose-containing A and B blood group antigens (398). Galectin-2 exhibited significantly reduced binding to all sialylated glycans, whereas galectin-1 bound  $\alpha$ 2-3- but not  $\alpha$ 2-6-sialylated glycans, and galectin-3 bound to some glycans terminating in either  $\alpha$ 2-3- or  $\alpha$ 2-6-sialic acid (398). Each galectin exhibits higher binding for glycans with poly-N-

acetyllactosamine sequences  $(Gal\beta 1-4GlcNAc)_n$  when compared with Nacetyllactosamine (LacNAc) glycans (Gal\beta 1-4GlcNAc). However, only galectin-3 bound internal LacNAc within poly(LacNAc) (398).

# **6.3.3 TF-Expressing Glycoproteins**

# Antifreeze Glycoprotein:

Antifreeze glycoproteins (AFGPs) constitute the major fraction of protein in the blood serum of Antarctic notothenioids (icefish) and Arctic cod. These compounds enable the fish to survive in subzero, ice-laden polar oceans. These glycoproteins consist of a varying number of repeating units of (Ala-Ala-Thr)<sub>n</sub>, with minor sequence variations, such as the first Ala in some of the repeats are replaced by Pro. There are eight distinct classes of this glycopeptide, which range in relative molecular mass from 33.7 kDa to 2.6 kDa (399, 400). Antifreeze proteins express multiple TF antigen on the Thr residues, although the amount of TF is not fully characterised (401, 402).

# **Bovine (Asialo) Fetuin:**

Bovine fetuin is a globular protein of 341 amino acids. Bovine fetuin homologs have been identified in several species, which include rat, sheep, pig, mouse and human with 60-70% homology at the amino acid level and 80-90% homology at the cDNA level (403-405). Fetuin was originally identified as a fetal plasma protein in fetal and newborn calf serum (406). Mammalian fetuins are a family of related glycoproteins that are members of the cystatin superfamily, and are characterized by two tandemly arranged cystatin-like domains (403). Fetuin appears to be a multifunctional protein with various biological roles, including inhibiting phase separation in serum, and modulating apatite formation during mineralization (407). Furthermore, bovine fetuin has been suggested to be lipid (408) and calcium binding (409).

Fetuin is well-characterized as a glycoprotein, and is shown to have three sites of N-linked glycosylation (410). There are also three O-linked Core 1 (Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc) structures on fetuin, two of which carry sialic acid (one carrying Neu5Ac $\beta$ 2-3Gal, and the other carrying both Neu5Ac $\beta$ 2-3Gal and Neu5Ac $\alpha$ 6-2GalNAc) and one which carries no sialic acid (411). The O-glycosylation sites within fetuin are particularly proline-rich, and the sequence Gly-Pro-Ser-Pro-Thr-Ala has been proposed as a site of O-glycosylation (412). Another possible candidate for this site in the hexapeptide Gly-Pro-Thr-Pro-Ser-Ala, found at 260-265 in the fetuin sequence. The experiments in this thesis have used asialofetuin, ie bovine fetuin treated with sialidase to remove the most terminal sialic acid, thus revealing subterminal galactose and potentially increasing the level of binding by galectins.

# (Asialo) Bovine Submaxillary Mucin:

As previously described, the epithelial linings of the cavities and tracts of higher vertebrates are lined with mucus secretions produced by the epithelial glands (413). These viscoelastic secretions act as a lubricant and as a protective layer against the environment for the underlying epithelium. The bovine submaxillary mucin (BSM) is a component of saliva, which coats the food bolus and acts as a lubricant to reduce friction during swallowing and contributes significantly to the gastric mucus pool (414, 415).

BSM is a glycoprotein with a molecular weight of about  $4\times10^5$  and contains about 70% carbohydrate (416). Through cDNA cloning, it has been demonstrated that the composite sequence contains 1589 amino acid residues, and consists of five distinct protein domains, which are numbered from the C-terminus. Domains III and V consist of similar repeated peptide sequences with an average of 47 residues, which are rich in serine and threonine. Domains II and IV do not contain these tandem repeat sequences, but do have a high levels of serine and threonine, which are potential *O*-glycosylation sites (417). The amount of carbohydrate chains per molecule has not been characterized, but BSM carries a variety of *O*-glycans, which are sialic acid-rich. BSM can carry any of five *O*-glycan trisaccharides that are based on the core 1, core 2 and core 5 structures (418). As with bovine fetuin, the experiments in this thesis have used asialo bovine (submaxillary) mucin ie bovine submaxillary mucin treated with sialidase to remove the most terminal sialic acids.

The work described in this chapter first examined the interaction of members of the galectin family with TF-expressing glycans and then moved on to assess effect of these galectins on cancer cell-cell interactions.

# **6.4 METHODS**

#### 6.4.1 Materials

Recombinant galectins and anti-galectin antibodies were obtained from R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK. 96-well and 24-well plates were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK. Lactose was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK. Nonenzymatic cell dissociation solution was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK. Matrigel was obtained from BD Biosciences, UK. *O*-glycanase was obtained from Glyko Inc., (Oxford, UK). The Vybrant DIO cell labeling solution was from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR). Paraformaldehyde was obtained from TAAB Ltd., Berks, England. Peanut agglutinin (PNA) and anti-mouse-texas-red-conjugated antibody were obtained from Dako UK Ltd., Cambridgeshire, UK. MUC1-targeted siRNA, scrambled control siRNA and siRNA transfectant reagents were obtained from Thermo Scientific (Dharmacon), CO, USA. Anti-MUC1 (B27.29) antibodies were kindly provided by Dr. Mark Reddish (Biomira Inc., Edmonton, Canada). Human anti-TF antibody (TF5) was kindly provided by Dr. Bo Jansson (BioInvent Therapeutic, Lund, Sweden).

# 6.4.2. ELISA

ELISA was performed as described in 4.3.

# 6.4.3 O-glycanase Treatments

*O*-glycanase treatments were carried out, as described below, on both ASM and surface proteins on HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells to remove the terminal TF antigen as an intact disaccharide unit from serine or threonine within proteins carrying it. The TF antigen is a potential binding partner of the galectins under investigation, and it has been shown that, through this structure, galectin-3 interacts with cancerassociated MUC1.

# **O**-glycanase Treatment of ASM:

The procedure for de-O-glycosylation of ASM was as follows:

 $15\mu$ l of 200µg/ml ASM was incubated with 6µl reaction buffer and 4µl of *O*-glycanase (0.003U/ml) for 2hrs at 37°C in a rotating water bath at 100rpm. Following *O*-glycanase treatment, ASM was diluted to 10µg/ml with ELISA coating buffer and 50µl/well of this solution was used to coat the bottom of wells within a half-volume 96-well high binding plate overnight at 4°C.

Treated ASM and control ASM were used in two ELISAs, one using PNA to detect the level of TF after incubation to determine successful treatment, and another to determine the level of galectin binding.

# **O-glycanase treatment of HT29-5F7 Colon Cancer Cells:**

The procedure for de-O-glycosylation of the cell-surface proteins of HT29-5F7 cells was as follows:

HT29-5F7 cells were grown as a monolayer in complete DMEM at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air. Once they reached 70% confluence HT29-5F7 cells were released from T25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with 2ml non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution. Once released, the cells were centrifuged at 1000rpm for 5mins and resuspended into an aliquot of 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> in an eppindorff and centrifuged again at 3000rpm. The pellet was resuspended with 100µl of *O*-glycanase incubation buffer. This aliquot was divided into two, and one used as an untreated control. The aliquot to undergo *O*-glycanase treatment was incubated with 0.02U/ml (0.8µl) *O*-glycanase for 2hrs at 37°C in a shaking water bath at 100rpm before being used for adhesion assays, and for FACS analysis of TF expressions.

# FACS Assay:

Sub-confluent HT29-5F7 cells were released from the flask by incubation with 2ml non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution for 5–10mins at 37°C, and washed twice with PBS 10ml each time. HT29-5F7 cells  $(1 \times 10^6/\text{ml in } O$ -Glycanase  $1 \times \text{buffer})$  were incubated with 0.02U/ml *O*-glycanase in *O*-Glycanase  $1 \times \text{buffer}$  for 3 hrs at 37°C. Cells were then centrifuged at 1500rpm for 5mins. After removal of the supernatant, 5ml 2% paraformaldehyde was added to fix the cells for 15mins at room temperature. After washing the cells twice with 10ml PBS and centrifugation at 1500rpm to remove the supernatant, the cells  $(10^6/\text{ml})$  were incubated with 5% goat serum for

30mins at room temperature on a rolling platform. After removal of the supernatant following centrifugation at 1500rpm famines, the cells were re-suspended into 10<sup>6</sup>/ml in 1% goat serum in PBS and divided 1ml/tube in 1.5ml tubes. Fluorescent-conjugated peanut lectin was purchased from Vector Laboratories Ltd (Peterborough, UK), and 1:400 working concentration was applied to the cells solution for 1hr at room temperature on the rolling platform. After three washes with PBS, the cells were re-suspended in PBS in 0.5ml/tube. The cells was analysed by flow cytometry.

# 6.4.4 siRNA MUC1

#### **Cell Plating:**

HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells were diluted in antibiotic-free DMEM with 5% FCS to a plating density of 5 x  $10^4$  cells/ml.  $100\mu$ l of cells were placed in to each well of a 96 well cell culture plate and incubated for 24hrs at 37°C.

# **Transfection:**

The following protocol was followed:

A  $2\mu$ M siRNA solution in siRNA buffer (Dharmacon) was prepared, from this 17.5 $\mu$ l was added to 17.5 $\mu$ l serum-free/antibiotic-free medium. In a separate tube, 1.4 $\mu$ l of DharmaFECT4 (Dharmacon) was added to 33.6 $\mu$ l of serum-free/antibiotic-free DMEM. These tubes were pipetted up and down gently and left for 5mins before mixing them together and leaving them to stand for a further 20mins. To this solution 280 $\mu$ l antibiotic-free DMEM was added and to each well 100 $\mu$ l was added. The plate

was incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air for 72hrs. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

#### Western Blotting:

Wells containing cells were washed twice and treated with  $80\mu$ l lysis buffer for 15mins at room temperature. Cellular lysate was transferred to eppindorffs and diluted with lysis buffer 1:1, and either frozen at -18°C for short-term storage or loaded on 4% or 12% gels for SDS-PAGE (as described in **4.6**) following boiling at 100°C for 5mins. Immunoblotting was carried out as described in **4.7**.

# 6.4.5 Immunocytochemistry

MUC1-transfected breast cancer cells, HCA1.7+, were grown as a monolayer in complete DMEM at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air. Once they reached 70% confluence HCA1.7+ cells were released from T25 cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with 2ml non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution. Once cells were detached into a single cell solution by pipetting up and down, cells were centrifuged in serum-free DMEM, and resuspended into 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml. 1ml of cell suspension was incubated in the presence or absence of 1 $\mu$ g/ml or recombinant galectins or 4 $\mu$ g/ml PNA in a shaking water bath at 100rpm at 37°C for 1hr. Two 1cm circles were drawn onto a poly lysine slide with a thin black marker pen, within which 100 $\mu$ l cell suspension was pipetted and incubated for 30mins at room temperature. Following the gentle removal of the medium on the slides, 150 $\mu$ l 2% paraformaldehyde was pipetted onto the cells for 15mins before washing twice with PBS. 100 $\mu$ l 5% goat serum in PBS as a blocking buffer was pipetted onto the cells for 30mins at room temperature. Anti-MUC1 B27.29 antibody was diluted 1:2000 with 1% goat serum and 100µl of the antibody was applied to each circle for 1hr at room temperature. The slides were then washed three times with PBS before the application of Texas red-conjugated secondary antimouse antibody, diluted 1:400 in 1% goat serum for 1hr at room temperature. Slides were then washed three times with PBS, and a drop of mounting medium applied to each circle before covering with cover slides. The slides were then blinded and analysed under the fluorescent microscope. Cells were counted for MUC1 in a continuous ring around the cell surface, and for MUC1 in a discontinuous ring around the cell surface. 500 cells were counted for each sample set, which were randomly selected under the lower power field 15X. Images were taken at the higher power field, 25X.

# 6.5 RESULTS

#### 6.5.1 Galectins bind to O-glycan expressing glycoproteins.

Initial experiments were carried out to compare the carbohydrate recognition features of other galectins in comparison to galectin-3, which has already been well characterised by previous work in this group (316). The level of galectin binding was analysed using three distinct glycoproteins, antifreeze glycoprotein, expressing only TF antigen, asialofetuin, expressing TF as its only *O*-glycan structure but bearing a variety of *N*-linked structures, and asialo bovine mucin (ASM), which expresses a variety of *O*-glycan structures.



Figure 6.1. Level of galectin binding to TF-expressing glycoproteins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

ELISA was used to detect the level of galectin binding to target glycoproteins. ELISA was performed in a half-volume 96-well plate. Each well was coated with 50µl of 10µg/ml ASM, anti-freeze glycoprotein or asialofetuin. **BSA:** Bovine serum albumin, a control well with BSA as a coating substance. Galectins do not bind to BSA as it is not a glycoprotein, and therefore serves well to identify any abnormal background readings within the experiment. Galectin-3 alone was applied to this well. **ASM:** Asialo bovine mucin, bovine submaxillary mucin that has had all sialic acid residues removed. **Antifreeze glycoprotein:** A glycoprotein bearing only TF antigen. **Asialofetuin:** Fetuin that has had all sialic acid residues removed. Asialofetuin expresses TF antigen and *N*-linked moieties. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Data were analysed using ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

The level of galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 binding was compared to the corresponding galectin binding in wells containing BSA ( $0.6\pm0.1$ ,  $0.7\pm0.0$ ,  $0.5\pm0.0$ ,  $0.5\pm0.0$ ,  $0.4\pm0.1$ ,  $0.3\pm0.0$  (OD492) respectively) (Figure 6.1).

Antifreeze glycoprotein: Out of the six galectins investigated, only galectin-1, galectin-2, galectin-3 and galectin-8 demonstrated a significant increase of binding to antifreeze glycoprotein compared to the BSA control ( $0.8\pm0.0$ ; P=0.008,  $1.0\pm0.0$ ; P=0.009,  $0.7\pm0.0$ ; P=0.005,  $0.8\pm0.1$ ; P=0.002 (OD492) respectively). No galectin demonstrated a preferential binding to antifreeze glycoprotein when compared to asialofetuin or ASM.

Asialofetuin: All galectins demonstrated binding to asialofetuin, but with a stronger recognition than that seen in wells coated with antifreeze glycoprotein. Galectin-1 and -2 demonstrated the most preferential binding to asialofetuin out of all the glycoproteins analysed ( $2.1\pm0.0$ ; P<0.0001,  $1.5\pm0.2$ ; P<0.0001 (OD492) respectively). Galectin-3, however, demonstrated the same level of binding to asialofetuin as to antifreeze glycoprotein ( $0.7\pm0.0$ ; (OD492) P=0.004). Galectin-8 bound significantly to asialofetuin ( $0.9\pm0.0$ ; (OD492) P=0.0003), less so than galectin-1, -2, and -3, but more so than galectin-4 ( $0.7\pm0.0$ ; (OD492) P=0.016).

Asialo Bovine Mucin: All galectins demonstrated binding to ASM. Galectin-1 demonstrated a significant level of binding to ASM  $(1.6\pm0.3; (OD492) P<0.0001)$ , when compared to BSA control wells however this level of binding was less

126

significant that that seen with asialofetuin. Furthermore, galectin-2 also demonstrated a significant level of binding to ASM  $(1.0\pm0.1; (OD492) P=0.007)$ , but less significant that that seen with asialofetuin. Galectin-3, -4 and -7 bound to ASM with the most significance when compared to the other glycoproteins  $(1.4\pm0.1; (OD492)$  $P<0.0001, 2.2\pm0.1; (OD492) P<0.0001, 1.2\pm0.2; (OD492) P<0.0001$  respectively). Galectin-8 demonstrated a significant level of binding when compared to BSA and antifreeze glycoprotein  $(0.8\pm0.1; (OD492) P=0.001)$ , but less so than asialofetuin.

Considering the preferential binding towards asialofetuin and asialo bovine mucin over that of antifreeze glycoprotein, it is apparent that galectins develop a stronger affinity for targets with a more complex complement of carbohydrates on their surface. Whereas antifreeze protein only expresses the TF antigen, the noncomplex core 1 structure, asialofetuin and asialobovine structure either possess a variety of *O*-glycan structures, or TF antigen with expression of *N*-glycan moieties. This result would indicate that different galectins show different binding affinities to TF-expressing glycans in solid phase. Further experiments were carried out to assess the importance of the TF structure on these glycans on their interaction with galectins. Experiments were carried out with ASM, which demonstrated a significant level of galectin-binding across all members of the family assessed.



Figure 6.2a. TF-expression on ASM with or without pre-treatment with *O*-glycanase. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Following the treatment of ASM with  $4\mu$ l Streptococcal *O*-glycanase, specific for removal of unsubstituted TF, ELISA was used to detect the level of TF on the surface of the glycoprotein. Biotinylated PNA (diluted 1:3000) was used to detect the TF antigen. ELISA was performed in a high binding 96-well plate. Each well was coated with 100µl of 10µg/ml treated or untreated ASM. Samples were analysed in triplicate. Data waw analysed by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

ELISA confirmed that ASM treatment with O-glycanase markedly reduced the quantity of TF on ASM. The level of PNA binding was significantly reduced in O-glycanase treated ASM samples ( $73.8\pm1.4\%$  reduction), when compared to the untreated controls. ( $0.07\pm0.0$ ,  $0.2\pm0.0$ , respectively, (OD492) P<0.0001) (Figure 6.2a).



Figure 6.2b. Level of galectin binding to asialo bovine mucin with or without pre-treatment with TF-specific Streptococcal *O*-glycanase. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

ELISA was used to detect the level of galectin binding to ASM or ASM treated with O-glycanase. ELISA was performed in a half-volume 96-well plate. Each well was coated with 50µl of 10µg/ml ASM or O-glycanase treatment. 1µg/ml of recombinant galectin was incubated within each well, and the level of galectin binding measured by OD492, which corresponded to the amount of biotinylated anti-galectin antibody. Experiments were performed in duplicate, with each sample analysed in triplicate. Data were analysed by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

*O*-glycanase treatment of ASM significantly reduced the binding of all galectins ( $0.9\pm0.1$ ; P=0.0007,  $0.5\pm0.0$ ; P=0.001,  $0.3\pm0.2$ ; P=0.001,  $0.3\pm0.1$ ; P<0.0001,  $0.3\pm0.0$ ; P=0.001,  $0.3\pm0.1$ ; P=0.0001 (OD492) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) when compared to controls (those not treated with *O*-glycanase) ( $1.5\pm0.0$ ,  $1.1\pm0.1$ ,  $1.1\pm0.0$ ,  $1.7\pm0.1$ ,  $0.8\pm0.0$ ,  $1.0\pm0.1$  (OD492) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) (**Figure 6.2b**). Therefore, *O*-glycanase treatment of ASM provided a reduction in binding of 42.0%, 51.3%, 75.5%, 81.5%, 65.11% and 65.8% for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively. This suggests that members of the galectin family recognize the TF structure, and that it acts as a major binding target for these glycans. Previous work done within this group has shown that through binding to TF antigen on cancer-associated MUC1, galectin-3 can induce a variety of cellular mechanisms, including heterotypic adhesion and homotypic aggregation (316, 382).

**6.5.2** Galectins induce an increase in MUC1-expressing cancer cell adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers and extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).

Considering that all the galectin members under investigation within this thesis recognise TF antigen, experiments were undertaken to see if these galectin family members could also affect cancer cell-cell interactions in the same way as galectin-3.


Figure 6.3. Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to HUVEC monolayers with or without pre-incubation with galectins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays were performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a continuous HUVEC monolayer. **BSA**: Bovine serum albumin represents the negative control wells, with no recombinant galectin pre-incubation, to give a basal level of HT29-5F7 cell binding to HUVEC monolayers. **Galectin treatments:** HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells were pre-incubated with a variety of recombinant galectins, at a range of concentrations for 1hr at 37°C, before incubating with HUVEC monolayers for another 1hr at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

All galectins were used at a concentration of  $1\mu g/ml$ . For galectin-1, -2 and -3, this concentration fell within the range of serum concentration in patients with

colorectal cancer and liver metastasis. For galectin-4 and -8, this concentration exceeded the maximum concentration in the sera of the same patients, but was used for comparison throughout all experiments within this thesis, unless otherwise stated. All galectins induced an increase in HT29-5F7 colon cancer cell adhesion to HUVEC monolayers. Furthermore, all galectins induced an increase in cellular adhesion in a dose response way. 1ug/ml galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 were shown to produce adhesion levels of 5213.2±106.2; P<0.0001, 4577.3±287.5; P<0.0001, 5295.8±148.3; P<0.0001, 4446.5±152.5; P<0.0001, 4857.8±168.7; P<0.0001, 5310.8±165.7; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively, which corresponded to a 315.5±6.4%, 277.0±17.3%, 320.5±9%, 269.1±9.2%, 294.0±10.2% and 321.4±10.0% increase in adhesion when compared to the untreated control (**Figure 6.3**).

### 6.5.3 Inhibition of galectin-mediated adhesion by lactose and ASM.

In order to assess whether the galectin-mediated adhesion is mediated by the carbohydrate recognition ability of the galectins, an inhibition assay was performed.



Figure 6.4. Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to HUVEC monolayers with or without treatment of galectins that have been pre-incubated with lactose or asialo bovine mucin. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 24-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a sterile slide on which a continuous HUVEC monolayer was grown. Lac: 10mM Lactose, ASF: 20µg/ml asialofetuin. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in duplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

As previously demonstrated, recombinant galectins-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 induced a significant increase in HT29-5F7 adhesion to HUVEC monolayers  $(55.9\pm2.5; P<0.0001, 35.2\pm4.8; P<0.0001, 53.4\pm3.2; P<0.0001, 49.6\pm2.0; P<0.0001, 46.5\pm1.8; P<0.0001, 32.1\pm1.4; P<0.0001$  (cell numbers), respectively). To assess the effect of galectin inhibition on cellular adhesion, recombinant galectins were pre-

incubated with either 10mM lactose, or  $20\mu g/ml$  asialofetuin for 1hr at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Lactose, a well-established galectin inhibitor, largely abolished any galectin-mediated adhesion (19.2±0.9; P<0.0001, 21.4±1; P<0.0001, 22.3±1.6; P<0.0001, 21.4±1; P<0.0001, 20.0±0.6; P<0.0001, 20.1±0.9; P<0.0001, (cell numbers) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively (**Figure 6.4**). In previous experiments, recombinant galectins demonstrated a significant level of binding to 10µg/ml asialofetuin, although some galectins bound with less affinity, so an increased concentration of 20µg/ml was utilised to analyse the extent of any possible galectin inhibition from pre-incubating the galectins with asialofetuin. Indeed,  $20\mu g/ml$  asialofetuin was effective in abolishing any galectin-mediated adhesion to HUVEC monolayers (21.3±1.5; P<0.0001, 19.9±1.3; P<0.0001, 22.3±1; P<0.0001, 19.9±1.3; P<0.0001, 21.0±1.5; P<0.0001, 21.5±1.6; P<0.0001 (cell numbers) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively).

Having revealed that galectins increased the adhesion of MUC1-bearing HT29-5F7 colorectal cancer cells to endothelial monolayers, further experiments were undertaken to determine if they also affect cancer cell adhesion to extracellular matrix components. A thin layer of Matrigel was utilised to form an ECM-like binding surface containing the necessary components similar to those seen *in vivo*.



Figure 6.5. Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to Matrigel with or without preincubation with galectins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a thin layer of Matrigel. 1µg/ml recombinant galectins were incubated with calcein AM-labelled HT29-5F7 cells for 1hr at 37°C, before incubation with Matrigel layers for a further hour at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

All galectins, as with endothelial cell monolayers, induced a significant increase in adhesion of MUC1-expressing HT29-5F7 cancer cells to Matrigel layers (136.7 $\pm$ 11.6; P<0.0001, 139.7 $\pm$ 11.2; P<0.0001, 153.7 $\pm$ 11.3; P<0.0001, 148.7 $\pm$ 13.1; P<0.0001, 141.7 $\pm$ 10.1; P<0.0001, 127.7 $\pm$ 18.0; P<0.0001 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) (**Figure 6.5**). This corresponded with an increase of

 $177.2\pm15.0\%$ ,  $180.4\pm14.6\%$ ,  $199.2\pm14.7\%$ ,  $192.8\pm17.0\%$ ,  $183.3\pm13.2\%$  and  $165.2\pm23.4\%$  for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8, respectively, with no galectin showing a significantly higher ability to induce adhesion more than another when compared to untreated controls (77.7\pm6.3).

The effect of galectins on cancer cell adhesion to Matrigel was also investigated with another human colon cancer cell line, SW620, which has also been shown to express MUC1.



Figure 6.6. Level of adhesion of SW620 cells to Matrigel with or without preincubation with galectins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a thin layer of Matrigel. 1µg/ml recombinant galectins were incubated with calcein AM-labelled SW620 cells for 1hr at 37°C, before incubation with Matrigel

layers for a further hour at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis was by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

While all galectins induced a significant increase of SW620 colorectal cancer cell adhesion to Matrigel layers, galectin-1, -2, -3, -4 and -7 demonstrated the most significant increase (297.7±11.6; P<0.0001, 255.7±17.1; P<0.0001, 317.7±26.3; P<0.0001, 252.7±16.6; P<0.0001, 189.7±14; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively). Galectin-8 also induced an increase in SW620 adhesion, but at a comparatively lower significant effect (169.7±13.2; P=0.003, respectively) when compared to untreated controls (122±10.6) (Figure 6.6). This corresponded with an increase of 243.6±9.5%, 209.2±14.0%, 260.0±21.6%, 206.5±13.2%, 155.1±11.5% and 138.5±10.8% for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8, respectively.

The lectin peanut agglutinin (PNA) has been shown to bind specifically to TF antigen (419, 420). Further experiments were undertaken to see if the presence of PNA also inhibit cancer cell adhesion as the galectins.



Figure 6.7. Effect of the presence of PNA on HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer.  $4\mu g/ml$  PNA were incubated with HT29-5F7 cells pre-labelled with calcein AM in the presence or absence of 25ug/ml ASM- for 1hr at 37°C, before incubation with HMVEC-L monolayers for a further hour at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

The presence of  $4\mu g/ml$  PNA induced a significant increase in HT29-5F7 adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (2918.0±76.6; (485nm) P<0.0001) when compared to untreated controls (1897.3±95.0 (485nm)), which corresponded to an increase of  $153.8\pm4.0\%$ . This PNA-mediated effect was abolished by the preincubation of PNA with ASM (1904.2±173.0; (485nm) P=0.999) (Figure 6.7).



Figure 6.8. Effect of PNA on SW620 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. Calcein AM-labelled SW620 colon cancer cells were pre-incubated with PNA at a range of concentrations for 1hr at 37°C, before incubating with HUVEC monolayers for another 1hr at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis was by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

PNA induced a dose-dependent increase in SW620 colon cancer cell adhesion to HUVEC monolayers. At 8ug/ml it produced  $235.6\pm6.8\%$  increase of the cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers; P<0.0001) when compared to untreated controls (899.8±73.5 (485nm) (Figure 6.8).

#### 6.5.4 Pre-fixation of the cells negates galectin-mediated cellular adhesion.

Previous work carried out within the group has shown that the mobility of the cancer-associated MUC1 is of pivotal importance in galectin-3-mediated cancer cell adhesion (315). It was shown that galectin-3 interacts with the TF antigens on the transmembrane MUC1, and that the galectin-3-TF/MUC1 interaction induces polarisation of MUC1 cell surface localization and exposure of the smaller cell adhesion molecules, which otherwise are concealed by MUC1. Having shown here that several galectin members all increased adhesion of MUC1 expressing HT29-5F7 cancer cells to HUVEC monolayers, further experiments were carried out to investigate whether the mobility of the MUC1 cell surface localization is also involved in galectin-mediated cell adhesion. Following cell labelling with the fluorescent label DiO, cellular proteins were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde for 15mins, before treatment with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin for 1hr and subsequent application to the HUVEC monolayers



Figure 6.9. Level of adhesion of HT29, HT29-5F7 and pre-fixed HT29-5F7 cells to HMVEC-L monolayers with or without pre-incubation with galectins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. Calcein AM-labelled colon cancer cells were pre-incubated with recombinant galectins at a range of concentrations for 1hr at 37°C, before incubating with HMVEC-L monolayers for another 1hr at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

It was found that treatment of the cells with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin-1, -2, -3. -4, -7 and -8 induced a significant increase in HT29-5F7 colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (5524.5±586.6; P<0.0001, 4887.0±370.6;

P<0.0001, 5690.8±524.6; P<0.0001, 4554.0±1376; P<0.0001, 5755.8±587.8; P<0.0001, 5659.0±718.1; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively) when compared to untreated controls (2425±307). However, this effect was not seen with the parental HT29 cells (3256.8±326.4; P=0.195, 3028.3±183.6; P=0.810, 3399.0±264.6; P=0.049, 3234.2±604.3; P=0.234, 3104.8±178.0; P=0.576, 3218.2±181.5; P=0.266 (485nm) respectively) when compared to untreated controls (2805±616 (485nm)), which express a much lower level of MUC1 than HT29-5F7 cells or SW620 colon cancer cells. Furthermore, all the galectin members failed to increase adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells prefixed with 2% paraformaldehyde (2616.5±281.2; P=0.051, 2324.8±259.1; P=0.956; 2613.2±241.9; P=0.055; 2470.0±265.0; P=0.365, 2516.5±263.3; P=0.213, 2528.2±249.7; P=0.184 (485nm) respectively) when compared to untreated controls (2223±616). When compared with control cells, those that did not undergo galectin treatment, the basal level of HT29 cells was the highest, followed by HT29-5F7 cells, and pre-fixed HT29-5F7 cells demonstrated the lowest basal level of adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (Figure 6.9).



Figure 6.10. Adhesion of untreated or pre-fixed SW620 cells to HMVEC-L monolayers with or without pre-incubation with galectins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. Calcein AM-labelled SW620 cancer cells were pre-incubated with  $1\mu$ g/ml recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before incubating with HMVEC-L monolayers for another 1hr at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis was by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

Similar experiments were also carried out with SW620 cells. It was found that treatment of the cells with  $1\mu$ g/ml recombinant galectin induced a significant increase in SW620 colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (Galectin-1,

Galectin-2, 1869.8±76.6; P<0.0001. Galectin-3, 2201.3±69.1; P<0.0001. 2086.7±152.2; P<0.0001. Galectin-4, 1907.7±149.7; P<0.0001. Galectin-7, 2032.8±72.6; P<0.0001. Galectin-8, 1834.7±91.6; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively) when compared to untreated controls (870.1±137.0 (485nm)). As seen with HT29-5F7 cells, pre-fixation of SW620 cells with 2% paraformaldehyde, negated any galectin-mediated adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (705.5±54.0; P=0.998, 705.7±59.9; P=0.998, 729.7±122.0; P>0.999, 702.7±69.7; P=0.995, 751.8±97.0; P=0.985, 748.8±62.2; P=0.992 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) when compared to untreated controls (724.5±106.6 (485nm)) (Figure **6.10**).

These results suggest that movement of the cell surface molecules is of critical importance in galectin-mediated cell adhesion. HT29 cells have a low level of expression of MUC1, so any cell-surface adhesion molecules are already exposed, allowing for cell-cell or cell-matrix adhesion. This explains why HT29 has a significantly higher basal level of adhesion to HMVEC-Ls when compared to pre-fixed HT29-5F7 cells. However, due to the lack of MUC1, galectin are unable to mediate their effects, as there is no target mucin to polarise. Essentially, their mechanism of action has been removed. HT29-5F7 and SW620 cells express a high level of MUC1, which, as previously explained, conceals the cell-surface adhesion molecules preventing a basal level of adhesion as high as that seen in HT29 cells. However, MUC1 has a natural fluidity to its movement, and *in vivo* naturally moves and transiently exposes adhesion molecules. However, when the MUC1 molecule is fixed in place, as seen in this experiment, all movement is negated, and adhesion molecules remain concealed behind the protective shield of the MUC1, preventing any galectin-mediated adhesion.

**6.5.5** Interference with MUC1 and MUC1-associated TF negate galectin-mediated cellular adhesion.

Previous experiments have enforced the role of MUC1 and its repolarisation in the galectin-mediated adhesion mechanism. Previous work within this group has demonstrated that galectin-3 binds to MUC1 through the cancer-associated TF antigen (316). Further experiments were undertaken to analyse the importance of the oncofetal TF in the galectin recognition to the MUC1 mucin protein.



Figure 6.11. Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to HMVEC-L monolayers following pre-treatment with anti-TF TF5 antibody. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. Calcein AM-labelled HT29-5F7 cancer cells were pre-incubated with 10 $\mu$ g/ml anti-TF TF5 antibody for 1hr at 37°C to conceal any TF structures that are available for galectin-binding. HT29-5F7 cancer cells were pre-incubated with 1 $\mu$ g/ml recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before incubating with HMVEC-L monolayers for another 1hr at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis was by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

As previously demonstrated,  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin induced a significant increase in HT29-5F7 adhesion to HMVEC-Ls (2835.2±341.5; P=0.0082, 2934.7±114.5; P=0.0008, 3240.2±144.3; P<0.0001, 3024.8±342.4; P=0.0001, 2941.2±134.0; P=0.0007, 3080.7±93.2; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively, for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8) when compared to an untreated control (2420.8±112.5). However, the galectin-mediated adhesion was abolished by pre-incubating the cancer cells with anti-TF TF5 antibody (2400.7±117.1; P=0.999, 2253.0±190.8; P=0.109, 2475.0±93.9; P=0.938, 2356.3±102.2; P=0.876, 2401.0±102.0; P=0.999, 2433.3±122.9; P>0.999 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) (Figure 6.11).

The MUC1 expressing HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells, bear considerable amounts of TF-expressing MUCI. Upon pre-incubation with the anti-TF TF5 antibody, the TF5 binds and conceals the TF antigen, preventing binding of galectins to this ligand.

The following experiments were performed to remove the galectin targets, either by enzymatically cleaving off the TF antigen with O-glycanase as used previously on ASM, or by transiently knocking down MUC1 in its entirety with siRNA. Successful reduction in TF expression was assessed by FACS assay, which was performed by Dr. Qicheng Zhao, University of Liverpool.



Figure 6.12. HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers before and after *O*-glycanase treatment. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells were treated with 0.02U/ml O-glycanase. O-glycanase treated cells and control cells were labelled with Calcein AM and pre-incubated with 1 $\mu$ g/ml recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before incubating the cells with HMVEC-L monolayer for a further hour at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

As previously demonstrated,  $1\mu$ g/ml recombinant galectin significantly increases the level of HT29-5F7 colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (791.5±38.9; P<0.0001, 647.0±44.4; P<0.0001, 802.7±57.3; P<0.0001, 643.4±53.5; P<0.0001, 675.9±36.0; P<0.0001, 649.2±64.7; P<0.0001 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) when compared to untreated controls (318.7±46.0 (485nm)). The galectin-mediated adhesion seen in untreated cells is of a far higher level than that of the *O*-glycanase treated cells (468.7±32.1; P<0.0001, 456.5±21.7; P<0.0001, 548.5±18.6; P<0.0001, 474.4±48.4; P=0.0002, 450.5±29.2; P<0.0001, 439.0±37.0; P<0.0001 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) (**Figure 6.12**). This implies that the TF antigen on cancer cells, specifically the *O*glycans, is essential in galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion.



Figure 6.13a. Expression of MUC1 in HT29-5F7 cells with or without MUC1 knockdown with targeted siRNA.

**Con**: control sample of untreated HT29-5F7 cells. **siRNA-con**: HT29-5F7 cells treated with a scrambled siRNA for 72hrs at 37°C. **siRNA-MUC1**: HT29-5F7 cells treated with siRNA MUC1 for 72hrs at 37°C.

Western blot confirmed that treatment with siRNA MUC1 successfully suppressed MUC1 expression in HT29-5F7 cells. MUC1 was, on average expressed 80% more in untreated HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells than the HT29-5F7 cells treated with siRNA (**Figure 6.13a**).





Adhesion assays were performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells were treated with control or MUC1 siRNA for 72hrs. The cells were labelled with calcein AM, and incubated with 1µg/ml recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before application to the HMVEC-L monolayer for a further hour at 37°C. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis was by ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

Again, 1µg/ml recombinant galectin induced a significant increase in HT29-5F7 colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (2324.8±129.9; P<0.0001, 2392.3±239.7; P<0.0001, 2857.0±144.0; P<0.0001, 2290.0±65.7; P=0.0001, 2431.3±107.3; P<0.0001, 2358.2±108.4; P<0.0001 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) when compared to untreated controls (1222.0±27.8). HT29-5F7 cells treated with scrambled siRNA showed no significant difference to the adhesion levels mediated by galectins in untreated control HT29-5F7 cells (2207.7±166.5; P=0.739, 2228.8±151.1; P=0.739, 2754.5±84.8; P=0.692, 2298.2±113.7; P=0.996, 2309.0±107.6; P=0.557, 2322.7±152.3; P=0.973 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively). However, HT29-5F7 cells that have undergone MUC1 knockdown show much less adhesion in response to the galectin treatment when compared to untreated control cells when incubated with lµg/ml galectin (1632.2±135.6; P=0.0006, 1664.5±269.9; P=0.0202, recombinant 1964.6±100.3; P=0.0001, 1574.0±110.5; P<0.0001, 1597.7±122.2; P<0.0001, 1719.2±127.7; P=0.0034 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively). Furthermore, the basal level of untreated HT29-5F7 cell adhesion is significantly lower than that of HT29-5F7 cells that have undergone MUC1 knockdown (1521±45; P<0.0001) (Figure 6.13b). This is similar to the behaviour of HT29 cells, where the lower levels of MUC1 already expose the adhesion molecules, bestowing an increase in the basal level of cancer cell heterotypic adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers.

# **6.5.6** Galectins induce an increase in MUC1-expressing colon cancer cell migration through endothelial cells and extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).

Cancer cell adhesion to vascular endothelium is a major step in the multistep pathway of metastasis. After adherence to the endothelium, cancer cells migrate though the blood vessel walls (extravasion) into the surrounding tissue of the distal site. Further experiments were carried out to assess the effect of galectins on cancer cell migration through trans- endothelial cells and extracellular matrix, both of which are important steps in metastasis.



Figure 6.14. Effect of galectins on HT29-5F7 cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-Ls. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Trans-endothelial migration of HT29-5F7 cells through HMVEC-Ls was assessed with and without galectin treatment. Calcein AM-labelled HT29-5F7 cells were pre-incubated with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before application to HMVEC-L monolayers cultured in transwells. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison. When compared to an untreated control (2802.5 $\pm$ 90.4), only galectin-1, galectin-3 and galectin-4 induced a significant level of trans-endothelial migration through the HMVEC-L monolayers (3755.3 $\pm$ 110.0; P=0.0002, 3914.8 $\pm$ 375.4; P<0.0001, 3711.0 $\pm$ 224.1; P=0.0004 (485nm) respectively). This corresponded to an increase of 135.9 $\pm$ 6.5%, 146.1 $\pm$ 15.6%, and 145.3 $\pm$ 20.7%, in trans-endothelial migration for galectin-1, -3, and -4, repectively. Galectin-2, -7 and -8 showed no significant effect on trans-endothelial migration (3209.8 $\pm$ 186.9; P=0.155, 3229.0 $\pm$ 250.2; P=0.127, 3034.8 $\pm$ 404.4; P=0.466 (485nm) respectively) (**Figure 6.14**). HT29-5F7 cells generally possess a low metastatic potential, and it was unknown as to whether this selectivity of the galectins to induce trans-endothelial migration was true to the action of the galectins, or more a representation of the nature of the cells. Further invasion experiments were carried out with SW620 cells, which are MUC1 possessing colon cancer cells, and have a higher metastatic potential than HT29-5F7 cells (421).



Figure 6.15. SW620 cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-Ls in response to galectin treatment. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Trans-endothelial migration assays were performed in a 24-well insert within a cell culture plate, with each insert containing a HMVEC-L monolayer. Calcein AMlabelled SW620 cells were pre-incubated with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin for 1hr at 37°C, before application for a further hour to the HMVEC-L monolayers in transwells. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

When compared to untreated controls  $(3030.1\pm246.5 (485nm))$ , all galectins induced a significant level of trans-endothelial migration through the HMVEC-L monolayers (4281.3±75.3; P<0.0001, 3909.0±163.8; P<0.0001, 4255.2±433.5; P<0.0001, 4305.2±114.1; P<0.0001, 3930.3±177.2; P<0.0001, 3691.3±61.4; P=0.0008 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively. This corresponded to an increase of  $141.3\pm2.5\%$ ,  $129.0\pm5.4\%$ ,  $140.4\pm14.3\%$ ,  $142.1\pm3.8\%$ ,  $129.7\pm5.8\%$ , and  $121.8\pm2.0\%$  of trans-endothelial migration for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7, and -8, repectively. Pre-incubation of HT29-5F7 cells with PNA also increased the cells trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-L monolayers ( $3568.3\pm106.9$ ; P=0.0067 (485nm)), which corresponded to an increase of  $117.8\pm3.5\%$  (Figure 6.15).





Trans-endothelial migration assays were performed in a 24-well insert within a cell culture plate, with each insert containing a gelled Matrigel layer. Calcein AMlabelled SW620 cells were pre-incubated with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin for 1hr at  $37^{\circ}$ C, before application for a further hour to the HMVEC-L monolayers within the cell culture inserts. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

When compared to untreated controls (2457.0 $\pm$ 57), all galectins induced a significant increase in the level of migration through Matrigel (3658.0 $\pm$ 172.9; P<0.0001, 3418.0 $\pm$ 124.1; P=0.0009, 4215.0 $\pm$ 296.2; P<0.0001, 3791.0 $\pm$ 163.2; P<0.0001, 3138.0 $\pm$ 644.1; P=0.019, 3486.0 $\pm$ 205.8; P=0.0004 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively). This corresponded to an increase of cellular migration of 148.9 $\pm$ 7.0%, 139.1 $\pm$ 5.1%, 171.5 $\pm$ 12.1%, 154.3 $\pm$ 6.6%, 127.7 $\pm$ 26.2%, and 141.9 $\pm$ 8.4% for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7, and -8, repectively (**Figure 6.16**). These results have demonstrated that galectins can mediate cellular adhesion and migration through both ECM and endothelial cell monolayers.

6.5.7 Galectins induce polarisation of MUC1 on the surface of HCA1.7+ cells.



Figure 6.18. MUC1 expression in various cells.

SW620, 5F7, HT29: Colon cancer cells. HCA1.7+: Breast cancer cells transfected with MUC1. HCA1.7-: The negative revertants from MUC1 transfection.

MUC1 within the SW620, HT29 and HT29-5F7 is identifiable as two distinct bands. This is due to difference in tandem repeat number between the two alleles that encode MUC1, where the higher band represents the higher molecular weight MUC1 allele, and the lower band represents the smaller MUC1 allele (**Figure 6.18**). Previous experiments have demonstrated that galectin-3 binds more strongly to the higher weight MUC1 band, such as the one transfected into the HCA1.7+ cells (316). This presumably reflects the longer high-threonine tandem repeats and consequently greater expression of TF.



Figure 6.19. Adhesion of HCA1.7+ and HCA1.7- cells to HUVEC monolayers in response to galectins. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays were performed in a 24-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a sterile slide on which a continuous HUVEC monolayer was grown. Experiments were performed in duplicate with each sample analysed in triplicate. Analysis used was ANOVA followed by Dunnett's comparison.

The presence of each recombinant galectin at  $1\mu g/ml$ , significantly increased the adhesion of MUC1 positive transfected HCA1.7+ breast cancer cells to HUVEC monolayers (26.6±4.5; P<0.0001, 27.6±3.0; P<0.0001, 31.3±3.5; P<0.0001, 29.4±4.2; P<0.0001, 29.5±3.3, P<0.0001, 32.9±3.0; P<0.0001 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively). This corresponded to an increase in cellular adhesion of 177.9±30.4%, 184.8±19.9%, 209.7±23.6%, 196.7±28.2%, 197.3±22.3%, and 220.6 $\pm$ 20.0% for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7, and -8, repectively. However, the presence of each galectin had no significant effect on adhesion of the MUC1-negative transfectants HCA1.7- cells, (16.2 $\pm$ 1.8; P=0.997, 15.6 $\pm$ 2.1; P=0.867, 15.8 $\pm$ 2.4, P=0.9979, 15.6 $\pm$ 2.4; P=0.914, 16.2 $\pm$ 2.5; P>0.999, 16.4 $\pm$ 2.6; P=0.963 (485nm) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8, respectively) (**Figure 6.19**). This indicates that the galectin-MUC1 interactions also affect adhesion of human breast cancer cells.



Figure 6.20. MUC1 Immunocytochemistry shows polarisation of MUC1 in MUC1 transfected HCA1.7+ cells in response to galectin or PNA treatment.

MUC1 was visualised by using an anti-MUC1 B27.29 antibody, followed by a Texas red-conjugated anti-mouse antibody. A: Untreated cells. MUC1 over the

surface of the HCA1.7+ cells. This image is a representation of what was considered in this assessment as continuous MUC1 cell surface localisation. **B: Cells treated** with 1 $\mu$ g/ml galectin-3. C: Treated with 1 $\mu$ g/ml galectin-4. D: Treated with 4 $\mu$ g/ml PNA. Following treatment with galectin for 1hr at 37°C, many cells show discontinuous MUC1 cell surface localization. These images show typical MUC1 localisation after treatment (Figure 6.20).

Quantitative analysis was undertaken on blinded slides to directly compare the ratio between cells that demonstrated discontinuous and continuous MUC1 cell surface localisation.

Table6.1. QuantificationofMUC1repolarisationinMUC1transfectedHCA1.7+ with or without pre-incubation with galectins.

	Control (BSA)	Gal-1	Gal-2	Gal-3	Gal-4	Gal-7	Gal-8
Centinuous MUC1 Localisation	457	164	181	161	189	173	156
Discontinuous MUC1 Localisation	43	336	319	339	311	327	344
Percentage of Discontinuous Localisation	8.6	67.2	63.8	67.8	62.2	65.4	64.6

Immunohistochemistry was undertaken, and blinded slides were analysed for MUC1 repolarisation. 500 individual cells were analysed per sample. Analysis used was Fishers Exact test.

Untreated cells showed a much higher level of cells demonstrating a continuous MUC1 cell surface localization, those cells that appeared as a uninterrupted circle (43) compared to cells that demonstrated discontinuous localisation (457; P<0.0001). However, upon incubation of the HCA1.7+ cells with  $1\mu$ g/ml recombinant galectins, there is a notable shift towards a significant increase in

cells that demonstrated discontinuous localisation (336; P<0.0001, 319; P<0.0001, 339; P<0.0001, 311; P<0.0001, 327; P<0.0001, 344; P<0.0001 (cell number) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) than those that demonstrated continuous MUC1 localisation (164, 181, 161, 189, 173, 156, (cell number) for galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7 and -8 respectively) (Table 6.1).

 Table 6.2. MUC1 repolarisation in MUC1 transfected HCA1.7+ with or without

 pre-incubation with PNA.

	Control (BSA)	Galectin-3	PNA
Continuous MUC1 Localisation	451	152	181
Discontinuous MUC1 Localisation	49	348	319
Percentage of Discontinuous Localisation	9.8	69.6	63.8

Immunohistochemistry was undertaken, and blinded slides were analysed for MUC1 repolarisation. Treatment with  $1\mu g/ml$  recombinant galectin-3 was used as a positive control to compare PNA against, as well as the untreated control. 500 individual cells were analysed per sample. Analysis used was Fishers Exact test.

As previously demonstrated, untreated cells showed a much higher level of cells demonstrating a continuous localisation of MUC1 around the complete surface of the cell (451) compared to cells that demonstrated discontinuous localisation (49; (cell number) P<0.0001). Again, upon incubating the HCA1.7+ cells with 1µg/ml recombinant galectin-3, there is a notable shift towards a significant increase in cells that demonstrated discontinuous localisation than those that demonstrated continuous MUC1 localisation. Furthermore, treatment of the cells with 4µg/ml PNA increased cells that demonstrated discontinuous localisation (319 vs. 181, (cell number) P<0.0001) (Table 2.6).

These results support the proposed model that galectin-MUC1 interaction induces change of MUC1 cell surface localization. The interaction between PNA and cancer-associated TF also results in polarization of MUC1 on the cell surface

# 6.6 DISCUSSION

Previous work within our group has investigated the role of circulating galectin-3 on cancer cell-cell interactions in metastasis (315, 316, 382). Those studies have shown that galectin-3 binds to the Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen (Gal $\beta$ 1-3GalNAc $\alpha$ 1-Ser/Thr), on cancer-associated MUC1 and induces MUC1 cell surface relocalisation (polarization). The change of MUC1 cell surface polarization breaks the continuous 'shield' of MUC1 on the cell surface and subsequently exposes the cell surface adhesion molecules, which leads to increase cell-cell interactions between cancer cells and between cancer and endothelial cells.

Galectins, as a family, are defined by their ability to recognise  $\beta$ -galactosides. It is shown in this study that members of the galectin family recognise the TF antigen, but when comparing their binding to TF-expressing glycoproteins, all the galectins bound less favourably, or with a weaker association to antifreeze proteins which only express the TF structure, than to ASM and asialofetuin which express TF along side other *O*- or *N*-glycans. Furthermore, while some galectins favoured binding to ASM, a glycoprotein containing TF as its only *O*-glycan, other galectins favoured binding to asialofetuin, which expresses a complement of *N*-glycans. This indicates the subtle differences of binding among the galectin members to their potential targets. The discovery that reduction of the TF structure by *O*-glycanase dramatically reduced the binding of the galectin members to ASM suggests an important role of the TF antigen in galectin binding to target proteins.

As other members of the galectin family, including galectin-1, -2, -4, -7 and -8, all showed similar binding to TF antigen as galectin-3, experiments were undertaken to see if these galectins also have similar influence on cancer cell adhesion as that of galectin-3. It was found that following treatment with recombinant galectins, the MUC1 expressing HT29-5F7 cells demonstrated a dose-dependent increase in adhesion to HUVEC monolayers. This galectin-mediated cell adhesion was abolished be pre-incubating the galectins with the galectin inhibitors lactose or asialofetuin. This indicated that the galectin-mediated cell adhesion response was based on the carbohydrate recognition abilities of the galectins. The same increase in adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells was seen on HMVEC-L monolayers and extracellular matrix components. Similar influences of the galectins were also seen in SW620 colon cancer cells, and HCA1.7+ breast cancer cells.

The galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion was shown to be negated by prefixation of the cells with paraformaldehyde, suggesting the importance of cell surface molecular mobility. Galectins also demonstrated the ability to induce a significant increase of cell adhesion of the MUC1 positively transfected but not the MUC1 negative revertants of transfected human breast cancer cells. This supports the importance of MUC1 expression in galectin-mediated cell-cell interactions. Concealing TF structures with the anti-TF antibody TF5, or by removing the TF structure specifically with *O*-glycanase, significantly reduced the level of galectinmediated adhesion, indicating the importance of the cell surface TF structure in galectin-mediated cell adhesion. Together these results suggest that the TF structure on MUC1 is critical in galectin-mediated cell adhesion to endothelium.

163

Using immunocytochemistry, it was demonstrated that all galectins tested induced change of MUC1 relocalisation. This change of MUC1 cell surface localization was also observed followed treatment of the cells with the TF-binding peanut lectin (PNA), This further support the importance of the lectin-TF interaction on cell adhesion, and it is likely that such a striking repolarisation of MUC1 protein in response to galectin or PNA is related to the multivalency of the lectins. All galectins have been identified as multivalent by either possessing two CRD, like the tandem repeat type, or by associating into dimers, like the chimeric type and prototype. PNA is also a multivalent protein with two carbohydrate binding sites within its molecule (271). The multivalent property of these molecules allows them to form lattice structures with their binding targets on the cell surface (422).

Following disseminating cancer cell adhesion to the endothelium at a distant site, the next step in the process of metastasis is invasion of the cancer cells through the endothelium and into the stroma beyond it. Treatment of HT29-5F7 or SW620 cells with galectin-1, -3 and -4 induced a significant increase of cell migration through HMVEC-L monolayers as well as gelled Matrigel layers.

These experiment have indicated that the presence of circulating galectins in the blood stream of cancer patients is likely to enhance circulating tumour cell adhesion, and trans-endothelial migration leading to metastasis.

# CHEMICALLY MODIFIED HEPARINS AS GALECTIN-3 INHIBITORS

# **7.1 HYPOTHESES**

Chemically modified heparins may inhibit galectin binding, thus may be used as potential metastasis inhibitors.

# **7.2 AIMS**

- To assess the effect of chemically modified heparins on galectin binding to TF-expressing glycans.
- To assess the effects of these chemically modified heparins on galectinmediated cellular adhesion to extracellular matrix components and their adhesion to and trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-L endothelial monolayers.

### 7.3 INTRODUCTION

### 7.3.1 Heparin

Heparin is a mixture of polymers ranging from 3 kDa – 30 kDa, and when extracted as native heparin, consists of a wide range of different sized and varyingly sulphated molecules (423). Heparin molecules are glycosaminoglycans, long unbranched structures, and consist of variably sulphated and acetylated repeating disaccharide units (424). The most common disaccharide unit that occurs within heparin is composed of a 2-O-sulfated iduronic acid and 6-O-sulfated, N-sulfated glucosamine. This dimer has been shown to make up 85% of heparins from beef lung and approximately 75% of those from porcine intestinal mucosa (425). Oligosaccharide mapping and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy have demonstrated that human heparin is structurally similar to porcine intestinal mucosal heparin but distinctly different from bovine lung heparin (426). Human heparin also has substantially more *in vitro* anticoagulant activity than either of these pharmaceutical heparins, and has been obtained for experimental work from a hemangioma, which is rich in mast cells (426).

Heparin was discovered in 1916, but did not enter clinical trials until 1935 (427, 428). As demonstrated by its name (hepar, Greek for 'liver') it was originally isolated from canine liver cells. By 1937 heparin was generally considered a safe, readily available, and effective blood anticoagulant (429). Heparin is produced by basophils, and within granules in mast cells that line blood vessels and in mucosal tissues. Current commercial heparin is obtained mainly from porcine intestine. Heparin prevents the formation of clots and the extension of existing clots within the blood, as well as accelerating thombolysis when used with standard thrombolytics

166
(430, 431). Heparin's major anticoagulant effect is accounted for by a unique pentasaccharide, AGA\*IA, where G is  $\beta$ -D-glucuronic acid, I is 2-O-sulphated  $\alpha$ -L-iduronic acid and A\* a 3-O-sulphated (usually also 6-O-sulphated) *N*-sulphated glucosamine (432) (433), with a high affinity binding sequence to antithrombin III (ATIII) (434-438). This pentasaccharide is present in only one third of mammalian heparin molecules (439-444). The anticoagulant effect is largely mediated through interaction of this pentasaccharide with ATIII, which produces a conformational change in ATIII (445-447) and markedly accelerates its ability to inactivate the coagulation enzymes thrombin (factor IIa), factor Xa, and factor IXa. Of these three enzymes, thrombin is the most sensitive to inhibition by heparin/ATIII (448-450). Heparin catalyses the inactivation of thrombin via ATIII by acting as a template to which both the enzyme and inhibitor bind to form a ternary complex (430, 451, 452). In contrast, the inactivation of factor Xa by ATIII/heparin complex does not require ternary complex formation and is achieved by binding of the enzyme to ATIII (436-438).

Heparin molecules that contain fewer than 18 saccharides are unable to bind thrombin and ATIII simultaneously and, therefore, are unable to accelerate the inactivation of thrombin by ATIII, but retain their ability to catalyse the inhibition of factor Xa through ATIII (452-454). Heparin also catalyses the inactivation of thrombin by a plasma cofactor, heparin cofactor II (455). This cofactor is specific for thrombin, and does not require the unique ATIII-binding pentasaccharide, and it requires much higher does of heparin (456-459) than those needed to catalyse the activity of ATIII.

The clearance of heparin is influenced by its chain length, with the higher molecular weight species being cleared from the circulation more rapidly than the lower molecular weight species. This results in an in *vivo* accumulation of the lower molecular weight species that have a reduced ratio of antithrombin to antifactor Xa activity (460).

#### 7.3.2 Low Molecular Weight Heparins

In recent years a range of low molecular weight fractionated heparins (LMWH) has been marketed for human use. These have a more predictable effect and are associated with lower risk of bleeding than standard heparins and consequently do not require montoring. They are also associated with a lower risk for the rare but often fatal complication of heparin-associated thrombocytopaenia in which antibodies develop against heparin-platelet complexes resulting in aggregation and thrombosis of major vessels. The partially depolymerised and fractionated LMWH consists of fragments with an average size of 5 kDa. Although LMWH preparations differ from each other based on the preparation method, chemical or enzymatical depolymerisation, their pharmacokinetical parameters are comparable (461).

LMWHs are currently approved for the prophylaxis and treatment of deep vein thrombosis (DVT), but their indications are likely to be expanded.

#### 7.3.3 Heparin and Inflammation

Successful host response to tissue injury and pathogen invasion is facilitated by the recruitment of leukocytes from the blood and lymphatic systems to the target tissues. Members of the selectin family of adhesion receptors, including E-selectin, Pselectin and L-selectin, mediate the initial adhesive events that direct the movement of leukocytes across the endothelium in target tissues. P-selectin is stored within resting platelets and endothelial cells, and translocated to the cell surface upon activation. L-selectin is constitutively expressed on most leukocyte types and mediates their interactions with endothelial ligands. Both of these selectins promote the initial tethering of leukocytes during extravasation at sites of inflammation. Endogenous ligands for P-selectin and L-selectin (such as PSGL-1) are expressed on leukocytes and endothelial cells (462-465). Selectins recognize and bind sialylated, fucosylated carbohydrate antigens such as sialyl Le<sup>x</sup> (Neu5Ac $\alpha$ 2-3Gal $\beta$ 1-4(Fuc $\alpha$ 1-3)GlcNAc $\beta$ -) (466, 467). In fact, the expression of sialylated, fucosylated glycans like sialyl Le<sup>x</sup> correlate with a poor prognosis because of tumor progression and metastatic spread (468-471). Furthermore, it was noted that carcinoma cell-surface mucins carrying sialyl Le<sup>x</sup> can be ligands for all three members of the selectin family of cell adhesion molecules (472, 473), and is associated with a poor prognosis (474). In mice models, this metastasis was shown to attenuated by P-selectin deficiency or by treatment with heparin (474).

Heparin and heparan sulfate can be recognized by L-selectin and P-selectin (475), and heparin and heparin-like oligosaccharides can inhibit L-selectin or P-selectin binding to Sialyl Le<sup>x</sup>-related structures on HL-60 (Human promyelocytic leukemia) (476-478). Injected heparin also affects the inflammatory response and causes leukocytosis (479-481), and attenuates tumor metastasis in mice by inhibiting P-selectin-mediated interactions of platelets with carcinoma cell-surface mucin ligands (474). These studies suggest that the anti-inflammatory effects of heparin are due to a blockade of P- and L-selectins.

## Table 7.1. Potential use of heparins beyond anticoagulation. Adapted from

Heparin-sensitive disease state	Effects in experimental models	Clinical status			
Adult respiratory distress syndrome	Reduces cell activation and accumulation in airways; neutralizes mediators and cytotoxic cell products; improves lung function in animal models	Controlled clinical trials			
Allergic rhinitis arthritis	As for adult respiratory distress syndrome, it has not been tested in a specific nasal model	Controlled clinical trials; anecdotal reports			
Asthma	Inhibits cell accumulation, collagen destruction, and angiogenesis	Controlled clinical trials			
Cancer	Inhibits tumour growth, metastasis, and angiogenesis; increases survival time in animal models	Anecdotal reports plus recent clinical trials			
Inflammatory bowel disease	Inhibits inflammatory cell transport in general; not tested in specific animal model	Controlled clinical trials			

Mousa. Anticoagulants, Antiplatelets, and Thrombolytics, 2010 (429).

## 7.3.4 Heparins as possible Cancer Treatments

Initial studies have shown that administration of unfractionated heparin was able to attenuate metastasis of mammary carcinoma and melanoma cells in mouse models (482, 483). While a single dose of heparin effectively attenuated metastasis of human and mouse colon carcinoma and melanoma, mouse breast carcinoma and lung carcinoma, application of heparin either 24hrs before or after the tumour cell injection had no effect (483, 484). In the majority of studies, the amount of heparin applied significantly exceeded the clinically used therapeutic dose. However, recent studies have provided evidence that heparin attenuated metastasis in two different mouse models at clinically relevant concentrations (485, 486). The observations from most animal studies indicate that heparin affects the initial phase of hematogenous metastasis. Furthermore, since the half-life of heparin in circulation ranges between 4 and 6hrs (487, 488), it has been suggested that heparin significantly modulates the metastatic capacity of tumour cells while they are still in the circulation. Possible mechanisms include inhibition of P- and L-selectin-mediated interactions, as previously disscussed (476, 489). Correlation between selectin ligand expression, typically on the cancer-associated mucins, and poor prognosis due to metastasis has been demonstrated in colon, gastric, lung, prostate, renal and breast cancer (490-494). Recent evidence has, however, shown that attenuation of metastasis was observed in the absence of P-selectin, and reduction of selectin ligands on tumor cells caused a decrease in platelet-tumour emboli formation and attenuation of metastasis (488, 495, 496). Furthermore, intravenous injection of a function blocking L-selectin antibody resulted in attenuation of metastasis (497). Varki et al., have provided a working model to explain that heparin attenuates solid tumor metastasis through the inhibition of P-selectin and L-selectin, combined with an unknown degree of blockade of intravascular fibrin formation by the fluid-phase coagulation pathway (485).

As previously discussed, the relatively high doses of heparin administered in previous studies to attenuate metastasis are impractical to use clinically because of excessive anticoagulation. To circumvent this, many low molecular weight heparins have been created which possess better kinetics and bioavailability, and provide reduced incidence of side effects, such as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (431, 498). Much variation is observed among low molecular weight heparins in their ability to inhibit both selectins, and unfractionated heparin was shown to the most effective at inhibiting selectins (485). It has been speculated that the reasons for this difference efficacy between unfractionated heparin and the LMWH is due to the extended dual-site nature of the P-selectin lectin domain. P-selectin (presented by either activated platelets or endothelial cells) is known to have two binding pockets: one for the sialyl Le<sup>x</sup> moiety and another for the tyrosine sulfate-rich region of its native ligand PSGL-1, which is presented on leukocytes (499). Other P-selectin or Lselectin ligands can be sulfated, sialylated mucins presented on carcinoma cells, but all are notably molecules presenting high densities of negatively charged sulfates and carboxylates. It was suggested that heparins mimic these ligands due to their high density of sulfates and carboxylates (485). If the heparin chain is very short, it can only block one site at a time, making it a poor inhibitor. A longer heparin chain could interact with both binding sites on P-selectin and have some inhibitory activity. Conversely, the antithrombin-factor Xa complex only requires a single pentasaccharide to be sufficient to bind to antithrombin and catalyze the inactivation of Xa. Increasing the length of a heparin molecule would not change the outcome, unless there was more than one antithrombin-binding pentasaccharide in the sequence (485) (Figure 7.1).

Varki *et al.* demonstrated, using single boluses of heparin yielding clinically tolerable anti-Xa levels that are cleared from the system within a few hours, that the rank order (unfractionated heparin > Tinzaparin >> Fondaparinux, which are both LMWH) (Figure 7.2) of the ability of each heparin to inhibit P-selectin and L-selectin *in vitro* matched the effect on metastasis attenuation *in vivo* (485).

Figure 7.1. Proposed explanation for selectin inhibitory activity being concentrated in higher molecular weight heparin fractions. Fondaparinux and Tinzaparin are used as a comparative example (485).



Figure 7.2. Molecular structures of LMW heparin derivatives. A.Tinzaparin. B. Fondaparinux.



Considering the effects of heparin upon the attenuation of metastasis, work is on-going to design new types of heparin to decrease anticoagulant activity whilst maintaining other activities (500-504). As heparin demonstrates inhibitory effects upon selectins, it could be hypothesized that heparin, and its chemically modified derivatives might have activity against other lectins, including galectins, and thus possess anti-cancer properties. The studies described in this chapter therefore investigate the effect of heparin and chemically modified heparins on galectin binding to TF-glycans and on galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion and trans-endothelial migration.

## 7.4 METHODS

### 7.4.1 Materials

Biotinylated anti-galectin-3 antibody and recombinant galectin-3 were obtained from R&D Systems, Abingdon, UK. 96-well half-volume plates were obtained from Appleton Woods Ltd., UK. Asialofetuin was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK. Matrigel was obtained from BD Biosciences, UK.

Chemically modified heparin derivatives were kindly provided by Prof. Jerry Turnbull, School of Biological Sciences, University of Liverpool, and were designated fractions as follows (505, 506):

A. Heparin

- B. *N*-acetylated heparin
- C. 2-de-O-sulfated heparin
- D. 6-de-O-sulfated heparin
- E. 2-de-O-sulfated heparin, N-acetylated heparin
- F. 6-de-O-sulfated heparin, N-acetylated heparin
- G. 2-, 6-de-O-sulfated heparin, N-sulfated heparin
- H. 2-,6-de-O-sulfated heparin, N-acetylated heparin
- I. Completely re-O and N-sulfated heparin (all hydroyl and amino-groups sulfated)

The anti-coagulation effects of these derivatives were analysed through the anti-Xa activity, and were as follows (Figure 7.3):



Figure 7.3. Anti-Xa activity, and therefore anticoagulation activity of the chemically modified heparin derivatives. (Data provided by Prof. Turnbull, University of Liverpool.) (505, 506)

## 7.4.2 Galectin-ligand binding ELISA

 $10\mu$ g/ml of asialo bovine mucin (ASM) in coating buffer (1.6g Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 1.46g NaHCO<sub>3</sub> in 1L, pH9.6) was used to coat the wells of a 96-well half-volume plate overnight at 4°C. Before application to the ASM-coated wells, 1µg/ml galectin-3 was pre-incubated with 25µg/ml heparin derivative, or 100µg/ml lactose for 30mins. The protocol for the rest of this procedure was as described in **4.3.4**.

#### 7.4.3 Cellular Adhesion

#### **Endothelial Cell Plating:**

HMVEC-L cells were released from a  $T25cm^2$  flask with 2ml trypsin. HMVEC-Ls were diluted in complete EBM-2 to a plating density of  $5.0x10^4$  cells/ml. 100µl of cells were placed into the wells of a 96-well cell culture plate and incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air, for 2-3 days until a complete monolayer was formed.

## **Matrigel Coating:**

Extracellular matrix components (Matrigel) (BD Biosciences, UK) were defrosted over night on ice, and pipette tips pre-cooled.  $30\mu$ l undiluted Matrigel was directly pipetted into the wells of a 96-well plate to give a thin coating. Once the Matrigel had solidified, the wells were ready to be used.

A  $T25cm^2$  flask of HT29-5F7 or SW620 human colon cancer cells were cultured as a monolayer to 70% confluence in complete DMEM at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air, then washed twice with PBS, then released from the flask with 2ml non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution to be used in cellular adhesion assays.  $1\mu g/ml$  galectin-3 was pre-incubated with  $25\mu g/ml$ heparin derivative for 30mins. The galectin-3/heparin mixture was then applied to  $1x10^5$  cell/ml colon cancer cells for one hour at 37°C, before incubating the treated colon cancer cells with HMVEC-L monolayers or Matrigel coating in a 96-well cell culture plate at 37°C. The rest of this procedure was as described in 4.4.

## 7.4.4 Cellular Migration

#### **Endothelial Cell Plating:**

HMVEC-L cells were released from a  $T25cm^2$  flask with 2ml trypsin. HMVEC-Ls were diluted in complete EBM-2 to a plating density of  $5.0x10^4$  cells/ml. 300µl of cells were placed into a cell culture insert, which was placed into a complete DMEM-containing well of a 24-well cell culture plate, and incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air, for 2-3 days until a complete monolayer was formed.

## **Matrigel Coating:**

Extracellular matrix components (Matrigel) (BD Biosciences, UK) were defrosted over night on ice, and pipette tips pre-cooled. Matrigel was diluted 1:3 with serum-free, cold DMEM to ensure adequate gelling.  $100\mu$ l of the diluted Matrigel was used to coat the chamber of a transwell insert, and incubated at 37°C for 4hrs.

Transwells were placed in complete DMEM containing wells of a 24-well cell culture plate.

As previously described, SW620 human colon cancer cells were used in transendothelial migration assays as they possess a higher metastatic potential than HT29-5F7 cells. A T25cm<sup>2</sup> flask of SW620 human colon cancer cells was cultured as a monolayer to 70% confluence in complete DMEM at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air, then washed twice with PBS, then released from the flask with 2ml non-enzymatic cell dissociation solution to be used in cellular transendothelial migration assays. Galectin-3 was pre-incubated with 25µg/ml heparin derivative for 30mins and the galectin/heparin mixture was then applied to  $1x10^5$ cell/ml colon cancer cells for 1hr, before incubating the treated colon cancer cells with HMVEC-L monolayers in a cell culture insert in a 24-well cell culture plate. The rest of this procedure was as described in **4.5**.

### 7.5 RESULTS

**7.5.1** De-O-sulfated fractions of chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3 binding to asialo bovine mucin.

Initial experiments to analyse the effects of chemically modified heparin fractions on the cellular adhesion and invasion-promoting properties of galectin-3 were performed. ELISA was used to determine the level of galectin-3 binding to asialo bovine mucin (ASM), a protein that was proven to be a strong ligand for galectin-3 in previous experiments (6.5.1). To assess any heparin derivatives as potential galectin-3 inhibitors,  $25\mu g/ml$  of each heparin fraction, or 10mM lactose as a

control inhibitor, was pre-incubated with  $1\mu g/ml$  galectin-3 for 1hr to ensure any galectin-3 CRDs were occupied by molecules of the potential inhibitor before applying the mixture to the ASM coated wells. Galectin-3 binding was observed through OD495, which was relative to the amount of biotinylated anti-galectin-3 antibody present within the well after washes, and therefore relative to galectin-3 bound to the ASM within the well.



Treatment (25 ug/ml Heparin, 1ug/ml galectin3)

Figure 7.4. Level of binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without pre-incubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

ELISA was performed in a half-volume 96-well plate. Each well was coated with 50µl of 10µg/ml ASM. BSA: Bovine serum albumin, a control well with BSA as a coating in place of ASM. HepA-I: Heparin derivatives pre-incubated with galectin-

3. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

As previously demonstrated (6.5.1), galectin-3 showed stronger binding to ASM than to the negative control BSA,  $(0.137 \pm 0.006; P < 0.0001, 0.054 \pm 0.003;$ (OD492) respectively). Pre-incubation of galectin-3 with lactose significantly abolished any galectin-3-ASM interaction (0.085±0.005, P<0.0001), corresponding with a 30.8±3.6% reduction in galectin-3 binding to ASM when compared to galectin-3 alone. At 25µg/ml, heparin derivative A and B (HepA and HepB) showed no significant effect on galectin-3 binding to ASM (0.133±0.006; P=0.229 and 0.136±0.005; P=0.379, (OD492) respectively) to that of galectin-3 alone. The presence of Heparin derivatives C-H significantly reduced the galectin-3 binding to ASM (0.074±0.012; P<0.0001, 0.062±0.003; P<0.0001, 0.058±0.005; P=<0.0001, 0.068±0.011; P<0.0001, 0.050±0.002; P<0.0001, 0.049±0.002; P<0.0001, (OD492) respectively), when compared to galectin-3 alone. This corresponded to a reduction in galectin-3 binding to ASM of 43.6±6.7%, 54.6±1.4%, 56.8±3.4%, 49.2±6.6%, 63.7±0.9% and 64.2±1.4%, for HepC-H, respectively. Hepl also demonstrated a significant level of inhibition of galectin-3 binding (0.115±0.006; P<0.0001 (OD492)), which corresponded to a reduction of galectin-3 binding by 16.3±3.0% (Figure 7.4).

It is worth noting that the most significantly inhibitory heparin derivatives were the derivatives with the least anti-Xa activity, and therefore the least anticoagulation ability. When comparing the chemical modifications, it is apparent that the more inhibitory fractions had all been subjected to 2- and/or 6-de-O-sulfation, and some (HepE-H) possessed N-acetylation, or N-sulfation. The common factor

181

between these inhibitory heparins seems to be the de-O-sulfation modification, especially when we consider the less inhibitory HepB, which possesses de-N-acetylation alone, and the more inhibitory fractions HepE, F and H, which also possess de-N-acetylation.

**7.5.2** All fractions of chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3 binding to asialo bovine mucin, but at different ranges of concentrations.

Considering the inhibitory effect heparin fractions C-H at  $25\mu g/ml$ , further experiments were carried out to detect at which range these heparins were more effective. Three of the most significantly inhibitory modified heparin fractions, HepD, E and G were analysed through a range of concentrations, from  $5\mu g/ml$  to  $100\mu g/ml$ .



Figure 7.5. Level of binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without pre-incubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives D, E and G at a range of concentrations ( $\mu$ g/ml). (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

ELISA was performed in a half-volume 96-well plate, with each well coated with 50 $\mu$ l of 10 $\mu$ g/ml ASM. HepD, E and G at different concentrations diluted with PBS were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at 1 $\mu$ g/ml for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

All heparin derivatives showed a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding from  $10\mu$ g/ml upwards to  $100\mu$ g/ml when compared to the BSA control (0.099±0.010; P<0.0001 (OD492)) (Figure 7.5).

Heparin derivative D: HepD demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at all concentrations, 5, 10, 20, 50, and  $100\mu$ g/ml (0.092±0.005; P=0.0002, 0.091±0.012; P=0.0002, 0.095±0.006; P=0.0001, 0.093±0.006; P=0.0002, 0.082±0.010; P<0.0001 (OD492)). However there seems to be limited variance in OD between the heparin derivative treatments. This may suggest that the effects of the heparin at these concentrations are already maximal.

Heparin derivative E: Hep E demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at all concentrations, 5, 10, 20, 50, and  $100\mu g/ml$  (0.080±0.012; P<0.0001, 0.083±0.0002; P<0.0001, 0.077±0.002; P<0.0001, 0.0617±0.006; P<0.0001, 0.068±0.002; P<0.0001 (OD492)). There is a slight increase in inhibitory effect with increasing concentrations of the heparin derivative, particularly at 50 $\mu g/ml$  and 100 $\mu g/ml$ .

Heparin derivative G: Hep G demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at concentrations 10, 20, 50, and  $100\mu g/ml$  (0.095±0.009; P<0.0001, 0.103±0.008; P<0.0001, 0.078±0.003; P<0.0001, 0.079±0.003; P<0.0001 (OD492)). There is a slight increase in inhibitory effect with increasing concentrations of the heparin derivative, particularly at 50 $\mu g/ml$  and 100 $\mu g/ml$ .

Further experiments were carried out on heparin derivatives D, E and G, as well as the other heparin derivatives that were shown to be inhibitory towards galectin-3 at  $25\mu g/ml$ , to identify at what ranges they were functional.



Figure 7.6. Binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives at a lower range of concentrations ( $\mu$ g/ml). (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

ELISA performed in a half-volume 96-well plate, with each well coated with 50µl of 10µg/ml ASM. As before, BSA represents the negative control wells. ASM

represents a positive control with only galectin-3 added. Chemically modified heparin derivatives at different concentrations, diluted with PBS were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu$ g/ml for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

All heparins demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding from either  $1\mu g/ml$  or  $2.5\mu g/ml$ , with only one of the derivatives presenting an inhibitory effect at  $5\mu g/ml$  when compared to galectin-3 alone (Figure 7.6).

Heparin derivative C: HepC demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 5, 10, 20 and  $50\mu g/ml$  (0.141±0.009; P=0.015, 0.130±0.005; P=0.003, 0.129±0.009; P=0.003, 0.124±0.004; P=0.003 (OD492)). There is a relative plateau in inhibitory effect from 10 to  $50\mu g/ml$ , but when considering the whole range of concentrations, there is a general trend towards an increase in inhibitory effect when concentration of the heparin derivative is increased.

Heparin derivative D: HepD demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and  $50\mu g/ml$  (0.116±0.005; P<0.0001, 0.119±0.004; P<0.0001, 0.115±0.005; P<0.0001, 0.113±0.010; P<0.0001, 0.107±0.012; P<0.0001 (OD492)). There is a relative plateau in inhibitory effect from 2.5 to  $50\mu g/ml$ , with little significant difference in inhibitory effect between the different concentrations.

Heparin derivative E: HepE demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and  $50\mu g/ml$  (0.147±0.0007; P<0.0001, 0.110±0.005; P<0.0001, 0.096±0.004; P<0.0001, 0.106±0.005; P<0.0001, 0.102±0.010; P<0.0001, 0.095±0.012; P<0.0001 (OD492)). When considering the whole range of concentrations, there is a significant change in galectin-3 inhibition from  $1\mu g/ml$  to 2.5µg/ml, but with increasing concentrations of HepE, a general plateau in the level of galectin-3 inhibition is observed.

Heparin derivative F: HepF demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and  $50\mu$ g/ml (0.134±0.012; P=0.007, 0.134±0.008; P=0.012, 0.144±0003; P=0.03, 0.129±0.011; P=0.009, 0.131±0.008; P=0.009 (OD492)). There is a general plateau in the level of galectin-3 inhibition is observed between the different concentrations.

Heparin derivative G: HepG demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and  $50\mu g/ml$  (0.126±0.010; P=0.0006, 0.119±0.006; P=0.0002, 0.128±0.007; P=0.0003, 0.112±0.004; P<0.0001, 0.114±0.014; P<0.0001, 0.092±0.011; P<0.0001 (OD492)). When considering the whole range of concentrations, there is a general trend towards an increase in inhibitory effect when concentration of the heparin derivative is increased.

Heparin derivative H: HepH demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 20 and  $50\mu g/ml$  (0.134±0.007; P=0.0028, 0.130±0.012; P=0.0018, 0.123±0.008; P=0.001, 0.135±0.003; P=0.0012, 0.128±0.011; P=0.0018, 0.124±0.008; P=0.001 (OD492)). There is a general plateau in the level of galectin-3 inhibition is observed between the different concentrations.

As these heparin derivatives demonstrated an ability to inhibit galectin-3 binding at a variety of concentrations, the possibility that the heparin derivatives hepA, hepB which were not significantly inhibitory at  $25\mu$ g/ml, could act as inhibitors also, but at a higher concentration. Attention was also paid to hepI, which demonstrated a significant inhibition of galectin-3 binding, but at a lower level than



the other effective fractions. Further experiments were carried out to investigate this hypothesis.

Figure 7.7. Binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives A, B and I at a higher range of concentrations (µg/ml). (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

ELISA performed in a half-volume 96-well plate, with each well coated with  $50\mu$ l of  $10\mu$ g/ml ASM. As before, BSA represents the negative control wells. ASM represents a positive control with only galectin-3 added. HepA, B and I at different

concentrations diluted with PBS were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu g/ml$  for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

At concentrations higher than 25µg/ml, HepA, B and I demonstrated an ability to inhibit galectin-3 binding to ASM (Figure 7.7).

Heparin derivative A: HepA demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 50, 100, 200 and  $400\mu$ g/ml (0.113±0.011; P<0.0001, 0.109±0.006; P<0.0001, 0.098±0.004; P<0.0001, 0.06±0.005; P<0.0001 (OD492)). When considering the whole range of concentrations, there is a general trend towards an increase in inhibitory effect when concentration of the heparin derivative is increased.

Heparin derivative B: HepB demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 100, 200 and  $400\mu g/ml$  (0.096±0.009; P<0.0001, 0.1085±0.017; P=0.0004, 0.114±0.007; P=0.0007 (OD492)), but inhibition at 50 $\mu g/ml$  HepB borders on significant (0.141±0.013; P=0.06 (OD492)) When considering the whole range of concentrations, there is a general plateau in the significance of galectin-3 inhibition.

Heparin derivative I: HepI demonstrated a significant inhibitory effect on galectin-3 binding at 50, 100, 200 and  $400\mu g/ml$  (0.128±0.024; P=0.025, 0.134±0.010; P=0.0284, 0.130±0.008; P=0.0218, 0.119±0.012; P=0.0065 (OD492)). Previous experiments have already shown that HepI has a significant inhibitory effect upon galectin-3 at 25µg/ml. When considering the whole range of concentrations, there is a general plateau in the significance of galectin-3 inhibition.

These results suggest that galectin-3 does recognise native heparin, and its chemically modified derivatives, but may have weaker associations or binding constants to derivatives without certain modifications and binds preferentially to those with them.

Table 7.2. Binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives at range of concentrations ( $\mu$ g/ml). Shaded boxes denote significant decrease of galectin-3 binding when compared to untreated control.

				2.5µg/					100µg/	200µg/	400µg/
	Gal-3	Gal-3	1µg/ml	ml	5µg/ml	10µg/ml	20µg/ml	50µg/ml	ml	ml	ml
BSA	0.0986										
ASM		0.1666									
НерС			0.1688	0.1721	0.1411	0.1299	0.1264	0.1240			
HepD			0.1587	0.1155	0.1190	0.1152	0.1127	0.1069			
НерЕ			0.1469	0.1097	0.0963	0.1063	0.1023	0.0947			
HepF	z		0.1726	0.1343	0.1339	0.1440	0.1293	0.1313			
HepG			0.1263	0.1186	0.1280	0.1121	0.1136	0.0916			
НерН			0.1339	0.1297	0.1228	0.1345	0.1280	0.1242			
НерА				The state		0.1768	0.1761	0.1134	0.1087	0.0977	0.0963
НерВ						0.1735	0.1631	0.1406	0.0961	0.1085	0.1137
НерІ						0.1731	0.1533	0.1281	0.1344	0.1297	0.1187
				1.1.1.2			10000	Second Street	Print State State State	and the second second	



Figure 7.8. The inhibition of galectin-3 binding to ASM by chemically modified heparin derivatives.

## 7.5.3 Chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers.

As chemically modified heparin derivatives showed inhibition to galectin-3 binding to ASM, further experiments were carried out to assess whether these heparin derivatives could also affect galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion.  $1\mu g/ml$  galectin-3 was pre-incubated with  $25\mu g/ml$  heparin derivative for 30mins, before applying to the Calcein AM-labelled colon cancer HT29 or SW620 cells for 1hr. The cells were then incubated for 1hr with the HMVEC-L monolayers before the cell adhesion (fluorescence) was determined by fluorescence reading at (485nm).



reament (rug/m galecun, zoug/m neparm dervauve)



Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a continuous HMVEC-L monolayer. Heparin derivatives at  $25\mu$ g/ml were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu$ g/ml for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

As demonstrated in previous experiments,  $1\mu g/ml$  galectin-3 significantly increased HT29-5F7 colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers when compared to untreated controls ( $1207\pm171$ ; P<0.0001,  $2108\pm152$ , (485nm) respectively). HepB-I induced a significant reduction in HT29-5F7 adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers, ( $1641\pm98$ ; P=0.0015,  $1499\pm58$ ; P=0.002,  $1243\pm136$ ; P<0.0001,  $1216\pm138$ ; P<0.0001,  $1310\pm143$ ; P<0.0001,  $1270\pm155$ ; P<0.0001, 1043 $\pm$ 162; P<0.0001, 1612 $\pm$ 156; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively) (**Figure 7.9**). This corresponded to a 22 $\pm$ 4%, 29 $\pm$ 3%, 41 $\pm$ 7%, 42 $\pm$ 7%, 38 $\pm$ 7%, 40 $\pm$ 7%, 51 $\pm$ 8% and 24 $\pm$ 7% reduction in galectin-3-mediated cell adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers for HepB-I, respectively. HepD-H demonstrated the most significant inhibitory potential, which reflects the pattern identified within previous ELISA experiments.

To examine the generalisability of this galectin-3-mediated adhesion inhibition, further experiments were carried out in another MUC1-expressing colon cancer cell line, SW620.



Treatment (1ug/ml galectin, 25ug/ml Heparin derivative)

Figure 7.10. Inhibition of galectin-3-induced SW620 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a continuous HMVEC-L monolayer. Heparin derivatives at 25µg/ml were

pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu g/ml$  for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

Again, treatment of SW620 colon cancer cells with 1µg/ml galectin-3 induced a significant increase of cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L when compared to the untreated control (1995±115; P<0.0001, 878±105, (485nm) respectively). As demonstrated in HT29-5F7 cell adhesion assays, HepB-I induced a significant inhibition of galectin-3-mediated SW620 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers (1450±124; P<0.0001, 1292±99; P<0.0001, 1097±110; P<0.0001, 1049±148; P<0.0001, 1075±107; P<0.0001, 1007±115; P<0.0001, 808±80; P<0.0001, 1585±95; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively) (Figure 7.10). This corresponded to a reduction of galectin-3-mediated SW620 cellular adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers of 28.9±8.4%, 38±5%, 47±7%, 51±8%, 48±5%, 53±8%, 60±5% and 17±2% for HepB-I, respectively. HepD-H demonstrated the most significant inhibitory potential.

7.5.4 Chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell adhesion to Extracellular Matrix Components (Matrigel).

Earlier experiments (Chapter 6) within this thesis have demonstrated that galectin-3 not only enhances cancer cell adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers, but also to extracellular matrix compenents (Matrigel) as well. Both cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions are involved in the process of cancer progression. Further experiments were carried out to assess whether this inhibitory effect of heparin derivatives on galectin-3 binding would affect galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to Matrigel. 30µl Matrigel (BD Biosciences, UK) was pipetted into the bottom of the

wells of a 96-well cell culture plate with a pre-cooled pipette tip, to form a thin layer which acted as a binding surface for the colon cancer cells, HT29-5F7 or SW620. Cancer cells and controls were treated as previously stated in the cell-cell adhesion assays. Cellular adhesion was observed through fluorescence (485nm), which was obtained by treating the cancer cells with Calcien AM, a cell-permeant green-fluorescent dye that labels live cells.





Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a thin layer of Matrigel. Heparin derivatives at  $25\mu$ g/ml were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu$ g/ml for 30mins, before application to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

Treatment of HT29-5F7 colon cancer cells with 1µg/ml galectin-3 induced a significant increase of cancer cell adhesion to Matrigel when compared to the untreated control (158±4; P<0.0001, 74±13, (485nm) respectively). Heparin derivatives HepC-I decreased galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to Matrigel (107±7; P<0.0001, 94±6; P<0.0001, 92±7; P<0.0001, 103±10; P<0.0001, 89±6; P<0.0001, 90±7; P<0.0001, 127±6; P<0.0001 (485nm), respectively, which corresponded with a decrease in galectin-3 mediated adhesion to matrigel of 33±5%, 41±4%, 42±4%, 35±7%, 44±4%, 43±5% and 20±4%, respectively for the heparin fractions. HepA and B at 25µg/ml did not produce any significant change (151±8; P=0.2727 (485nm)) (**Figure 7.11**).



Figure 7.12. Inhibition of galectin-3-induced SW620 cell adhesion to Matrigel. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Adhesion assays performed in a 96-well cell culture plate, with each well containing a thin layer of Matrigel. Heparin derivatives at  $25\mu$ g/ml were preincubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu$ g/ml for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

Treatment of SW620 colon cancer cells with 1µg/ml galectin-3 induced a significant increase of cancer cell adhesion to Matrigel when compared to the untreated control (332±30; P<0.0001, 109±18, (485nm) respectively). Heparin derivatives HepC-I induced the most significant decrease in galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to Matrigel (241±14; P<0.0001, 177±13; P<0.0001, 162±6; P<0.0001, 179±6; P<0.0001, 145±11; P<0.0001, 134±7; P<0.0001, 278±10; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively), which corresponded to a decrease in galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to matrigel of 28±4%, 47±4%, 51±2%, 46±2%, 56±3%, 60±2% and 16±3%, respectively. HepA at 25µg/ml, however, did induce a significant decrease (297±18; P=0.0012) in cell-matrix adhesion, as did HepB (293±10; P=0.0013), but at a lower significance than HepC-I, corresponding to a decrease in galecin-3-mediated cellular adhesion of 11±5% and 12±3%, respectively (**Figure 7.12**).

7.5.5 Chemically modified heparins inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell migration through HMVEC-L monolayers and Extracellular Matrix Components (Matrigel).

Further experiments were carried out to assess whether the inhibitory effect of heparins on galectin-3 binding would affect galectin-3-mediated trans-endothelial

migration through HMVEC-L monolayers, and Matrigel coated well inserts, in the same way that they inhibit galectin-3-mediated adhesion to both HMVEC-L monolayers and Matrigel coatings. SW620 colon cancer cells were used for these trans-endothelial migration experiments as previous finding in this thesis have demonstrated that HT29-5F7 have a lower metastatic potential than SW620 cells. HMVEC-L endothelial cells were grown at the bottom of 24-well transwell insert as a monolayer. 1µg/ml galectin-3 was pre-incubated with 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cell/ml of colon cancer cells, and this was used as a control to measure any other experimental treatments against. Alternatively, 100µl diluted Matrigel (BD Biosciences, UK) was pipetted into the bottom of a 24-well transwell insert with a pre-cooled pipette tip, to form a gelled layer which presents a matrix component target to which colon cancer cells, SW620 could bind. Cancer cells and controls were treated in the same way as previously stated in the cell-cell adhesion assays. Cellular trans-endothelial migration through both endothelial cells and Matrigel were observed through fluorescence (485nm), which was obtained by pre-labelling with Calcein AM.



Treatment (1ug/ml galectin, 25ug/ml Heparin derivative)

# Figure 7.13. Inhibition of galectin-3-mediated SW620 cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-L monolayers. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Invasion assays were performed in a 24-well cell culture insert, with each transwell containing a gelled layer of Matrigel. Heparin derivatives at  $25\mu$ g/ml were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu$ g/ml for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

Treatment of SW620 colon cancer cells with  $1\mu g/ml$  galectin-3 induced a significant increase of cancer cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-L monolayers when compared to the untreated control (4329±214; P<0.0001, 2838±96, (485nm) respectively). Heparin derivatives HepC-H induced the most significant decrease in galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to Matrigel (3153±147; P<0.0001,

3155±232; P<0.0001, 3157±55; P<0.0001, 3176±125; P<0.0001, 3065±70; P<0.0001, 3170±93; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively), which corresponded to a decrease in trans-endothelial migration through endothelial cell monolayers of  $27\pm3\%$ ,  $27\pm5\%$ ,  $27\pm1\%$ ,  $27\pm3\%$ ,  $29\pm2\%$  and  $27\pm2\%$ , respectively for the heparin fractions. HepA, HepB and HepI at  $25\mu$ g/ml, also induced a significant decrease in galectin-3-mediated trans-endothelial migration ( $3735\pm239$ ; P<0.0001,  $3650\pm267$ ; P<0.0001,  $2758\pm243$ ; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively), which corresponded with a decrease in trans-endothelial migration of  $14\pm6\%$ ,  $16\pm6\%$  and  $17\pm7\%$ , respectively (**Figure 7.13**).



Figure 7.14. Inhibition of galectin-3-induced SW620 cell invasion through Matrigel. (\*\*\* P<0.001, \*\* P<0.01, \* P<0.05).

Trans-matrigel migration assays performed in a 24-well cell culture insert, with each well containing a gelled layer of Matrigel. As previously described, BSA represents the negative control wells, with no galectin-3 pre-incubation, to give a basal level of SW620 cell migration through Matrigel, and Galectin-3 represents the positive control wells with untreated galectin-3 added. Heparin derivatives at  $25\mu g/ml$ were pre-incubated with galectin-3 at  $1\mu g/ml$  for 30mins, before applying to the wells for 1hr. The experiment was performed twice, with each sample run in triplicate. Analysis with ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparison with a control.

Treatment of SW620 colon cancer cells with 1µg/ml galectin-3 induced a significant increase of cancer cell migration through Matrigel layer when compared to the untreated control (4025±382; P<0.0001, 2565±106, (485nm) respectively). In a similar pattern with other inhibitory experiments, heparin derivatives HepC-H induced the most significant decrease in galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion to Matrigel units (2855±164; P<0.0001, 2655±135; P<0.0001, 2601±97; P<0.0001, 2696±75; P<0.0001, 2645±169; P<0.0001, 2591±122; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively), which corresponded to a decrease in cellular migration through matrigel of 29±4%, 34±3%, 35±2%, 33±2%, 34±4% and 36±3%, respectively. HepA, HepB and HepI at 25µg/ml, also induced a significant decrease in galectin-3-mediated migration (3457±332; P<0.0001, 3093±238; P<0.0001, 3109±431; P<0.0001 (485nm) respectively), which corresponded to a decrease in cellular migration through matrigel of 14±8%, 23±6%, and 23±11%, respectively (Figure 7.14).

#### 7.6 DISCUSSION

Previous work described in this thesis has established that circulating galectin-3 (as well as other members of the mammalian galectin family) may exert pro-cancer properties when they are in circulation. Specifically, galectin-3 has been shown to bind to cancer-associated MUC1 via galectin-3-TF antigen interactions. Following galectin binding, MUC1 is polarised, breaking the continuous 'shield' of MUC1 seen on cancer cells, and cell-surface adhesion molecules are consequently exposed (315, 316). Previous experiments have shown that, through this mechanism, galectins can induce a significant increase in cell-cell, and cell-matrix adhesion and transendothelial migration, and previous work within our group has also demonstrated that circulating galectins can also induce a significant increase in cell-cell homotypic aggregation (382). Considering the role of galectin-3, with its pro-cancer inducing properties, and the potential role of heparins in the human circulation, with its anticancer potential, heparins represent an attractive target for the inhibition of galectin-3, and a subsequent negation of cancer-associated cellular adhesion and transendothelial migration.

Native heparin is a complex 'molecular soup', with a variety of repeating disaccharide units. Although it is well acknowledged that galectins generally recognise the terminal galactose on a carbohydrate structure, previous experiments within this thesis using simply glycosylated glycoproteins versus complex glycosylated glycoproteins, have demonstrated that members of the galectin family bind more successfully to targets with a more complex array of carbohydrates, quite possibly including *N*-glycans. With this in mind, this chapter aimed to investigate if the heparin complex sugar mixture and derivatives could inhibit galectin-3 binding thereby inhibit galectin-3-mediated cellular adhesion and trans-endothelial migration.
Specific focus on chemically modified heparin derivatives was undertaken for a number of reasons. Due to the diverse range of effects heparin has on a wide variety of disease states, chemically modified heparins are under development and investigation to possess the parts of the polymeric heparin chain, or modified structures, necessary to enhance the certain effects applicable for each disease therapy. To block the dissemination of metastatic tumour cells, heparin can be administered only at a relatively low concentration *in vivo* due to its anticoagulant potency and potential for inducing hemorrhagic complications (507). The chemically modified heparins which are used in this chapter are selectively de-*O*-sulphated, and have been shown to lack their anti-coagulation anti-Xa activity (508). They have also been shown to be anti-inflammatory (508), and anti-allergic (509).

Chemically modified heparin fractions, notably fractions that have undergone de-O-sulfation presented attractive binding targets to galectin-3 at a concentration of 25µg/ml. Native heparin, *N*-acetylated fractions, and re-O- and *N*-sulfation also represented galectin-3 binding targets, but only at a higher range of concentrations. Heparin fractions with *N*-acetylation as well as de-O-sulfation did not present any increase in inhibitory effect. Therefore, additional modifications did not augment the effect of de-O-sulfation, as galectin-3 did not seem to have a significantly increased recognition of these fractions. It would be beneficial to investigate the relevant recognition of the TF structure by galectin-3 in order to assess whether the galactose residue is truly essential. Findings within this chapter suggest that this may not fully be the case, as heparin chains very rarely contain any galactose residues within their structure, yet act as binding partners for galectin-3. With a similar trend to the ELISA experiments, the de-O-sulfated fractions to both HMVEC-L monolayers and extracellular

matrix components (Matrigel). Furthermore, de-O-sulfated fractions significantly inhibited SW620 colorectal cancer cell invasion through HMVEC-L monolayers and a gelled Matrigel layer. The removal of the sulfate group presumably has allowed the exposure of the carbohydrate antigen underneath, enhancing the level of galectin-3 binding. Thus chemically modified heparins present an attractive possibility for the inhibition of circulating galectin-3-mediated cancer cell metastatic spread. Further experiments must be undertaken to support these findings. Future experiments should go on to include other members of the galectin families, such as galectin-4, as it too is elevated significantly in the sera of colorectal cancer patients. An essential evolution of the experiments within this chapter would be to move on to *in vivo* experiments in mouse model. This would provide more information of the efficacy of chemically modified heparins on inhibition of galectin-3-mediated metastasis.

## THE EFFECT OF CORE 1 TRANSFERASE KNOCKDOWN ON EXPRESSION OF CELLULAR *O*-GLYCOSYLATION

#### **8.1 HYPOTHESES**

Suppression of the core 1 galtransferase that controls the biosynthesis of TF antigen regulates galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion.

#### 8.2 AIMS

- To assess the effect of core 1 galtransferase suppression on expression of other *O*-linked glycans in human colon cancer HT29 and SW620 cells.
- To assess the influence of core 1 galtransferase suppression on galectinmediated cell adhesion

#### **8.3 INTRODUCTION**

#### 8.3.1 Core 1 Galtransferase

Mucin-type O-glycosylation is a widespread post-translational modification of proteins and is found throughout the entire animal kingdom. The structures of Oglycans are diverse and can be classified according to their core structure. The core 1 and core 3 structure are synthesised by the addition of Gal and GlcNAc, respectively, to a GalNAc residue with a  $\beta$ 1-3 linkage. It is generally recognised that the core 1 and core 3 structures are in competitive relationship to each other because these structures are formed by the addition of Gal or GlcNAc to the same 3-position of a GalNAc residue (510). The GalNAc of GalNAca-Ser/Thr (Tn) can also be modified with a sialic acid residue by a sialyl-transferase (ST6GalNAc-T) to form sialic acid- $\beta$ 1,6GalNAca- (sialyl-Tn) antigen, which is also in competition with the core 1 and core 3 structures (Figure 8.1). Particular emphasis has been directed to research on Oglycans based on sequences deriving from the Tn antigen, as this antigen is expressed abnormally in several diseases and disorders including cancer (511-516). The Tn antigen is a normal endogenous substrate for several enzymes, most notably Core 1 Galtransferase (C1GalT), also known as T-synthase, a  $\beta$ 3-galactosyltransferase that transfers Gal from uridine diphosphate galactose (UDP-Gal) to the Tn antigen to form the core 1 O-glycan (262, 517).



Figure 8.1. Inititation and elongation of the mucin type O-linked glycans.

Studies have shown that a unique and specific molecular chaperone, Cosmc, is required for the formation of the active C1GalT (260, 262). Cosmc interacts with partly unfolded and inactive C1GalT, and has demonstrated an ability to restore C1GalT activity after <5mins incubation (518), with Cosmc binding directly to C1GalT, and to ATP (262). Cosmc has the ability to restore the activity of denatured C1GalT activity independent of other co-chaperones *in vitro*, it is also suggested that co-chaperones may play an important role *in vivo* by regulating the kinetics of the refolding of C1GalT in the crowded environment of the ER by eliminating or removing the inactive and oligomeric C1GalT from the ER lumen (518). In cells lacking Cosmc, it has been shown that inactive C1GalT forms oligomeric aggregates in the ER and is eventually degraded by ubiquitin-dependent pathways in the cytosolic proteasome (260, 262). Acquired mutations in Cosmc have been shown to lead to loss of C1GalT activity and the expression of abnormal Tn and sialyl Tn antigens, which are known as tumour associated carbohydrate antigens (260-262). Preliminary studies have shown that cervical tumour cells that demonstrate heavy Tn and Sialyl Tn expression typically possess Cosmc mutations (262). Furthermore, disruption of C1GalT in mice results in embryonic lethality, typically caused by defective angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis (263, 264). Currently, RNA silencing is used to suppress C1GalT and prevent the formation of core 1, and any further elongation of the TF antigen. Therefore, by using this siRNA technology to suppress the formation of core 1, the balance and competition between core structures can by analysed.

#### 8.3.2 RNA Interference and RNA Silencing

RNA interference (RNAi) pathway, a phenomenon originally named cosuppression, was first detected in petunias where the introduction of a pigment producing gene under the influence of a powerful promoter caused the suppression of both the introduced gene and the homologous endogenous gene (519). This process was also identified in other species of plants and fungi where it was named quelling (520). Further discoveries were made following the injection of dsRNA into the gonads of *Caenorhabditis elegans*, which resulted in potent gene silencing and established dsRNA as the inducer of RNAi (521). Short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) were first implicated in plants as part of the post-translational gene silencing in plants (PTGS)(522) which led to subsequent work on the *Drosophila* system, which indicated that dsRNA was processed into siRNAs of 21-25bp in length which could

cause mRNA cleavage corresponding to the introduced dsRNA, forming the basis of the RNAi pathway (523).

Higher eukaryotes have many antimicrobial defence mechanisms that are ultimately based upon the recognition of conserved molecular patterns, including double stranded RNA (dsRNA). The RNAi pathway is an antiviral immune response to dsRNA, which is a key component in the genomic replication of viral DNA and not typically seen in eukaryotic cells as a normal activity (524). This innate cellular response can be induced artificially by the introduction of exogenous dsRNA or short interfering RNA (siRNA), which stimulates the RNAi pathway. When early attempts to utilise the RNAi pathway for gene expression were unsuccessful, it was discovered that dsRNA molecules larger than 30bp caused an interferon-mediated response, which led to apoptosis of the cells. The RNAi mechanism is extremely sequence specific, and responds to dsRNAs by selectively degrading mRNAs that are homologous in sequence to the dsRNA inducer. RNAi, therefore, is capable of blocking the expression of not only viral, but host cell genes, upon the introduction of homologous dsRNA. This allows the specific knockdown of proteins by the introduction of sequence specific dsRNAs.



Figure 8.2. The general pathway of RNAi in vitro (525).

In vitro, the mechanism for RNA silencing by inducing the RNAi pathway in mammalian cells begins with the introduction of dsRNA, which is cleaved into 21-23bp siRNA duplexes by the ribonuclease-III enzyme Dicer (526). siRNAs bare 5'phosphate groups and 2-bp 3' overhangs, both of which are important for subsequent siRNA-induced silencing complex (siRISC) assembly (525). The siRNAs can be chemically synthesised and can be directly introduced into the cytoplasm with the use of transfection reagents. During the effector phase of the RNAi pathway, the siRNA is unwound (527) by an unwindase enzyme, which leads to the assembly of RISC. This is the activated effector complex, and it recognises the target by siRNA to mRNA base pairing, and cleavage of the mRNA strand is achieved through its endoribonuclease activity (528) (Figure 8.2). This process is accelerated by the presence of ATP, which increases the enzyme turnover by promoting siRNA-product unwinding and product release (529). The remaining 'guide' strand associates with the PAZ domain of an Argonaute (Argo2) protein (530) at which point the RISC complex is ready to cleave the specific mRNA.

How the RISC complex works is still being elucidated, but the main points are understood with work being carried out within the *Drosophila melanogaster* system. Following the dsRNA processing the siRNA will either stay attached to the Dicer (Dcr2)-R2D2 heterodimer it was generated by, or will be taken up by another Dcr2-R2D2 complex in a formation previously known as R1. The R2D2 will bind the more thermodynamically stable end of the siRNA and the Dcr2 will bind to the less stable end. This asymmetric binding facilitates the determination of the guide strand of siRNA from the strand which will be loaded into the RISC complex later on. The siRNA then enters the RISC-loading complex (RLC) which was known before as R2, and associated with other as yet unknown RISC factors and one of the siRNA strands (the 'passenger' strand) is discarded (**Figure 8.3**).



Figure 8.3. The assembly of RISC in the Drosophila melanogaster (525).

#### **8.4 METHODS**

#### 8.4.1 SiRNA Galtransferase

#### Cell Plating:

Both HT29 cells and SW620 cells were diluted in antibiotic-free DMEM with 5% FCS to a plating density of  $5.0 \times 10^4$  cells/ml. 100µl of cells were placed into each well of a 96 well plate (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK) and incubated for 24hrs at 37°C.

#### Transfection:

A 2µM either targeted or the scrambled control siRNA solution in siRNA buffer (Dharmacon) was prepared, from which 17.5µl was added to 17.5µl serumfree/antibiotic free medium. In a separate tube, 1.4µl of DharmaFECT4 (Dharmacon) was added to 33.6µl of FCS-free/antibiotic-free DMEM. These tubes were gently pipetted up and down and left for 5mins before mixing them together and leaving them to stand for a further 20mins. To this solution 280µl antibiotic free DMEM was added and to each well 100µl was added. The plate was incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 95% air for 48hrs.

#### 8.4.2 Slot Blotting

Slot blotting was carried out as described in chapter 4.8.

#### 8.5 RESULTS

**8.5.1** Suppression of Core 1 GalTransferase in human colon cancer cells by siRNA treatment.

siRNA suppression of C1GalT was conducted in human colon cancer HT29 and SW620 cells. The efficiency of C1GalT suppression was monitored by assessing the expression of TF expression with anti-TF antibody, TF5 (531).



Figure 8.4. Slot blot assessments of cellular TF expression with anti-TF TF5 antibody.

Colon cancer cells were treated with the appropriate siRNA for 48hrs at  $37^{\circ}$ C before lysing with slot blot buffer (4X stacking buffer 2.5ml, glycerol 1.0ml (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK), mercaptoethanol 0.5ml (Sigma-Aldrich Ltd., UK), 20% SDS on H<sub>2</sub>O 1.0ml). Cell lysate was then diluted 1:1 with Tris buffer. 50µl of the diluted sample was loaded on to the respective well within the slot blot rig after further dilution with 100µl of Tris buffer to ensure even distribution of proteins. The blot was probed with anti-TF TF5 antibody at a concentration of 0.2µg/ml, diluted in blocking buffer (5% BSA, 0.5% tween-20 in PBS).

C1GalT siRNA treatment of HT29 cells for 48hr caused effective suppression of C1Gal1T expression as manifested by a 86% ( $86\pm3\%$ , mean $\pm$ SD) reduction of cellular TF expression. A similar reduction of the TF expression ( $84\pm2\%$ ) was also observed in SW620 cells after C1GalT siRNA treatment for 48hrs (**Figure 8.4**).

**8.5.2** Suppression of C1GalT is associated with an increase in Tn, Sialyl-Tn, and Core 3 structures.

Considering that treatment of colon cancer cells with siRNA targeted for C1GalT expression successfully suppressed the C1GalT expression, further experiments were carried out to assess the cellular expressions of sialyl-Tn, Core 3 and Tn glycans. The Tn and sialyl-Tn antigens were assessed with Anti-Tn (clone HB-Tn1) and Anti-Sialyl Tn (clone HB-STn1) antibodies (Dako Pathology Products, Ely, UK). Core 3 was assessed with GlcNAc-binding *Griffonia simplicifolia* lectin II (GSL-II). GSL-II is a lectin isolated from *Griffonia (Bandeiraea) simplicifolia* and recognizes exclusively  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -linked GlcNAc residues on the non-reducing terminal of oligosaccharides (532). Working concentrations of antibodies and lectins are as listed in Table 4.7 and 4.8.



# Figure 8.5. Slot blot detecting the presence of carbohydrate structures following C1GalT knockdown.

Cellular glycan expression in response of the cells to siRNA C1CalT. After treatment of the cells with siRNA C1GalT or control non-targeting siRNA (consiRNA). HT29 and SW620 colon cancer cells were treated with C1GalT for 48hrs and assessed for the relative expression of carbohydrate structures. **Tn:** GalNAc- $\alpha$ -Ser/Thr. **STn:** Sialyl-Tn, sialic acid- $\beta$ 1,6GalNAc-Ser/Thr. **Core 3:** GlcNAc $\beta$ 1,3GalNAc $\alpha$ -Ser/Thr. **Actin:** Control blot to ensure equal loading. Blots were run in tandem and slots were loaded in duplicate. Confirmation of relative expressions of the carbohydrate structures was analysed by subsequent densitometry quantification of the density of the blots using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad, Hemel Hempstead, UK).



Figure 8.6a. Quantification of the expression of cellular carbohydrate structures following the treatment of HT29 colorectal cancer cells with siRNA targeted to C1GaIT.

Quantification of the expression of cellular TF, Tn, sialyl-Tn, sialic acid and Core 3 glycans in response of the cells to siRNA C1GalT in HT29 colon cancer cells. Densities of the slots blots were quantified and the glycan expressions are expressed as percentage change to the non-siRNA control after normalization with protein loading.

Following C1GalT knockdown in HT29 colon cancer cells, which was confirmed by a reduction in TF antigen expression, there was a noted increase in Tn antigen (231±6%), sialyl Tn (198±8%), and an increase of the core 3 structure (136±24%) (Figure 8.6a).



Figure 8.6b. Quantification of the expression of cellular carbohydrate structures following the treatment of SW620 colorectal cancer cells with siRNA targeted to C1GalT.

Quantification of the expression of cellular TF, Tn, sialyl-Tn, sialic acid and Core 3 glycans in response of the cells to siRNA C1GalT in SW620 colon cancer cells. Densities of the slots blots were quantified and the glycan expressions are expressed as percentage change to the non-siRNA control after normalization with protein loading.

Following C1GalT knockdown in SW620 colon cancer cells, which was confirmed by a reduction in TF antigen expression, there was a similar pattern of carbohydrate structure increase as seen in siRNA treatment of HT29 cells. There was a noted increase in Tn antigen ( $200\pm5\%$ ), sialyl Tn ( $174\pm11\%$ ), and an increase of the core 3 structure ( $155\pm34\%$ ) (Figure 8.6b).

#### **8.6 DISCUSSION**

The biosynthesis of *O*-linked mucin type glycans is a multi-stepped, sequential, post-translational process catalysed by the expressions and activities of an array of glyco-transferases. It has been speculated that the C1GalT, C3GnT and ST6GalNAc-T compete to modify the GalNAc residue of the newly-synthesised GalNAca-Ser/Thr for the formation of TF, Core 3 or sialyl-Tn structures in living cells(54, 96). Mutation or inactivation of Cosmc, an ER-localized molecular chaperone that is required for the enzyme activity of C1GalT(533), has been shown to be associated with the Tn syndrome, a rare autoimmune disease in which subpopulations of the blood cells carry the incompletely glycosylated Tn antigen(534). Furthermore, treatment of human cancer cells with the O-glycosylation inhibitor Benzyl-GalNAc, a competitive inhibitor for C1GalT transferase and alpha-2,3-sialyltransferase, decreases the expression of cellular sialic acids and increases the expression of TF (535).

The results within this chapter demonstrate that suppression of the C1GalT that controls the biosynthesis of the Core 1 structure of mucin type O-linked glycans is associated with increased expressions of sialyl-Tn and Core 3 glycans in human colon cancer cells. This provides direct evidence of the long-suspected competition between C1GalT, C3GnT and ST6GalNAc-T transferases for modification of the

219

GalNAc residue of GalNAc $\alpha$ -Ser/Thr in the biosynthesis of complex O-linked mucin type glycans.

The ultimate formation of cellular TF, Tn, sialyl-Tn and Core 3 glycans are controlled not solely by the activity of these competitive glycosyltransferases. The concentrations of nucleotide sugar-donor and the rate of substrate transport throughout the Golgi have been shown previously to contribute to the expressions of specific glycans(536). The relative positioning of the glyco-transferases within the Golgi is also reported to be an important determinant. Work by Kellokompu and colleagues (537, 538) and by ourselves (539) has shown that Golgi derangement occurs in epithelial cancers and can be mimicked by agents that block normal Golgi acidification, in both cases leading to increased formation of oncofetal carbohydrate antigens. Furthermore, the expression and action of ER-localized molecular chaperones can also play a role in the expression of the oncofetal glycans by controlling the folding and hence the activity of the relevant glyco-transferases(533). Thus, the overall cellular expressions of Tn, sialy-Tn, TF and Core 3 structures are the consequence of a range of complex factors that include competition between the relevant glyco-transferases, the spatial arrangement of the glyco-transferases within the Golgi, the availability of nucleotide sugar-donors in the Golgi apparatus and actions of relevant molecular chaperones.

The Tn, TF and sialyl-Tn antigens are all known as oncofetal carbohydrate structures. They are expressed in fetal epithelia then become concealed by other sugar residues in healthy adult tissue but reoccur in cancerous and pre-cancerous dysplastic cells. It is estimated that up to 90% of all human cancers carry these oncofetal carbohydrate antigens (540-543). Increased occurrence of these oncofetal carbohydrate structures is associated with the development and progression of various

220

human cancers including breast (544), colon (540, 545) and pancreatic (546) cancers. Increasing evidence suggests that alteration of these oncofetal glycans may play an active role in metastasis. Over expression of sialyl-Tn antigen by cancer cells has been shown to cause more aggressive cell behaviour such as increased adhesion to extra-cellular matrix and increased migration and invasion in vitro (547). An increased interaction between TF expressed on cancer-associated mucin protein MUC1 and circulating galectin-3, as a result of the increased expression of TFexpressing MUC1 by cancer cells and also the increased release of galectin-3 by cancer/stromal/immune tissue/cells into the circulation, both of which are common features in cancer, has been shown to promote cancer cell metastatic spread in an nude mice metastasis model (548, 549). This effect of the TF/MUC1-galectin-3 interaction occurs as a result of the increased cancer cell heterotypic adhesion to vascular endothelium(549) and also as a result of cancer cell homotypic aggregation to form micro-tumour emboli that prolong tumour cell survival in the circulation and allow lodging within capillaries at the metastatic site(550, 551). It has also been reported that breast cancer patients with higher levels of anti-TF antibody show better prognosis than the patients with lower anti-TF levels(552). Targeting these oncofetal glycans by immunotherapy with TF-mimicking peptides for potential cancer treatment has shown promising results in mice (553).

As galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion to endothelial cells act via binding to the TF structure on MUC1, further experiments are required to analyse the effect of C1GalT knock down on galectin-mediated cell-cell interactions. Due to time restrains, this was not carried further in this study.

### **CHAPTER 9**

#### SUMMARY OF THE MAIN FINDINGS IN THIS THESIS

- The expression of circulating galectin-2, -3, -4, and -8 increases in the sera of patients with colorectal cancer, and the expression of circulating galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -8 and -9 increases still further in the sera of patients with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis.
- The expression of circulating galectin-2, -3, and -8 increases in the sera of patients with breast cancer, while the expression of circulating galectin-1 decreases in the sera of patients with breast cancer.
- As a serum cancer marker, CEA-based ELISA demonstrates more specificity and sensitivity than galectin-3 and -4 combined ELISA when comparing sera from patients with colorectal cancer and sera from healthy individuals.
- Galectin-3 and -4 combined ELISA demonstrates more specificity and sensitivity than CEA-based ELISA when comparing sera from patients with colorectal cancer and liver metastasis and sera from healthy individuals, and when comparing sera from patients with colorectal cancer only and those with liver metastasis.

- All the galectin members tested in this study show binding to TF expressing glycoproteins (antifreeze glycoprotein, asialofetuin, and asialo bovine mucin) although with different affinities. Removal of the TF antigen by *O*-glycanase significantly reduced the level of galectin-binding to asialo bovine mucin.
- Galectins induce increase of MUC1-expressing cancer cell (HT29-5F7, SW620 and HCA1.7+) adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers (HUVEC and HMVEC) and also to extracellular matrix components (matrigel), but not of MUC1-negative cell lines (HCA1.7-) or cells weakly expressing MUC1 (parental HT29 cell line).
- Galectins induce an increase of MUC1-expressing cancer cell transendothelial migration and migration through extracellular matrix components (Matrigel).
- Galectin-mediated cellular adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers is inhibited by pre-incubation of galectins with lactose or asialofetuin.
- The removal of TF antigen by O-glycanase, or the presence of anti-TFantibody negates galectin-mediated cancer cell adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers.

- Pre-incubation of MUC1-expressing cancer cells with each of the galectins induces MUC1 cell surface polarisation.
- Pre-fixation of MUC1-expressing cancer cells negated galectin-mediated adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers.
- The knockdown of MUC1 expression by siRNA treatment negates galectinmediated cancer cell adhesion to endothelial cell monolayers.
- Several chemically modified heparin derivatives inhibit galectin-3 binding to asialo bovine mucin, but at different concentration ranges.
- Several chemically modified heparin derivatives inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers and Extracellular Matrix Components (Matrigel).
- Several chemically modified heparin derivatives s inhibit galectin-3-mediated colon cancer cell migration through HMVEC-L monolayers and Extracellular Matrix Components (Matrigel).

Sec. Sec. Sec.



• Treatment of human colon cancer cells with Core 1 GalTransferase siRNA is associated with an increase in Tn, Sialyl-Tn, and Core 3 structures.



## GENERAL DISCUSSION AND IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES

The relationship between cancer and the glycome is intriguing. The distinct changes provide a potential binding target for carbohydrate-binding lectins, such as the β-galactoside-binding galectins. The human digestive tract is rich in galectins, and in the colon and rectum, four galectins, galectin-1, -3, -4 and -8, are known to be present(281-283). The wide body of earlier research that constitutes the knowledge of galectin presence and the subsequent cellular effects they produce is largely limited to galectins found intracellularly, and those that are extracellular but still associated with the cell membrane. Recent research on galectins by our group (315, 316, 382) has been focused upon those galectins in the circulation. Iurisci et al.(287) demonstrated earlier that the concentrations of circulating galectin-3 are increased up to 5-fold in the serum of colorectal cancer patients (287)and the concentrations of circulating galectin-3 are shown to be higher in patients with metastasis than those with localized tumours (287). Investigations within this thesis have shown that circulating galectin-2, -3, -4, and -8 increase in the sera of patients with colorectal cancer, and the expression of circulating galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -8 and -9 increase in the sera of patients with colorectal cancer with liver metastasis. Furthermore, when comparing colorectal cancer patients with or without liver metastasis, there was a general increase in the group with metastasis, seen with all galectins investigated. It was also demonstrated that the expression of circulating galectin-2, -3, and -8 increases in the sera of patients with breast cancer, while the expression of circulating galectin-1 decreases in the sera of patients with breast cancer. The source of the increased serum galectins is not known. However, at least for galectin-3, it has been speculated that the galectin is generated and secreted by the tumour cells themselves, as well as the peri-tumoral inflammatory and stromal cells (287). Whichever the case, this marked cancerassociated increase of circulating galectins presented two research pathways, as investigated within this thesis: the potential of galectins as biomarkers, and the significance of the increased circulating galectins as important metastasis promoters.

Among those galectins, galectin-3 and -4 both presented the most significant increase in the serum of colorectal cancer groups when compared to healthy samples. Neither of them are, however, as sensitive or specific as the CEA measurements for cancer biomarkers. However, combined galectin-3 and -4 measurements seems to provide a better measurement than CEA for separate colorectal cancer patients with and without liver metastasis, although CEA measurements demonstrated a higher level of specificity and sensitivity when comparing colorectal cancer patients and healthy individuals. This suggests that a combined galectin-3 and -4 measurements may hold potential as a useful test for monitoring cancer progression. A most recent study has suggested that galectin-4 could be useful as a complementary marker when combined with CEA/CA19-9 to improve CRC follow-up, considering that combined use of galectin-4 with CEA and/or CA19-9 markedly increased the proportion of CRC patients who were positive for tumor markers when compared to CEA or CA19-9 (381).

It has been shown earlier by studies in our laboratory that the increased circulation of galectin-3 in cancer patients is an important promoter in metastasis by inducing heterotypic cancer cell-endothelium adhesion and homotypic aggregation (315, 330), an effect that is associated with galectin-3 interaction with the TF antigen

227

on cancer associated-MUC1 and induction of MUC1 cell surface polarization and exposure of the smaller cell surface adhesion molecules (316). This study shows that those galectins showing increase in the blood circulation of cancer patients binds to MUC1 and all produced similar increases of cancer cell adhesion to endothelial monolayers, as galectin-3. This is associated with the ability of the galectins to induce the formation of multimeric 2D and 3D lattice structures of MUC1. It is known that lattice formations induced by galectins provides stability and subsequent biologic functionality (279). All members of the galectin family, whether prototype, chimera or tandem repeat, possess this feature of multivalency, and are shown to dimerise, or form higher-order oligmers in solution (554), making them well suited for mediating cellular adhesion and eliciting signaling (555, 556). This could be corroborated by the fact that PNA, a tetrameric protein containing two carbohydrate recognition domains (271), induces the same MUC1 polarisation response that the galectin family have demonstrated.

These galectin-mediated effects on cancer cell adhesion are associated with their binding to TF on MUC1. All those galectins showing increase in the blood circulation of cancer patients binds to TF disaccharides. Lectin-monosaccharide interactions are known to be relatively weak (dissociation constants  $10^4 \text{ M}^{-1}$ ) (557-559), and that galectins demonstrate a preference for  $\beta$ -galactoside-containing glycans comprised of repeating units of N-acetyllactosamine (Gal $\beta$ 1,4GlcNAc; LacNAc), as disaccharide units at the termini of complex N- glycans or as repeating backbone units in a poly-N-acetyllactosamine chain on N-glycans or O-glycans (558-560). Glycoproteins, (and in the case of this functional model, MUC1) bear multiple copies of the carbohydrate ligands that are recognized by galectins. Again in this case the target is TF antigen, a weak binding partner. Whereas galectin binding to a single ligand is typically low-affinity, the multivalent nature of galectin-carbohydrate interactions produce high overall avidity (association constants  $10^6 \text{ M}^{-1}$ ) (558, 561). Furthermore, despite the TF antigen being a weaker binding target of galectins this study shows that the galectin-TF/MUC1 interactions increase cell adhesion.

Galectin-3 has been the most clearly defined circulating galectin in terms of the MUC1-based pro-cancer properties, and has previously been shown by our laboratory to increase the likelihood of metastasis in vivo (315, 316, 382). Due to this, galectin-3 represents an attractive target for therapy through its inhibition. This thesis demonstrates that chemically modified heparin derivatives can block galectin-3 binding and galectin-3-mediated cell adhesion thus represents a therapeutic candidate. Heparin has already attracted attention as a possible treatment for cancer, and it has been shown that heparin treatment negates cancer promoting steps most efficiently when it is in circulation (474, 484, 496). Native heparin is a complex 'molecular soup', with a variety of repeating disaccharide units, which by its very nature could provide galectin-3 with a wide selection of possible binding targets, in turn increasing the likelihood of galectin-3 inhibition. This thesis has demonstrated that selectively de-O-sulphated heparin derivatives successfully negate galectin-3 mediated adhesion to and migration through endothelial cells as well as matrix components. Less modified derivatives were shown to produce inhibition, but only at higher ranges of concentration. Furthermore, the most effective heparin derivatives that showed inhibition of galectin-3 binding also demonstrated significantly reduced anticoagulation effects., This suggests that chemically modified heparins present an attractive target for the inhibition of circulating galectin-3-mediated cancer cell metastatic spread.

A feature of colon carcinogenesis is shown to be accompanied by an increase in carbohydrate structures of less complexity, such as the core antigens Tn, TF and their siaylated counterparts sialyl-Tn and sialyl-TF, as well as the blood group antigens Lewis<sup>a</sup>, Lewis<sup>b</sup>, Lewis<sup>x</sup> and Lewis<sup>y</sup> (199). Recent estimates suggest that up to 90% of all human cancers carry oncofetal carbohydrate antigens (540-543), and their occurrence is associated with the development and progression of various human cancers including breast (544), colon (540, 545) and pancreatic (546) cancers. Furthermore, the TF-galectin-3 interaction has been shown to be the pivotal mechanism by which galectin-3 can induce cancer cell adhesion and aggregation. It presents an interesting concept, that carbohydrate changes during disease states act synergistically with the cancer-associated increase of galectins to promote the spread of cancer by providing more binding targets. The results within this thesis have demonstrated that suppression of the C1GalT, and therefore the Core 1 structure of Olinked glycans, results in increased expressions of sialyl-Tn and Core 3 glycans in human colon cancer cells. Not only does this provide direct evidence of competition between C1GalT, C3GnT and ST6GalNAc-T transferases for modification of the GalNAc residue of GalNAc $\alpha$ -Ser/Thr within proteins, but a potential therapy. It been reported that breast cancer patients with higher levels of anti-TF antibody show better prognosis than the patients with lower anti-TF levels (552), and that targeting the oncofetal glycans by immunotherapy with TF-mimicking peptides for potential cancer treatment has shown promising results in mice (553). Furthermore, these results are an early indication that the suppression of C1GalT is a potential alternative method to reduce cancer-associated antigens, and to potentially restore the normal glycan structures in the gut.

#### **IMPLICATIONS FOR FUTURE STUDIES**

This thesis has raised many interesting questions that require further investigation. Further work is required to expand the serum data set and determine any correlations between circulating galectin expression and cancer stages. Furthermore, further investigations should be carried out that combines galectins and other colorectal cancer serum markers in ELISA-based tests. These experiments could potentially uncover novel serological tests that could provide enhanced sensitivity and specificity for diagnosis and predicting prognoses.

Galectins have been shown to bind to cell-surface receptors, and become involved in the regulation of receptor segregation and turnover, which leads to modulation of cell growth, differentiation and survival (422). In a similar manner, galectin-3 binding and subsequent repolarisation of MUC1, may induce changes in cell signaling and downstream cellular effects. It has been demonstrated that MUC1 can bind intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) on surrounding accessory cells and facilitates trans-endothelial migration of MUC1-bearing cells (155, 157, 159). Furthermore, it was acknowledged that MUC1 triggers Rac1- and Cdc42-dependent actin cytoskeletal protrusive activity (562). It would be an interesting concept to see whether the influence of galectin-3-MUC1 interaction has an effect on the activation of members of the small GTPase Rho family, as these family members are crucial regulators in directing actin cytoskeletal reorganization and formation of motile lamellipoldial or filopodial protrusions (563), which would influence cell surface MUC1 localization in cell reponse to galectin binding.

Galectins have emerged as promising molecular targets for cancer therapy, and galectin inhibitors have the potential to be used as anti-tumour and antimetastatic agents. Within this thesis, chemically modified heparin derivatives have demonstrated themselves to be effective galectin-3 inhibitors. Future experiments should go on to assess the effectivity of heparins on inhibiting other members of the galectin families, such as galectin-4, as it also is elevated significantly in the sera of colorectal cancer patients and increase cancer cell adhesion to vascular endothelium in vitro. An essential evolution of the experiments within this chapter would be to move on to *in vivo* experiments in a mouse model. This would provide more information of the efficacy of chemically modified heparins on inhibition of galectinmediated metastasis.

Suppression of C1GalT has provided interesting confirmation of the competition of enzymes involved in O-glycan chain elongation. It would be a useful confirmation to determine the level of expression of C1GalT transcripts by QPCR, as well as the level of expression of the other enzymes (ST6GalNAc I, Core3 synthase) to confirm that no change occurred in treated cells. Further structural characterization of O-linked glycans should be carried out by mass spectrometry. A further facet to investigate would be to detect any potential changes in the level of galectin-binding to C1GalT siRNA-treated cells and begin assessment of the hypothesis that changes in expression of oncofetal carbohydrate structures change the ability and affinity of galectin binding. This would provide interesting information on the likelihood of transferase-based therapy in the diseased gut.

1. Weitz J, Koch M, Debus J, Hohler T, Galle PR, Buchler MW. Colorectal cancer. Lancet. 2005 Jan 8-14;365(9454):153-65.

2. Itzkowitz SH, Harpaz N. Diagnosis and management of dysplasia in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. Gastroenterology. 2004 May;126(6):1634-48.

3. Anand P, Kunnumakkara AB, Sundaram C, Harikumar KB, Tharakan ST, Lai OS, et al. Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. Pharm Res. 2008 Sep;25(9):2097-116.

4. Richman S, Adlard J. Left and right sided large bowel cancer. BMJ. 2002 Apr 20;324(7343):931-2.

5. Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Hereditary colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 2003 Mar 6;348(10):919-32.

6. Alberts B, Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M., Roberts, K., Walter, P. Molecular Biology of The Cell Fifth Edition ed: Garland Science; 2008.

7. Dragovich T. Colon Adenocarcinoma. Available from: http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/277496-overview#a0104.

8. Luchtenborg M, Weijenberg MP, Roemen GM, de Bruine AP, van den Brandt PA, Lentjes MH, et al. APC mutations in sporadic colorectal carcinomas from The Netherlands Cohort Study. Carcinogenesis. 2004 Jul;25(7):1219-26.

9. Oving IM, Clevers HC. Molecular causes of colon cancer. Eur J Clin Invest. 2002 Jun;32(6):448-57.

10. Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. Cell. 1996 Oct 18;87(2):159-70.

11. Half EE, Bresalier RS. Clinical management of hereditary colorectal cancer syndromes. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. 2004 Jan;20(1):32-42.

12. Weinberg RA. The biology of cancer: Garland Science; 2007.

13. Grady WM. Genetic testing for high-risk colon cancer patients. Gastroenterology. 2003 May;124(6):1574-94.

14. Fidler IJ. The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. Nat Rev Cancer. 2003 Jun;3(6):453-8.

15. Paget S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. Lancet. 1889;1:571-3.

16. Ewing J. Neoplastic Diseases. Edition 6 ed: W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia; 1928.

17. Poste G, Fidler IJ. The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis. Nature. 1980 Jan 10;283(5743):139-46.

18. Coman DR, de LR, Mcc UM. Studies on the mechanisms of metastasis; the distribution of tumors in various organs in relation to the distribution of arterial emboli. Cancer Res. 1951 Aug;11(8):648-51.

19. Zeidman I, Buss JM. Transpulmonary passage of tumor cell emboli. Cancer Res. 1952 Oct;12(10):731-3.

20. Fidler IJ. Metastasis: guantitative analysis of distribution and fate of tumor embolilabeled with 125 I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1970 Oct;45(4):773-82.

21. Fidler IJ. Selection of successive tumour lines for metastasis. Nat New Biol. 1973 Apr 4;242(118):148-9.

22. LaBarge MA, Bissell MJ. Is CD133 a marker of metastatic colon cancer stem cells? J Clin Invest. 2008 Jun;118(6):2021-4.

23. Ricci-Vitiani L, Lombardi DG, Pilozzi E, Biffoni M, Todaro M, Peschle C, et al. Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. Nature. 2007 Jan 4;445(7123):111-5.

24. Hermann PC, Huber SL, Herrler T, Aicher A, Ellwart JW, Guba M, et al. Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. Cell Stem Cell. 2007 Sep 13;1(3):313-23.

25. Talmadge JE, Wolman SR, Fidler IJ. Evidence for the clonal origin of spontaneous metastases. Science. 1982 Jul 23;217(4557):361-3.

26. Fidler IJ, Talmadge JE. Evidence that intravenously derived murine pulmonary melanoma metastases can originate from the expansion of a single tumor cell. Cancer Res. 1986 Oct;46(10):5167-71.

27. Manfredi S, Lepage C, Hatem C, Coatmeur O, Faivre J, Bouvier AM. Epidemiology and management of liver metastases from colorectal cancer. Ann Surg. 2006 Aug;244(2):254-9.

28. Scheele J, Stangl R, Altendorf-Hofmann A. Hepatic metastases from colorectal carcinoma: impact of surgical resection on the natural history. Br J Surg. 1990 Nov;77(11):1241-6.

29. Stangl R, Altendorf-Hofmann A, Charnley RM, Scheele J. Factors influencing the natural history of colorectal liver metastases. Lancet. 1994 Jun 4;343(8910):1405-10.

30. Ruers T, Bleichrodt RP. Treatment of liver metastases, an update on the possibilities and results. Eur J Cancer. 2002 May;38(7):1023-33.

31. Goya T, Miyazawa N, Kondo H, Tsuchiya R, Naruke T, Suemasu K. Surgical resection of pulmonary metastases from colorectal cancer. 10-year follow-up. Cancer. 1989 Oct 1;64(7):1418-21.

32. Rotolo N, De Monte L, Imperatori A, Dominioni L. Pulmonary resections of single metastases from colorectal cancer. Surg Oncol. 2007 Dec;16 Suppl 1:S141-4.

33. Wolpin BM, Mayer RJ. Systemic treatment of colorectal cancer. Gastroenterology. 2008 May;134(5):1296-310.

34. van Schaik PM, Kouwenhoven EA, Bolhuis RJ, Biesma B, Bosscha K. Pulmonary resection for metastases from colorectal cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2007 Jul;2(7):652-6.

35. McCormack PM, Ginsberg RJ. Current management of colorectal metastases to lung. Chest Surg Clin N Am. 1998 Feb;8(1):119-26.

36. Inoue M, Kotake Y, Nakagawa K, Fujiwara K, Fukuhara K, Yasumitsu T. Surgery for pulmonary metastases from colorectal carcinoma. Ann Thorac Surg. 2000 Aug;70(2):380-3.

37. Koga R, Yamamoto J, Saiura A, Yamaguchi T, Hata E, Sakamoto M. Surgical resection of pulmonary metastases from colorectal cancer: Four favourable prognostic factors. Jpn J Clin Oncol. 2006 Oct;36(10):643-8.

38. Pfannschmidt J, Klode J, Muley T, Dienemann H, Hoffmann H. Nodal involvement at the time of pulmonary metastasectomy: experiences in 245 patients. Ann Thorac Surg. 2006 Feb;81(2):448-54.

39. Saito Y, Omiya H, Kohno K, Kobayashi T, Itoi K, Teramachi M, et al. Pulmonary metastasectomy for 165 patients with colorectal carcinoma: A prognostic assessment. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2002 Nov;124(5):1007-13.

40. Vogelsang H, Haas S, Hierholzer C, Berger U, Siewert JR, Prauer H. Factors influencing survival after resection of pulmonary metastases from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2004 Aug;91(8):1066-71.

41. Watanabe I, Arai T, Ono M, Sugito M, Kawashima K, Ito M, et al. Prognostic factors in resection of pulmonary metastasis from colorectal cancer. Br J Surg. 2003 Nov;90(11):1436-40.

42. August DA, Ottow RT, Sugarbaker PH. Clinical perspective of human colorectal cancer metastasis. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 1984;3(4):303-24.

43. Ohtsubo K, Marth JD. Glycosylation in cellular mechanisms of health and disease. Cell. 2006 Sep 8;126(5):855-67.

44. Landsteiner K. Individual Differences in Human Blood. Science. 1931 Apr 17;73(1894):403-9.

45. Varki A, Cummings RD, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, et al. Essentials of Glycobiology. Second Addition ed. La Jolla: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2009.

46. Lowe JB, Marth JD. A genetic approach to Mammalian glycan function. Annu Rev Biochem. 2003;72:643-91.

47. Van den Steen P, Rudd PM, Dwek RA, Opdenakker G. Concepts and principles of O-linked glycosylation. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 1998;33(3):151-208.

48. Kornfeld R, Kornfeld S. Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. Annu Rev Biochem. 1985;54:631-64.

49. Abeijon C, Hirschberg CB. Topography of glycosylation reactions in the endoplasmic reticulum. Trends Biochem Sci. 1992 Jan;17(1):32-6.

50. Yan Q, Lennarz WJ. Oligosaccharyltransferase: a complex multisubunit enzyme of the endoplasmic reticulum. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999 Dec 29;266(3):684-9.

51. Jaeken J, Matthijs G. Congenital disorders of glycosylation. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 2001;2:129-51.

52. Kaufman RJ, Scheuner D, Schroder M, Shen X, Lee K, Liu CY, et al. The unfolded protein response in nutrient sensing and differentiation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2002 Jun;3(6):411-21.

53. Zuber C, Roth J. N-Glycosylation. In: Gabius HJ, editor. The Sugar Code: Wiley-Blackwell Pubishing; 2009. p. 93.

54. Hanisch FG. O-glycosylation of the mucin type. Biol Chem. 2001 Feb;382(2):143-9.

55. Hang HC, Bertozzi CR. The chemistry and biology of mucin-type O-linked glycosylation. Bioorg Med Chem. 2005 Sep 1;13(17):5021-34.

56. Torres CR, Hart GW. Topography and polypeptide distribution of terminal N-acetylglucosamine residues on the surfaces of intact lymphocytes. Evidence for O-linked GlcNAc. J Biol Chem. 1984 Mar 10;259(5):3308-17.

57. Hart GW. Dynamic O-linked glycosylation of nuclear and cytoskeletal proteins. Annu Rev Biochem. 1997;66:315-35.

58. Hart GW, Haltiwanger RS, Holt GD, Kelly WG. Nucleoplasmic and cytoplasmic glycoproteins. Ciba Found Symp. 1989;145:102-12, discussion 12-8.

59. Hurtado-Guerrero R, Dorfmueller HC, van Aalten DM. Molecular mechanisms of O-GlcNAcylation. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2008 Oct;18(5):551-7.

60. Comer FI, Hart GW. O-Glycosylation of nuclear and cytosolic proteins. Dynamic interplay between O-GlcNAc and O-phosphate. J Biol Chem. 2000 Sep 22;275(38):29179-82.

61. Wells L, Vosseller K, Hart GW. Glycosylation of nucleocytoplasmic proteins: signal transduction and O-GlcNAc. Science. 2001 Mar 23;291(5512):2376-8.

62. Griffith LS, Schmitz B. O-linked N-acetylglucosamine levels in cerebellar neurons respond reciprocally to pertubations of phosphorylation. Eur J Biochem. 1999 Jun;262(3):824-31.

63. Chou TY, Hart GW, Dang CV. c-Myc is glycosylated at threonine 58, a known phosphorylation site and a mutational hot spot in lymphomas. J Biol Chem. 1995 Aug 11;270(32):18961-5.

64. Cheng X, Cole RN, Zaia J, Hart GW. Alternative O-glycosylation/O-phosphorylation of the murine estrogen receptor beta. Biochemistry. 2000 Sep 26;39(38):11609-20.

65. Medina L, Grove K, Haltiwanger RS. SV40 large T antigen is modified with O-linked N-acetylglucosamine but not with other forms of glycosylation. Glycobiology. 1998 Apr;8(4):383-91.

66. Moloney DJ, Shair LH, Lu FM, Xia J, Locke R, Matta KL, et al. Mammalian Notch1 is modified with two unusual forms of O-linked glycosylation found on epidermal growth factor-like modules. J Biol Chem. 2000 Mar 31;275(13):9604-11.

67. Nishimura H, Kawabata S, Kisiel W, Hase S, Ikenaka T, Takao T, et al. Identification of a disaccharide (Xyl-Glc) and a trisaccharide (Xyl2-Glc) O-glycosidically linked to a serine residue in the first epidermal growth factor-like domain of human factors VII and IX and protein Z and bovine protein Z. J Biol Chem. 1989 Dec 5;264(34):20320-5.

68. Harris RJ, Spellman MW. O-linked fucose and other post-translational modifications unique to EGF modules. Glycobiology. 1993 Jun;3(3):219-24.

69. Acar M, Jafar-Nejad H, Takeuchi H, Rajan A, Ibrani D, Rana NA, et al. Rumi is a CAP10 domain glycosyltransferase that modifies Notch and is required for Notch signaling. Cell. 2008 Jan 25;132(2):247-58.

70. Shao L, Luo Y, Moloney DJ, Haltiwanger R. O-glycosylation of EGF repeats: identification and initial characterization of a UDP-glucose: protein O-glucosyltransferase. Glycobiology. 2002 Nov;12(11):763-70.

71. Hase S, Nishimura H, Kawabata S, Iwanaga S, Ikenaka T. The structure of (xylose)2glucose-O-serine 53 found in the first epidermal growth factor-like domain of bovine blood clotting factor IX. J Biol Chem. 1990 Feb 5;265(4):1858-61.

72. Minamida S, Aoki K, Natsuka S, Omichi K, Fukase K, Kusumoto S, et al. Detection of UDP-D-xylose: alpha-D-xyloside alpha 1-->3xylosyltransferase activity in human hepatoma cell line HepG2. J Biochem. 1996 Nov;120(5):1002-6.

73. Omichi K, Aoki K, Minamida S, Hase S. Presence of UDP-D-xylose: beta-Dglucoside alpha-1,3-D-xylosyltransferase involved in the biosynthesis of the Xyl alpha 1-3Glc beta-Ser structure of glycoproteins in the human hepatoma cell line HepG2. Eur J Biochem. 1997 Apr 1;245(1):143-6.

74. Sentandreu R, Northcote DH. The structure of a glycopeptide isolated from the yeast cell wall. Biochem J. 1968 Sep;109(3):419-32.

75. Gemmill TR, Trimble RB. Overview of N- and O-linked oligosaccharide structures found in various yeast species. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999 Jan 6;1426(2):227-37.

76. Chiba A, Matsumura K, Yamada H, Inazu T, Shimizu T, Kusunoki S, et al. Structures of sialylated O-linked oligosaccharides of bovine peripheral nerve alpha-dystroglycan. The role of a novel O-mannosyl-type oligosaccharide in the binding of alpha-dystroglycan with laminin. J Biol Chem. 1997 Jan 24;272(4):2156-62.

77. Sasaki T, Yamada H, Matsumura K, Shimizu T, Kobata A, Endo T. Detection of O-mannosyl glycans in rabbit skeletal muscle alpha-dystroglycan. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1998 Nov 27;1425(3):599-606.

78. Smalheiser NR, Haslam SM, Sutton-Smith M, Morris HR, Dell A. Structural analysis of sequences O-linked to mannose reveals a novel Lewis X structure in cranin (dystroglycan) purified from sheep brain. J Biol Chem. 1998 Sep 11;273(37):23698-703.

79. Chai W, Yuen CT, Kogelberg H, Carruthers RA, Margolis RU, Feizi T, et al. High prevalence of 2-mono- and 2,6-di-substituted manol-terminating sequences among O-glycans released from brain glycopeptides by reductive alkaline hydrolysis. Eur J Biochem. 1999 Aug;263(3):879-88.

80. Haselbeck A, Tanner W. O-glycosylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is initiated at the endoplasmic reticulum. FEBS Lett. 1983 Jul 25;158(2):335-8.

81. Sharma CB, Babczinski P, Lehle L, Tanner W. The role of dolicholmonophosphate in glycoprotein biosynthesis in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Eur J Biochem. 1974 Jul 1;46(1):35-41.

82. Orlean P. Dolichol phosphate mannose synthase is required in vivo for glycosyl phosphatidylinositol membrane anchoring, O mannosylation, and N glycosylation of protein in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mol Cell Biol. 1990 Nov;10(11):5796-805.

83. Gentzsch M, Strahl-Bolsinger S, Tanner W. A new Dol-P-Man:protein O-Dmannosyltransferase activity from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Glycobiology. 1995 Feb;5(1):77-82.

84. Gentzsch M, Tanner W. The PMT gene family: protein O-glycosylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae is vital. EMBO J. 1996 Nov 1;15(21):5752-9.

85. Strahl-Bolsinger S, Immervoll T, Deutzmann R, Tanner W. PMT1, the gene for a key enzyme of protein O-glycosylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1993 Sep 1;90(17):8164-8.

86. Strahl-Bolsinger S, Tanner W. Protein O-glycosylation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Purification and characterization of the dolichyl-phosphate-D-mannose-protein O-D-mannosyltransferase. Eur J Biochem. 1991 Feb 26;196(1):185-90.

87. Ichimiya T, Manya H, Ohmae Y, Yoshida H, Takahashi K, Ueda R, et al. The twisted abdomen phenotype of Drosophila POMT1 and POMT2 mutants coincides with their heterophilic protein O-mannosyltransferase activity. J Biol Chem. 2004 Oct 8;279(41):42638-47.

88. Manya H, Chiba A, Yoshida A, Wang X, Chiba Y, Jigami Y, et al. Demonstration of mammalian protein O-mannosyltransferase activity: coexpression of POMT1 and POMT2 required for enzymatic activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Jan 13;101(2):500-5.

89. Takahashi S, Sasaki T, Manya H, Chiba Y, Yoshida A, Mizuno M, et al. A new beta-1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase that may play a role in the biosynthesis of mammalian O-mannosyl glycans. Glycobiology. 2001 Jan;11(1):37-45.

90. Zhang W, Betel D, Schachter H. Cloning and expression of a novel UDP-GlcNAc:alpha-D-mannoside beta1,2-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase homologous to UDP-GlcNAc:alpha-3-D-mannoside beta1,2-Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase I. Biochem J. 2002 Jan 1;361(Pt 1):153-62.

91. Inamori K, Endo T, Gu J, Matsuo I, Ito Y, Fujii S, et al. N-Acetylglucosaminyltransferase IX acts on the GlcNAc beta 1,2-Man alpha 1-Ser/Thr moiety, forming a 2,6-branched structure in brain O-mannosyl glycan. J Biol Chem. 2004 Jan 23;279(4):2337-40.

92. Brooks SA, Dwek MV, Schumacher U. Functional and Molecular Glycobiology: BIOS Scientific Publishers Ltd; 2002.

93. Kim YS, Gum J, Jr., Brockhausen I. Mucin glycoproteins in neoplasia. Glycoconj J. 1996 Oct;13(5):693-707.

94. Brockhausen I. Biosynthesis and functions of O-glycans and regulation of mucin antigen expression in cancer. Biochem Soc Trans. 1997 Aug;25(3):871-4.

95. Montreuil J, Vliegenthart J, Schachter H. Glycoproteins: Elsevier Science, New York; 1995.

96. Brockhausen I. Pathways of O-glycan biosynthesis in cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999 Dec 6;1473(1):67-95.

97. Hagen FK, Van Wuyckhuyse B, Tabak LA. Purification, cloning, and expression of a bovine UDP-GalNAc: polypeptide N-acetyl-galactosaminyltransferase. J Biol Chem. 1993 Sep 5;268(25):18960-5.

98. Sorensen T, White T, Wandall HH, Kristensen AK, Roepstorff P, Clausen H. UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-D-galactosamine:polypeptide N-

acetylgalactosaminyltransferase. Identification and separation of two distinct transferase activities. J Biol Chem. 1995 Oct 13;270(41):24166-73.

99. White T, Bennett EP, Takio K, Sorensen T, Bonding N, Clausen H. Purification and cDNA cloning of a human UDP-N-acetyl-alpha-Dgalactosamine:polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase. J Biol Chem. 1995 Oct 13;270(41):24156-65.

100. Ten Hagen KG, Fritz TA, Tabak LA. All in the family: the UDP-GalNAc:polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferases. Glycobiology. 2003 Jan;13(1):1R-16R.

101. Roth J, Wang Y, Eckhardt AE, Hill RL. Subcellular localization of the UDP-N-acetyl-D-galactosamine: polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferasemediated O-glycosylation reaction in the submaxillary gland. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Sep 13;91(19):8935-9.

102. Young WW, Jr., Holcomb DR, Ten Hagen KG, Tabak LA. Expression of UDP-GalNAc:polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase isoforms in murine tissues determined by real-time PCR: a new view of a large family. Glycobiology. 2003 Jul;13(7):549-57.
103. Rottger S, White J, Wandall HH, Olivo JC, Stark A, Bennett EP, et al. Localization of three human polypeptide GalNAc-transferases in HeLa cells suggests initiation of O-linked glycosylation throughout the Golgi apparatus. J Cell Sci. 1998 Jan;111 (Pt 1):45-60.

104. Storrie B, White J, Rottger S, Stelzer EH, Suganuma T, Nilsson T. Recycling of golgi-resident glycosyltransferases through the ER reveals a novel pathway and provides an explanation for nocodazole-induced Golgi scattering. J Cell Biol. 1998 Dec 14;143(6):1505-21.

105. de Graffenried CL, Bertozzi CR. The roles of enzyme localisation and complex formation in glycan assembly within the Golgi apparatus. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 2004 Aug;16(4):356-63.

106. Young WW, Jr. Organization of Golgi glycosyltransferases in membranes: complexity via complexes. J Membr Biol. 2004 Mar 1;198(1):1-13.

107. Hounsell EF, Davies MJ, Renouf DV. O-linked protein glycosylation structure and function. Glycoconj J. 1996 Feb;13(1):19-26.

108. The Sugar Code: Fundamentals of Glycosciences. Gabius HJ, editor: Wiley VCH; 2009.

109. Breg J, Van Halbeek H, Vliegenthart JF, Klein A, Lamblin G, Roussel P. Primary structure of neutral oligosaccharides derived from respiratory-mucus glycoproteins of a patient suffering from bronchiectasis, determined by combination of 500-MHz 1H-NMR spectroscopy and quantitative sugar analysis. 2. Structure of 19 oligosaccharides having the GlcNAc beta(1----3)GalNAc-ol core (type 3) or the GlcNAc beta(1----3)[GlcNAc beta(1----6)]GalNAc-ol core (type 4). Eur J Biochem. 1988 Feb 1;171(3):643-54.

110. Capon C, Maes E, Michalski JC, Leffler H, Kim YS. Sd(a)-antigen-like structures carried on core 3 are prominent features of glycans from the mucin of normal human descending colon. Biochem J. 2001 Sep 15;358(Pt 3):657-64.

111. Podolsky DK. Oligosaccharide structures of isolated human colonic mucin species. J Biol Chem. 1985 Dec 15;260(29):15510-5.

112. Hanisch FG, Peter-Katalinic J. Structural studies on fetal mucins from human amniotic fluid. Core typing of short-chain O-linked glycans. Eur J Biochem. 1992 Apr 15;205(2):527-35.

113. Corfield AP, Myerscough N, Longman R, Sylvester P, Arul S, Pignatelli M. Mucins and mucosal protection in the gastrointestinal tract: new prospects for mucins in the pathology of gastrointestinal disease. Gut. 2000 Oct;47(4):589-94.

114. Linden SK, Sutton P, Karlsson NG, Korolik V, McGuckin MA. Mucins in the mucosal barrier to infection. Mucosal Immunol. 2008 May;1(3):183-97.

115. McGuckin MA, Linden SK, Sutton P, Florin TH. Mucin dynamics and enteric pathogens. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2011 Apr;9(4):265-78.

116. Gendler SJ. MUC1, the renaissance molecule. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2001 Jul;6(3):339-53.

117. Lamblin G, Degroote S, Perini JM, Delmotte P, Scharfman A, Davril M, et al. Human airway mucin glycosylation: a combinatory of carbohydrate determinants which vary in cystic fibrosis. Glycoconj J. 2001 Sep;18(9):661-84.

118. Bramwell ME, Wiseman G, Shotton DM. Electron-microscopic studies of the CA antigen, epitectin. J Cell Sci. 1986 Dec;86:249-61.

119. Wesseling J, van der Valk SW, Vos HL, Sonnenberg A, Hilkens J. Episialin (MUC1) overexpression inhibits integrin-mediated cell adhesion to extracellular matrix components. J Cell Biol. 1995 Apr;129(1):255-65.

120. Gendler SJ, Lancaster CA, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Duhig T, Peat N, Burchell J, et al. Molecular cloning and expression of human tumor-associated polymorphic epithelial mucin. J Biol Chem. 1990 Sep 5;265(25):15286-93.

121. Corfield AP, Carroll D, Myerscough N, Probert CS. Mucins in the gastrointestinal tract in health and disease. Front Biosci. 2001 Oct 1;6:D1321-57. 122. Gendler SJ, Spicer AP. Epithelial mucin genes. Annu Rev Physiol. 1995;57:607-34.

123. Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Jan;4(1):45-60.

124. Strous GJ, Dekker J. Mucin-type glycoproteins. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 1992;27(1-2):57-92.

125. Kozarsky K, Kingsley D, Krieger M. Use of a mutant cell line to study the kinetics and function of O-linked glycosylation of low density lipoprotein receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988 Jun;85(12):4335-9.

126. Ali MS, Pearson JP. Upper airway mucin gene expression: a review. Laryngoscope. 2007 May;117(5):932-8.

127. Boat TF, Cheng PW. Biochemistry of airway mucus secretions. Fed Proc. 1980 Nov;39(13):3067-74.

128. Roberts GP. The role of disulfide bonds in maintaining the gel structure of bronchial mucus. Arch Biochem Biophys. 1976 Apr;173(2):528-37.

129. Allen A. Structure of gastrointestinal mucus glycoproteins and the viscous and gel-forming properties of mucus. Br Med Bull. 1978 Jan;34(1):28-33.

130. Desseyn JL, Aubert JP, Porchet N, Laine A. Evolution of the large secreted gel-forming mucins. Mol Biol Evol. 2000 Aug;17(8):1175-84.

131. Uldbjerg N, Carlstedt I, Ekman G, Malmstrom A, Ulmsten U, Wingerup L. Dermatan sulphate and mucin glycopeptides from the human uterine cervix. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 1983;16(4):199-209.

132. Rose MC, Voter WA, Sage H, Brown CF, Kaufman B. Effects of deglycosylation on the architecture of ovine submaxillary mucin glycoprotein. J Biol Chem. 1984 Mar 10;259(5):3167-72.

133. Perez-Vilar J, Mabolo R. Gel-forming mucins. Notions from in vitro studies. Histol Histopathol. 2007 Apr;22(4):455-64.

134. Bhaskar KR, Garik P, Turner BS, Bradley JD, Bansil R, Stanley HE, et al. Viscous fingering of HCl through gastric mucin. Nature. 1992 Dec 3;360(6403):458-61.

135. Kawakubo M, Ito Y, Okimura Y, Kobayashi M, Sakura K, Kasama S, et al. Natural antibiotic function of a human gastric mucin against Helicobacter pylori infection. Science. 2004 Aug 13;305(5686):1003-6.

136. Felgentreff K, Beisswenger C, Griese M, Gulder T, Bringmann G, Bals R. The antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin interacts with airway mucus. Peptides. 2006 Dec;27(12):3100-6.

137. Velcich A, Yang W, Heyer J, Fragale A, Nicholas C, Viani S, et al. Colorectal cancer in mice genetically deficient in the mucin Muc2. Science. 2002 Mar 1;295(5560):1726-9.

138. Van der Sluis M, De Koning BA, De Bruijn AC, Velcich A, Meijerink JP, Van Goudoever JB, et al. Muc2-deficient mice spontaneously develop colitis, indicating that MUC2 is critical for colonic protection. Gastroenterology. 2006 Jul;131(1):117-29.

139. Rose MC, Voynow JA. Respiratory tract mucin genes and mucin glycoproteins in health and disease. Physiol Rev. 2006 Jan;86(1):245-78.

140. Desseyn JL, Tetaert D, Gouyer V. Architecture of the large membranebound mucins. Gene. 2008 Mar 15;410(2):215-22.

141. Hattrup CL, Gendler SJ. Structure and function of the cell surface (tethered) mucins. Annu Rev Physiol. 2008;70:431-57.

142. Ligtenberg MJ, Kruijshaar L, Buijs F, van Meijer M, Litvinov SV, Hilkens J. Cell-associated episialin is a complex containing two proteins derived from a common precursor. J Biol Chem. 1992 Mar 25;267(9):6171-7.

143. Lan MS, Batra SK, Qi WN, Metzgar RS, Hollingsworth MA. Cloning and sequencing of a human pancreatic tumor mucin cDNA. J Biol Chem. 1990 Sep 5;265(25):15294-9.

144. Levitin F, Stern O, Weiss M, Gil-Henn C, Ziv R, Prokocimer Z, et al. The MUC1 SEA module is a self-cleaving domain. J Biol Chem. 2005 Sep 30;280(39):33374-86.

145. Macao B, Johansson DG, Hansson GC, Hard T. Autoproteolysis coupled to protein folding in the SEA domain of the membrane-bound MUC1 mucin. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2006 Jan;13(1):71-6.

146. Parry S, Silverman HS, McDermott K, Willis A, Hollingsworth MA, Harris A. Identification of MUC1 proteolytic cleavage sites in vivo. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001 May 11;283(3):715-20.

147. Pemberton LF, Rughetti A, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Gendler SJ. The epithelial mucin MUC1 contains at least two discrete signals specifying membrane localization in cells. J Biol Chem. 1996 Jan 26;271(4):2332-40.

148. Brayman M, Thathiah A, Carson DD. MUC1: a multifunctional cell surface component of reproductive tissue epithelia. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2004 Jan 7;2:4.

149. Soto P, Zhang J, Carraway KL. Enzymatic cleavage as a processing step in the maturation of Muc4/sialomucin complex. J Cell Biochem. 2006 Apr 15;97(6):1267-74.

150. Duraisamy S, Ramasamy S, Kharbanda S, Kufe D. Distinct evolution of the human carcinoma-associated transmembrane mucins, MUC1, MUC4 AND MUC16. Gene. 2006 May 24;373:28-34.

151. Ciccarelli FD, Doerks T, Bork P. AMOP, a protein module alternatively spliced in cancer cells. Trends Biochem Sci. 2002 Mar;27(3):113-5.

152. Carraway KL, Ramsauer VP, Haq B, Carothers Carraway CA. Cell signaling through membrane mucins. Bioessays. 2003 Jan;25(1):66-71.

153. Rump A, Morikawa Y, Tanaka M, Minami S, Umesaki N, Takeuchi M, et al. Binding of ovarian cancer antigen CA125/MUC16 to mesothelin mediates cell adhesion. J Biol Chem. 2004 Mar 5;279(10):9190-8.

154. Gubbels JA, Belisle J, Onda M, Rancourt C, Migneault M, Ho M, et al. Mesothelin-MUC16 binding is a high affinity, N-glycan dependent interaction that facilitates peritoneal metastasis of ovarian tumors. Mol Cancer. 2006;5(1):50.

155. Kam JL, Regimbald LH, Hilgers JH, Hoffman P, Krantz MJ, Longenecker BM, et al. MUC1 synthetic peptide inhibition of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 and MUC1 binding requires six tandem repeats. Cancer Res. 1998 Dec 1;58(23):5577-81.

156. Zhang K, Baeckstrom D, Brevinge H, Hansson GC. Comparison of sialyl-Lewis a-carrying CD43 and MUC1 mucins secreted from a colon carcinoma cell line for E-selectin binding and inhibition of leukocyte adhesion. Tumour Biol. 1997;18(3):175-87.

157. Regimbald LH, Pilarski LM, Longenecker BM, Reddish MA, Zimmermann G, Hugh JC. The breast mucin MUCI as a novel adhesion ligand for endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1 in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 1996 Sep 15;56(18):4244-9.

158. Rahn JJ, Shen Q, Mah BK, Hugh JC. MUC1 initiates a calcium signal after ligation by intercellular adhesion molecule-1. J Biol Chem. 2004 Jul 9;279(28):29386-90.

159. Rahn JJ, Chow JW, Horne GJ, Mah BK, Emerman JT, Hoffman P, et al. MUC1 mediates transendothelial migration in vitro by ligating endothelial cell ICAM-1. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2005;22(6):475-83.

160. Spicer AP, Duhig T, Chilton BS, Gendler SJ. Analysis of mammalian MUC1 genes reveals potential functionally important domains. Mamm Genome. 1995 Dec;6(12):885-8.

161. Schroeder JA, Thompson MC, Gardner MM, Gendler SJ. Transgenic MUC1 interacts with epidermal growth factor receptor and correlates with mitogenactivated protein kinase activation in the mouse mammary gland. J Biol Chem. 2001 Apr 20;276(16):13057-64.

162. Wang H, Lillehoj EP, Kim KC. Identification of four sites of stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation in the MUC1 cytoplasmic tail. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2003 Oct 17;310(2):341-6.

163. Singh PK, Wen Y, Swanson BJ, Shanmugam K, Kazlauskas A, Cerny RL, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta-mediated phosphorylation of MUC1 enhances invasiveness in pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 2007 Jun 1;67(11):5201-10.

164. Li Y, Kuwahara H, Ren J, Wen G, Kufe D. The c-Src tyrosine kinase regulates signaling of the human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen with GSK3 beta and beta-catenin. J Biol Chem. 2001 Mar 2;276(9):6061-4.

165. Li Y, Ren J, Yu W, Li Q, Kuwahara H, Yin L, et al. The epidermal growth factor receptor regulates interaction of the human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma antigen with c-Src and beta-catenin. J Biol Chem. 2001 Sep 21;276(38):35239-42.

166. Li Y, Bharti A, Chen D, Gong J, Kufe D. Interaction of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta with the DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen and beta-catenin. Mol Cell Biol. 1998 Dec;18(12):7216-24.

167. Ren J, Li Y, Kufe D. Protein kinase C delta regulates function of the DF3/MUC1 carcinoma antigen in beta-catenin signaling. J Biol Chem. 2002 May 17;277(20):17616-22.

168. Yamamoto M, Bharti A, Li Y, Kufe D. Interaction of the DF3/MUC1 breast carcinoma-associated antigen and beta-catenin in cell adhesion. J Biol Chem. 1997 May 9;272(19):12492-4.

169. Wen Y, Caffrey TC, Wheelock MJ, Johnson KR, Hollingsworth MA. Nuclear association of the cytoplasmic tail of MUC1 and beta-catenin. J Biol Chem. 2003 Sep 26;278(39):38029-39.

170. Hattrup CL, Fernandez-Rodriguez J, Schroeder JA, Hansson GC, Gendler SJ. MUC1 can interact with adenomatous polyposis coli in breast cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2004 Apr 2;316(2):364-9. 171. Pandey P, Kharbanda S, Kufe D. Association of the DF3/MUC1 breast cancer antigen with Grb2 and the Sos/Ras exchange protein. Cancer Res. 1995 Sep 15;55(18):4000-3.

172. Wei X, Xu H, Kufe D. Human MUC1 oncoprotein regulates p53-responsive gene transcription in the genotoxic stress response. Cancer Cell. 2005 Feb;7(2):167-78.

173. Li Y, Kufe D. The Human DF3/MUC1 carcinoma-associated antigen signals nuclear localization of the catenin p120(ctn). Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2001 Feb 23;281(2):440-3.

174. Wei X, Xu H, Kufe D. MUC1 oncoprotein stabilizes and activates estrogen receptor alpha. Mol Cell. 2006 Jan 20;21(2):295-305.

175. Ren J, Bharti A, Raina D, Chen W, Ahmad R, Kufe D. MUC1 oncoprotein is targeted to mitochondria by heregulin-induced activation of c-Src and the molecular chaperone HSP90. Oncogene. 2006 Jan 5;25(1):20-31.

176. Pochampalli MR, el Bejjani RM, Schroeder JA. MUC1 is a novel regulator of ErbB1 receptor trafficking. Oncogene. 2007 Mar 15;26(12):1693-701.

177. Carraway KL, Ramsauer VP, Carraway CA. Glycoprotein contributions to mammary gland and mammary tumor structure and function: roles of adherens junctions, ErbBs and membrane MUCs. J Cell Biochem. 2005 Dec 1;96(5):914-26.

178. Hattrup CL, Gendler SJ. MUC1 alters oncogenic events and transcription in human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res. 2006;8(4):R37.

179. Mukherjee P, Tinder TL, Basu GD, Gendler SJ. MUC1 (CD227) interacts with lck tyrosine kinase in Jurkat lymphoma cells and normal T cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2005 Jan;77(1):90-9.

180. Zotter S, Hageman PC, Lossnitzer A, Mooi WJ, Hilgers J. Tissue and tumor distribution of human polymorphic epithelial mucin. Cancer Reviews. 1988;11(12):55-101.

181. Braga VM, Pemberton LF, Duhig T, Gendler SJ. Spatial and temporal expression of an epithelial mucin, Muc-1, during mouse development. Development. 1992 Jun;115(2):427-37.

182. Burchell J, Gendler S, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Girling A, Lewis A, Millis R, et al. Development and characterization of breast cancer reactive monoclonal antibodies directed to the core protein of the human milk mucin. Cancer Res. 1987 Oct 15;47(20):5476-82.

183. Girling A, Bartkova J, Burchell J, Gendler S, Gillett C, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. A core protein epitope of the polymorphic epithelial mucin detected by the monoclonal antibody SM-3 is selectively exposed in a range of primary carcinomas. Int J Cancer. 1989 Jun 15;43(6):1072-6.

184. Hilkens J, Buijs F, Hilgers J, Hageman P, Calafat J, Sonnenberg A, et al. Monoclonal antibodies against human milk-fat globule membranes detecting differentiation antigens of the mammary gland and its tumors. Int J Cancer. 1984 Aug 15;34(2):197-206.

185. Leakey JE, Hume R, Burchell B. Development of multiple activities of UDPglucuronyltransferase in human liver. Biochem J. 1987 May 1;243(3):859-61.

186. Takao S, Uchikura K, Yonezawa S, Shinchi H, Aikou T. Mucin core protein expression in extrahepatic bile duct carcinoma is associated with metastases to the liver and poor prognosis. Cancer. 1999 Nov 15;86(10):1966-75.

187. Nakamori S, Ota DM, Cleary KR, Shirotani K, Irimura T. MUC1 mucin expression as a marker of progression and metastasis of human colorectal carcinoma. Gastroenterology. 1994 Feb;106(2):353-61.

188. McGuckin MA, Walsh MD, Hohn BG, Ward BG, Wright RG. Prognostic significance of MUC1 epithelial mucin expression in breast cancer. Hum Pathol. 1995 Apr;26(4):432-9.

189. Guddo F, Giatromanolaki A, Koukourakis MI, Reina C, Vignola AM, Chlouverakis G, et al. MUC1 (episialin) expression in non-small cell lung cancer is independent of EGFR and c-erbB-2 expression and correlates with poor survival in node positive patients. J Clin Pathol. 1998 Sep;51(9):667-71.

190. Agrawal B, Krantz MJ, Parker J, Longenecker BM. Expression of MUC1 mucin on activated human T cells: implications for a role of MUC1 in normal immune regulation. Cancer Res. 1998 Sep 15;58(18):4079-81.

191. Brugger W, Buhring HJ, Grunebach F, Vogel W, Kaul S, Muller R, et al. Expression of MUC-1 epitopes on normal bone marrow: implications for the detection of micrometastatic tumor cells. J Clin Oncol. 1999 May;17(5):1535-44.

192. Dent GA, Civalier CJ, Brecher ME, Bentley SA. MUC1 expression in hematopoietic tissues. Am J Clin Pathol. 1999 Jun;111(6):741-7.

193. Takahashi T, Makiguchi Y, Hinoda Y, Kakiuchi H, Nakagawa N, Imai K, et al. Expression of MUC1 on myeloma cells and induction of HLA-unrestricted CTL against MUC1 from a multiple myeloma patient. J Immunol. 1994 Sep 1;153(5):2102-9.

194. Treon SP, Maimonis P, Bua D, Young G, Raje N, Mollick J, et al. Elevated soluble MUC1 levels and decreased anti-MUC1 antibody levels in patients with multiple myeloma. Blood. 2000 Nov 1;96(9):3147-53.

195. Rahn JJ, Dabbagh L, Pasdar M, Hugh JC. The importance of MUC1 cellular localization in patients with breast carcinoma: an immunohistologic study of 71 patients and review of the literature. Cancer. 2001 Jun 1;91(11):1973-82.

196. Hanisch FG, Uhlenbruck G, Peter-Katalinic J, Egge H, Dabrowski J, Dabrowski U. Structures of neutral O-linked polylactosaminoglycans on human skim milk mucins. A novel type of linearly extended poly-N-acetyllactosamine backbones with Gal beta(1-4)GlcNAc beta(1-6) repeating units. J Biol Chem. 1989 Jan 15;264(2):872-83.

197. Hull SR, Bright A, Carraway KL, Abe M, Hayes DF, Kufe DW. Oligosaccharide differences in the DF3 sialomucin antigen from normal human milk and the BT-20 human breast carcinoma cell line. Cancer Commun. 1989;1(4):261-7.

198. Lloyd KO, Burchell J, Kudryashov V, Yin BW, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. Comparison of O-linked carbohydrate chains in MUC-1 mucin from normal breast epithelial cell lines and breast carcinoma cell lines. Demonstration of simpler and fewer glycan chains in tumor cells. J Biol Chem. 1996 Dec 27;271(52):33325-34.

199. Hanski C, Hanisch FG, Riecken EO. Alterations of mucin-bound carbohydrate moieties in malignant transformation of colonic mucosa. A review. Cancer J. 1992;5:332-42.

200. Muller S, Alving K, Peter-Katalinic J, Zachara N, Gooley AA, Hanisch FG. High density O-glycosylation on tandem repeat peptide from secretory MUC1 of T47D breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem. 1999 Jun 25;274(26):18165-72.

201. Medzhitov R, Janeway CA, Jr. Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. Cell. 1997 Oct 31;91(3):295-8.

202. Chu RS, Targoni OS, Krieg AM, Lehmann PV, Harding CV. CpG oligodeoxynucleotides act as adjuvants that switch on T helper 1 (Th1) immunity. J Exp Med. 1997 Nov 17;186(10):1623-31.

203. Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell J, Miles DW, Dalziel M. MUC1 and cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999 Oct 8;1455(2-3):301-13.

204. Barnd DL, Lan MS, Metzgar RS, Finn OJ. Specific, major histocompatibility complex-unrestricted recognition of tumor-associated mucins by human cytotoxic T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1989 Sep;86(18):7159-63.

205. Jerome KR, Barnd DL, Bendt KM, Boyer CM, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, McKenzie IF, et al. Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes derived from patients with breast adenocarcinoma recognize an epitope present on the protein core of a mucin molecule preferentially expressed by malignant cells. Cancer Res. 1991 Jun 1;51(11):2908-16.

206. Finn OJ, Jerome KR, Henderson RA, Pecher G, Domenech N, Magarian-Blander J, et al. MUC-1 epithelial tumor mucin-based immunity and cancer vaccines. Immunol Rev. 1995 Jun;145:61-89.

207. Gourevitch MM, von Mensdorff-Pouilly S, Litvinov SV, Kenemans P, van Kamp GJ, Verstraeten AA, et al. Polymorphic epithelial mucin (MUC-1)-containing circulating immune complexes in carcinoma patients. Br J Cancer. 1995 Oct;72(4):934-8.

208. von Mensdorff-Pouilly S, Gourevitch MM, Kenemans P, Verstraeten AA, van Kamp GJ, Kok A, et al. An enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the measurement of circulating antibodies to polymorphic epithelial mucin (MUC1). Tumour Biol. 1998;19(3):186-95.

209. Maraveyas A, Snook D, Hird V, Kosmas C, Meares CF, Lambert HE, et al. Pharmacokinetics and toxicity of an yttrium-90-CITC-DTPA-HMFG1 radioimmunoconjugate for intraperitoneal radioimmunotherapy of ovarian cancer. Cancer. 1994 Feb 1;73(3 Suppl):1067-75.

210. Ding L, Lalani EN, Reddish M, Koganty R, Wong T, Samuel J, et al. Immunogenicity of synthetic peptides related to the core peptide sequence encoded by the human MUC1 mucin gene: effect of immunization on the growth of murine mammary adenocarcinoma cells transfected with the human MUC1 gene. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 1993;36(1):9-17.

211. Apostolopoulos V, Xing PX, McKenzie IF. Murine immune response to cells transfected with human MUC1: immunization with cellular and synthetic antigens. Cancer Res. 1994 Oct 1;54(19):5186-93.

212. Zhang S, Graeber LA, Helling F, Ragupathi G, Adluri S, Lloyd KO, et al. Augmenting the immunogenicity of synthetic MUC1 peptide vaccines in mice. Cancer Res. 1996 Jul 15;56(14):3315-9.

213. Soares MM, Mehta V, Finn OJ. Three different vaccines based on the 140amino acid MUC1 peptide with seven tandemly repeated tumor-specific epitopes elicit distinct immune effector mechanisms in wild-type versus MUC1-transgenic mice with different potential for tumor rejection. J Immunol. 2001 Jun 1;166(11):6555-63.

214. Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Burchell JM, Plunkett T, Graham R, Correa I, Miles D, et al. MUC1 and the immunobiology of cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. 2002 Apr;7(2):209-21.

215. Xing PX, Michael M, Apostolopoulos V, al. e. Phase I study of synthetic MUC1 peptides in breast cancer. Internl J Oncol. 1995;6:1283-9.

216. Acres B, Apostolopoulos V, Balloul JM, Wreschner D, Xing PX, Ali-Hadji D, et al. MUC1-specific immune responses in human MUC1 transgenic mice immunized with various human MUC1 vaccines. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2000 Jan;48(10):588-94.

217. Gong J, Chen D, Kashiwaba M, Li Y, Chen L, Takeuchi H, et al. Reversal of tolerance to human MUC1 antigen in MUC1 transgenic mice immunized with fusions of dendritic and carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1998 May 26;95(11):6279-83.

218. Lees CJ, Apostolopoulos V, Acres B, Ramshaw I, Ramsay A, Ong CS, et al. Immunotherapy with mannan-MUC1 and IL-12 in MUC1 transgenic mice. Vaccine. 2000 Sep 15;19(2-3):158-62.

219. Apostolopoulos V, Xing PX, Trapani JA, Mckenzie IFC. Production of Anti-Breast Cancer Monoclonal-Antibodies Using a Glutathione-S-Transferase-Muc1 Bacterial Fusion Protein. Brit J Cancer. 1993 Apr;67(4):713-20.

220. Apostolopoulos V, Pietersz GA, Loveland BE, Sandrin MS, McKenzie IF. Oxidative/reductive conjugation of mannan to antigen selects for T1 or T2 immune responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Oct 24;92(22):10128-32.

221. Ulmer JB, Donnelly JJ, Parker SE, Rhodes GH, Felgner PL, Dwarki VJ, et al. Heterologous protection against influenza by injection of DNA encoding a viral protein. Science. 1993 Mar 19;259(5102):1745-9.

222. Raz E, Carson DA, Parker SE, Parr TB, Abai AM, Aichinger G, et al. Intradermal gene immunization: the possible role of DNA uptake in the induction of cellular immunity to viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Sep 27;91(20):9519-23.

223. Graham RA, Burchell JM, Beverley P, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. Intramuscular immunisation with MUC1 cDNA can protect C57 mice challenged with MUC1-expressing syngeneic mouse tumour cells. Int J Cancer. 1996 Mar 1;65(5):664-70.

224. Hareuveni M, Gautier C, Kieny MP, Wreschner D, Chambon P, Lathe R. Vaccination against tumor cells expressing breast cancer epithelial tumor antigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1990 Dec;87(23):9498-502.

225. Buller RM, Smith GL, Cremer K, Notkins AL, Moss B. Decreased virulence of recombinant vaccinia virus expression vectors is associated with a thymidine kinase-negative phenotype. Nature. 1985 Oct 31-Nov 6;317(6040):813-5.

226. Akagi J, Hodge JW, McLaughlin JP, Gritz L, Mazzara G, Kufe D, et al. Therapeutic antitumor response after immunization with an admixture of recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing a modified MUC1 gene and the murine T-cell costimulatory molecule B7. J Immunother. 1997 Jan;20(1):38-47.

227. Bu D, Domenech N, Lewis J, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Finn OJ. Recombinant vaccinia mucin vector: in vitro analysis of expression of tumor-associated epitopes for antibody and human cytotoxic T-cell recognition. J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol. 1993 Aug;14(2):127-35.

228. Acres RB, Hareuveni M, Balloul JM, Kieny MP. Vaccinia virus MUC1 immunization of mice: immune response and protection against the growth of murine tumors bearing the MUC1 antigen. J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol. 1993 Aug;14(2):136-43.

229. Liu M, Acres B, Balloul JM, Bizouarne N, Paul S, Slos P, et al. Gene-based vaccines and immunotherapeutics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Oct 5;101 Suppl 2:14567-71.

230. Gong J, Chen L, Chen D, Kashiwaba M, Manome Y, Tanaka T, et al. Induction of antigen-specific antitumor immunity with adenovirus-transduced dendritic cells. Gene Ther. 1997 Oct;4(10):1023-8.

231. Maruyama K, Akiyama Y, Nara-Ashizawa N, Hojo T, Cheng JY, Mizuguchi H, et al. Adenovirus-Mediated MUC1 gene transduction into human bloodderived dendritic cells. J Immunother. 2001 Jul-Aug;24(4):345-53.

232. Acres B, Limacher JM. MUC1 as a target antigen for cancer immunotherapy. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2005 Aug;4(4):493-502.

233. Yu LG. The oncofetal Thomsen-Friedenreich carbohydrate antigen in cancer progression. Glycoconj J. 2007 Nov;24(8):411-20.

234. Kobata A, Amano J. Altered glycosylation of proteins produced by malignant cells, and application for the diagnosis and immunotherapy of tumours. Immunol Cell Biol. 2005 Aug;83(4):429-39.

235. Rhodes JM, Yu LG. Glycosylation and disease. Encyclopedia of Life Sciences [serial on the Internet]. 2000: Available from: <u>http://www.else.net</u>.

236. Brockhausen I. Mucin-type O-glycans in human colon and breast cancer: glycodynamics and functions. EMBO Rep. 2006 Jun;7(6):599-604.

237. Campbell BJ, Finnie IA, Hounsell EF, Rhodes JM. Direct demonstration of increased expression of Thomsen-Friedenreich (TF) antigen in colonic adenocarcinoma and ulcerative colitis mucin and its concealment in normal mucin. J Clin Invest. 1995 Feb;95(2):571-6.

238. Raouf AH, Tsai HH, Parker N, Hoffman J, Walker RJ, Rhodes JM. Sulphation of colonic and rectal mucin in inflammatory bowel disease: reduced sulphation of rectal mucus in ulcerative colitis. Clin Sci (Lond). 1992 Nov;83(5):623-6.

239. Nakagoe T, Sawai T, Tsuji T, Jibiki M, Nanashima A, Yamaguchi H, et al. Pre-operative serum levels of sialyl Tn antigen predict liver metastasis and poor prognosis in patients with gastric cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2001 Dec;27(8):731-9.

240. Itzkowitz SH, Marshall A, Kornbluth A, Harpaz N, McHugh JB, Ahnen D, et al. Sialosyl-Tn antigen: initial report of a new marker of malignant progression in long-standing ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 1995 Aug;109(2):490-7.

241. Sewell R, Backstrom M, Dalziel M, Gschmeissner S, Karlsson H, Noll T, et al. The ST6GalNAc-I sialyltransferase localizes throughout the Golgi and is responsible for the synthesis of the tumor-associated sialyl-Tn O-glycan in human breast cancer. J Biol Chem. 2006 Feb 10;281(6):3586-94.

242. Campbell BJ, Yu LG, Rhodes JM. Altered glycosylation in inflammatory bowel disease: a possible role in cancer development. Glycoconj J. 2001 Nov-Dec;18(11-12):851-8.

243. Chalifoux LV, Bronson RT. Colonic adenocarcinoma associated with chronic colitis in cotton top marmosets, Saguinus oedipus. Gastroenterology. 1981 May;80(5 pt 1):942-6.

244. Moore R, King N, Alroy J. Differences in cellular glycoconjugates of quiescent, inflamed, and neoplastic colonic epithelium in colitis and cancerprone tamarins. Am J Pathol. 1988 Jun; 131(3):484-9. 245. Boland CR, Clapp NK. Glycoconjugates in the colons of New World monkeys with spontaneous colitis. Association between inflammation and neoplasia. Gastroenterology. 1987 Mar;92(3):625-34.

246. Askling J, Dickman PW, Karlen P, Brostrom O, Lapidus A, Lofberg R, et al. Colorectal cancer rates among first-degree relatives of patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based cohort study. Lancet. 2001 Jan 27;357(9252):262-6.

247. Singh R, Campbell BJ, Yu LG, Fernig DG, Milton JD, Goodlad RA, et al. Cell surface-expressed Thomsen-Friedenreich antigen in colon cancer is predominantly carried on high molecular weight splice variants of CD44. Glycobiology. 2001 Jul;11(7):587-92.

248. Goupille C, Hallouin F, Meflah K, Le Pendu J. Increase of rat colon carcinoma cells tumorigenicity by alpha(1-2) fucosyltransferase gene transfection. Glycobiology. 1997 Mar;7(2):221-9.

249. Yang JM, Byrd JC, Siddiki BB, Chung YS, Okuno M, Sowa M, et al. Alterations of O-glycan biosynthesis in human colon cancer tissues. Glycobiology. 1994 Dec;4(6):873-84.

250. Rabouille C, Hui N, Hunte F, Kieckbusch R, Berger EG, Warren G, et al. Mapping the distribution of Golgi enzymes involved in the construction of complex oligosaccharides. J Cell Sci. 1995 Apr;108 (Pt 4):1617-27.

251. Rhodes JM, Campbell BJ. Inflammation and colorectal cancer: IBDassociated and sporadic cancer compared. Trends Mol Med. 2002 Jan;8(1):10-6.

252. Schindler M, Grabski S, Hoff E, Simon SM. Defective pH regulation of acidic compartments in human breast cancer cells (MCF-7) is normalized in adriamycin-resistant cells (MCF-7adr). Biochemistry. 1996 Mar 5;35(9):2811-7.

253. Axelsson MA, Karlsson NG, Steel DM, Ouwendijk J, Nilsson T, Hansson GC. Neutralization of pH in the Golgi apparatus causes redistribution of glycosyltransferases and changes in the O-glycosylation of mucins. Glycobiology. 2001 Aug;11(8):633-44.

254. Hanisch FG, Baldus SE. The Thomsen-Friedenreich (TF) antigen: a critical review on the structural, biosynthetic and histochemical aspects of a pancarcinoma-associated antigen. Histol Histopathol. 1997 Jan;12(1):263-81.

255. Bodger K, Halfvarson J, Dodson AR, Campbell F, Wilson S, Lee R, et al. Altered colonic glycoprotein expression in unaffected monozygotic twins of inflammatory bowel disease patients. Gut. 2006 Jul;55(7):973-7.

256. Kurtenkov O, Miljukhina L, Smorodin J, Klaamas K, Bovin N, Ellamaa M, et al. Natural IgM and IgG antibodies to Thomsen-Friedenreich (T) antigen in serum of patients with gastric cancer and blood donors--relation to Lewis (a,b) histoblood group phenotype. Acta Oncol. 1999;38(7):939-43.

257. Dahiya R, Itzkowitz SH, Byrd JC, Kim YS. Mucin oligosaccharide biosynthesis in human colonic cancerous tissues and cell lines. Cancer. 1992 Sep 15;70(6):1467-76.

258. Whitehouse C, Burchell J, Gschmeissner S, Brockhausen I, Lloyd KO, Taylor-Papadimitriou J. A transfected sialyltransferase that is elevated in breast cancer and localizes to the medial/trans-Golgi apparatus inhibits the development of core-2-based O-glycans. J Cell Biol. 1997 Jun 16;137(6):1229-41. 259. Kuhns W, Jain RK, Matta KL, Paulsen H, Baker MA, Geyer R, et al.

259. Kuhns W, Jain RK, Matta KL, Paulsen H, Baker MA, Geyer R, et al. Characterization of a novel mucin sulphotransferase activity synthesizing sulphated O-glycan core 1,3-sulphate-Gal beta 1-3GalNAc alpha-R. Glycobiology. 1995 Oct;5(7):689-97.

260. Ju T, Cummings RD. A unique molecular chaperone Cosmc required for activity of the mammalian core 1 beta 3-galactosyltransferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Dec 24;99(26):16613-8.

261. Schietinger A, Philip M, Yoshida BA, Azadi P, Liu H, Meredith SC, et al. A mutant chaperone converts a wild-type protein into a tumor-specific antigen. Science. 2006 Oct 13;314(5797):304-8.

262. Ju T, Lanneau GS, Gautam T, Wang Y, Xia B, Stowell SR, et al. Human tumor antigens Tn and sialyl Tn arise from mutations in Cosmc. Cancer Res. 2008 Mar 15;68(6):1636-46.

263. Fu J, Gerhardt H, McDaniel JM, Xia B, Liu X, Ivanciu L, et al. Endothelial cell O-glycan deficiency causes blood/lymphatic misconnections and consequent fatty liver disease in mice. J Clin Invest. 2008 Nov;118(11):3725-37.

264. Xia L, Ju T, Westmuckett A, An G, Ivanciu L, McDaniel JM, et al. Defective angiogenesis and fatal embryonic hemorrhage in mice lacking core 1-derived O-glycans. J Cell Biol. 2004 Feb 2;164(3):451-9.

265. Boyd WC, Shapleigh E. Specific Precipitating Activity of Plant Agglutinins (Lectins). Science. 1954 Mar 26;119(3091):419.

266. Lis H, Sharon N. Lectins: Carbohydrate-Specific Proteins That Mediate Cellular Recognition. Chem Rev. 1998 Apr 2;98(2):637-74.

267. Gabius HJ, Andre S, Jimenez-Barbero J, Romero A, Solis D. From lectin structure to functional glycomics: principles of the sugar code. Trends Biochem Sci. 2011 Jun;36(6):298-313.

268. Pusztai A. Plant Lectins: Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK; 1991.

269. Ryder SD, Parker N, Ecclestone D, Haqqani MT, Rhodes JM. Peanut lectin stimulates proliferation in colonic explants from patients with inflammatory bowel disease and colon polyps. Gastroenterology. 1994 Jan;106(1):117-24.

270. Sharon N, Lis H. Legume lectins--a large family of homologous proteins. FASEB J. 1990 Nov;4(14):3198-208.

271. Banerjee R, Mande SC, Ganesh V, Das K, Dhanaraj V, Mahanta SK, et al. Crystal structure of peanut lectin, a protein with an unusual quaternary structure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Jan 4;91(1):227-31.

272. Ryder SD, Smith JA, Rhodes JM. Peanut lectin: a mitogen for normal human colonic epithelium and human HT29 colorectal cancer cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1992 Sep 16;84(18):1410-6.

273. Kiss R, Camby I, Duckworth C, De Decker R, Salmon I, Pasteels JL, et al. In vitro influence of Phaseolus vulgaris, Griffonia simplicifolia, concanavalin A, wheat germ, and peanut agglutinins on HCT-15, LoVo, and SW837 human colorectal cancer cell growth. Gut. 1997 Feb;40(2):253-61.

274. Yu L, Fernig DG, Smith JA, Milton JD, Rhodes JM. Reversible inhibition of proliferation of epithelial cell lines by Agaricus bisporus (edible mushroom) lectin. Cancer Res. 1993 Oct 1;53(19):4627-32.

275. Yu LG, Fernig DG, White MR, Spiller DG, Appleton P, Evans RC, et al. Edible mushroom (Agaricus bisporus) lectin, which reversibly inhibits epithelial cell proliferation, blocks nuclear localization sequence-dependent nuclear protein import. J Biol Chem. 1999 Feb 19;274(8):4890-9.

276. Singh R, Subramanian S, Rhodes JM, Campbell BJ. Peanut lectin stimulates proliferation of colon cancer cells by interaction with glycosylated CD44v6 isoforms and consequential activation of c-Met and MAPK: functional implications for disease-associated glycosylation changes. *Glycobiology*. 2006 Jul;16(7):594-601.

277. Barondes SH, Cooper DN, Gitt MA, Leffler H. Galectins. Structure and function of a large family of animal lectins. J Biol Chem. 1994 Aug 19;269(33):20807-10.

278. Demetter P, Nagy N, Martin B, Mathieu A, Dumont P, Decaestecker C, et al. The galectin family and digestive disease. J Pathol. 2008 May;215(1):1-12.

279. Brewer FC. Binding and cross-linking properties of galectins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2002 Sep 19;1572(2-3):255-62.

280. Cerliani JP, Stowell SR, Mascanfroni ID, Arthur CM, Cummings RD, Rabinovich GA. Expanding the universe of cytokines and pattern recognition receptors: galectins and glycans in innate immunity. J Clin Immunol. 2011 Feb;31(1):10-21.

281. Sanjuan X, Fernandez PL, Castells A, Castronovo V, van den Brule F, Liu FT, et al. Differential expression of galectin 3 and galectin 1 in colorectal cancer progression. Gastroenterology. 1997 Dec;113(6):1906-15.

282. Huflejt ME, Leffler H. Galectin-4 in normal tissues and cancer. Glycoconj J. 2004;20(4):247-55.

283. Nagy N, Bronckart Y, Camby I, Legendre H, Lahm H, Kaltner H, et al. Galectin-8 expression decreases in cancer compared with normal and dysplastic human colon tissue and acts significantly on human colon cancer cell migration as a suppressor. Gut. 2002 Mar;50(3):392-401.

284. Fischer C, Sanchez-Ruderisch H, Welzel M, Wiedenmann B, Sakai T, Andre S, et al. Galectin-1 interacts with the {alpha}5{beta}1 fibronectin receptor to restrict carcinoma cell growth via induction of p21 and p27. J Biol Chem. 2005 Nov 4;280(44):37266-77.

285. Irimura T, Matsushita Y, Sutton RC, Carralero D, Ohannesian DW, Cleary KR, et al. Increased content of an endogenous lactose-binding lectin in human colorectal carcinoma progressed to metastatic stages. Cancer Res. 1991 Jan 1;51(1):387-93.

286. Nakamura M, Inufusa H, Adachi T, Aga M, Kurimoto M, Nakatani Y, et al. Involvement of galectin-3 expression in colorectal cancer progression and metastasis. Int J Oncol. 1999 Jul;15(1):143-8.

287. Iurisci I, Tinari N, Natoli C, Angelucci D, Cianchetti E, Iacobelli S. Concentrations of galectin-3 in the sera of normal controls and cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res. 2000 Apr;6(4):1389-93.

288. Lee EC, Woo HJ, Korzelius CA, Steele GD, Jr., Mercurio AM. Carbohydratebinding protein 35 is the major cell-surface laminin-binding protein in colon carcinoma. Arch Surg. 1991 Dec;126(12):1498-502.

289. Nagy N, Legendre H, Engels O, Andre S, Kaltner H, Wasano K, et al. Refined prognostic evaluation in colon carcinoma using immunohistochemical galectin fingerprinting. Cancer. 2003 Apr 15;97(8):1849-58.

290. Hittelet A, Legendre H, Nagy N, Bronckart Y, Pector JC, Salmon I, et al. Upregulation of galectins-1 and -3 in human colon cancer and their role in regulating cell migration. Int J Cancer. 2003 Jan 20;103(3):370-9. 291. Hubert M, Wang SY, Wang JL, Seve AP, Hubert J. Intranuclear distribution of galectin-3 in mouse 3T3 fibroblasts: comparative analyses by immunofluorescence and immunoelectron microscopy. Exp Cell Res. 1995 Oct;220(2):397-406.

292. Fakan S, Puvion E, Sphor G. Localization and characterization of newly synthesized nuclear RNA in isolate rat hepatocytes. Exp Cell Res. 1976 Apr;99(1):155-64.

293. Zhang G, Taneja KL, Singer RH, Green MR. Localization of pre-mRNA splicing in mammalian nuclei. Nature. 1994 Dec 22-29;372(6508):809-12.

294. Schoeppner HL, Raz A, Ho SB, Bresalier RS. Expression of an endogenous galactose-binding lectin correlates with neoplastic progression in the colon. Cancer. 1995 Jun 15;75(12):2818-26.

295. Andre S, Kojima S, Yamazaki N, Fink C, Kaltner H, Kayser K, et al. Galectins-1 and -3 and their ligands in tumor biology. Non-uniform properties in cell-surface presentation and modulation of adhesion to matrix glycoproteins for various tumor cell lines, in biodistribution of free and liposome-bound galectins and in their expression by breast and colorectal carcinomas with/without metastatic propensity. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 1999 Aug-Sep;125(8-9):461-74.

296. Lahm H, Andre S, Hoeflich A, Fischer JR, Sordat B, Kaltner H, et al. Comprehensive galectin fingerprinting in a panel of 61 human tumor cell lines by RT-PCR and its implications for diagnostic and therapeutic procedures. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 2001;127(6):375-86.

297. Chiu ML, Parry DA, Feldman SR, Klapper DG, O'Keefe EJ. An adherens junction protein is a member of the family of lactose-binding lectins. J Biol Chem. 1994 Dec 16;269(50):31770-6.

298. Huflejt ME, Jordan ET, Gitt MA, Barondes SH, Leffler H. Strikingly different localization of galectin-3 and galectin-4 in human colon adenocarcinoma T84 cells. Galectin-4 is localized at sites of cell adhesion. J Biol Chem. 1997 May 30;272(22):14294-303.

299. Chiu ML, Jones JC, O'Keefe EJ. Restricted tissue distribution of a 37-kD possible adherens junction protein. J Cell Biol. 1992 Dec;119(6):1689-700.

300. Su ZZ, Lin J, Shen R, Fisher PE, Goldstein NI, Fisher PB. Surface-epitope masking and expression cloning identifies the human prostate carcinoma tumor antigen gene PCTA-1 a member of the galectin gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996 Jul 9;93(14):7252-7.

301. Gopalkrishnan RV, Roberts T, Tuli S, Kang D, Christiansen KA, Fisher PB. Molecular characterization of prostate carcinoma tumor antigen-1, PCTA-1, a human galectin-8 related gene. Oncogene. 2000 Sep 7;19(38):4405-16.

302. Hsieh SH, Ying NW, Wu MH, Chiang WF, Hsu CL, Wong TY, et al. Galectin-1, a novel ligand of neuropilin-1, activates VEGFR-2 signaling and modulates the migration of vascular endothelial cells. Oncogene. 2008 Jun 12;27(26):3746-53.

303. Moiseeva EP, Williams B, Samani NJ. Galectin 1 inhibits incorporation of vitronectin and chondroitin sulfate B into the extracellular matrix of human vascular smooth muscle cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2003 Jan 20;1619(2):125-32.

304. Moiseeva EP, Spring EL, Baron JH, de Bono DP. Galectin 1 modulates attachment, spreading and migration of cultured vascular smooth muscle cells via interactions with cellular receptors and components of extracellular matrix. J Vasc Res. 1999 Jan-Feb;36(1):47-58.

305. Califice S, Castronovo V, Van Den Brule F. Galectin-3 and cancer (Review). Int J Oncol. 2004 Oct;25(4):983-92.

306. Ohannesian DW, Lotan D, Lotan R. Concomitant increases in galectin-1 and its glycoconjugate ligands (carcinoembryonic antigen, lamp-1, and lamp-2) in cultured human colon carcinoma cells by sodium butyrate. Cancer Res. 1994 Nov 15;54(22):5992-6000.

307. Walzel H, Blach M, Hirabayashi J, Kasai KI, Brock J. Involvement of CD2 and CD3 in galectin-1 induced signaling in human Jurkat T-cells. Glycobiology. 2000 Feb;10(2):131-40.

308. Perillo NL, Pace KE, Seilhamer JJ, Baum LG. Apoptosis of T cells mediated by galectin-1. Nature. 1995 Dec 14;378(6558):736-9.

309. Pace KE, Lee C, Stewart PL, Baum LG. Restricted receptor segregation into membrane microdomains occurs on human T cells during apoptosis induced by galectin-1. J Immunol. 1999 Oct 1;163(7):3801-11.

310. Earl LA, Bi S, Baum LG. N- and O-glycans modulate galectin-1 binding, CD45 signaling, and T cell death. J Biol Chem. 2010 Jan 22;285(4):2232-44.

311. Yu F, Finley RL, Jr., Raz A, Kim HR. Galectin-3 translocates to the perinuclear membranes and inhibits cytochrome c release from the mitochondria. A role for synexin in galectin-3 translocation. J Biol Chem. 2002 May 3;277(18):15819-27.

312. Akahani S, Nangia-Makker P, Inohara H, Kim HR, Raz A. Galectin-3: a novel antiapoptotic molecule with a functional BH1 (NWGR) domain of Bcl-2 family. Cancer Res. 1997 Dec 1;57(23):5272-6.

313. Fukumori T, Takenaka Y, Oka N, Yoshii T, Hogan V, Inohara H, et al. Endogenous galectin-3 determines the routing of CD95 apoptotic signaling pathways. Cancer Res. 2004 May 15;64(10):3376-9.

314. Elad-Sfadia G, Haklai R, Balan E, Kloog Y. Galectin-3 augments K-Ras activation and triggers a Ras signal that attenuates ERK but not phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity. J Biol Chem. 2004 Aug 13;279(33):34922-30.

315. Zhao Q, Guo X, Nash GB, Stone PC, Hilkens J, Rhodes JM, et al. Circulating galectin-3 promotes metastasis by modifying MUC1 localization on cancer cell surface. Cancer Res. 2009 Sep 1;69(17):6799-806.

316. Yu LG, Andrews N, Zhao Q, McKean D, Williams JF, Connor LJ, et al. Galectin-3 interaction with Thomsen-Friedenreich disaccharide on cancerassociated MUC1 causes increased cancer cell endothelial adhesion. J Biol Chem. 2007 Jan 5;282(1):773-81.

317. Stillman BN, Hsu DK, Pang M, Brewer CF, Johnson P, Liu FT, et al. Galectin-3 and galectin-1 bind distinct cell surface glycoprotein receptors to induce T cell death. J Immunol. 2006 Jan 15;176(2):778-89.

318. Ohannesian DW, Lotan D, Thomas P, Jessup JM, Fukuda M, Gabius HJ, et al. Carcinoembryonic antigen and other glycoconjugates act as ligands for galectin-3 in human colon carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 1995 May 15;55(10):2191-9.

319. Lagana A, Goetz JG, Cheung P, Raz A, Dennis JW, Nabi IR. Galectin binding to Mgat5-modified N-glycans regulates fibronectin matrix remodeling in tumor cells. Mol Cell Biol. 2006 Apr;26(8):3181-93.

320. Yang E, Shim JS, Woo HJ, Kim KW, Kwon HJ. Aminopeptidase N/CD13 induces angiogenesis through interaction with a pro-angiogenic protein, galectin-3. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007 Nov 16;363(2):336-41.

321. Inohara H, Akahani S, Koths K, Raz A. Interactions between galectin-3 and Mac-2-binding protein mediate cell-cell adhesion. Cancer Res. 1996 Oct 1;56(19):4530-4.

322. Greco C, Vona R, Cosimelli M, Matarrese P, Straface E, Scordati P, et al. Cell surface overexpression of galectin-3 and the presence of its ligand 90k in the blood plasma as determinants in colon neoplastic lesions. Glycobiology. 2004 Sep;14(9):783-92.

323. Bresalier RS, Byrd JC, Tessler D, Lebel J, Koomen J, Hawke D, et al. A circulating ligand for galectin-3 is a haptoglobin-related glycoprotein elevated in individuals with colon cancer. Gastroenterology. 2004 Sep;127(3):741-8.

324. Ideo H, Seko A, Yamashita K. Galectin-4 binds to sulfated glycosphingolipids and carcinoembryonic antigen in patches on the cell surface of human colon adenocarcinoma cells. J Biol Chem. 2005 Feb 11;280(6):4730-7.

325. Ideo H, Seko A, Ohkura T, Matta KL, Yamashita K. High-affinity binding of recombinant human galectin-4 to SO(3)(-)-->3Galbeta1-->3GalNAc pyranoside. Glycobiology. 2002 Mar;12(3):199-208.

326. Satelli A, Rao PS, Thirumala S, Rao US. Galectin-4 functions as a tumor suppressor of human colorectal cancer. Int J Cancer. 2010 Nov 9.

327. Hadari YR, Arbel-Goren R, Levy Y, Amsterdam A, Alon R, Zakut R, et al. Galectin-8 binding to integrins inhibits cell adhesion and induces apoptosis. J Cell Sci. 2000 Jul;113 (Pt 13):2385-97.

328. Takenaka Y, Fukumori T, Raz A. Galectin-3 and metastasis. Glycoconj J. 2004;19(7-9):543-9.

329. Bresalier RS, Mazurek N, Sternberg LR, Byrd JC, Yunker CK, Nangia-Makker P, et al. Metastasis of human colon cancer is altered by modifying expression of the beta-galactoside-binding protein galectin 3. Gastroenterology. 1998 Aug;115(2):287-96.

330. Yu LG. Circulating galectin-3 in the bloodstream: an emerging promoter of cancer metastasis. World J Gastrointest Oncol. 2010;2:177-80.

331. Ishizuka I. Chemistry and functional distribution of sulfoglycolipids. Prog Lipid Res. 1997 Dec;36(4):245-319.

332. Levy Y, Arbel-Goren R, Hadari YR, Eshhar S, Ronen D, Elhanany E, et al. Galectin-8 functions as a matricellular modulator of cell adhesion. J Biol Chem. 2001 Aug 17;276(33):31285-95.

333. Leffler H, Barondes SH. Specificity of binding of three soluble rat lung lectins to substituted and unsubstituted mammalian beta-galactosides. J Biol Chem. 1986 Aug 5;261(22):10119-26.

334. Ahmed H, Bianchet MA, Amzel LM, Hirabayashi J, Kasai K, Giga-Hama Y, et al. Novel carbohydrate specificity of the 16-kDa galectin from Caenorhabditis elegans: binding to blood group precursor oligosaccharides (type 1, type 2, Talpha, and Tbeta) and gangliosides. Glycobiology. 2002 Aug;12(8):451-61.

335. Beuth J, Ko HL, Oette K, Pulverer G, Roszkowski K, Uhlenbruck G. Inhibition of liver metastasis in mice by blocking hepatocyte lectins with arabinogalactan infusions and D-galactose. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 1987;113(1):51-5.

336. Ingrassia L, Camby I, Lefranc F, Mathieu V, Nshimyumukiza P, Darro F, et al. Anti-galectin compounds as potential anti-cancer drugs. Curr Med Chem. 2006;13(29):3513-27.

337. Oguchi H, Toyokuni T, Dean B, Ito H, Otsuji E, Jones VL, et al. Effect of lactose derivatives on metastatic potential of B16 melanoma cells. Cancer Commun. 1990;2(9):311-6.

338. Glinsky GV, Price JE, Glinsky VV, Mossine VV, Kiriakova G, Metcalf JB. Inhibition of human breast cancer metastasis in nude mice by synthetic glycoamines. Cancer Res. 1996 Dec 1;56(23):5319-24.

339. Vrasidas I, Andre S, Valentini P, Bock C, Lensch M, Kaltner H, et al. Rigidified multivalent lactose molecules and their interactions with mammalian galectins: a route to selective inhibitors. Org Biomol Chem. 2003 Mar 7;1(5):803-10.

340. Zou J, Glinsky VV, Landon LA, Matthews L, Deutscher SL. Peptides specific to the galectin-3 carbohydrate recognition domain inhibit metastasis-associated cancer cell adhesion. Carcinogenesis. 2005 Feb;26(2):309-18.

341. Platt D, Raz A. Modulation of the lung colonization of B16-F1 melanoma cells by citrus pectin. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1992 Mar 18;84(6):438-42.

342. Glinsky VV, Raz A. Modified citrus pectin anti-metastatic properties: one bullet, multiple targets. Carbohydr Res. 2009 Sep 28;344(14):1788-91.

343. Colnot C, Ripoche MA, Milon G, Montagutelli X, Crocker PR, Poirier F. Maintenance of granulocyte numbers during acute peritonitis is defective in galectin-3-null mutant mice. Immunology. 1998 Jul;94(3):290-6.

344. Fogh J, Trempe G. Human tumor cells in vitro. New York: Plemum Publ Corp; 1975.

345. Cohen E, Ophir I, Shaul YB. Induced differentiation in HT29, a human colon adenocarcinoma cell line. J Cell Sci. 1999 Aug;112 (Pt 16):2657-66.

346. Leteurtre E, Gouyer V, Rousseau K, Moreau O, Barbat A, Swallow D, et al. Differential mucin expression in colon carcinoma HT-29 clones with variable resistance to 5-fluorouracil and methotrexate. Biol Cell. 2004 Mar;96(2):145-51.

347. Laemmli UK. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature. 1970 Aug 15;227(5259):680-5.

348. Gold P, Freedman SO. Demonstration of Tumor-Specific Antigens in Human Colonic Carcinomata by Immunological Tolerance and Absorption Techniques. J Exp Med. 1965 Mar 1;121:439-62.

349. Gold P, Freedman SO. Specific carcinoembryonic antigens of the human digestive system. J Exp Med. 1965 Sep 1;122(3):467-81.

350. Thomas P, Toth CA, Saini KS, Jessup JM, Steele G, Jr. The structure, metabolism and function of the carcinoembryonic antigen gene family. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1990 Dec 11;1032(2-3):177-89.

351. Hammarstrom S. The carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) family: structures, suggested functions and expression in normal and malignant tissues. Semin Cancer Biol. 1999 Apr;9(2):67-81.

352. Thompson JA, Grunert F, Zimmermann W. Carcinoembryonic antigen gene family: molecular biology and clinical perspectives. J Clin Lab Anal. 1991;5(5):344-66.

353. Jessup JM, Thomas P. Carcinoembryonic antigen: function in metastasis by human colorectal carcinoma. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 1989 Dec;8(3):263-80.

354. Boucher D, Cournoyer D, Stanners CP, Fuks A. Studies on the control of gene expression of the carcinoembryonic antigen family in human tissue. Cancer Res. 1989 Feb 15;49(4):847-52.

355. Thomson DM, Krupey J, Freedman SO, Gold P. The radioimmunoassay of circulating carcinoembryonic antigen of the human digestive system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1969 Sep;64(1):161-7.

356. Wanebo HJ, Rao B, Pinsky CM, Hoffman RG, Stearns M, Schwartz MK, et al. Preoperative carcinoembryonic antigen level as a prognostic indicator in colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med. 1978 Aug 31;299(9):448-51.

357. Rieger A, Wahren B. CEA levels at recurrence and metastases; importance for detecting secondary disease. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1975;10(8):869-74.

358. Bhatnagar J, Tewari HB, Bhatnagar M, Austin GE. Comparison of carcinoembryonic antigen in tissue and serum with grade and stage of colon cancer. Anticancer Res. 1999 May-Jun;19(3B):2181-7.

359. Goslin R, O'Brien MJ, Steele G, Mayer R, Wilson R, Corson JM, et al. Correlation of Plasma CEA and CEA tissue staining in poorly differentiated colorectal cancer. Am J Med. 1981 Aug;71(2):246-53.

360. Grem J. The prognostic importance of tumor markers in adenocarcinomas of the gastrointestinal tract. Curr Opin Oncol. 1997 Jul;9(4):380-7.

361. Sturgeon C. Practice guidelines for tumor marker use in the clinic. Clin Chem. 2002 Aug;48(8):1151-9.

362. Blake KE, Dalbow MH, Concannon JP, Hodgson SE, Brodmerkel GJ, Jr., Panahandeh AH, et al. Clinical significance of the preoperative plasma carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) level in patients with carcinoma of the large bowel. Dis Colon Rectum. 1982 Jan-Feb;25(1):24-32.

363. Carpelan-Holmstrom M, Haglund C, Lundin J, Jarvinen H, Roberts P. Preoperative serum levels of CA 242 and CEA predict outcome in colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer. 1996 Jun;32A(7):1156-61.

364. Harrison LE, Guillem JG, Paty P, Cohen AM. Preoperative carcinoembryonic antigen predicts outcomes in node-negative colon cancer patients: a multivariate analysis of 572 patients. J Am Coll Surg. 1997 Jul;185(1):55-9.

365. Moertel CG, O'Fallon JR, Go VL, O'Connell MJ, Thynne GS. The preoperative carcinoembryonic antigen test in the diagnosis, staging, and prognosis of colorectal cancer. Cancer. 1986 Aug 1;58(3):603-10.

366. Chu DZ, Erickson CA, Russell MP, Thompson C, Lang NP, Broadwater RJ, et al. Prognostic significance of carcinoembryonic antigen in colorectal carcinoma. Serum levels before and after resection and before recurrence. Arch Surg. 1991 Mar;126(3):314-6.

367. Carriquiry LA, Pineyro A. Should carcinoembryonic antigen be used in the management of patients with colorectal cancer? Dis Colon Rectum. 1999 Jul;42(7):921-9.

368. Duffy MJ, van Dalen A, Haglund C, Hansson L, Klapdor R, Lamerz R, et al. Clinical utility of biochemical markers in colorectal cancer: European Group on Tumour Markers (EGTM) guidelines. Eur J Cancer. 2003 Apr;39(6):718-27.

369. Duffy MJ. CA 19-9 as a marker for gastrointestinal cancers: a review. Ann Clin Biochem. 1998 May;35 ( Pt 3):364-70.

370. Lindmark G, Bergstrom R, Pahlman L, Glimelius B. The association of preoperative serum tumour markers with Dukes' stage and survival in colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 1995 May;71(5):1090-4.

371. Nakayama T, Watanabe M, Teramoto T, Kitajima M. CA19-9 as a predictor of recurrence in patients with colorectal cancer. J Surg Oncol. 1997 Dec;66(4):238-43.

372. Reiter W, Stieber P, Reuter C, Nagel D, Lau-Werner U, Pahl H, et al. Preoperative serum levels of CEA and CA 19-9 and their prognostic significance in colorectal carcinoma. Anticancer Res. 1997 Jul-Aug;17(4B):2935-8.

373. Hall NR, Finan PJ, Stephenson BM, Purves DA, Cooper EH. The role of CA-242 and CEA in surveillance following curative resection for colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. 1994 Sep;70(3):549-53.

374. Carpelan-Holmstrom MA, Haglund CH, Jarvinen HJ, Roberts PJ. Serum CA 242 and CEA detect different patients with recurrent colorectal cancer. Anticancer Res. 1996 Mar-Apr;16(2):981-6.

375. von Kleist S, Hesse Y, Kananeeh H. Comparative evaluation of four tumor markers, CA 242, CA 19/9, TPA and CEA in carcinomas of the colon. Anticancer Res. 1996 Jul-Aug;16(4B):2325-31.

376. Chambers AF, Matrisian LM. Changing views of the role of matrix metalloproteinases in metastasis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1997 Sep 3;89(17):1260-70.

377. Holten-Andersen MN, Christensen IJ, Nielsen HJ, Stephens RW, Jensen V, Nielsen OH, et al. Total levels of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 in plasma yield high diagnostic sensitivity and specificity in patients with colon cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2002 Jan;8(1):156-64.

378. Holten-Andersen MN, Stephens RW, Nielsen HJ, Murphy G, Christensen IJ, Stetler-Stevenson W, et al. High preoperative plasma tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 levels are associated with short survival of patients with colorectal cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2000 Nov;6(11):4292-9.

379. Bjerner J, Hogetveit A, Wold Akselberg K, Vangsnes K, Paus E, Bjoro T, et al. Reference intervals for carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), CA125, MUC1, Alfafoeto-protein (AFP), neuron-specific enolase (NSE) and CA19.9 from the NORIP study. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2008;68(8):703-13.

380. Carcinoembryonic Antigen CEA. [updated 4/22/2002]; Available from: <u>http://www.medicinenet.com/carcinoembryonic antigen/article.htm</u>.

381. Watanabe M, Takemasa I, Kaneko N, Yokoyama Y, Matsuo E, Iwasa S, et al. Clinical significance of circulating galectins as colorectal cancer markers. Oncol Rep. 2011 May;25(5):1217-26.

382. Zhao Q, Barclay M, Hilkens J, Guo X, Barrow H, Rhodes JM, et al. Interaction between circulating galectin-3 and cancer-associated MUC1 enhances tumour cell homotypic aggregation and prevents anoikis. Mol Cancer. 2010;9:154.

383. Pantel K, Brakenhoff RH. Dissecting the metastatic cascade. Nat Rev Cancer. 2004 Jun;4(6):448-56.

384. Steuer AF, Ting RC. Formation of larger cell aggregates by transformed cells: an in vitro index of cell transformation. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1976 Jun;56(6):1279-80.

385. Yawata A, Adachi M, Okuda H, Naishiro Y, Takamura T, Hareyama M, et al. Prolonged cell survival enhances peritoneal dissemination of gastric cancer cells. Oncogene. 1998 May;16(20):2681-6.

386. Camby I, Le Mercier M, Lefranc F, Kiss R. Galectin-1: a small protein with major functions. Glycobiology. 2006 Nov;16(11):137R-57R.

387. Dumic J, Dabelic S, Flogel M. Galectin-3: an open-ended story. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2006 Apr;1760(4):616-35.

388. Leffler H, Carlsson S, Hedlund M, Qian Y, Poirier F. Introduction to galectins. Glycoconj J. 2004;19(7-9):433-40.

389. Rubinstein N, Alvarez M, Zwirner NW, Toscano MA, Ilarregui JM, Bravo A, et al. Targeted inhibition of galectin-1 gene expression in tumor cells results in heightened T cell-mediated rejection; A potential mechanism of tumor-immune privilege. Cancer Cell. 2004 Mar;5(3):241-51.

390. Frigeri LG, Zuberi RI, Liu FT. Epsilon BP, a beta-galactoside-binding animal lectin, recognizes IgE receptor (Fc epsilon RI) and activates mast cells. Biochemistry. 1993 Aug 3;32(30):7644-9.

391. La M, Cao TV, Cerchiaro G, Chilton K, Hirabayashi J, Kasai K, et al. A novel biological activity for galectin-1: inhibition of leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in experimental inflammation. Am J Pathol. 2003 Oct;163(4):1505-15.

392. Sano H, Hsu DK, Yu L, Apgar JR, Kuwabara I, Yamanaka T, et al. Human galectin-3 is a novel chemoattractant for monocytes and macrophages. J Immunol. 2000 Aug 15;165(4):2156-64.

393. Hahn HP, Pang M, He J, Hernandez JD, Yang RY, Li LY, et al. Galectin-1 induces nuclear translocation of endonuclease G in caspase- and cytochrome c-independent T cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2004 Dec;11(12):1277-86.

394. Sturm A, Lensch M, Andre S, Kaltner H, Wiedenmann B, Rosewicz S, et al. Human galectin-2: novel inducer of T cell apoptosis with distinct profile of caspase activation. J Immunol. 2004 Sep 15;173(6):3825-37.

395. Almkvist J, Dahlgren C, Leffler H, Karlsson A. Activation of the neutrophil nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase by galectin-1. J Immunol. 2002 Apr 15;168(8):4034-41.

396. Almkvist J, Faldt J, Dahlgren C, Leffler H, Karlsson A. Lipopolysaccharideinduced gelatinase granule mobilization primes neutrophils for activation by galectin-3 and formylmethionyl-Leu-Phe. Infect Immun. 2001 Feb;69(2):832-7.

397. Yamaoka A, Kuwabara I, Frigeri LG, Liu FT. A human lectin, galectin-3 (epsilon bp/Mac-2), stimulates superoxide production by neutrophils. J Immunol. 1995 Apr 1;154(7):3479-87.

398. Stowell SR, Arthur CM, Mehta P, Slanina KA, Blixt O, Leffler H, et al. Galectin-1, -2, and -3 exhibit differential recognition of sialylated glycans and blood group antigens. J Biol Chem. 2008 Apr 11;283(15):10109-23.

399. Geoghegan KF, Osuga DT, Ahmed AI, Yeh Y, Feeney RE. Antifreeze glycoproteins from Polar fish. Structural requirements for function of glycopeptide 8. J Biol Chem. 1980 Jan 25;255(2):663-7.

400. Lin Y, Duman JG, DeVries AL. Studies on the structure and activity of low molecular weight glycoproteins from an antarctic fish. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1972 Jan 14;46(1):87-92.

401. Harding MM, Anderberg PI, Haymet AD. 'Antifreeze' glycoproteins from polar fish. Eur J Biochem. 2003 Apr;270(7):1381-92.

402. Ahmed AI, Yeh Y, Osuga YY, Feeney RE. Antifreeze glycoproteins from Antarctic fish. Inactivation by borate. J Biol Chem. 1976 May 25;251(10):3033-6.

403. Brown WM, Dziegielewska KM, Saunders NR, Christie DL, Nawratil P, Muller-Esterl W. The nucleotide and deduced amino acid structures of sheep and

pig fetuin. Common structural features of the mammalian fetuin family. Eur J Biochem. 1992 Apr 1;205(1):321-31.

404. Falquerho L, Patey G, Paquereau L, Rossi V, Lahuna O, Szpirer J, et al. Primary structure of the rat gene encoding an inhibitor of the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase. Gene. 1991 Feb 15;98(2):209-16.

405. Yang F, Chen ZL, Bergeron JM, Cupples RL, Friedrichs WE. Human alpha 2-HS-glycoprotein/bovine fetuin homologue in mice: identification and developmental regulation of the gene. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1992 Mar 24;1130(2):149-56.

406. Pedersen KO. Fetuin, a new globulin isolated from serum. Nature Lond. 1944;154:575.

407. Schinke T, Amendt C, Trindl A, Poschke O, Muller-Esterl W, Jahnen-Dechent W. The serum protein alpha2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin inhibits apatite formation in vitro and in mineralizing calvaria cells. A possible role in mineralization and calcium homeostasis. J Biol Chem. 1996 Aug 23;271(34):20789-96.

408. Kumbla L, Cayatte AJ, Subbiah MT. Association of a lipoprotein-like particle with bovine fetuin. FASEB J. 1989 Jul;3(9):2075-80.

409. Suzuki M, Shimokawa H, Takagi Y, Sasaki S. Calcium-binding properties of fetuin in fetal bovine serum. J Exp Zool. 1994 Dec 15;270(6):501-7.

410. Green ED, Adelt G, Baenziger JU, Wilson S, Van Halbeek H. The asparaginelinked oligosaccharides on bovine fetuin. Structural analysis of N-glycanasereleased oligosaccharides by 500-megahertz 1H NMR spectroscopy. J Biol Chem. 1988 Dec 5;263(34):18253-68.

411. Nilsson B, Norden NE, Svensson S. Structural studies on the carbohydrate portion of fetuin. J Biol Chem. 1979 Jun 10;254(11):4545-53.

412. Begbie R. Studies on fetuin from foetal bovine serum. The composition and amino acid sequences of glycopeptides from fetuin. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1974 Dec 18;371(2):549-76.

413. Carlstedt I, Sheehan JK, Corfield AP, Gallagher JT. Mucous glycoproteins: a gel of a problem. Essays Biochem. 1985;20:40-76.

414. Wu AM, Csako G, Herp A. Structure, biosynthesis, and function of salivary mucins. Mol Cell Biochem. 1994 Aug 17;137(1):39-55.

415. Tabak LA. In defense of the oral cavity: structure, biosynthesis, and function of salivary mucins. Annu Rev Physiol. 1995;57:547-64.

416. Gottschalk A. Correlation between composition, structure, shape and function of a salivary mucoprotein. Nature. 1960 Jun 18;186:949-51.

417. Jiang W, Woltach JT, Keil RL, Bhavanandan VP. Bovine submaxillary mucin contains multiple domains and tandemly repeated non-identical sequences. Biochem J. 1998 Apr 1;331 (Pt 1):193-9.

418. Savage AV, Donoghue CM, D'Arcy SM, Koeleman CA, van den Eijnden DH. Structure determination of five sialylated trisaccharides with core types 1, 3 or 5 isolated from bovine submaxillary mucin. Eur J Biochem. 1990 Sep 11;192(2):427-32.

419. Lotan R, Skutelsky E, Danon D, Sharon N. The purification, composition, and specificity of the anti-T lectin from peanut (Arachis hypogaea). J Biol Chem. 1975 Nov 10;250(21):8518-23.

420. Chatterjee BP, Ahmed H, Uhlenbruck G, Janssen E, Kolar C, Seiler FR. Jackfruit (Artocarpus integrifolia) and the Agaricus mushroom lectin fit also to the so-called peanut receptor. Behring Inst Mitt. 1985 Dec(78):148-58.

421. Qu LJ, Ding YQ, Liang L. [Differential proteomic analysis of human colorectal carcinoma cell lines SW620 and SW480 with different metastatic potentials]. Di Yi Jun Yi Da Xue Xue Bao. 2005 Oct;25(10):1211-5, 20.

422. Rabinovich GA, Toscano MA, Jackson SS, Vasta GR. Functions of cell surface galectin-glycoprotein lattices. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2007 Oct;17(5):513-20.

423. Francis CW, Kaplan KL. Principles of Antithrombotic Therapy. 7th Ed. ed2006.

424. Bentolila A, Vlodavsky I, Haloun C, Domb AJ. Synthesis and heparin-like biological activity of amino acid-based polymers. Polym Adv Technol. 2000;11:377-87.

425. Gatti G, Casu B, Hamer GK, Perlin AS. Studies on the conformation of Heparin by 1H and 13C NMR spectroscopy. Macromolecules. 1979;12(5):1001-7.

426. Linhardt RJ, Ampofo SA, Fareed J, Hoppensteadt D, Mulliken JB, Folkman J. Isolation and characterization of human heparin. Biochemistry. 1992 Dec 15;31(49):12441-5.

427. Lindhardt R. Heparin: an important drug enters its seventh decade. Chem Indust. 1991;2:45-50.

428. Marcum JA. The origin of the dispute over the discovery of heparin. J Hist Med Allied Sci. 2000 Jan;55(1):37-66.

429. Mousa SA. Anticoagulants, Antiplatelets, and Thrombolytics: Springer Protocols; 2010.

430. Bjork I, Lindahl U. Mechanism of the anticoagulant action of heparin. Mol Cell Biochem. 1982 Oct 29;48(3):161-82.

431. Hirsh J, Raschke R. Heparin and low-molecular-weight heparin: the Seventh ACCP Conference on Antithrombotic and Thrombolytic Therapy. Chest. 2004 Sep;126(3 Suppl):188S-203S.

432. Casu B, Lindahl U. Structure and biological interactions of heparin and heparan sulfate. Adv Carbohydr Chem Biochem. 2001;57:159-206.

433. Hricovini M, Guerrini M, Bisio A, Torri G, Petitou M, Casu B. Conformation of heparin pentasaccharide bound to antithrombin III. Biochem J. 2001 Oct 15;359(Pt 2):265-72.

434. Hook M, Bjork I, Hopwood J, Lindahl U. Anticoagulant activity of heparin: separation of high-activity and low-activity heparin species by affinity chromatography on immobilized antithrombin. FEBS Lett. 1976 Jul 1;66(1):90-3. 435. Rosenberg RD, Lam L. Correlation between structure and function of

heparin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1979 Mar;76(3):1218-22.

436. Casu B, Oreste P, Torri G, Zoppetti G, Choay J, Lormeau JC, et al. The structure of heparin oligosaccharide fragments with high anti-(factor Xa) activity containing the minimal antithrombin III-binding sequence. Chemical and 13C nuclear-magnetic-resonance studies. Biochem J. 1981 Sep 1;197(3):599-609.

437. Ellis V, Scully MF, Kakkar VV. The relative molecular mass dependence of the anti-factor Xa properties of heparin. Biochem J. 1986 Sep 1;238(2):329-33.

438. Choay J, Lormeau JC, Petitou M, Sinay P, Fareed J. Structural studies on a biologically active hexasaccharide obtained from heparin. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1981;370:644-9.

439. Atha DH, Lormeau JC, Petitou M, Rosenberg RD, Choay J. Contribution of 3-O- and 6-O-sulfated glucosamine residues in the heparin-induced conformational change in antithrombin III. Biochemistry. 1987 Oct 6;26(20):6454-61.

440. Lindahl U, Thunberg L, Backstrom G, Riesenfeld J, Nordling K, Bjork I. Extension and structural variability of the antithrombin-binding sequence in heparin. J Biol Chem. 1984 Oct 25;259(20):12368-76.

441. Oosta GM, Gardner WT, Beeler DL, Rosenberg RD. Multiple functional domains of the heparin molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981 Feb;78(2):829-33.

442. Petitou M. Synthetic heparin fragments: new and efficient tools for the study of heparin and its interactions. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol. 1984;26(4):221-6.

443. Rosenberg RD, Jordan RE, Favreau LV, Lam LH. Highly active heparin species with multiple binding sites for antithrombin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1979 Feb 28;86(4):1319-24.

444. Thunberg L, Backstrom G, Lindahl U. Further characterization of the antithrombin-binding sequence in heparin. Carbohydr Res. 1982 Mar 1;100:393-410.

445. Nordenman B, Bjork I. Studies on the binding of heparin to prothrombin and thrombin and the effect of heparin-binding on thrombin activity. Thromb Res. 1978 May;12(5):755-65.

446. Olson ST, Srinivasan KR, Bjork I, Shore JD. Binding of high affinity heparin to antithrombin III. Stopped flow kinetic studies of the binding interaction. J Biol Chem. 1981 Nov 10;256(21):11073-9.

447. Villaneuva GB, Danishefsky I. Evidence for a heparin-induced conformational change on antithrombin III. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1977 Jan 24;74(2):803-9.

448. Beguin S, Mardiguian J, Lindhout T, Hemker HC. The mode of action of low molecular weight heparin preparation (PK10169) and two of its major components on thrombin generation in plasma. Thromb Haemost. 1989 Feb 28;61(1):30-4.

449. Ofosu FA, Hirsh J, Esmon CT, Modi GJ, Smith LM, Anvari N, et al. Unfractionated heparin inhibits thrombin-catalysed amplification reactions of coagulation more efficiently than those catalysed by factor Xa. Biochem J. 1989 Jan 1;257(1):143-50.

450. Ofosu FA, Modi GJ, Hirsh J, Buchanan MR, Blajchman MA. Mechanisms for inhibition of the generation of thrombin activity by sulfated polysaccharides. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1986;485:41-55.

451. Olson ST, Shore JD. Demonstration of a two-step reaction mechanism for inhibition of alpha-thrombin by antithrombin III and identification of the step affected by heparin. J Biol Chem. 1982 Dec 25;257(24):14891-5.

452. Danielsson A, Raub E, Lindahl U, Bjork I. Role of ternary complexes, in which heparin binds both antithrombin and proteinase, in the acceleration of the reactions between antithrombin and thrombin or factor Xa. J Biol Chem. 1986 Nov 25;261(33):15467-73.

453. Jordan RE, Oosta GM, Gardner WT, Rosenberg RD. The kinetics of hemostatic enzyme-antithrombin interactions in the presence of low molecular weight heparin. J Biol Chem. 1980 Nov 10;255(21):10081-90.

454. Lane DA, Denton J, Flynn AM, Thunberg L, Lindahl U. Anticoagulant activities of heparin oligosaccharides and their neutralization by platelet factor 4. Biochem J. 1984 Mar 15;218(3):725-32.

455. Tollefsen DM, Majerus DW, Blank MK. Heparin cofactor II. Purification and properties of a heparin-dependent inhibitor of thrombin in human plasma. J Biol Chem. 1982 Mar 10;257(5):2162-9.

456. Hurst RE, Poon MC, Griffith MJ. Structure-activity relationships of heparin. Independence of heparin charge density and antithrombin-binding domains in thrombin inhibition by antithrombin and heparin cofactor II. J Clin Invest. 1983 Sep;72(3):1042-5.

457. Maimone MM, Tollefsen DM. Activation of heparin cofactor II by heparin oligosaccharides. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1988 May 16;152(3):1056-61.

458. Petitou M, Lormeau JC, Perly B, Berthault P, Bossennec V, Sie P, et al. Is there a unique sequence in heparin for interaction with heparin cofactor II? Structural and biological studies of heparin-derived oligosaccharides. J Biol Chem. 1988 Jun 25;263(18):8685-90.

459. Sie P, Meguira B, Bouissou F, Boneu B, Barthe P. Plasma levels of heparin cofactor II in nephrotic syndrome of children. Nephron. 1988;48(2):175-6.

460. Hirsh J, Raschke R, Warkentin TE, Dalen JE, Deykin D, Poller L. Heparin: mechanism of action, pharmacokinetics, dosing considerations, monitoring, efficacy, and safety. Chest. 1995 Oct;108(4 Suppl):258S-75S.

461. Fareed J, Hoppensteadt D, Bick RL. An update on heparins at the beginning of the new millennium. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2000;26 (Suppl 1):5-21.

462. Springer TA. Traffic signals for lymphocyte recirculation and leukocyte emigration: the multistep paradigm. Cell. 1994 Jan 28;76(2):301-14.

463. McEver RP, Moore KL, Cummings RD. Leukocyte trafficking mediated by selectin-carbohydrate interactions. J Biol Chem. 1995 May 12;270(19):11025-8.

464. Lasky LA. Selectin-carbohydrate interactions and the initiation of the inflammatory response. Annu Rev Biochem. 1995;64:113-39.

465. Kansas GS. Selectins and their ligands: current concepts and controversies. Blood. 1996 Nov 1;88(9):3259-87.

466. Varki A. Selectin ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Aug 2;91(16):7390-7.

467. Rosen SD, Bertozzi CR. The selectins and their ligands. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 1994 Oct;6(5):663-73.

468. Dennis JW, Laferte S. Tumor cell surface carbohydrate and the metastatic phenotype. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 1987;5(3):185-204.

469. Hakomori S. Tumor malignancy defined by aberrant glycosylation and sphingo(glyco)lipid metabolism. Cancer Res. 1996 Dec 1;56(23):5309-18.

470. Hoff SD, Matsushita Y, Ota DM, Cleary KR, Yamori T, Hakomori S, et al. Increased expression of sialyl-dimeric LeX antigen in liver metastases of human colorectal carcinoma. Cancer Res. 1989 Dec 15;49(24 Pt 1):6883-8.

471. Takada A, Ohmori K, Yoneda T, Tsuyuoka K, Hasegawa A, Kiso M, et al. Contribution of carbohydrate antigens sialyl Lewis A and sialyl Lewis X to adhesion of human cancer cells to vascular endothelium. Cancer Res. 1993 Jan 15;53(2):354-61.

472. Stone JP, Wagner DD. P-selectin mediates adhesion of platelets to neuroblastoma and small cell lung cancer. J Clin Invest. 1993 Aug;92(2):804-13.

473. Mannori G, Crottet P, Cecconi O, Hanasaki K, Aruffo A, Nelson RM, et al. Differential colon cancer cell adhesion to E-, P-, and L-selectin: role of mucin-type glycoproteins. Cancer Res. 1995 Oct 1;55(19):4425-31.

474. Borsig L, Wong R, Feramisco J, Nadeau DR, Varki NM, Varki A. Heparin and cancer revisited: mechanistic connections involving platelets, P-selectin, carcinoma mucins, and tumor metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2001 Mar 13;98(6):3352-7.

475. Hayward R, Nossuli TO, Lefer AM. Heparinase III exerts endothelial and cardioprotective effects in feline myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1997 Dec;283(3):1032-8.

476. Nelson RM, Cecconi O, Roberts WG, Aruffo A, Linhardt RJ, Bevilacqua MP. Heparin oligosaccharides bind L- and P-selectin and inhibit acute inflammation. Blood. 1993 Dec 1;82(11):3253-8.

477. Norgard-Sumnicht K, Varki A. Endothelial heparan sulfate proteoglycans that bind to L-selectin have glucosamine residues with unsubstituted amino groups. J Biol Chem. 1995 May 19;270(20):12012-24.

478. Skinner MP, Lucas CM, Burns GF, Chesterman CN, Berndt MC. GMP-140 binding to neutrophils is inhibited by sulfated glycans. J Biol Chem. 1991 Mar 25;266(9):5371-4.

479. Sy MS, Schneeberger E, McCluskey R, Greene MI, Rosenberg RD, Benacerraf B. Inhibition of delayed-type hypersensitivity by heparin depleted of anticoagulant activity. Cell Immunol. 1983 Nov;82(1):23-32.

480. Sasaki S. Production of lymphocytosis by polysaccharide polysulphates (heparinoids). Nature. 1967 Jun 3;214(5092):1041-2.

481. Jansen CR, Cronkite EP, Mather GC, Nielsen NO, Rai K, Adamik ER, et al. Studies on lymphocytes. II. The production of lymphocytosis by intravenous heparin in calves. Blood. 1962 Oct;20:443-52.

482. Lee AE, Rogers LA, Jeffery RE, Longcroft JM. Comparison of metastatic cell lines derived from a murine mammary tumour, and reduction of metastasis by heparin. Clin Exp Metastasis. 1988 Nov-Dec;6(6):463-71.

483. Vlodavsky I, Mohsen M, Lider O, Svahn CM, Ekre HP, Vigoda M, et al. Inhibition of tumor metastasis by heparanase inhibiting species of heparin. Invasion Metastasis. 1994;14(1-6):290-302.

484. Ludwig RJ, Boehme B, Podda M, Henschler R, Jager E, Tandi C, et al. Endothelial P-selectin as a target of heparin action in experimental melanoma lung metastasis. Cancer Res. 2004 Apr 15;64(8):2743-50.

485. Stevenson JL, Choi SH, Varki A. Differential metastasis inhibition by clinically relevant levels of heparins--correlation with selectin inhibition, not antithrombotic activity. Clin Cancer Res. 2005 Oct 1;11(19 Pt 1):7003-11.

486. Ludwig RJ, Alban S, Bistrian R, Boehncke WH, Kaufmann R, Henschler R, et al. The ability of different forms of heparins to suppress P-selectin function in vitro correlates to their inhibitory capacity on bloodborne metastasis in vivo. Thromb Haemost. 2006 Mar;95(3):535-40.

487. Hostettler N, Naggi A, Torri G, Ishai-Michaeli R, Casu B, Vlodavsky I, et al. P-selectin- and heparanase-dependent antimetastatic activity of non-anticoagulant heparins. FASEB J. 2007 Nov;21(13):3562-72.

488. Borsig L. Antimetastatic activities of modified heparins: selectin inhibition by heparin attenuates metastasis. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2007 Jul;33(5):540-6.

489. Koenig A, Norgard-Sumnicht K, Linhardt R, Varki A. Differential interactions of heparin and heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans with the selectins. Implications for the use of unfractionated and low molecular weight heparins as therapeutic agents. J Clin Invest. 1998 Feb 15;101(4):877-89.

490. Nakamori S, Kameyama M, Imaoka S, Furukawa H, Ishikawa O, Sasaki Y, et al. Increased expression of sialyl Lewisx antigen correlates with poor survival in patients with colorectal carcinoma: clinicopathological and immunohistochemical study. Cancer Res. 1993 Aug 1;53(15):3632-7.

491. Ogawa J, Tsurumi T, Yamada S, Koide S, Shohtsu A. Blood vessel invasion and expression of sialyl Lewisx and proliferating cell nuclear antigen in stage I non-small cell lung cancer. Relation to postoperative recurrence. Cancer. 1994 Feb 15;73(4):1177-83.

492. Renkonen J, Paavonen T, Renkonen R. Endothelial and epithelial expression of sialyl Lewis(x) and sialyl Lewis(a) in lesions of breast carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 1997 Jun 20;74(3):296-300.

493. Tatsumi M, Watanabe A, Sawada H, Yamada Y, Shino Y, Nakano H. Immunohistochemical expression of the sialyl Lewis x antigen on gastric cancer cells correlates with the presence of liver metastasis. Clin Exp Metastasis. 1998 Nov;16(8):743-50.

494. Tozawa K, Okamoto T, Kawai N, Hashimoto Y, Hayashi Y, Kohri K. Positive correlation between sialyl Lewis X expression and pathologic findings in renal cell carcinoma. Kidney Int. 2005 Apr;67(4):1391-6.

495. Fuster MM, Brown JR, Wang L, Esko JD. A disaccharide precursor of sialyl Lewis X inhibits metastatic potential of tumor cells. Cancer Res. 2003 Jun 1;63(11):2775-81.

496. Borsig L, Wong R, Hynes RO, Varki NM, Varki A. Synergistic effects of Land P-selectin in facilitating tumor metastasis can involve non-mucin ligands and implicate leukocytes as enhancers of metastasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002 Feb 19;99(4):2193-8.

497. Laubli H, Stevenson JL, Varki A, Varki NM, Borsig L. L-selectin facilitation of metastasis involves temporal induction of Fut7-dependent ligands at sites of tumor cell arrest. Cancer Res. 2006 Feb 1;66(3):1536-42.

498. Valentine KA, Pineo GF, Hull RD. Low-Molecular-Weight Heparin in the Initial Treatment of Proximal Deep Vein Thrombosis. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 1997;4(3/4):345-7.

499. Somers WS, Tang J, Shaw GD, Camphausen RT. Insights into the molecular basis of leukocyte tethering and rolling revealed by structures of P- and E-selectin bound to SLe(X) and PSGL-1. Cell. 2000 Oct 27;103(3):467-79.

500. Wang L, Brown JR, Varki A, Esko JD. Heparin's anti-inflammatory effects require glucosamine 6-O-sulfation and are mediated by blockade of L- and P-selectins. J Clin Invest. 2002 Jul;110(1):127-36.

501. Xie X, Rivier AS, Zakrzewicz A, Bernimoulin M, Zeng XL, Wessel HP, et al. Inhibition of selectin-mediated cell adhesion and prevention of acute inflammation by nonanticoagulant sulfated saccharides. Studies with carboxylreduced and sulfated heparin and with trestatin a sulfate. J Biol Chem. 2000 Nov 3;275(44):34818-25.

502. Wei M, Tai G, Gao Y, Li N, Huang B, Zhou Y, et al. Modified heparin inhibits P-selectin-mediated cell adhesion of human colon carcinoma cells to

immobilized platelets under dynamic flow conditions. J Biol Chem. 2004 Jul 9;279(28):29202-10.

503. Vlodavsky I, Ishai-Michaeli R, Mohsen M, Bar-Shavit R, Catane R, Ekre HP, et al. Modulation of neovascularization and metastasis by species of heparin. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1992;313:317-27.

504. Lapierre F, Holme K, Lam L, Tressler RJ, Storm N, Wee J, et al. Chemical modifications of heparin that diminish its anticoagulant but preserve its heparanase-inhibitory, angiostatic, anti-tumor and anti-metastatic properties. Glycobiology. 1996 Apr;6(3):355-66.

505. Yates EA, Guimond SE, Turnbull JE. Highly diverse heparan sulfate analogue libraries: providing access to expanded areas of sequence space for bioactivity screening. J Med Chem. 2004 Jan 1;47(1):277-80.

506. Patey SJ, Edwards EA, Yates EA, Turnbull JE. Heparin derivatives as inhibitors of BACE-1, the Alzheimer's beta-secretase, with reduced activity against factor Xa and other proteases. J Med Chem. 2006 Oct 5;49(20):6129-32.

507. Levine MN, Hirsh J, Kelton JG. Heparin: chemical and biological properties clinical applications. Lane DA, Lindahl U, editors. London, UK1989.

508. Fryer A, Huang YC, Rao G, Jacoby D, Mancilla E, Whorton R, et al. Selective O-desulfation produces nonanticoagulant heparin that retains pharmacological activity in the lung. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1997 Jul;282(1):208-19.

509. Seeds EA, Hanss J, Page CP. The effect of heparin and related proteoglycans on allergen and PAF-induced eosinophil infiltration. J Lipid Mediat. 1993 Jul;7(3):269-78.

510. Iwai T, Narimatsu H. Experimental Glycoscience: Springer; 2008.

511. Cartron JP, Nurden AT. Galactosyltransferase and membrane glycoprotein abnormality in human platelets from Tn-syndrome donors. Nature. 1979 Dec 6;282(5739):621-3.

512. Springer GF. T and Tn, general carcinoma autoantigens. Science. 1984 Jun 15;224(4654):1198-206.

513. Springer GF, Taylor CR, Howard DR, Tegtmeyer H, Desai PR, Murthy SM, et al. Tn, a carcinoma-associated antigen, reacts with anti-Tn of normal human sera. Cancer. 1985 Feb 1;55(3):561-9.

514. Allen AC, Topham PS, Harper SJ, Feehally J. Leucocyte beta 1,3 galactosyltransferase activity in IgA nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1997 Apr;12(4):701-6.

515. Berger EG. Tn-syndrome. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1999 Oct 8;1455(2-3):255-68.

516. Blanchard B, Nurisso A, Hollville E, Tetaud C, Wiels J, Pokorna M, et al. Structural basis of the preferential binding for globo-series glycosphingolipids displayed by Pseudomonas aeruginosa lectin I. J Mol Biol. 2008 Nov 21;383(4):837-53.

517. Ju T, Brewer K, D'Souza A, Cummings RD, Canfield WM. Cloning and expression of human core 1 beta1,3-galactosyltransferase. J Biol Chem. 2002 Jan 4;277(1):178-86.

518. Aryal RP, Ju T, Cummings RD. The endoplasmic reticulum chaperone Cosmc directly promotes in vitro folding of T-synthase. J Biol Chem. 2010 Jan 22;285(4):2456-62.

519. Napoli C, Lemieux C, Jorgensen R. Introduction of a Chimeric Chalcone Synthase Gene into Petunia Results in Reversible Co-Suppression of Homologous Genes in trans. Plant Cell. 1990 Apr;2(4):279-89.

520. Cogoni C, Irelan JT, Schumacher M, Schmidhauser TJ, Selker EU, Macino G. Transgene silencing of the al-1 gene in vegetative cells of Neurospora is mediated by a cytoplasmic effector and does not depend on DNA-DNA interactions or DNA methylation. EMBO J. 1996 Jun 17;15(12):3153-63.

521. Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE, Mello CC. Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature. 1998 Feb 19;391(6669):806-11.

522. Hamilton AJ, Baulcombe DC. A species of small antisense RNA in posttranscriptional gene silencing in plants. Science. 1999 Oct 29;286(5441):950-2.

523. Elbashir SM, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T. RNA interference is mediated by 21and 22-nucleotide RNAs. Genes Dev. 2001 Jan 15;15(2):188-200.

524. Cullen BR. RNA interference: antiviral defense and genetic tool. Nat Immunol. 2002 Jul;3(7):597-9.

525. Sontheimer EJ. Assembly and function of RNA silencing complexes. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Feb;6(2):127-38.

526. Doi N, Zenno S, Ueda R, Ohki-Hamazaki H, Ui-Tei K, Saigo K. Shortinterfering-RNA-mediated gene silencing in mammalian cells requires Dicer and eIF2C translation initiation factors. Curr Biol. 2003 Jan 8;13(1):41-6.

527. Martinez J, Patkaniowska A, Urlaub H, Luhrmann R, Tuschl T. Singlestranded antisense siRNAs guide target RNA cleavage in RNAi. Cell. 2002 Sep 6;110(5):563-74.

528. Liu J, Carmell MA, Rivas FV, Marsden CG, Thomson JM, Song JJ, et al. Argonaute2 is the catalytic engine of mammalian RNAi. Science. 2004 Sep 3;305(5689):1437-41.

529. Haley B, Zamore PD. Kinetic analysis of the RNAi enzyme complex. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2004 Jul;11(7):599-606.

530. Lingel A, Simon B, Izaurralde E, Sattler M. Nucleic acid 3'-end recognition by the Argonaute2 PAZ domain. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 2004 Jun;11(6):576-7.

531. Yu LG, Jansson B, Fernig DG, Milton JD, Smith JA, Gerasimenko OV, et al. Stimulation of proliferation in human colon cancer cells by human monoclonal antibodies against the TF antigen (galactose beta1-3 N-acetyl-galactosamine). Int J Cancer. 1997 Nov 4;73(3):424-31.

532. Goldstein IJ, Hayes CE. The lectins: carbohydrate-binding proteins of plants and animals. Adv Carbohydr Chem Biochem. 1978;35:127-340.

533. Ju T, Cummings RD. A unique molecular chaperone Cosmc required for activity of the mammalian core 1 beta 3-galactosyltransferase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. [Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 2002 Dec 24;99(26):16613-8.

534. Ju T, Cummings RD. Protein glycosylation: chaperone mutation in Tn syndrome. Nature. 2005 Oct 27;437(7063):1252.

535. Huet G, Kim I, de Bolos C, Lo-Guidice JM, Moreau O, Hemon B, et al. Characterization of mucins and proteoglycans synthesized by a mucin-secreting HT-29 cell subpopulation. J Cell Sci. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 1995 Mar;108 (Pt 3):1275-85.

536. Brockhausen I SH, Stanley P. O-GalNAc Glycans. In: Varki A CR, Esko JD, Freeze HH, Stanley P, Bertozzi CR, Hart GW, Etzler ME, editor. Essentials of

Glycobiology. 2nd edition ed. Cold Spring Harbor (NY): Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2009.

537. Kellokumpu S, Sormunen R, Kellokumpu I. Abnormal glycosylation and altered Golgi structure in colorectal cancer: dependence on intra-Golgi pH. FEBS Lett. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2002 Apr 10;516(1-3):217-24.

538. Rivinoja A, Kokkonen N, Kellokumpu I, Kellokumpu S. Elevated Golgi pH in breast and colorectal cancer cells correlates with the expression of oncofetal carbohydrate T-antigen. J Cell Physiol. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2006 Jul;208(1):167-74.

539. Campbell BJ, Yu LG, Rhodes JM. Altered glycosylation in inflammatory bowel disease: a possible role in cancer development. Glycoconj J. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Review]. 2001 Nov-Dec;18(11-12):851-8.

540. Yu LG. The oncofetal Thomsen-Friedenreich carbohydrate antigen in cancer progression. Glycoconj J. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. 2007 Nov;24(8):411-20.

541. Springer GF. Immunoreactive T and Tn epitopes in cancer diagnosis, prognosis, and immunotherapy. J Mol Med. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.

Review]. 1997 Aug;75(8):594-602.

542. Ikeda Y, Kuwano H, Baba K, Ikebe M, Matushima T, Adachi Y, et al. Expression of Sialyl-Tn antigens in normal squamous epithelium, dysplasia, and squamous cell carcinoma in the esophagus. Cancer Res. 1993 Apr 1;53(7):1706-8.

543. Terasawa K, Furumoto H, Kamada M, Aono T. Expression of Tn and sialyl-Tn antigens in the neoplastic transformation of uterine cervical epithelial cells. Cancer Res. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 1996 May 1;56(9):2229-32.

544. Cazet A, Julien S, Bobowski M, Burchell J, Delannoy P. Tumour-associated carbohydrate antigens in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Review]. 2010;12(3):204.

545. Nakagoe T, Nanashima A, Sawai T, Tuji T, Yamaguchi E, Jibiki M, et al. Different expression of sialyl Tn antigen between polypoid and nonpolypoid growth types of advanced colorectal carcinoma. Oncology. [Comparative Study]. 2000 Aug;59(2):131-8.

546. Itzkowitz S, Kjeldsen T, Friera A, Hakomori S, Yang US, Kim YS. Expression of Tn, sialosyl Tn, and T antigens in human pancreas. Gastroenterology. [Comparative Study

Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Research Support, U.S. Gov't, Non-P.H.S.

Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 1991 Jun;100(6):1691-700.

547. Pinho S, Marcos NT, Ferreira B, Carvalho AS, Oliveira MJ, Santos-Silva F, et al. Biological significance of cancer-associated sialyl-Tn antigen: modulation of malignant phenotype in gastric carcinoma cells. Cancer Lett. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2007 May 8;249(2):157-70.

548. Yu LG, Andrews N, Zhao Q, McKean D, Williams JF, Connor LJ, et al. Galectin-3 interaction with Thomsen-Friedenreich disaccharide on cancerassociated MUC1 causes increased cancer cell endothelial adhesion. J Biol Chem. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2007 Jan 5;282(1):773-81. 549. Zhao Q, Guo X, Nash GB, Stone PC, Hilkens J, Rhodes JM, et al. Circulating galectin-3 promotes metastasis by modifying MUC1 localization on cancer cell surface. Cancer Res. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2009 Sep 1;69(17):6799-806.

550. Zhao Q, Barclay M, Hilkens J, Guo X, Barrow H, Rhodes JM, et al. Interaction between circulating galectin-3 and cancer-associated MUC1 enhances tumour cell homotypic aggregation and prevents anoikis. Mol Cancer. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't]. 2010;9:154.

551. Barrow H, Rhodes JM, Yu L-G. The role of galectins in colorectal cancer progression. International Journal of Cancer. 2011 In press

552. Desai PR, Ujjainwala LH, Carlstedt SC, Springer GF. Anti-Thomsen-Friedenreich (T) antibody-based ELISA and its application to human breast carcinoma detection. J Immunol Methods. [Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Research Support, U.S. Gov't, P.H.S.]. 1995 Dec 27;188(2):175-85.

553. Heimburg-Molinaro J, Almogren A, Morey S, Glinskii OV, Roy R, Wilding GE, et al. Development, characterization, and immunotherapeutic use of peptide mimics of the Thomsen-Friedenreich carbohydrate antigen. Neoplasia. [Research Support, N.I.H., Extramura]

Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't

Research Support, U.S. Gov't, Non-P.H.S.]. 2009 Aug;11(8):780-92.

554. Morris S, Ahmad N, Andre S, Kaltner H, Gabius HJ, Brenowitz M, et al. Quaternary solution structures of galectins-1, -3, and -7. Glycobiology. 2004 Mar;14(3):293-300.

555. Brewer CF. Binding and cross-linking properties of galectins. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2002 Sep 19;1572(2-3):255-62.

556. Liu FT, Rabinovich GA. Galectins as modulators of tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer. 2005 Jan;5(1):29-41.

557. Vasta GR, Ahmed H, Odom EW. Structural and functional diversity of lectin repertoires in invertebrates, protochordates and ectothermic vertebrates. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2004 Oct;14(5):617-30.

558. Brewer CF, Miceli MC, Baum LG. Clusters, bundles, arrays and lattices: novel mechanisms for lectin-saccharide-mediated cellular interactions. Curr Opin Struct Biol. 2002 Oct;12(5):616-23.

559. Hirabayashi J, Hashidate T, Arata Y, Nishi N, Nakamura T, Hirashima M, et al. Oligosaccharide specificity of galectins: a search by frontal affinity chromatography. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2002 Sep 19;1572(2-3):232-54.

560. Patnaik SK, Potvin B, Carlsson S, Sturm D, Leffler H, Stanley P. Complex Nglycans are the major ligands for galectin-1, -3, and -8 on Chinese hamster ovary cells. Glycobiology. 2006 Apr;16(4):305-17.

561. Dam TK, Gabius HJ, Andre S, Kaltner H, Lensch M, Brewer CF. Galectins bind to the multivalent glycoprotein asialofetuin with enhanced affinities and a gradient of decreasing binding constants. Biochemistry. 2005 Sep 20;44(37):12564-71.

562. Shen Q, Rahn JJ, Zhang J, Gunasekera N, Sun X, Shaw AR, et al. MUC1 initiates Src-CrkL-Rac1/Cdc42-mediated actin cytoskeletal protrusive motility after ligating intercellular adhesion molecule-1. Mol Cancer Res. 2008 Apr;6(4):555-67.

563. Van Aelst L, D'Souza-Schorey C. Rho GTPases and signaling networks. Genes Dev. 1997 Sep 15;11(18):2295-322.

# **APPENDIX 1**

**Components of Cell Culture Medium** 

Components	[1x] g/L
Inorganic salts:	
Calcium Chloride	0.2
Ferric Nitrate • 9H <sub>2</sub> O	0.0001
Magnesium Sulfate (anhydrous)	0.09767
Potassium Chloride	0.4
Sodium Bicarbonate	3.7
Sodium Chloride	6.4
Sodium Phosphate Monobasic (anhydrous)	0.109
Amino acids:	
L-Arginine • HCl	0.084
Glycine	0.03
L-Histidine • HCl • $H_2O$	0.042
L-Isoleucine	0.105
L-Leucine	0.105
L-Lysine • HCl	1.46
L-Phenylalanine	0.066
L-Serine	0.042
L-Threonine	0.095
L-Tryptophan	0.016
L-Tyrosine • 2Na •2H <sub>2</sub> O	0.10379
L-Valine	0.094
Vitamins	
Choline Chloride	0.004
Folic Acid	0.004
myo-Inositol	0.0072
Niacinamide	0.004
D-Pantothenic Acid (hemicalcium)	0.004
Pyridoxine • HCl	0.004
Riboflavin	0.0004
Thiamine • HCl	0.004
Other components	
D-Glucose	4 5
Phenol Red • Na	0.0159
Pyruvic Acid • Na	0.0137

#### Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM)

## Lonza Clonetics<sup>TM</sup> Endothelial Cell Medium Products

## EGM<sup>™</sup> Endothelial Growth Medium & EGM<sup>™</sup> BulletKit<sup>™</sup>

Basal media developed for Normal Human Endothelial Cells in a low-serum environment.

### **EGM**<sup>TM</sup> and **EGM**<sup>TM</sup>-BulletKit<sup>TM</sup>

BBE (Bovine Brain Extract), with heparin hEGF Hydrocortisone GA-1000 (Gentamicinm Amphotericin B) FBS (Fetal Bovine Serum) 10ml

Final serum concentration is 2%

#### EGM<sup>TM</sup>-2 Endothelial Growth Medium

Refinements to basal medium and growth factors. Further defined, does not contain BBE

Final serum concentration is 2%

#### EGM<sup>TM</sup>-2 BulletKit<sup>TM</sup>

hEGF Hydrocortisone GA-1000 (Gentamicinm Amphotericin B) FBS (Fetal Bovine Serum) 10ml VEGF hFGF-B R3-IGF-1 Ascorbic Acid

## **APPENDIX 2**

### **LIST OF FIGURES**

- 1.1 The biological layout of a healthy colonic crypt compared to an APC-/mutant and the effect upon future polyp formation.
- 1.2 A brief overview of the key metastasis steps.
- 1.3 Patterns of failure in 100 patients with large bowel cancer.
- 2.1 The N-glycosylation pathway.
- 2.2 The Diversification of N-glycans.
- 2.3 The family of ppGalNAcTs facilitiating the addition of the GalNAc unit to the serine/threonine residues within the folded protein.
- 2.4 PNA histochemistry.
- 2.5 A model of the galectin-3-MUC1 interaction in promoting cancer cell haematogenous spreading.
- 5.1 Standard curve of recombinant galectin-3 at a range of concentrations (OD492).
- 5.2 ELISA defining the standard curve of recombinant galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, and -8 at a range of concentrations (OD492).
- 5.3 ELISA detecting the level of expression of galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, and -8 in the sera of cancer patients and healthy individuals (OD492).
- 5.4 ELISA defining the standard curve of CEA at a range of concentrations (OD492).
- 5.5 ELISA detecting the level of expression of CEA in the sera of cancer patients and healthy individuals (OD492).
- 5.6 ELISA defining the standard curve of combined galectin-3 and -4 at a range of concentrations (OD492).
- 5.7 ELISA detecting the level of expression of galectin-3 and -4 in the sera of cancer patients and healthy individuals (OD492).
- 6.1 Level of galectin binding to TF-expressing glycoproteins.
- 6.2a TF-expression on ASM with or without pre-treatment with O-glycanase.
- 6.2b. Level of galectin binding to asialo bovine mucin with or without pretreatment with O-glycanase.
- 6.3 Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to HUVEC monolayers with or without pre-incubation with galectins.
- 6.4 Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to HUVEC monolayers with or without treatment of galectins that have been pre-incubated with lactose or asialo bovine mucin.
- 6.5 Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to Matrigel with or without preincubation with galectins.

- 6.6 Level of adhesion of SW620 cells to Matrigel with or without preincubation with galectins.
- 6.7 Effect of the presence of PNA on HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers.
- 6.8 Effect of PNA on SW620 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers.
- 6.9 Level of adhesion of HT29, HT29-5F7 and pre-fixed HT29-5F7 cells to HMVEC-L monolayers with or without pre-incubation with galectins.
- 6.10 Adhesion of untreated or pre-fixed SW620 cells to HMVEC-L monolayers with or without pre-incubation with galectins.
- 6.11 Level of adhesion of HT29-5F7 cells to HMVEC-L monolayers following pretreatment with anti-TF TF5 antibody.
- 6.12 HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers following O-glycanase treatment.
- 6.13a Expression of MUC1 in HT29-5F7 cells with or without MUC1 knockdown with targeted siRNA.
- 6.13b HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers with or without MUC1 siRNA suppression.
- 6.14 Effect of galectins on HT29-5F7 cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-Ls.
- 6.15 SW620 cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-Ls in response to galectin treatment.
- 6.16 Level of SW620 cell trans-endothelial migration through Matrigel with or without pre-incubation with galectins.
- 6.18 MUC1 expression in various cells.
- 6.19 Adhesion of HCA1.7+ and HCA1.7- cells to HUVEC monolayers in response to galectins.
- 6.20 MUC1 Immunocytochemistry shows polarisation of MUC1 in MUC1 transfected HCA1.7+ cells in response to galectin or PNA treatment.
- 7.1 Proposed explanation for selectin inhibitory activity being concentrated in higher molecular weight heparin fractions.
- 7.2 Molecular structures of LMW heparin derivatives. A.Tinzaparin. B. Fondaparinux.
- 7.3 Anti-Xa activity, and therefore anticoagulation activity of the chemically modified heparin derivatives.
- 7.4 Level of binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives.

- 7.5 Level of binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives D, E and G at a range of concentrations (μg/ml).
- 7.6 Level of binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives at a lower range of concentrations (μg/ml).
- 7.7 Level of binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without preincubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives A, B and I at a higher range of concentrations (μg/ml).
- 7.8 The inhibition of galectin-3 binding to ASM by chemically modified heparin derivatives.
- 7.9 Inhibition of galectin-3-induced HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers.
- 7.10 Inhibition of galectin-3-induced SW620 cell adhesion to HMVEC-L monolayers.
- 7.11 Inhibition of galectin-3-induced HT29-5F7 cell adhesion to Matrigel.
- 7.12 Inhibition of galectin-3-induced SW620 cell adhesion to Matrigel.
- 7.13 Inhibition of galectin-3-mediated SW620 cell trans-endothelial migration through HMVEC-L monolayers.
- 7.14 Inhibition of galectin-3-induced SW620 cell invasion through Matrigel.
- 8.1 Inititation and elongation of the mucin type O-linked glycans.
- 8.2 The general pathway of RNAi in vitro.
- 8.3 The assembly of RISC in the *Drosophila melanogaster*.
- 8.4 Slot blot assessments of cellular TF expression with anti-TF TF5 antibody.
- 8.5 Slot blot detecting the presence of carbohydrate structures following C1GalT knockdown.
- 8.6a Quantification of the expression of cellular carbohydrate structures following the treatment of HT29 colorectal cancer cells with siRNA targeted to C1GalT.
- 8.6b Quantification of the expression of cellular carbohydrate structures following the treatment of SW620 colorectal cancer cells with siRNA targeted to C1GalT.

### **LIST OF TABLES**

- 2.1 The Core structures found in O-glycans.
- 2.2 *O*-glycan chain extension as backbone structures.
- 2.3 Blood group and related antigens on O-linked cores.
- 2.4 Currently cloned human mucin genes.
- 2.5 Immunotherapy developments involving MUC1.
- 2.6 Mucin type O-glycans and their alterations in cancer.
- 2.7 The expression of galectins in the human intestine and rectum.
- 2.8 Galectin binding ligands and the influences of galectin-ligand interactions in colorectal cancer.
- 4.1 Description of the antibodies used.
- 4.2 Description of target glycoproteins.
- 4.3 The accumulation of a stable TEER reading from an endothelial monolayer within a transwell insert.
- 4.4 Composition of resolving gels.
- 4.5 Composition of stacking gel.
- 4.6 Composition of prestained marker.
- 4.7 Description of antibodies.
- 4.8 Description of lectins
- 5.1 Patient data for serum obtained for ELISA.
- 5.2 ELISA used to perform a checkerboard analysis to determine a functional concentration of secondary antibody.
- 5.3 Circulating galectins in the sera of colorectal and breast cancer patients and healthy people.
- 5.4 The positive and negative values of CEA from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at of the standard reference concentration threshold.
- 5.5 The positive and negative values of the combined galectin-3/-4 assessment from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at a range of concentration thresholds (ng/ml).
- 5.6 The positive and negative values of CEA from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at a range of concentration thresholds (ng/ml).
- 5.7 The positive and negative values of combined galectin-3 and -4 assessment from sera from patients with cancer, and healthy individuals at a range of concentration thresholds (ng/ml).
- 6.1 Quantification of MUC1 repolarisation in MUC1 transfected HCA1.7+ with or without pre-incubation with galectins.
- 6.2 MUC1 repolarisation in MUC1 transfected HCA1.7+ with or without preincubation with PNA.
- 7.1 Potential use of heparins beyond anticoagulation
- 7.2 Binding of galectin-3 to asialo bovine mucin, with or without pre-incubation with chemically modified heparin derivatives at range of concentrations  $(\mu g/ml)$ .

## PUBLISHED WORK AND PRESENTATIONS

# Circulating galactoside-binding galectins are increased in colorectal cancer patients, promote cancer cell adhesion to HUVEC and may have an important role in cancer metastasis.

Hannah Barrow, Jonathan Rhodes and Lu-Gang Yu Oral presentation, BSG, Glasgow, 2009

#### Circulating galactoside-binding galectins are highly elevated in colorectal cancer patients with liver metastasis and promote cancer cell adhesion to HUVECs. <u>Hannah Barrow</u>, Jonathan Rhodes and Lu-Gang Yu Poster presentation, DDW, Chigago, 2009

#### Circulating galectins and metastasis

Hannah Barrow, Jonathan Rhodes and Lu-Gang Yu Cancer Research Seminar, Liverpool, 2011

#### Circulating galectins and metastasis

Hannah Barrow, Jonathan Rhodes and Lu-Gang Yu NWCRF Symposium, Liverpool, 2009-2011

#### The role of galectins in colorectal cancer progression (Review).

Barrow H, Rhodes JM, Yu LG. Int J Cancer. 2011 Jan 20 [Epub ahead of print]

# Interaction between circulating galectin-3 and cancer-associated MUC1 enhances tumour cell homotypic aggregation and prevents anoikis.

Zhao Q, Barclay M, Hilkens J, Guo X, <u>Barrow H</u>, Rhodes JM, Yu LG. Mol Cancer. 2010 Jun 18;9:154.

### PAPERS IN PROGRESS

Circulating galectin-2, -3, -4 and -8 are highly increased in the blood circulation of colon and breast cancer patients and promote cancer-endothelial cell adhesion and metastasis.

Hannah Barrow, Xuli Guo, Hans H. Wandall, Bo Fu, Qicheng Zhao, Jonathan M. Rhodes and Lu-Gang Yu

Suppression of Core 1 Gal-T transferase is associated with reduction of Thomsen Friedenreich (TF) antigen and reciprocal increase of Tn, sialyl-Tn and Core 3 glycans in human colon cancer cells.

Hannah Barrow, Benjamin Tam, Jonathan M Rhodes and Lu-Gang Yu

Midway upon the journey of our life I found myself within a forest dark, For the straightforward pathway had been lost. Ah me! How hard a thing it is to say What was this forest savage, rough, and stern, Which in the very thought renews the fear.

- Dante Alighieri, Inferno